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CHAPTER

An act to amend Sections 1276.4, 1276.66, 1280.15, 1280.19,
1342.2, 1374.55, 1385.002, 1385.004, 1385.006, 1417.2, 1418.22,
120956, 120960, 127672, 127672.9, 127825, and 150900 of, to
amend the heading of Article 6.1 (commencing with Section
1385.001) of Chapter 2.2 of Division 2 of, to amend and repeal
Sections 1265.9 and 1385.005 of, to add Sections 1356.3, 1385.008,
1385.009, 1385.0010, 1385.0011, 1385.0012, 1385.0013,
1385.0014, 1385.0015, 1385.0016, 1385.0017, 1385.0018,
1385.0019, 1385.0020, 1385.0021, 1385.0022, 1385.0023,
1385.0024, 1385.0025, 1385.026, and 127673.05 to, and to repeal
and add Sections 1385.001 and 127697 of, the Health and Safety
Code, to amend Section 10119.6 of, and to add Section 10125.2
to, the Insurance Code, to amend Section 1026 of the Penal Code,
and to amend Sections 5961.2, 14006, 14006.01, 14006.15,
14006.2, 14006.5, 14006.6, 14007.5, 14007.65, 14007.8, 14015,
14126.033, 14132, 14132.36, 14132.171, 14165.57, 14184.200,
14197.7, and 14199.128 of, to amend and repeal Sections 14000,
14005.11, 14005.20, 14005.40, 14005.401, 14006.3, 14006.4,
14007.9, 14009.6, 14009.7, 14011, 14013.3, 14051, 14051.5,
14105.33, 14126.024, 14133.85, 14148.5, and 14166.17 of, to
amend, repeal, and add Sections 14005.62, 14105.436, and
14132.100 of, to add Sections 14107.115 and 14132.994 to, to
repeal Section 14006.1 of, to repeal Chapter 16.5 (commencing
with Section 18998) of Part 6 of Division 9 of, and to repeal and
add Section 14105.38 of, the Welfare and Institutions Code, and
to amend Section 83 of Chapter 40 of the Statutes of 2024, relating
to health, and making an appropriation therefor, to take effect
immediately, bill related to the budget.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL’S DIGEST

AB 116, Committee on Budget. Health omnibus trailer bill.

(1) Existing law provides for the licensure and regulation of
health facilities, including general acute care hospitals, acute
psychiatric hospitas, and special hospitals, by the State Department
of Public Health. Existing law requires the department to adopt
regulations that establish minimum, specific, and numerical
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licensed nurse-to-patient ratios by licensed nurse classification
and by hospital unit for all general acute care hospitals, acute
psychiatric hospitals, and special hospitals. Existing law requires
the regulations adopted by the department for acute psychiatric
hospitals that are not operated by the State Department of State
Hospitals to take into account the special needs of the patients
served in the psychiatric units. Existing law generaly makes a
willful violation of those licensing provisions acrime.

Under existing law, on and after July 1, 2015, any acute
psychiatric hospital that submits a completed application and is
operated by the State Department of State Hospitals may be
approved by the State Department of Public Health to offer, asa
supplemental service, an Enhanced Treatment Program (ETP) that
meets certain conditions, including sufficient and documented
evaluation of violence risk of the patient. Existing law requires an
ETP to meet certain requirements relating to staffing and patient
room features and to implement certain policies and procedures
on patient care.

Under existing law, those ETP provisions remain in effect for
each pilot ETP until January 1 of the 5th calendar year after each
pilot ETP site has admitted itsfirst patient, and the provisions are
repealed as of January 1 of the 5th calendar year after each pilot
ETP site has admitted its first patient. Existing law requires the
State Department of State Hospitals to post a declaration on its
internet website regarding the timing of that repeal condition.

Thisbill would del ete the above-described provisions regarding
ETP repeal. The bill would instead repeal those provisions on
January 1, 2030, as specified. To the extent that the bill would
extend the operation of certain ETP sites, and by extending ETP
requirements, the violation of which would be a crime, the hill
would impose a state-mandated local program.

Thisbill would specify regulationsfor acute psychiatric hospitals
not operated by the State Department of State Hospitalsare deemed
to be an emergency and necessary for the immediate preservation
of the public peace, health and safety, and general welfare, and
would require the department to adopt emergency regulations for
these facilities no later than January 31, 2026, and permanent
regulations thereafter, as specified. The bill would authorize the
department to readopt the emergency regulations, as specified.
The bill would authorize the emergency regulations to include,
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among other things, staffing standards specific to acute psychiatric
hospitals.

(2) Existing law requiresthe State Department of Public Health
to use the direct care staffing level data it collects to determine
whether askilled nursing facility has met its nursing hours or direct
care service hours per patient per day requirements, as specified.
Existing law requires the department to assess specified
administrative penalties on skilled nursing facilities that fail to
meet these requirements and establishes an administrative process
that skilled nursing facilities may use to appeal determinations or
assessments made by the department. Existing law continues in
the Special Deposit Fund the Skilled Nursing Facility Minimum
Staffing Penalty Account and requiresthe administrative penalties
described above to be deposited into that account. Under existing
law, the account is continuously appropriated to the department
to support the implementation of these provisions.

This bill would remove the Skilled Nursing Facility Minimum
Staffing Penalty Account from the Special Deposit Fund. The bill
would, notwithstanding any other law, authorize the State
Controller to usethefundsin the Skilled Nursing Facility Minimum
Staffing Penalty Account for cash flow loans to the General Fund,
as specified.

(3) Existing law requires a clinic, health facility, home health
agency, or hospice to prevent unlawful or unauthorized access to,
and use or disclosure of, patients’ medical information, as defined.
Existing law requiresthe clinic, health facility, home health agency,
or hospiceto report any unlawful or unauthorized accessto, or use
or disclosure of, a patient’'s medical information to the State
Department of Public Health and to the affected patient or the
patient’s representative, as specified. Existing law authorizes the
department to assess administrative penaltiesfor violation of these
provisions and gives the department discretion to consider all
factors when determining the amount of a penalty. Existing law
requires these and other specified penalty moneysto be deposited
into the Internal Departmental Quality Improvement Account,
which is established within the Specia Deposit Fund. Upon
appropriation by the Legislature, existing law requiresthe moneys
in the account to be expended for internal quality improvement
activitiesin the Licensing and Certification Program.

97



—5— AB 116

This bill would remove the Internal Departmental Quality
Improvement Account from the Special Deposit Fund and,
notwithstanding specified provisions of law, require al interest
earned on the moneys deposited in the account to be retained in
the account. The bill would also, notwithstanding any other law,
authorize the State Controller to use the funds in the Interna
Departmental Quality Improvement Account for cash flow loans
to the General Fund, as specified.

(4) Existing law also establishesthe Internal Health Information
Integrity Quality Improvement Account. Existing law requires all
administrative fines assessed by the State Department of Public
Health for unlawful disclosures of confidential medical
information, as specified, to be deposited in that account. Upon
appropriation by the Legislature, existing law requires money in
the account to be used for purposes of supporting quality
improvement activities of the department.

Thebill would, effective July 1, 2025, abolish the Internal Health
Information Integrity Quality Improvement Account and transfer
all moneys in the account to the Internal Departmental Quality
Improvement Account. The bill would require all remaining
balances, assets, liabilities, and encumbrances of the Internal Health
Information Integrity Quality Improvement Account as of July 1,
2025, to be transferred to, and become part of, the Internal
Departmental Quality Improvement Account. The bill would
require the administrative fines assessed for unlawful disclosures
of confidential medical information described aboveto be deposited
in the Internal Departmental Quality Improvement Account. The
bill would, upon appropriation by the L egislature, require money
in the account to be used for purposes of supporting quality
improvement activities of the Licensing and Certification Program.
The bill would also, notwithstanding any other provision of law,
authorize the State Controller to use the funds in the account for
cash flow loans to the General Fund, as specified.

(5) Existing law provides for the licensure of long-term health
care facilities by the State Department of Public Health. Existing
law establishes the State Hedth Facilities Citation Penalties
Account and the Federal Health Facilities Citation Penalties
Account in the Special Deposit Fund into which moneysfrom civil
penalties for violations of state and federal law, respectively, are
deposited. Existing law requires the moneys in those accounts to
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be used, upon appropriation by the L egislature, in accordance with
state and federal law for the protection of health or property of
residents of long-term health care facilities, as specified.

This bill would remove the State Hedth Facilities Citation
Penalties Account and the Federal Health Fecilities Citation
Penalties Account from the Special Deposit Fund.

(6) Existing law requires a skilled nursing facility, by January
1, 2026, to have an alternative source of power, as defined, to
protect resident health and safety, as defined, for no fewer than 96
hours during any type of power outage. Existing law imposes
specific compliance requirements based on whether a skilled
nursing facility uses agenerator asits alternative source of power,
or batteries or a combination of batteries in tandem with a
renewable electrical generation facility.

This bill would instead require a skilled nursing facility to
comply with these provisions on or after January 1, 2026,
commencing on the first day of the Medi-Ca skilled nursing
facility rate year for which the State Department of Health Care
Services publishes awritten notice on itsinternet website that the
Legislature has appropriated sufficient funds for the express
purpose of providing an add-on to the Medi-Cal skilled nursing
facility per diem rate for the projected Medi-Cal cost compliance,
as specified. The bill would authorize the State Department of
Headlth Care Services to implement these requirements by means
of provider bulletins, policy letters, or other similar instructions,
without taking regulatory action.

(7) Existing law, the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act
of 1975, provides for the licensure and regulation of health care
service plans by the Department of Managed Health Care, and
makes awillful violation of the act a crime. Existing law provides
for the regulation of health insurersby the Department of Insurance.

Existing law requires a pharmacy benefit manager under contract
with a health care service plan to, among other things, register
with the Department of Managed Health Care.

This bill would instead require a pharmacy benefit manager
contracting with a health care service plan or health insurer to
secure alicense from the Department of Managed Health Care on
or after January 1, 2027, or the date on which the department has
established thelicensure process, whichever islater. The bill would
establish application requirements, and would require a pharmacy
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benefit manager applying for licensure to reimburse the Director
of the Department of Managed Health Care for the actual cost of
processing the application, including overhead, up to an amount
not to exceed $25,000. The bill would require a pharmacy benefit
manager to submit financial statements to the department at
specified intervals, and would require those statements and other
proprietary information to be kept confidential, as specified. The
bill would authorize the director to suspend or revoke a pharmacy
benefit manager license, but would provide that, once issued, a
licenseremainsin effect until revoked or suspended. Thebill would
authorize a pharmacy benefit manager whose license has been
revoked, or suspended for more than one year to petition the
director to reinstate the license, and would authorize the director
to prescribe a fee, not to exceed $500, for the actual cost of
processing the petition. The bill would create the Pharmacy Benefit
Manager Fund in the State Treasury, into which fees, fines,
penalties, and reimbursements collected from pharmacy benefit
managers would be deposited, except fines and administrative
penalties for specified acts or omissions would be deposited into
the newly created Pharmacy Benefit Manager Administrative Fines
and Penalties Fund in the State Treasury. Because a violation of
these provisions would be a crime, the bill would impose a
state-mandated local program.

Existing law requiresthe Department of Health CareAccessand
Information to implement and administer the Health Care Payments
Data System to learn about and seek to improve public health,
population health, social determinants of health, and the health
care system.

This bill would require a pharmacy benefit manager to provide
specified data to the Department of Heath Care Access and
Information regarding drug pricing, fees, and other information.
The bill would require alicensed health care service plan to pay
an annual fee for the 2025-26 and 202627 fiscal years for the
reasonably necessary expenses of the Department of Health Care
Access and Information to fund the Health Care Payments Data
Program. The bill would also require alicensed pharmacy benefit
manager to pay amounts twice per year to fund the actua and
reasonably necessary expenses of the department to implement
pharmacy benefit manager licensing and the actual and reasonably
necessary expenses of the Department of Health Care Access and
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Information pertaining to data reporting by pharmacy benefit
managers. The bill would require the Health Care Payments Data
Program advisory committee to include pharmacy benefit
managers.

(8) Existing law requires large group health care service plan
contracts and disability insurance policies issued, amended, or
renewed on or after July 1, 2025, to provide coverage for the
diagnosis and treatment of infertility and fertility services,
including a maximum of 3 completed oocyte retrievals with
unlimited embryo transfers, as specified. Existing law also requires
small group health care service plan contracts and disability
insurance policiesissued, amended, or renewed on or after July 1,
2025, to offer coveragefor the diagnosisand treatment of infertility
and fertility services.

This bill would instead require compliance with the
above-described provisions by large and small group health care
service plan contracts and disability insurance policies issued,
amended, or renewed on or after January 1, 2026. The bill would
authorize the Director of the Department of Managed Health Care
and the Insurance Commissioner to issue guidance regarding these
provisionsuntil January 1, 2027, and would require the departments
to consult with each other and stakeholdersin issuing that guidance.

(9) Existing law authorizes the State Public Health Officer, to
the extent alowable under federal law, and upon the availability
of funds, to expend moneys from the continuously appropriated
AIDS Drug Assistance Program (ADAP) Rebate Fund for a
program to cover the costs of prescribed ADAP formulary
medicationsfor the prevention of HIV infection and other specified
costs.

Existing law authorizes the State Department of Public Health,
to the extent that the activities are an allowable use of funds, to
spend up to $23,000,000 from the ADAP Rebate Fund to
implement certain programs, including an all ocation of $5,000,000
annually for 3 years, beginning on July 1, 2024, to the Transgender,
Gender Nonconforming, and Intersex (TGI) Wellness and Equity
Fund to fund services related to care and treatment for eligible
individuals living with HIV and AIDS.

Under existing law, expenditure from the ADAP Rebate Fund
also includes an allocation of $5,000,000, in the 202425 fiscal
year, available until June 30, 2027, to distribute funding to a
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community-based organization to make internal and externa
condoms available, if Senate Bill 954 of the 2023-24 Regular
Session becomes effective, aimed at preventing the transmission
of HIV and sexually transmitted infections.

This bill would additionally allow the moneys allocated to the
TGl Wellness and Equity Fund to fund services related to HIV
prevention, and would have the allocation begin instead on July
1, 2025. With regard to funding for condoms, the bill would remove
the condition that Senate Bill 954 become effective, and would
authorize the alocation until June, 30, 2028. This bill would
authorize the State Department of Public Health to spend up to
$75,000,000 from the ADAP Rebate Fund to support current or
eligible HIV services and programs, as specified. The bill would
specify the allocation of those funds, including by authorizing up
to $65,000,000 of that $75,000,000 to be spent to supplement or
fund services, programs, or initiatives for which federal funding
has been reduced or eliminated. By adding to the purposes of the
ADAP Rebate Fund, and by extending the terms of certain
allocations, the bill would make an appropriation.

(10) Existing law requires the Office of Health Equity within
the State Department of Public Heath to administer the TGI
Wellness and Equity Fund for purposes of funding grantsto create
programs, or funding existing programs, focused on coordinating
trans-inclusive health care for individuals who identify as
transgender, gender nonconforming, or intersex.

This bill would instead refer only to the State Department of
Public Health, without specifying the office, for purposes of
administering the fund.

Existing law authorizes use of the moneys in the fund, upon
appropriation, to fund grantsfor certain purposes, including grants
to TGIl-serving organizations for the purpose of facilitating
therapeutic arts programs, such as dancing, painting, or writing.

This bill would restructure that specific purpose by having the
grants be made available to TGI-serving organizations for
facilitating evidence-based therapeutic arts programs. The bill
would make conforming changes to related provisions.

(11) Existing law, the CaliforniaAffordable Drug Manufacturing
Act of 2020, requires the California Health and Human Services
Agency (CHHSA) to enter into partnerships, in consultation with
other state departments as necessary, to, among other things,
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increase patient accessto affordable drugs. Existing law authorizes
CHHSA to enter into partnerships regarding over-the-counter
naloxone products to allow the development, manufacturing, or
distribution of those products by an entity that is authorized to do
so under federal or state law.

This bill, subject to an appropriation by the Legidature, would
additionally authorize CHHSA to enter into partnershipsto increase
competition, lower prices, and address supply shortagesfor generic
or brand name drugs to address emerging health concerns, for the
development, production, procurement, or distribution of vaccines,
as specified, and for the manufacture, purchase, or distribution of
medical supplies or medical devices.

(12) Existing law requires, when a defendant pleads not guilty
by reason of insanity, that ajury determine whether the defendant
was sane or insane at the time the offense was committed. Under
existing law, if adefendant isfound to be not guilty by reason of
insanity, the court is required to commit the person to the State
Department of State Hospitals or any other appropriate public or
private treatment facility, as specified. If a defendant is confined
inastate hospital or other treatment facility asan inpatient, existing
law requiresthe medical director of thefacility to submit areport,
at 6-month intervals, to the court and the community program
director of the county of commitment setting forth the status and
progress of the defendant.

Thisbill would instead require the above-described report to be
submitted every 12 months.

(13) Existing law establishes the Medi-Cal program, which is
administered by the State Department of Health Care Services,
under which qualified low-income individuals receive health care
services. The Medi-Cal program is, in part, governed by, and
funded pursuant to, federal Medicaid program provisions. Existing
law setsforth a schedule of benefits under the Medi-Cal program,
including prescribed drugs subject to the Medi-Cal list of contract
drugs.

Existing law requires a specified health care service plan
contract, including a Medi-Cal managed care plan, to cover the
costsfor COVID-19 diagnostic and screening testing, as provided,
regardless of whether the services are provided by an in-network
or out-of-network provider. Existing law prohibits this coverage
from being subject to copayment, coinsurance, deductible, or any
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other form of cost sharing. Existing law also prohibits a health
care service plan from imposing prior authorization or any other
utilization management requirements on COVID-19 diagnostic
and screening testing. Existing law requires the State Department
of Health Care Services to seek any federal approval it deems
necessary to implement those provisions regarding COVID-19.

This bill would require a Medi-Ca managed care plan, as
defined, to cover COVID-19 screening, testing, immunizations,
and therapeuticsin accordance with applicable statutes, regulations,
al plan letters, the Medi-Cal provider manual, Medi-Cal managed
care plan contracts with the department, as specified, and other
guidance. The bill would exclude Medi-Ca managed care plans
from the above-described prohibitions against cost sharing and
utilization management by ahealth care service plan for COVID-19
diagnostic and screening testing. The bill would remove the
above-described requirement on the State Department of Health
Care Servicesto seek federa approval.

(14) Existing law setsforth aschedule of benefits covered under
the Medi-Cal program, including hospice service that is certified
under the federal Medicare Program, subject to utilization controls.
Under existing law, coverage is available only to the extent that
no additional net program costs are incurred. Under existing law,
prior authorization is not required for hospice services, with
exceptions in the case of any admission that violates federal law
or for inpatient hospice services.

This bill would make the above-described restriction on prior
authorization inoperative on July 1, 2026, and would repeal it as
of January 1, 2027. Under the bill, hospice services would be
covered under Medi-Cal in accordance with Medicare requirements
and subject to utilization controls, while maintaining the condition
on net program costs. The bill would condition implementation of
this coverage on the availability of federal financial participation
and receipt of any necessary federal approvals.

(15) Existing law authorizes the department to enter into
contracts with manufacturers of single-source and multiple-source
drugs, on a bid or nonbid basis, for drugs from each maor
therapeutic category. Existing law requires all pharmaceutical
manufacturers to provide to the department a state rebate equal to
an amount not less than 10% of the average manufacturer price
based on Medi-Cal utilization datafor any drug productsthat have
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been added to the Medi-Cal list of contract drugs under provisions
relating to treatment of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
(AIDS) or an AIDS-related condition or to treatment of cancer.
Existing law authorizes the department to restrict the availability
of the drug products of certain manufacturers by requiring prior
authorization when the department has not received atimely rebate
payment, but authorizes a beneficiary to continue obtaining those
drugs if the beneficiary qualifies for continuing care status.
Continuing care status requires a beneficiary to have been taking
the drug at the time the manufacturer is placed on prior
authorization status and the department to receive a claim for the
drug with adate of servicethat iswithin 100 days prior to the date
the manufacturer was placed on prior authorization status.

This bill would delete the above-described provisions on
continuing care status and, instead, beginning January 1, 2026,
would authorize beneficiaries to continue to receive drugs
previously prescribed but subject to prior authorization if their
pharmacy provider or prescriber initiates a prior authorization
request that is subsequently approved by the department. Thisbill
would, effective January 1, 2026, for pharmaceutical manufacturers
renewing or entering new state rebate agreements, require that the
rebate amount be in an amount not less than 20% of the average
manufacturer price if the federal rebate is less than 50% of that
price, or an amount not less than 15% of that price if the federad
rebate is 50% or greater of that price.

Under existing law, for purposes of the above-described drug
products, if the pharmaceutical manufacturer does not enter into
asupplemental rebate agreement within 60 days after the addition
of thedrug to the Medi-Cal list of contract drugs, the manufacturer
isrequired to provide to the department a state rebate equal to not
less than 20% of the average manufacturer price, as specified.

This bill would increase the state rebate minimum threshold to
not less than 25% of the price. The bill would make a conforming
change to arelated provision.

Existing law establishes the Medi-Cal Drug Rebate Fund, into
which nonfederal moneys collected by the department under the
above-described rebate provisions are deposited. Under existing
law, funds deposited into the Medi-Ca Drug Rebate Fund are
continuously appropriated to the department for purposes of
funding the nonfederal share of health care services for children,
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adults, seniors, and persons with disabilities enrolled in the
Medi-Cal program.

By increasing the state rebate minimum threshold for the
above-described drug products, the bill would make an
appropriation.

Existing law requires the department, when it determinesthat a
drug should be removed from thelist of contract drugs, to conduct
a public hearing to receive comment on the impact of removing
the drug.

This bill would, instead of a public hearing, require the
department to provide individual notice to impacted beneficiaries
that the drug is only obtainable through the prior authorization
process. Thebill would require that the noticeinclude adescription
of the beneficiary’s right to a fair hearing and would encourage
the beneficiary to consult a physician. The bill would require the
department to also provide provider notice about the removal of
the drug, as specified.

(16) Existing law requires, with exceptions, the temporary
placement of aMedi-Cal provider under payment suspension upon
receipt of acredible allegation of fraud for which an investigation
is pending under the Medi-Cal program against the provider.
Existing law sets forth related provisions regarding the
department’s collection of overpayments, appeal procedures
afforded to the provider, offsetting of the overpayments to satisfy
audit or appeal findings if the findings are against the provider,
and return of the overpayments if the findings are in favor of the
provider, as specified. Existing law authorizes the lifting of a
payment suspension upon resolution of an investigation for fraud
or abuse.

Thisbill would create the Medi-Cal Anti-Fraud Special Deposit
Fund for the deposit of outstanding Medi-Cal paymentsintercepted
asaresult of apayment suspension. Under the bill, moneyswould
be continuously appropriated and allocated, but would remain in
the fund until the department lifts the suspension, after which the
department would be authorized to return the intercepted Medi-Cal
payments to the provider or to offset the payments against any
liabilities or restitution owed by the provider to the department.

(17) Existing law, the Medi-Ca Long-Term Care
Reimbursement Act, requires the department to implement a
facility-specific ratesetting system for certain skilled nursing
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facilities using a cost-based reimbursement rate methodology.
Existing law requires the department, subject to any necessary
federal approvals, for managed care rating periods that begin
between January 1, 2023, and December 31, 2026, inclusive, to
establish and implement the Workforce and Quality Incentive
Program. Under that program, anetwork provider furnishing skilled
nursing facility services to a Medi-Cal managed care enrollee is
authorized to earn performance-based directed paymentsfrom the
Medi-Ca managed care plan with which they contract, as specified,
in addition to other certain payments. Existing law repeal s the act
on January 1, 2028, as specified.

Thisbill would instead apply the program to managed carerating
periods that begin between January 1, 2023, and December 31,
2025, inclusive. Thebill would make the provisionsrelating to the
program inoperative on January 1, 2026, and authorize the
department to conduct all necessary closeout activities applicable
to any managed care rating period before January 1, 2026. The
bill would repeal those provisions on January 1, 2027, or on the
date that the Director of Health Care Services certifies to the
Secretary of State that all necessary closeout activities have been
completed, whichever is later, but no later than January 1, 2028.
The bill would delete a related provision regarding the
supplementation of funds available for payments made under the
program, as described above, for the 2026 calendar year.

(18) Existing law, subject to an appropriation by the Legislature
for this purpose, expands the schedule of benefits to include an
annual cognitive health assessment for Medi-Cal beneficiarieswho
are 65 years of age or older if they are otherwise inéligible for a
similar assessment as part of an annual wellness visit under the
Medicare Program. Existing lawv makes a Medi-Cal provider
eligibleto receive the payment for this benefit only if they comply
with certain requirements, including completing cognitive health
assessment training, as specified. Existing law requires the
department, by January 1, 2024, and every 2 years thereafter, to
consolidate and analyze data related to the benefit, and to post
information on the utilization of, and payment for, the benefit on
its internet website.

Thisbill would delete the requirement that a Medi-Cal provider
complete specified cognitive health assessment training to be
eligible to receive the payment. The bill would also delete the
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requirement that the department consolidate and analyze dataand
post information related to the benefit every 2 years.

(19) Existing law authorizesthe Director of Health Care Services
to terminate a contract or impose sanctions if the director finds
that an entity that contracts with the department for the delivery
of health care services, known asacontractor, failsto comply with
contract requirements, state or federal law or regulations, or the
state plan or approved waivers, or for other good cause. Existing
law includes various entities as part of the definition of “contractor”
for purposes of these provisions, including Medi-Cal managed
care plans and Drug Medi-Cal organized delivery systems.

This bill would add, to the list of contractors subject to the
above-described provisions, entities under the Home- and
Community-Based Alternatives (HCBA) Waiver and the Program
of All-Inclusive Care for the Elderly (PACE), as specified.

(20) Under existing law, to the extent that federal financial
participationisavailable, federally qualified health center (FQHC)
services and rural health clinic (RHC) services are covered
Medi-Cal benefits. Under existing law, FQHC and RHC services
are reimbursed on a per-visit basis, as defined.

This bill would, commencing July 1, 2026, require
reimbursement for FQHC and RHC services that are eligible for
federal financial participation. The bill would revise the definition
of visit for purposes of this provision to mean a face-to-face
encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and specified health
professionals that is eligible for federal financial participation or
an encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and specified
health professionals using specified modalities, including, among
others, video synchronous interaction, when services delivered
through those modalities meet the applicable standard of care and
areeligible for federal participation.

(21) Existing law requires the department to establish the
Nondesignated Public Hospital Intergovernmental Transfer
Program to provide supplemental paymentsto nondesignated public
hospitalsin amanner that maximizesfederal financial participation
in the resulting supplemental payments. Existing law authorizes
a transferring entity, as defined, to agree to transfer its
intergovernmental transfer (IGT) allocation, as defined, to the state
in accordance with the program, and requires the state to deposit
the transferred funds into the Medi-Cal Inpatient Payment
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Adjustment Fund, which is a continuously appropriated fund.
Existing law authorizes the state to retain 9% of each
intergovernmental transfer amount to reimburse the department,
or transfer to the General Fund, for the administrative costs of
operating the program and for the benefit of Medi-Cal children’s
health care programs.

This bill would require a nondesignated public hospital
participating in the program to reimburse the department for
specified administrative costs as a condition of receiving the
above-described supplemental payments. Beginning with the
202627 fiscal year and every fiscal year thereafter, the bill would
require the state to retain a percentage of each IGT amount
associated with interim supplemental payments such that the total
amount retained is equal to the projected administrative cost to the
department, as specified. The bill would require the department
to project the specified administrative costs each fiscal year to
determine the percentage to be retained. To the extent the hill
would continuously appropriate additional moneys, the bill would
make an appropriation.

(22) Existing law establishesthe Medi-Cal Hospital/Uninsured
Care Demonstration Project Act, which revises hospital
reimbursement methodologies under the Medi-Ca program to
maximize the use of federal funds consistent with federal Medicaid
law and stabilize the distribution of funding for hospitals that
provide care to Medi-Cal beneficiaries and uninsured patients.
Existing law provides funding, in supplementation of Medi-Cal
reimbursement, to various hospitals, including nondesignated
public hospitals, in accordance with certain provisions relating to
disproportionate share hospitals. Existing law establishes the
Nondesignated Public Hospital Supplemental Fund, acontinuously
appropriated fund, in the State Treasury, and requires all amounts
in the fund for aproject year in excess of the amount necessary to
make specified supplemental payments to be available for
negotiation by the California Medical Assistance Commission, as
provided.

For the 2025-26 fiscal year, this bill would require additional
supplemental payments to be made to nondesignated public
hospital sthat meet certain criteriasuch that the specified payments
made are equal to the prescribed amount transferred from the
General Fund plus the applicable amount of federa financial
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participation that isavailable for the nonfederal share of payments.
The bill would require the remaining amounts in the fund to be
used for supplemental paymentsto nondesignated public hospitals
pursuant to a methodology developed by the department, as
specified. The bill would make these provisions inoperative on
June 30, 2026, abolish the fund effective December 31, 2028, and
repeal these provisions on July 1, 2030. The bill would authorize
the department to conduct any necessary and remaining duties, as
specified, even after these provisions become inoperative.

(23) Thefederal Medicaid program prohibits payment to astate
for medical assistance furnished to an alien who is not lawfully
admitted for permanent residence or otherwise permanently
residing in the United States under color of law. Existing state law
extends Medi-Cdl digibility for thefull scope of Medi-Cal benefits
to anindividual who does not have satisfactory immigration status
if they are otherwise eligible for those benefits, as specified.

This bill would instead exclude an individual who is 19 years
of age or older and does not have satisfactory immigration status
from dental benefits under Medi-Cal, as specified and would,
beginning no sooner than July 1, 2027, require individuals who
are not pregnant and who are 19 to 59 years of age, inclusive, to
pay a monthly premium of $30, subject to certain exceptions. The
bill would make an individual who is 19 years of age or older and
does not have satisfactory immigration status and who applies for
Medi-Cal on or after January 1, 2026, eligible only for
pregnancy-related services and emergency medical trestment. The
bill would delay the implementation of certain provisionsuntil the
director makes specified communications to the Department of
Finance. The bill would make other conforming changes. Because
counties arerequired to make Medi-Cal eligibility determinations
and thisbill would alter Medi-Cal eligibility, the bill would impose
a state-mandated local program.

(24) Existing law prohibitsthe use of an assets or resourcestest
for individualswhoseincomedigibility for Medi-Cal isdetermined
based on the application of a modified adjusted gross income
(MAGI). Existing federal law authorizes a state to establish a
non-MAGI standard for determining the eligibility of certain
populations.

Existing law, subject to receipt of any necessary federal
approvals, prohibits the use of resources, including property or
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other assets, to determine Medi-Cal eligibility for applicants or
beneficiaries whose dligibility is not determined using the
MAGI-based financial methods. Existing law requires the
department to seek federal authority to disregard all resources as
authorized by the flexibilities provided pursuant to federal law.

This bill would, commencing on January 1, 2026, remove the
above-described prohibition on the use of resourcesfor determining
Medi-Cd digibility innon-MAGI casesand implement adisregard
of $130,000 in nonexempt property for a case with one member
and $65,000 for each additional household member, up to a
maximum of 10 members, as specified. As part of conforming
changes, the bill would make certain provisions inoperative on
January 1, 2026, and would repeal them as of January 1, 2027.
The bill would make certain inoperative provisions operative for
purposes of reinstating references to resources or assets.

The bill would make certain additiona changes to the
above-described provisions, including modifying the timeline of
certain regulations and changing certain reporting requirements.

By creating new dutiesfor countiesrelating to the consideration
of resources for determining Medi-Cal dligibility, the bill would
impose a state-mandated local program.

(25) Existing law establishesthe Children and Youth Behavioral
Health Initiative, administered by the CaliforniaHealth and Human
Services Agency and its departments, with the purpose of
transforming the state’sbehaviora health systeminto an innovative
ecosystem in which all children and youth 25 years of age and
younger, regardless of payer, are screened, supported, and served
for emerging and existing behavioral health needs. Existing law
requires, subject to an appropriation, that the initiative include,
among other things, grants to qualified entities to support
implementation of the initiative for behavioral health servicesin
schools and investments for behavioral heath workforce,
education, and training. Existing law authorizes the Department
of Health CareAccessand Information to award competitive grants
to qualified entities and individuals to expand the supply of
behavioral health counselors, coaches, peer supports, and other
alied health care providers serving children and youth, including
those at schoolsites.

Existing law defines a “behaviora health coach,” for purposes
of those provisions, to mean a new category of behavioral health
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provider who, among other things, (A) is trained specifically to
help address the unmet mental health and substance use needs of
children and youth, (B) receives appropriate supervision from
licensed staff, and (C) has training and qualifications, including
psychoeducation, system navigation, crisis deescalation, safety
planning, coping skills, and motivational interviewing.

This bill would revise these provisions to replace the term
“behavioral health coach” with “certified wellness coach.” The
bill would specify that a certified wellness coach receives
appropriate supervision and coordination from staff who are
licensed or who hold a pupil personnel services credential or school
nurse services credential. The bill would add crisisreferral to, and
remove crisis deescalation and safety planning from, the list of a
certified wellness coach’s training and qualifications.

(26) Existing law, as a component of the Children and Youth
Behavioral Health Initiative, authorizes the State Department of
Health Care Services to award competitive grants to entities that
it deemsqualified to, among other things, expand accessto licensed
medical and behavioral health professionals, counselors, peer
support specialists, community health workers, and behavioral
health coaches serving children and youth.

This bill would revise that provision to replace the term
“behavioral health coaches’” with “certified wellness coaches.”

(27) Existing law establishes a Department of Health Care
Access and Information within the California Health and Human
Services Agency.

Existing law requires the department, on or before July 1, 2023,
to develop and approve statewide requirements for community
health worker certificate programs and to approve the curriculum
required for programs to certify community heath workers.
Existing law requires the department, on or before July 1, 2023,
to review, approve, or renew evidence-based curricula and
community-defined curricula for core competencies, specialized
programs, and training. Existing law requires an organization that
seeks approval or renewal of acommunity health worker certificate
program to submit acommunity health worker certificate program
plan, submit to periodic reviews, and submit annual community
health worker certificate program reports, as specified. Existing
law authorizes the department, in consultation with stakeholders,
to request that an individual who is either enrolled in, or who has
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completed, acommunity health worker certificate program submit
specified workforce data. Existing law defines” community health
worker” to, among other things, include nonlicensed health workers
with the qualifications devel oped pursuant to these provisions.

This bill would repeal these provisions. The bill would make
conforming changes to provisions defining “community health
worker” by cross-reference to the above-described definition.

(28) Existing constitutional provisionsrequirethat astatute that
limits the right of access to the meetings of public bodies or the
writings of public officials and agencies be adopted with findings
demonstrating the interest protected by the limitation and the need
for protecting that interest.

This bill would make legidlative findings to that effect.

(29) TheCalifornia Constitution requiresthe state to reimburse
local agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by
the state. Statutory provisions establish proceduresfor making that
reimbursement.

This bill would provide that with regard to certain mandates no
reimbursement is required by this act for a specified reason.

With regard to any other mandates, this bill would provide that,
if the Commission on State Mandates determines that the bill
contains costs so mandated by the state, reimbursement for those
costs shall be made pursuant to the statutory provisions noted
above.

(30) Thishill would declarethat it isto take effect immediately
asahill providing for appropriations related to the Budget Bill.

Appropriation: yes.

The people of the Sate of California do enact as follows:

SECTION 1. Section 1265.9 of the Health and Safety Codeis
amended to read:

1265.9. (a) On and after July 1, 2015, any acute psychiatric
hospital that submits a completed application and is operated by
the State Department of State Hospitals may be approved by the
State Department of Public Health to offer, as a supplemental
service, an Enhanced Treatment Program (ETP) that meets the
requirements of this section, Section 4144 of the Welfare and
Institutions Code, and applicable regulations.
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(b) (1) Prior to the admission of the first patient into the last
pilot ETP, the State Department of Public Health may adopt
emergency regulations in accordance with the Administrative
Procedure Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of
Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code) to
implement this section. The adoption of an emergency regulation
under this paragraph is deemed to address an emergency, for
purposes of Sections 11346.1 and 11349.6 of the Government
Code, and the State Department of Public Health is hereby
exempted for this purpose from the requirements of subdivision
(b) of Section 11346.1 of the Government Code.

(2) Asan dternative to paragraph (1) and notwithstanding the
rulemaking provisions of Administrative ProceduresAct (Chapter
3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of
Title 2 of the Government Code), the director of the State
Department of Public Health may implement this section, in whole
or in part, by means of an al facility letter or other similar
instruction.

(c) AnETP shall meet al of the following requirements:

(1) Maintain a staff-to-patient ratio of oneto five.

(2) Limit each room to one patient.

(3) Each patient room shall allow visual accessby staff 24 hours
per day.

(4) Each patient room shall have atoilet and sink in the room.

(5) Each patient room door shall have the capacity to belocked
externally. The door may be locked when clinically indicated and
determined to be the least restrictive treatment environment for
the patient’s care and treatment pursuant to Section 4144 of the
Welfare and Institutions Code, but shall not be considered
seclusion, as defined in subdivision (e) of Section 1180.1, for
purposes of Division 1.5 (commencing with Section 1180).

(6) Provide emergency egressfor ETP patients.

(7) Intheevent that seclusion or restraints, as defined in Section
1180.1, areused inan ETR, all statelicensing and regulations shall
be followed.

(8 A full-time independent patients rights advocate who
provides patients' rights advocacy services shall be assigned to
each ETP.

(d) TheETPsshall adopt and implement policiesand procedures
necessary to encourage patient improvement, recovery, and areturn
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to a standard treatment environment, and to create identifiable
facility requirements and benchmarks. The policiesand procedures
shall also provide all of the following:

(1) Criteriaand process for admission into an ETP pursuant to
Section 4144 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code.

(2) Clinical assessment and review focused on behavior, history,
high risk of most dangerous behavior, and clinical need for patients
to receive treatment in an ETP as the least restrictive treatment
environment.

(3) A processfor identifying an ETP along acontinuum of care
that will best meet the patient’s needs, including least restrictive
treatment environment.

(4) A process for creating and implementing a treatment plan
with regular clinical review and reevaluation of placement back
into a standard treatment environment and discharge and
reintegration planning as specified in subdivision (e) of Section
4144 of the Welfare and Institutions Code.

(e) Patients who have been admitted to an ETP shall have the
same rights guaranteed to patients not in an ETP with the exception
set forth in paragraph (5) of subdivision (c).

(f) For purposes of paragraph (1) of subdivision (c), “staff”
means licensed nurses and psychiatric technicians providing direct
patient care.

(g) Thissection shall remainin effect only until January 1, 2030,
and as of that date is repealed, unless a later enacted statute that
is enacted before January 1, 2030, deletes or extends that date.

SEC. 2. Section 1276.4 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

1276.4. (@) By January 1, 2002, the State Department of Public
Health shall adopt regulations that establish minimum, specific,
and numerical licensed nurse-to-patient ratios by licensed nurse
classification and by hospital unit for all health facilities licensed
pursuant to subdivision (a) or (f) of Section 1250. No later than
July 31, 2027, or one and one-half years after adoption of
emergency regulations pursuant to subdivision (k), whichever is
sooner, the State Department of Public Health shall adopt
regul ations pursuant to the Administrative ProcedureAct (Chapter
3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of
Title 2 of the Government Code), as specified in subdivision (k),
that establish minimum, specific, and numerical licensed
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nurse-to-patient ratios for health facilities licensed pursuant to
subdivision (b) of Section 1250. The State Department of Public
Health shall adopt these regulations in accordance with the
department’s licensing and certification regulations as stated in
Sections 70053.2, 70215, and 70217 of Title 22 of the California
Code of Regulations, and the professional and vocationa
regulations in Section 1443.5 of Title 16 of the California Code
of Regulations. The department shall review these regulationsfive
years after adoption and shall report to the Legislature regarding
any proposed changes. Flexibility shall be considered by the
department for rural general acute care hospitals in response to
their special needs. As used in this subdivision, “hospital unit”
means a critical care unit, burn unit, labor and delivery room,
postanesthesia service area, emergency department, operating
room, pediatric unit, step-down/intermediate care unit, specialty
care unit, telemetry unit, general medical care unit, subacute care
unit, and transitional inpatient care unit. The regulation addressing
the emergency department shall distinguish between regularly
scheduled core staff licensed nurses and additional licensed nurses
required to care for critical care patients in the emergency
department.

(b) These ratios shall constitute the minimum number of
registered and licensed nurses that shall be allocated. Additional
staff shall be assigned in accordance with a documented patient
classification system for determining nursing care requirements,
including the severity of the illness, the need for specialized
equipment and technology, the complexity of clinical judgment
needed to design, implement, and evaluate the patient care plan
and the ability for self-care, and the licensure of the personnel
required for care.

(c) “Ciritical careunit” as used in this section means a unit that
is established to safeguard and protect patients whose severity of
medical conditions requires continuous monitoring, and complex
intervention by licensed nurses.

(d) All hedlth facilities licensed under subdivision (@), (b), or
(f) of Section 1250 shall adopt written policies and proceduresfor
training and orientation of nursing staff.

(e) No registered nurse shall be assigned to a nursing unit or
clinical areaunlessthat nurse hasfirst received orientation in that
clinical area sufficient to provide competent careto patientsin that
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area, and has demonstrated current competence in providing care
in that area.

(f) Thewritten policiesand proceduresfor orientation of nursing
staff shall require that all temporary personnel shall receive
orientation and be subject to competency validation consistent
with Sections 70016.1 and 70214 of Title 22 of the California Code
of Regulations.

(g) Requests for waivers to this section that do not jeopardize
the health, safety, and well-being of patients affected and that are
needed for increased operational efficiency may be granted by the
department to rural general acute care hospitals meeting the criteria
set forth in Section 70059.1 of Title 22 of the California Code of
Regulations.

(h) In case of conflict between this section and any provision
or regulation defining the scope of nursing practice, the scope of
practice provisions shall control.

(i) The regulations adopted by the department shall augment
and not replace existing nurse-to-patient ratios that exist in
regulation or law for the intensive care units, the neonatal intensive
care units, or the operating room.

() Theregulations adopted by the department shall not replace
existing licensed staff-to-patient ratios for hospitals operated by
the State Department of State Hospitals.

(k) (1) The regulations adopted by the department for health
facilities licensed under subdivision (b) of Section 1250 that are
not operated by the State Department of State Hospitals shall take
into account the special needs of the patients served in the
psychiatric units.

(2) Thedepartment shall adopt emergency regulations pursuant
to thissubdivision no later than January 31, 2026. The department
may readopt any emergency regulation authorized by this
subdivision that is the same as, or substantially equivalent to, an
emergency regulation previously adopted under this subdivision.

(3) The adoption of emergency regulations pursuant to this
subdivision and two readoptions of emergency regulations shall
be deemed an emergency and necessary for the immediate
preservation of the public peace, health, safety, or general welfare.
Emergency regul ations and readoptions authorized by this section
shall be exempt from review by the Office of Administrative Law.
The emergency regulations and the readoptions authorized by this

97



— 25— AB 116

section shall be submitted to the Office of Administrative Law for
filing with the Secretary of State. Notwithstanding any other
provision of law, the adoption and readoptions of these emergency
regulations shall be exempt from the requirements of subdivision
(b) of Section 11346.1 of the Government Code and each shall
remain in effect for no more than 180 days.

(4) The emergency regulations adopted pursuant to this
subdivision may include, but are not limited to, the following:

(A) Staffing standards, including nurse-to-patient, specific to
acute psychiatric hospitals.

(B) Requirements used to determine appropriate staffing based
on patient acuity and care needs.

(C) Requirements that the State Department of Public Health
deems necessary or relevant to staffing policies and proceduresto
promote patient safety.

() Thedepartment may take into consideration the unique nature
of the University of California teaching hospitals as educational
institutions when establishing licensed nurse-to-patient ratios. The
department shall coordinate with the Board of Registered Nursing
to ensure that staffing ratios are consistent with the Board of
Registered Nursing approved nursing education requirements. This
includes nursing clinical experience incidental to a work-study
program rendered in a University of California clinical facility
approved by the Board of Registered Nursing provided there will
be sufficient direct care registered nurse preceptors available to
ensure safe patient care.

SEC. 3. Section 1276.66 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

1276.66. (a) (1) The Skilled Nursing Facility Minimum
Staffing Penalty Account is hereby established in the State
Treasury. The account shall contain all moneys deposited pursuant
to subdivision (b).

(2) Notwithstanding Section 13340 of the Government Code or
any other law, the Skilled Nursing Facility Minimum Staffing
Penalty Account is hereby continuously appropriated, without
regard to fiscal years, to the State Department of Public Health to
support the implementation of this section.

(b) (1) The State Department of Public Health shall use the
direct care staffing level data it collects to determine whether a
skilled nursing facility has met the nursing hours or direct care
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service hours per patient per day requirements pursuant to Section
1276.5 or 1276.65, as applicable.

(2) (A) The State Department of Public Health shall assess a
skilled nursing facility, licensed pursuant to subdivision (c) of
Section 1250, an administrative penalty if the State Department
of Public Health determines that the skilled nursing facility fails
to meet the nursing hours or direct care service hours per patient
per day requirements pursuant to Section 1276.5 or 1276.65, as
applicable, asfollows:

(i) Twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) if the facility fails
to meet the requirementsfor 5 percent or more of the audited days
up to 49 percent.

(ii) Fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) if the facility failsto meet
the requirements for over 49 percent or more of the audited days.

(B) (i) If the skilled nursing facility does not dispute the
determination or assessment, the penalties shall be paid in full by
the licensee to the State Department of Public Health within 30
daysof thefacility’sreceipt of the notice of penalty and deposited
into the Skilled Nursing Facility Minimum Staffing Penalty
Account.

(if) The State Department of Public Health may, upon written
notification to the licensee, request that the State Department of
Health Care Services offset any moneys owed to the licensee by
the Medi-Cal program or any other payment program administered
by the State Department of Health Care Services to recoup the
penalty provided for in this section.

(C) (i) If afacility disputes the determination or assessment
made pursuant to this paragraph, the facility shall, within 30 days
of the facility’s receipt of the determination and assessment,
simultaneously submit a request for appeal to both the State
Department of Health Care Services and the State Department of
Public Health. A request for an appeal may be made by afacility
based upon a determination that does not result in an assessment.
Therequest shall include adetailed statement describing the reason
for appeal and include all supporting documents the facility will
present at the hearing.

(if) Within 30 days of the State Department of Public Health's
receipt of the facility’s request for appeal, the State Department
of Public Health shall submit, to both the facility and the State
Department of Health Care Services, itsresponsive arguments and
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all supporting documents that the State Department of Public
Health will present at the hearing.

(D) The State Department of Health Care Services shall hear a
timely appeal and issue a decision as follows:

(i) The hearing shall commence within 60 days from the date
of receipt by the State Department of Health Care Services of the
facility’s timely request for appeal.

(if) The State Department of Health Care Services shall issuea
decision within 120 days from the date of receipt by the State
Department of Health Care Services of thefacility’stimely request
for appeal.

(iii) The decision of the State Department of Health Care
Services hearing officer, when issued, shall be the final decision
of the State Department of Public Health.

(E) The appeals process set forth in this paragraph shall be
exempt from Chapter 4.5 (commencing with Section 11400), and
Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 11500), of Part 1 of Division
3 of Title 2 of the Government Code. The provisions of Sections
100171 and 131071 do not apply to appeals under this paragraph.

(F) If ahearing decision issued pursuant to subparagraph (D)
isin favor of the State Department of Public Health, the skilled
nursing facility shall pay the penalties to the State Department of
Public Health within 30 days of the facility’s receipt of the
decision. The penalties collected shall be deposited into the Skilled
Nursing Facility Minimum Staffing Penalty Account.

(c) The assessment of a penalty under this section shall not
prohibit any state or federal enforcement action, including, but not
limited to, State Department of Public Health's investigation
process or issuance of deficiencies or citations under Chapter 2.4
(commencing with Section 1417).

(d) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the State Department of Public Health may implement this section
by means of all-facility letters or other similar instructions without
taking regulatory action.

() Inimplementing this section, the State Department of Public
Health may contract, as necessary, with California's Medicare
Quality Improvement Organization, or other entities deemed
qualified by the State Department of Public Health, not associated
with a skilled nursing facility. The department may enter into
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exclusive or nonexclusive contracts, or amend existing contracts,
on a bid or negotiated basis for purposes of implementing this
subdivision. Contracts entered into or amended pursuant to this
subdivision shall be exempt from Chapter 6 (commencing with
Section 14825) of Part 5.5 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the
Government Code, Part 2 (commencing with Section 10100) of
Division 2 of the Public Contract Code, the State Administrative
Manual, and the State Contracting Manual, and shall be exempt
from thereview or approval of any division of the State Department
of General Services.

(f) Notwithstanding any other law, the State Controller may use
thefundsin the Skilled Nursing Facility Minimum Staffing Penalty
Account for cash flow loans to the General Fund as provided in
Sections 16310 and 16381 of the Government Code.

SEC. 4. Section 1280.15 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

1280.15. (@) A clinic, health facility, home health agency, or
hospice licensed pursuant to Section 1204, 1250, 1725, or 1745
shall prevent unlawful or unauthorized access to, and use or
disclosure of, patients’ medical information, as defined in Section
56.05 of the Civil Code and consistent with Section 1280.18. For
purposes of this section, internal paper records, electronic mail,
or facsimile transmissions inadvertently misdirected within the
same facility or health care system within the course of
coordinating care or delivering services shall not constitute
unauthorized accessto, or use or disclosure of, apatient’s medical
information. The department, after investigation, may assess an
administrative penalty for a violation of this section of up to
twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) per patient whose medical
information was unlawfully or without authorization accessed,
used, or disclosed, and up to seventeen thousand five hundred
dollars ($17,500) per subsequent occurrence of unlawful or
unauthorized access, use, or disclosure of that patient’s medical
information. For purposes of the investigation, the department
shall consider the clinic’s, health facility’s, agency’s, or hospice's
history of compliance with this section and other related state and
federa statutes and regulations, the extent to which the facility
detected violations and took preventative action to immediately
correct and prevent past violations from recurring, and factors
outside its control that restricted the facility’s ability to comply
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with this section. The department shall have full discretion to
consider all factors when determining whether to investigate and
the amount of an administrative penalty, if any, pursuant to this
section.

(b) (1) A clinic, healthfacility, home health agency, or hospice
to which subdivision (a) applies shall report any unlawful or
unauthorized accessto, or use or disclosure of, apatient’s medical
information to the department no later than 15 business days after
the unlawful or unauthorized access, use, or disclosure has been
detected by the clinic, health facility, home health agency, or
hospice.

(2) Subject to subdivision (c), a clinic, health facility, home
health agency, or hospice shall also report any unlawful or
unauthorized accessto, or use or disclosure of, apatient’s medical
information to the affected patient or the patient’s representative
a the last known address, or by an alternative means or at an
aternative location as specified by the patient or the patient’s
representative in writing pursuant to Section 164.522(b) of Title
45 of the Code of Federal Regulations, no later than 15 business
days after the unlawful or unauthorized access, use, or disclosure
has been detected by the clinic, health facility, home health agency,
or hospice. Notice may be provided by email only if the patient
has previously agreed in writing to electronic notice by email.

(c) (1) A clinic, health facility, home health agency, or hospice
shall delay the reporting, as required pursuant to paragraph (2) of
subdivision (b), of any unlawful or unauthorized accessto, or use
or disclosure of, a patient's medical information beyond 15
businessdaysif alaw enforcement agency or officia providesthe
clinic, health facility, home health agency, or hospice with awritten
or oral statement that compliance with the reporting requirements
of paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) would likely impede the law
enforcement agency’s investigation that relates to the unlawful or
unauthorized accessto, and use or disclosure of, apatient’smedical
information and specifies a date upon which the delay shall end,
not to exceed 60 days after a written request is made, or 30 days
after an oral requestismade. A law enforcement agency or official
may request an extension of a delay based upon a written
declaration that there exists a bona fide, ongoing, significant
criminal investigation of serious wrongdoing relating to the
unlawful or unauthorized access to, and use or disclosure of, a
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patient’s medical information, that notification of patients will
undermine the law enforcement agency’s investigation, and that
specifies a date upon which the delay shall end, not to exceed 60
days after the end of the original delay period.

(2) If the statement of the law enforcement agency or official
ismade orally, then the clinic, health facility, home health agency,
or hospice shall do both of the following:

(A) Document the oral statement, including, but not limited to,
the identity of the law enforcement agency or official making the
oral statement and the date upon which the oral statement was
made.

(B) Limit the delay in reporting the unlawful or unauthorized
accessto, or use or disclosure of, the patient’s medical information
to the date specified in the oral statement, not to exceed 30 calendar
daysfrom the date that the oral statement ismade, unlessawritten
statement that complies with the requirements of this subdivision
isreceived during that time.

(3 A clinic, health facility, home health agency, or hospice
shall submit a report that is delayed pursuant to this subdivision
not later than 15 business days after the date designated asthe end
of the delay.

(d) If aclinic, health facility, home health agency, or hospice
to which subdivision (a) applies violates subdivision (b), the
department may assess the licensee a penalty in the amount of one
hundred dollars ($100) for each day that the unlawful or
unauthorized access, use, or disclosure is not reported to the
department or the affected patient, following the initial 15-day
period specified in subdivision (b). However, the total combined
penalty assessed by the department under subdivision (a) and this
subdivision shall not exceed two hundred fifty thousand dollars
($250,000) per reported event. For enforcement purposes, it shall
be presumed that the facility did not notify the affected patient if
the notification was not documented. This presumption may be
rebutted by a licensee only if the licensee demonstrates, by a
preponderance of the evidence, that the notification was made.

(e) Inenforcing subdivisions (a) and (d), the department shall
take into consideration the special circumstances of small and rural
hospitals, as defined in Section 124840, and primary care clinics,
as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 1204, in order to protect
accessto quality carein those hospitalsand clinics. When ng
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a penalty on a skilled nursing facility or other facility subject to
Section 1423, 1424, 1424.1, or 1424.5, the department shall issue
only the higher of either a penalty for the violation of this section
or apenalty for violation of Section 1423, 1424, 1424.1, or 1424.5,
not both.

(f) All pendlties collected by the department pursuant to this
section, Sections 1280.1, 1280.3, 1280.4, and 1280.19, shall be
deposited into the Internal Departmental Quality Improvement
Account, which is hereby established in the State Treasury.
Notwithstanding Section 16305.7 of the Government Code, all
interest earned on the moneys deposited into the account shall be
retained in the account. Upon appropriation by the Legidature,
moneys in the account shall be expended for internal quality
improvement activitiesin the Licensing and Certification Program.

(g) If the licensee disputes a determination by the department
regarding afailure to prevent or failure to timely report unlawful
or unauthorized accessto, or use or disclosure of, patients’ medical
information, or the imposition of a penalty under this section, the
licensee may, within 10 days of receipt of the penalty assessment,
request a hearing pursuant to Section 131071. Penalties shall be
paid when appeals have been exhausted and the penalty has been
upheld.

(h) In lieu of disputing the determination of the department
regarding afailure to prevent or failure to timely report unlawful
or unauthorized accessto, or use or disclosure of, patients’ medical
information, transmit to the department 75 percent of the total
amount of the administrative penalty, for each violation, within
30 business days of receipt of the administrative penalty.

(i) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall
apply:

(1) “Reported event” meansall breachesincluded in any single
report that is made pursuant to subdivision (b), regardliess of the
number of breach events contained in the report.

(2) “Unauthorized” means the inappropriate access, review, or
viewing of patient medical information without a direct need for
medical diagnosis, treatment, or other lawful use as permitted by
the Confidentiality of Medica Information Act (Part 2.6
(commencing with Section 56) of Division 1 of the Civil Code)
or any other statute or regulation governing the lawful access, use,
or disclosure of medical information.
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() Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the State
Controller may usethefundsin the Internal Departmental Quality
Improvement Account for cash flow loansto the General Fund as
provided in Sections 16310 and 16381 of the Government Code.

SEC. 5. Section 1280.19 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

1280.19. (a) Effective July 1, 2025, the Internal Health
Information Integrity Quality Improvement Account is hereby
abolished. All moneys in the fund shall be transferred to the
Internal Departmental Quality Improvement Account created
pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 1280.15. Any remaining
balance, assets, liabilities, and encumbrances of the Internal Health
Information Integrity Quality Improvement Account as of July 1,
2025, shall be transferred to, and become part of, the Interna
Departmental Quality Improvement Account. All administrative
fines assessed by the department pursuant to Section 56.36 of the
Civil Code shall be deposited into the Internal Departmental
Quality Improvement Account. Notwithstanding Section 16305.7
of the Government Code, all interest earned on the moneys
deposited in the account shall be retained in the account. Upon
appropriation by the Legislature, moneys in the account shall be
used for the purpose of supporting quality improvement activities
in the Licensing and Certification Program.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the State
Controller may usethefundsin the Internal Departmental Quality
Improvement Account for cash flow loans to the General Fund as
provided in Sections 16310 and 16381 of the Government Code.

SEC. 6. Section 1342.2 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

1342.2. (@) Notwithstanding any other law, a heath care
service plan contract that covers medical, surgical, and hospital
benefits, excluding aspecialized health care service plan contract,
shall cover the costs for COVID-19 diagnostic and screening
testing and health care servicesrel ated to diagnostic and screening
testing approved or granted emergency use authorization by the
federal Food and Drug Administration for COVID-19, regardless
of whether the services are provided by an in-network or
out-of-network provider. Coverage required by this section shall
not be subject to copayment, coinsurance, deductible, or any other
form of cost sharing. Services related to COVID-19 diagnostic
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and screening testing include, but are not limited to, hospital or
health care provider office visits for the purposes of receiving
testing, products related to testing, the administration of testing,
and items and services furnished to an enrollee as part of testing.
Servicesrelated to COVID-19 diagnostic and screening testing do
not include bonus payments for the use of specialized equipment
or expedited processing.

(1) Totheextent ahealth care provider would have been entitled
to receive cost sharing but for this section, the health care service
plan shall reimburse the health care provider the amount of that
lost cost sharing.

(2) A health care service plan contract shall not impose prior
authorization or any other utilization management requirements
on COVID-19 diagnostic and screening testing.

(3) With respect to an enrollee, a health care service plan shall
reimburse the provider of the testing according to either of the
following:

(A) If the health plan has a specifically negotiated rate for
COVID-19 diagnostic and screening testing with such provider in
effect before the public health emergency declared under Section
319 of the Public Health Service Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 247d), such
negotiated rate shall apply throughout the period of such
declaration.

(B) If the health plan does not have a specifically negotiated
rate for COVID-19 diagnostic and screening testing with such
provider, the plan may negotiate a rate with such provider.

(4) For an out-of-network provider with whom a health care
service plan does not have a specificaly negotiated rate for
COVID-19 diagnostic and screening testing and hedth care
services related to testing, a plan shall reimburse the provider for
all testing items or services in an amount that is reasonable, as
determined in comparison to prevailing market rates for testing
itemsor servicesin the geographic region wheretheitem or service
isrendered. An out-of-network provider shall accept this payment
aspayment in full, shall not seek additional remuneration from an
enrolleefor servicesrelated to testing, and shall not report adverse
information to a consumer credit reporting agency or commence
civil action against the enrollee.

(5) Beginning six months after the federal public health
emergency expires, a health care service plan shall no longer be
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required to cover the cost sharing for COVID-19 diagnostic and
screening testing and health care services related to testing when
delivered by an out-of-network provider, except as otherwise
required by law. All other requirements of this subdivision shall
remainin effect after the federal public health emergency expires.

(6) Changes to a contract between a health care service plan
and aprovider delegating financial risk for diagnostic and screening
testing related to a declared public health emergency shall be
considered amaterial changeto the parties’ contract. A health care
service plan shall not delegate the financial risk to a contracted
provider for the cost of enrollee services provided under this section
unlessthe parties have negotiated and agreed upon anew provision
of the parties’ contract pursuant to Section 1375.7.

(b) (1) A hedth care service plan contract that covers medical,
surgical, and hospital benefits shall cover without cost sharing any
item, service, or immunization that is intended to prevent or
mitigate COV1D-19 and that is either of the following with respect
to theindividua enrollee:

(A) Anevidence-baseditem or servicethat hasin effect arating
of “A” or “B” inthe current recommendations of the United States
Preventive Services Task Force.

(B) Animmunization that hasin effect arecommendation from
the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices of the federal
Centersfor Disease Control and Prevention, regardless of whether
the immunization is recommended for routine use.

(2) The item, service, or immunization covered pursuant to
paragraph (1) shall be covered no later than 15 business days after
the date on which the United States Preventive Services Task Force
or the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices of the
federa Centers for Disease Control and Prevention makes a
recommendation relating to the item, service, or immunization. A
recommendation from the Advisory Committee on |mmunization
Practices of thefederal Centersfor Disease Control and Prevention
is considered in effect after it has been adopted, or granted
emergency use authorization, by the Director of the Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention.

(3) (A) A hedlth care service plan subject to this subdivision
shall not impose any cost-sharing requirements, including a
copayment, coinsurance, or deductible, for any item, service, or
immunization described in paragraph (1), regardless of whether
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such service is delivered by an in-network or out-of-network
provider.

(B) Totheextent ahealth care provider would have been entitled
to receive cost sharing but for this section, the health care service
plan shall reimburse the health care provider the amount of that
lost cost sharing.

(C) With respect to an enrollee, a health care service plan shall
reimburse the provider of the immunization according to either of
the following:

(i) If the health plan has anegotiated rate with such provider in
effect before the public health emergency declared under Section
319 of the Public Health Service Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 247d), such
negotiated rate shall apply throughout the period of such
declaration.

(i) If the health plan does not have a negotiated rate with such
provider, the plan may negotiate a rate with such provider.

(D) A health care service plan shall not impose cost sharing for
any items or services that are necessary for the furnishing of an
item, service, or immunization described in paragraph (1),
including, but not limited to, provider office visits and vaccine
administration, regardless of whether the service is delivered by
an in-network or out-of-network provider.

(E) (i) Foranout-of-network provider with whom ahealth care
service plan does not have a negotiated rate for an item, service,
or immunization described in paragraph (1), a health care service
plan shall reimburse the provider for al related items or services,
including any itemsor servicesthat are necessary for thefurnishing
of an item, service, or immunization described in paragraph (1),
in an amount that is reasonable, as determined in comparison to
prevailing market ratesfor such itemsor servicesin the geographic
regioninwhich theitem or serviceisrendered. An out-of-network
provider shall accept this payment as payment in full, shall not
seek additional remuneration from an enrollee, and shall not report
adverse information to a consumer credit reporting agency or
commence civil action against the enrolleefor items, services, and
immunizations described in subdivision (b), including any items
or servicesthat are necessary for the furnishing of anitem, service,
or immunization described in paragraph (1).

(i) Beginning six months after the federal public health
emergency expires, a health care service plan shall no longer be
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required to cover the cost sharing for any item, service, or
immunization described in paragraph (1) and to cover items or
servicesthat are necessary for the furnishing of theitems, services,
or immunizations described in paragraph (1) when delivered by
an out-of-network provider, except as otherwise required by law.
All other requirements of this section shall remain in effect after
the federal public health emergency expires.

(4) A hedlth care service plan subject to this subdivision shall
not impose prior authorization or any other utilization management
regquirements on any item, service, or immunization described in
paragraph (1) or to items or services that are necessary for the
furnishing of the items, services, or immunizations described in
subparagraph (D) of paragraph (3).

(5) Changes to a contract between a health care service plan
and a provider delegating financial risk for immunization related
to a declared public health emergency, shall be considered a
material change to the parties’ contract. A health plan shall not
delegate the financial risk to a contracted provider for the cost of
enrollee services provided under this section unless the parties
have negotiated and agreed upon a new provision of the parties
contract pursuant to Section 1375.7.

(c) Thedirector may issue guidanceto health care service plans
regarding compliance with this section. This guidance shall not
be subject to the Administrative Procedure Act (Chapter 3.5
(commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title
2 of the Government Code). The department shall consult with the
Department of Insurance in issuing the guidance specified in this
subdivision.

(d) This section, excluding subdivison (h), shall apply
retroactively beginning from the Governor's declared State of
Emergency related to the SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) pandemic
on March 4, 2020. Notwithstanding Section 1390, this subdivision
does not create criminal liability for transactions that occurred
before January 1, 2022.

(e) For purposes of this section:

(1) “Diagnostic testing” means al of the following:

(A) Testing intended to identify current or past infection and
performed when a person has signs or symptoms consistent with
COVID-19, or when a person is asymptomatic but has recent
known or suspected exposure to SARS-CoV-2.
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(B) Testing aperson with symptoms consistent with COVID-19.

(C) Testing aperson as aresult of contact tracing efforts.

(D) Testing a person who indicates that they were exposed to
someone with a confirmed or suspected case of COVID-19.

(E) Testing aperson after an individualized clinical assessment
by alicensed health care provider.

(2) “Screeningtesting” meansteststhat areintended to identify
people with COVID-19 who are asymptomatic and do not have
known, suspected, or reported exposureto SARS-CoV-2. Screening
testing helps to identify unknown cases so that measures can be
taken to prevent further transmission. Screening testing includes
al of the following:

(A) Workersin aworkplace setting.

(B) Students, faculty, and staff in a school setting.

(C) A person before or after travel.

(D) At home for someone who does not have symptoms
associated with COVID-19 and does not have a known exposure
to someone with COVID-19.

(f) Thissection does not relieve ahealth care service plan from
continuing to cover testing asrequired by federal law and guidance.

(g) The department shall hold health care service plans
accountablefor timely accessto servicesrequired under this section
and coverage requirements established under federal law,
regulations, or guidelines.

(h) (1) This subdivision applies to a health care service plan
contract issued, amended, or renewed on or after the operative date
of this subdivision that covers medical, surgical, and hospital
benefits, excluding aspecialized health care service plan contract,
with respect to therapeutics for COVID-19 covered under the
contract, which shall include therapeutics approved or granted
emergency use authorization by the federal Food and Drug
Administration for treatment of COVID-19 when prescribed or
furnished by a licensed health care provider acting within their
scope of practice and the standard of care.

(2) A hedlth care service plan shall reimburse aprovider for the
therapeutics described in paragraph (1) at the specifically
negotiated rate for those therapeutics, if the plan and provider have
negotiated arate. If the plan does not have a negotiated rate with
a provider, the plan may negotiate arate with the provider.
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(3) For an out-of-network provider with whom a health care
service plan does not have a negotiated rate for the therapeutics
described in paragraph (1), a hedth care service plan shall
reimburse the provider for the therapeutics in an amount that is
reasonabl e, as determined in comparison to prevailing market rates
for the therapeutics in the geographic region in which the
therapeutic was delivered. An out-of-network provider shall accept
this payment as payment in full, shall not seek additional
remuneration from an enrollee, and shall not report adverse
information to a consumer credit reporting agency or commence
civil action against the enrollee for therapeutics described in this
subdivision.

(4) A hedth care service plan shal cover COVID-19
therapeutics without cost sharing, regardless of whether the
therapeutics are provided by an in-network or out-of-network
provider, and without utilization management. If aprovider would
have been entitled to receive cost sharing but for this section, the
health care service plan shall reimburse the provider for the amount
of that lost cost sharing. A provider shall accept this payment as
payment in full, shall not seek additional remuneration from an
enrollee, and shall not report adverse information to a consumer
credit reporting agency or commence civil action against the
enrollee for therapeutics pursuant to this subdivision.

(5 Beginning six months after the federal public hedlth
emergency expires, a health care service plan shall no longer be
required to cover the cost sharing for COVID-19 therapeutics
delivered by an out-of-network provider, unless otherwise required
by law. All other requirements of this subdivision shall remainin
effect after the federal public health emergency expires.

(6) This section does not apply to a Medi-Cal managed care
plan that contracts with the State Department of Health Care
Services pursuant to Chapter 7 (commencing with Section 14000)
and Chapter 8 (commencing with Section 14200) of Part 3 of
Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code.

SEC. 7. Section 1356.3 isadded to the Health and Safety Code,
immediately following Section 1356.2, to read:

1356.3. (a) Forthe2025-26 to 202627 fiscal years, inclusive,
a hedlth care service plan licensed by the department shall be
assessed an annual feein an amount determined by the department,
in consultation with the Department of Health Care Access and
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Information. The annual fee shall be limited to the amount
necessary to fund the actual and reasonably necessary expenses
of the department to implement Article 6.1 (commencing with
Section 1385.001) and the actual and reasonably necessary
expenses of the Department of Health Care A ccess and Information
pertaining to data reporting by pharmacy benefit managers,
including that portion of the Health Care Payments Data Program
established by Section 127671.1 that concerns pharmacy benefit
managers.

(b) Thefeesreceived pursuant to this section shall betransferred
from the Managed Care Fund to the Pharmacy Benefit Manager
Fund established by Section 1385.0017 and disbursed pursuant to
that section, upon appropriation by the Legisature.

SEC. 8. Section 1374.55 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

1374.55. (@) (1) A large group health care service plan
contract, except a specialized health care service plan contract,
that is issued, amended, or renewed on or after January 1, 2026,
shall provide coveragefor the diagnosis and treatment of infertility
and fertility services, including a maximum of three completed
oocyte retrievals with unlimited embryo transfers in accordance
with the guidelines of the American Society for Reproductive
Medicine (ASRM), using single embryo transfer when
recommended and medically appropriate.

(2) A small group health care service plan contract, except a
specialized hedth care service plan contract, that is issued,
amended, or renewed on or after January 1, 2026, shall offer
coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of infertility and fertility
services. This paragraph shall not be construed to require a small
group health care service plan contract to provide coverage for
infertility services.

(3) A hedlth care service plan shall include notice of the
coverage specified in this section in the plan’s evidence of
coverage.

(b) For purposes of this section, “infertility” means a condition
or status characterized by any of the following:

(1) A licensed physician’sfindings, based on apatient’smedical,
sexual, and reproductive history, age, physical findings, diagnostic
testing, or any combination of those factors. This definition shall
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not prevent testing and diagnosis of infertility before the 12-month
or 6-month period to establish infertility in paragraph (3).

(2) A person’sinability to reproduce either as an individua or
with their partner without medical intervention.

(3) Thefailureto establish apregnancy or to carry a pregnancy
to live birth after regular, unprotected sexua intercourse. For
purposes of this section, “regular, unprotected sexual intercourse’
means no more than 12 months of unprotected sexual intercourse
for a person under 35 years of age or no more than 6 months of
unprotected sexual intercourse for a person 35 years of age or
older. Pregnancy resulting in miscarriage does not restart the
12-month or 6-month time period to qualify as having infertility.

(c) The contract may not include any of the following:

(1) Any exclusion, limitation, or other restriction on coverage
of fertility medications that are different from those imposed on
other prescription medications.

(2) Any exclusion or denial of coverage of any fertility services
based on a covered individual’s participation in fertility services
provided by or to athird party. For purposes of this section, “third
party” includes an oocyte, sperm, or embryo donor, gestational
carrier, or surrogate that enables an intended recipient to become
a parent.

(3) Any deductible, copayment, coinsurance, benefit maximum,
waiting period, or any other limitation on coverage for the
diagnosis and treatment of infertility, except as provided in
subdivision () that are different from those imposed upon benefits
for services not related to infertility.

(d) Thissectiondoesnot inany way deny or restrict any existing
right or benefit to coverage and treatment of infertility or fertility
services under an existing law, plan, or policy.

(e) Consistent with Section 1365.5, coverage for the treatment
of infertility and fertility services shall be provided without
discrimination on the basis of age, ancestry, color, disability,
domestic partner status, gender, gender expression, gender identity,
genetic information, marital status, national origin, race, religion,
sex, or sexual orientation. This subdivision shall not be construed
to interfere with the clinical judgment of a physician and surgeon.

(f) Thissection doesnot apply to Medi-Ca managed care health
care service plan contracts or any entity that entersinto a contract
with the State Department of Health Care Servicesfor thedelivery

97



—41— AB 116

of health care services pursuant to Chapter 7 (commencing with
Section 14000), Chapter 8 (commencing with Section 14200),
Chapter 8.75 (commencing with Section 14591), or Chapter 8.9
(commencing with Section 14700) of Part 3 of Division 9 of the
Welfare and Institutions Code.

(g) This section shall not apply to a religious employer, as
defined in Section 1367.25.

(h) This section shall not apply to a health care benefit plan or
contract entered into with the Board of Administration of the Public
Employees’ Retirement System pursuant to the Public Employees
Medical and Hospital Care Act (Part 5 (commencing with Section
22750) of Division 5 of Title 2 of the Government Code) until July
1, 2027.

(i) (1) Until January 1, 2027, the director may issue guidance
regarding compliance with this section, and that guidance shall
not be subject to the Administrative Procedure Act (Chapter 3.5
(commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title
2 of the Government Code).

(2) The department shall consult with the Department of
Insurance and stakeholders in issuing the guidance specified in
paragraph (1).

SEC. 9. Theheading of Article 6.1 (commencing with Section
1385.001) of Chapter 2.2 of Division 2 of the Health and Safety
Code is amended to read:

Article 6.1. Pharmacy Benefit Managers

SEC. 10. Section 1385.001 of the Health and Safety Code is
repealed.

SEC. 11. Section 1385.001 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.001. For the purposes of this article:

(&) “Department” means the Department of Managed Health
Care.

(b) “Director” meansthe Director of the Department of Managed
Hedlth Care.

(c) “Drug’ hasthe same meaning as defined in Section 4025 of
the Business and Professions Code.

(d) “Healthinsurer” means an entity licensed to provide health
insurance, as defined in Section 106 of the Insurance Code.
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(e) “Manufacturer” hasthe same meaning as defined in Section
4033 of the Business and Professions Code.

(f) “Payer” means a hedlth care service plan licensed by the
department or a health insurer licensed by the Department of
Insurance.

(9) “Pharmacist” has the same meaning as defined in Section
4036 of the Business and Professions Code.

(h) “Pharmacy” has the same meaning as defined in Section
4037 of the Business and Professions Code.

() (1) “Pharmacy benefit manager” means a person, business,
or other entity that, either directly or through an intermediary,
affiliate, or both, acts as a price negotiator or group purchaser on
behalf of a payer, or manages the prescription drug coverage
provided by the payer, including, but not limited to, the processing
and payment of claimsfor prescription drugs, the performance of
drug utilization review, the processing of drug prior authorization
requests, the adjudication of appeals or grievances related to
prescription drug coverage, contracting with network pharmacies,
or controlling the cost of covered prescription drugs.

(2) “Pharmacy benefit manager” includes an entity performing
the duties specified in paragraph (1) that is under common
ownership with, or control by, a payer.

(3) “Pharmacy benefit manager” does not include any of the
following:

(A) An entity providing services pursuant to a contract
authorized by Section 4600.2 of the Labor Code.

(B) A fully self-insured employee welfare benefit plan under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (Public
Law 93-406), as amended (29 U.S.C. Sec. 1001 et seq.).

(C) A health care service plan licensed pursuant to this chapter
or an individual employee of a health care service plan.

(D) A hedlth insurer licensed to provide health insurance, as
defined in Section 106 of the Insurance Code, or an individual
employee of ahealth insurer.

(E) A city or county that develops or manages drug coverage
programs for uninsured patients for which no reimbursement is
received.

(F) Anentity exclusively providing servicesto patients covered
by Part 418 (commencing with Section 418.1) of Subchapter B of
Chapter 1V of Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations.
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(G) The State Department of Health Care Services, including
any contracts between the State Department of Health Care
Services and another entity related to the negotiation and collection
of drug or medical supply rebates.

() “Plan participant” means an individual who is enrolled in
health care coverage provided by a payer.

SEC. 12. Section 1385.002 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

1385.002. (a) Thedepartment hasthe authority to enforcethe
provisions of thisarticle, including the authority to adopt, amend,
or repeal any rules and regulations, not inconsistent with the laws
of this state, as may be necessary for the protection of the public
and to implement this article, including, but not limited to, the
director’s enforcement authority under this chapter.

(b) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement, interpret, or make specific this
article by means of al-plan letters or similar instructions to plans
and pharmacy benefit managers, without taking regul atory action,
until such time as regulations are adopted.

(c) Until June 30, 2028, for purposes of implementing this
article, the department may contract with a consultant or
consultants, including information technology consultants and
vendors, with relevant expertise to assist the department with
implementing this article. The department’s contract with a
consultant shall include conflict-of-interest provisions to prohibit
aperson from participating in any report in which the person knows
or has reason to know the person has a material financial interest,
including, but not limited to, a person who has a consulting or
other agreement with a person or organization that would be
affected by the results of the report.

(d) Contractsenteredinto pursuant to the authority inthis section
shall be exempt from Chapter 6 (commencing with Section 14825)
of Part 5.5 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
Section 19130 of the Government Code, and Part 2 (commencing
with Section 10100) of Division 2 of the Public Contract Code,
and shall be exempt from the review or approval of any division
of the Department of General Services.

SEC. 13. Section 1385.004 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:
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1385.004. (@) A health care service plan that contracts with a
pharmacy benefit manager for management of any or all of its
prescription drug coverage shall require the pharmacy benefit
manager to do all of the following:

(1) Comply with the provisions of Section 1385.003.

(2) Register with the department pursuant to the requirements
of thisarticle, or, if licensure of the pharmacy benefit manager is
required pursuant to this article, obtain a license and keep it in
good standing with the department.

(3) Exercise good faith and fair dealing in the performance of
its contractual dutiesto a health care service plan.

(4) Comply withtherequirements of Chapter 9.5 (commencing
with Section 4430) of Division 2 of the Business and Professions
Code, as applicable.

(5) Inform al pharmacists under contract with or subject to
contracts with the pharmacy benefit manager of the pharmacist’'s
rights to submit complaints to the department under Section
1371.39 and of the pharmacist’srightsasaprovider under Section
1375.7.

(b) Contractsissued, amended, or renewed on or after January
1, 2026, between ahealth care service plan and apharmacy benefit
manager shall require the pharmacy benefit manager to submit to
the Department of Health Care Access and Information all
information required to be reported pursuant to Chapter 8.5
(commencing with Section 127671) of Part 2 of Division 107.

(¢) A pharmacy benefit manager shall notify ahealth care service
plan in writing of any activity, policy, or practice of the pharmacy
benefit manager that directly or indirectly presents a conflict of
interest that interferes with the discharge of the pharmacy benefit
manager’s duty to the health care service plan to exercise good
faith and fair dealing in the performance of its contractual duties
pursuant to subdivision (a).

SEC. 14. Section 1385.005 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

1385.005. (&) A pharmacy benefit manager required to register
with the department pursuant to Section 1385.004 shall complete
an application for registration with the department that shall
include, but not be limited to, al of the information required by
subdivision (c).

97



— 45— AB 116

(b) A pharmacy benefit manager registration obtained pursuant
to this section is not transferable.

() The department shall develop an application form for
pharmacy benefit manager registration. The application form for
apharmacy benefit manager registration shall require the pharmacy
benefit manager to submit the following information to the
department:

(1) The name of the pharmacy benefit manager.

(2) Theaddressand contact telephone number for the pharmacy
benefit manager.

(3) The name and address of the pharmacy benefit manager’s
agent for service of processin the state.

(4) Thenameand address of each person beneficially interested
in the pharmacy benefit manager.

(5) The name and address of each person with management or
control over the pharmacy benefit manager.

(d) If the applicant is a partnership or other unincorporated
association, alimited liability company, or a corporation, and the
number of partners, members, or stockholders, as the case may
be, exceeds five, the application shall so state, and shall further
state the name, address, usual occupation, and professional
qualifications of each of thefive partners, members, or stockholders
who own the five largest interests in the applicant entity. Upon
request by the department, the applicant shall furnish the
department with the name, address, usual occupation, and
professional qualifications of partners, members, or stockholders
not named in the application, or shall refer the department to an
appropriate source for that information.

(e) The application shall contain a statement to the effect that
the applicant has not been convicted of a felony and has not
violated any of the provisionsof thisarticle. If the applicant cannot
make this statement, the application shall contain a statement of
the violation, if any, or shall describe the reasons that prevent the
applicant from being able to comply with the requirements with
respect to the statement.

(f) The department may set afee for aregistration required by
this article. The application fee shall not exceed the reasonable
costs of the department in carrying out its duties under thisarticle.

(g) Within 30 days of a change in any of the information
disclosed to the department on an application for a registration,
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the pharmacy benefit manager shall notify the department of that
change in writing.

(h) For purposesof thissection, “person beneficially interested”
with respect to a pharmacy benefit manager means and includes
the following:

(1) If the applicant is a partnership or other unincorporated
association, each partner or member.

(2) If the applicant isacorporation, each of itsofficers, directors,
and stockholders, provided that a natural person shall not be
deemed to be beneficially interested in a nonprofit corporation.

(3) If the applicant is alimited liability company, each officer,
manager, or member.

(i) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2027,
or the date on which the department has established the licensure
process pursuant to Section 1385.009, whichever is later and, as
of the following January 1 isrepealed.

SEC. 15. Section 1385.006 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

1385.006. The failure by a health care service plan to comply
with the contractual requirements and to maintain appropriate
oversight of a contracted pharmacy benefit manager to ensure the
pharmacy benefit manager’s compliance pursuant to this article
shall constitute grounds for disciplinary action. The director shall,
as appropriate, investigate and take enforcement action against a
health care service plan that failsto comply with these requirements
and shall periodically evaluate contracts between hedth care
service plans and pharmacy benefit managers to determine if any
audit, evaluation, or enforcement actions should be undertaken by
the department.

SEC. 16. Section 1385.008 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.008. On or after January 1, 2027, or the date on which
the department has established the licensure process pursuant to
Section 1385.009, whichever islater, a person shall not engage in
business as a pharmacy benefit manager for a payer in this state
unless that person has first secured a license from the director. A
license issued pursuant to this article is not transferable without
the express and specific permission of the director.

SEC. 17. Section 1385.009 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:
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1385.009. An application for licensure as a pharmacy benefit
manager under this article shall be verified by an authorized
representative of the applicant and shall be in a form prescribed
by the department. To the extent applicable, the department may
direct licensure applicantsto use the forms and processes available
to and required of health care service plan licensure applicants and
licensees created pursuant to this chapter and its implementing
regulations, including Section 1351 and the forms and exhibits
described in regulations, as amended, implementing that section.
The application for licensure as a pharmacy benefit manager shall
be accompanied by the fee prescribed by Section 1385.0016 and
shall set forth or be accompanied by all of the following:

(&) The basic organizational documents of the applicant, such
asthearticles of incorporation, articles of association, partnership
agreement, trust agreement, or other applicable documents, and
all amendments to those documents.

(b) A copy of the bylaws, rules and regulations, or similar
documents regulating the conduct of the internal affairs of the
applicant.

(c) A list of the names, addresses, and official positions of the
persons who are to be responsible for the conduct of the affairs of
the applicant, including all members of the board of directors,
board of trustees, executive committee, or other governing board
or committee, the principal officers, each shareholder with more
than 5 percent interest in the case of a corporation, all partners or
members in the case of a partnership or association, and each
person who has loaned funds to the applicant for the operation of
its business.

(d) A statement of whether, within the preceding 10 years, the
applicant, its management company, an affiliate of the applicant,
a controlling person, officer, director, or other person occupying
a principal management or supervisory position in the pharmacy
benefit manager, management company, or affiliate, or a person
intended to hold that relationship or position, has been convicted
of or pleaded nolo contendere to a felony, been held to have
committed an act involving dishonesty, fraud, or deceitinajudicial
or administrative proceeding to which the person was a party, or
has had a license or certificate to operate as a pharmacy benefit
manager denied or revoked in another jurisdiction.
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(e) For an applicant not domiciled in this state, a power of
attorney duly executed appointing the director the true and lawful
attorney in fact of the applicant for the purposes of service of all
lawful processinalegal action or proceeding against the pharmacy
benefit manager on a cause of action arising in this state.

(f) Financial statements accompanied by a report, certificate,
or opinion of an independent certified public accountant that
demonstrates the financial viability of the applicant. Submission
of financial statements may, at the direction of the department, be
completed using the same forms and processes as required for
health care service plans licensed pursuant to this chapter.

(9) An affirmation that the applicant’s business practices and
contracts comply with the applicable provisions of this chapter,
including the requirements of pharmacy benefit manager contracts
and business practices set forth in this article.

(h) An affirmation that the applicant shall comply with all
requirements for reporting data to the Department of Health Care
Accessand Information in accordance with this article and Chapter
8.5 (commencing with Section 127671) of Part 2 of Division 107.

(i) A description of the business operations of the applicant,
including descriptions of its services, facilities, and personnel.

() A list of dl jurisdictions in which the applicant operates as
apharmacy benefit manager, including those in which the applicant
holdsalicense, registration, or certification as a pharmacy benefit
manager.

(k) The applicant’s organization chart or charts that show the
lines of responsibility and authority in the administration of the
applicant’sbusiness as apharmacy benefit manager. The applicant
shall include a narrative explanation of the organization chart,
including the responsibility and authority of each entity, board,
committee, and position, and identify the persons who serve on
the boards and committees and in those positions.

() A list of al pharmaceutical supply chain entities, including
drug manufacturers, wholesalers, and distributors, that are
contracted or affiliated with the applicant.

(m) A list of all health care providers, including pharmaciesand
pharmacists, that are contracted or affiliated with the applicant.

(n) A list of each payer with which the applicant is affiliated or
has a contract for the provision of pharmacy benefit manager
services, including a description of all services provided and the
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number of individual enrollees covered under the contract or
contracts with each payer.

(o) A statement describing how the applicant shall provide for
separation of medical and clinical decisionmaking from fiscal and
administrative management to ensure that medical and clinical
decisions shall not be unduly influenced by fisca and
administrative management, including a description of what
controls will be put into place to assure compliance with this
reguirement.

SEC. 18. Section 1385.0010 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0010. Inaddition to the requirements of Section 1385.009,
and upon request of the director, an application shal be
accompanied by authorization for disclosure to the director of
financial records of each pharmacy benefit manager licensed under
this chapter, pursuant to Section 7473 of the Government Code.
For purposes of this chapter, the authorization for disclosure shall
aso include the financial records of an association, partnership,
or corporation controlling, controlled by, or otherwise affiliated
with the pharmacy benefit manager.

SEC. 19. Section 1385.0011 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0011. (@) A pharmacy benefit manager shall submit to
the department financial statements prepared as of the close of its
fiscal year within 120 days after the close of the fiscal year. These
financial statements shall be accompanied by areport, certificate,
or opinion of an independent certified public accountant or
independent public accountant. An audit shall be conducted in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the
rules and regulations of the director.

(b) Within 45 days after the close of each quarter of its fiscal
year, a pharmacy benefit manager shall submit its quarterly
unaudited financial statement, prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principlesand consisting of at least
a balance sheet, statement of income, statement of cash flows,
statement of changes in equity, and notes to financial statements
as of the date and for the period specified by the director. The
director may require the submission of these reports on amonthly
or other periodic basis.
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(c) A pharmacy benefit manager shall make specia reports to
the director as the director may require.

(d) For good cause and upon written request, the director may
extend the time for compliance with subdivisions (a) to (c),
inclusive.

(e) If the report, certificate, or opinion of the independent
accountant required pursuant to subdivision (a) is qualified, the
director may require the pharmacy benefit manager to take action
that the director deems appropriate to permit an independent
accountant to remove the qualification from the report, certificate,
or opinion.

(f) The director may reject a financial statement, report,
certificate, or opinion filed pursuant to this section by notifying
the pharmacy benefit manager of thergjection and its cause. Within
30 days after the receipt of the notice, the pharmacy benefit
manager shall correct the deficiency, and the failure so to do shall
be deemed a violation of this chapter. The director shall retain a
copy of al rejected filings.

(g) Thedirector may make rules and regulations specifying the
form and content of the reports and financial statements required
by this section, and may require that these reports and financial
statements be verified by the pharmacy benefit manager in a
manner as the director may prescribe. Revenue reported by
pharmacy benefit managers shall include revenue from
manufacturers, payers, and other sources, including from affiliates.
Types of revenue reported shall be inclusive of rebates of any type
or form. Expenses reported by pharmacy benefit managers shall
include payments to pharmacies, claims processing, specia
programs, administrative costs, and all other expenses. The director
may require the reporting of any additional revenue, expenses, or
related information that the department requires to assist in
determining the overall impact of pharmacy benefit manager
business practices on the cost of drugsin this state.

(h) Totheextent applicable, the department may direct licensure
applicantsto use the formsand processes availableto and required
of health care service plans and other entities reporting financial
data created pursuant to this chapter and their implementing
regulations, including Section 1384 and the forms and exhibits
described in regulations, as amended, implementing that section.
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(i) Financia and other records produced, disclosed, or otherwise
made available by an organization pursuant to this section shall
be received and maintained on a confidential basis and protected
from public disclosure.

SEC. 20. Section 1385.0012 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0012. (a) A pharmacy benefit manager licensed pursuant
tothisarticle shall submit to the Department of Health Care Access
and Information all information required to be reported pursuant
to Chapter 8.5 (commencing with Section 127671) of Part 2 of
Division 107.

(b) The obligation of a pharmacy benefit manager to comply
with this section shall not be waived if the pharmacy benefit
manager delegates any of its services or business operations to
another entity via a contractual relationship or otherwise.

(c) Failure by a pharmacy benefit manager to timely or
completely submit required reporting to the Department of Health
Care Access and Information shall be grounds for enforcement
action by the department pursuant to this chapter.

SEC. 21. Section 1385.0013 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0013. (a) (1) A licensed pharmacy benefit manager shall,
within 30 days after a change in the information contained in its
application, other than financia or statistical information, file an
amendment to the application in the manner prescribed by rule by
the director.

(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), if an association, partnership,
or corporation is added in a controlling, controlled, or affiliated
status relative to the pharmacy benefit manager, the pharmacy
benefit manager shall file within 30 days an authorization for
disclosureto thedirector of financial records of the person pursuant
to Section 7473 of the Government Code.

(b) Beforeamaterial modification of its operations, apharmacy
benefit manager shall give notice of the change to the director,
who shall approve, disapprove, suspend, or postpone the
effectiveness of the change by order, within 20 business days or
within additional time specified by the pharmacy benefit manager,
subject to Section 1385.0014.

(c) A pharmacy benefit manager shall, within five days, give
written notice to the director, in the form prescribed by rule by the
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director, of achangeinthe officers, directors, partners, controlling
shareholders, principal creditors, or persons occupying similar
positions or performing similar functions, of the pharmacy benefit
manager, any parent company of the pharmacy benefit manager,
or a management company of the pharmacy benefit manager or
its parent company. The director may define by rule the positions,
duties, and relationships that shall be reported pursuant to this
subdivision.

(d) Thefeefor filing anotice of material modification pursuant
to subdivision (b) shall be the actua cost to the director of
processing the notice, including overhead, but shall not exceed
seven hundred fifty dollars ($750).

() Rules and regulations promulgated and amended by the
department pursuant to this chapter relating to health care service
plan license amendments and material modifications, including
those promulgated to implement and make specific Section 1352,
shall, to the extent applicable, apply to pharmacy benefit managers
licensed pursuant to this article.

SEC. 22. Section 1385.0014 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0014. Upon denial of an application for licensure, or the
issuance of an order pursuant to Section 1385.0013 disapproving,
suspending, or postponing a material modification, the director
shall notify the applicant in writing, stating the reason for the denial
and that the applicant has the right to a hearing if the applicant
makes a written request within 30 days after the date of mailing
of the notice of denial. Service of the notice required by this section
may be made by certified mail addressed to the applicant at the
latest addressfiled by the applicant in writing with the department.

SEC. 23. Section 1385.0015 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0015. A pharmacy benefit manager license issued under
this article shall remain in effect until revoked or suspended by
the director.

SEC. 24. Section 1385.0016 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0016. (@) A pharmacy benefit manager applying for
licensure under this article shall reimburse the director for the
actual cost of processing the application, including overhead, up
to an amount not to exceed twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000).
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The cost shall be billed not more frequently than monthly and shall
be remitted by the applicant to the director within 30 days of the
date of billing. The director shall not issue alicenseto an applicant
before receiving payment in full from that applicant for all amounts
charged pursuant to this subdivision.

(b) (1) In addition to other fees, fines, pendlties, and
reimbursements required to be paid under this article, a licensed
pharmacy benefit manager shall pay to the director an amount
estimated by the director, in consultation with the Department of
Health Care Access and Information, to be necessary to fund the
actual and reasonably necessary expenses of the department to
implement this article and the actual and reasonably necessary
expenses of the Department of Health Care A ccessand Information
pertaining to data reporting by pharmacy benefit managers,
including for any portion of the Health Care Payments Data
Program established by Section 127671.1 that is necessary to
implement the provisions of thisarticle, for the ensuing fiscal year.
The amount may be paid in two equal installments. The first
installment shall be paid on or before August 1 of each year, and
the second installment shall be paid on or before December 15 of
each year.

(2) Thetotal assessment cost for all licensed pharmacy benefit
managers determined by the director pursuant to paragraph (1)
shall be divided pro rata among licensees based upon each
licensee’s share of the aggregate number of claims adjudicated in
this state by licensed pharmacy benefit managers. The aggregate
number of claims adjudicated in this state and each licensee’s share
of that number shall be cal culated based on the report that licensees
are required to submit pursuant to paragraph (3).

(3 A licensed pharmacy benefit manager shall, by January 31
of each year, file with the director areport stating the total number
of claims it adjudicated for drugs in this state for the preceding
calendar year. For purposes of this paragraph, adjudicated claims
are claims for reimbursement for drugs dispensed by a provider
to a beneficiary under the drug benefit administered by the
pharmacy benefit manager for which payment was authorized and
made by the pharmacy benefit manager. Reports submitted shall
be in the form and manner directed by the department.
Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340)
of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code, the
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department may issue instructions on reporting without taking
regulatory action.

(4) The amount paid by each pharmacy benefit manager shall
be fixed by the director by noticeto al licensed pharmacy benefit
managers on or before June 15 of each year. A pharmacy benefit
manager that is unableto report the number of adjudicated claims
shall provide the director with an estimate of the number and the
method used for determining the estimate. The director may, upon
giving written notice to the pharmacy benefit manager, revise the
estimate if the director determines that the method used for
determining the estimate was not reasonable.

(5) In determining the amount assessed, the director shall
consider al appropriations from the Pharmacy Benefit Manager
Fund for the support of the administration of this article and other
relevant reimbursements provided for in this chapter.

(6) A refund or reduction of the amount assessed shall not be
provided if a miscalculated assessment is based on a pharmacy
benefit manager’s overestimate of adjudicated clams.

SEC. 25. Section 1385.0017 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0017. (@) To support the department inthe administration
of this article and the effective regulation of pharmacy benefit
managers under this chapter, and to support the Department of
Health Care Accessand Information asit pertainsto dataregarding
pharmacy benefit managers and the cost of drugsin this state, the
Pharmacy Benefit Manager Fund, administered by the Department
of Managed Hedth Care, is hereby established in the State
Treasury.

(b) All revenues of the department received pursuant to this
article, including fees, fines, penalties, and reimbursements, except
those collected pursuant to Section 1385.0018, shall be deposited
in the Pharmacy Benefit Manager Fund and subject to an
appropriation by the Legidlature.

(c) The department may transfer any revenues deposited into
the Pharmacy Benefit Manager Fund to the Health Care Payments
Data Fund, established pursuant to Section 127674, for use by the
Department of Heath Care Access and Information, upon
appropriation by the Legisature, for the administration of the
Health Care Payments Data System.
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(d) Inany fisca year, the Pharmacy Benefit Manager Fund shall
maintain not more than a prudent 5-percent reserve unless
otherwise determined by the Department of Finance.

SEC. 26. Section 1385.0018 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0018. (a) Thedirector may, after appropriate notice and
opportunity for a hearing, by order suspend or revoke a license
issued under this article to a pharmacy benefit manager or assess
administrative penaltiesif the director determinesthat the licensee
has committed an act or omission constituting grounds for
disciplinary action.

(b) All of the following acts or omissions constitute grounds
for disciplinary action by the director:

(1) Thepharmacy benefit manager isoperating at variance with
basic organizational documents as filed pursuant to Section
1385.009, or with its published plan, or in a manner contrary to
that described in, and reasonably inferred from, the plan as
contained in its application for licensure and annual report, or any
modification thereof, unless amendments allowing the variation
have been submitted to, and approved by, the director.

(2) The continued operation of the pharmacy benefit manager
shall constitute a substantial risk to its subscribers and enrollees.

(3) The pharmacy benefit manager has violated, attempted to
violate, or conspired to violate, directly or indirectly, or assisted
in or abetted aviolation or conspiracy to violate aprovision of this
chapter, a rule or regulation adopted by the director pursuant to
this chapter, or an order issued by the director pursuant to this
chapter.

(4) The pharmacy benefit manager has engaged in conduct that
constitutes fraud, dishonest dealing, or unfair competition, as
defined by Section 17200 of the Business and Professions Code.

(5) The pharmacy benefit manager has permitted, aided, or
abetted a violation by an employee or contractor who is a holder
of a certificate, license, permit, registration, or exemption issued
pursuant to the Business and Professions Code or this code that
would constitute grounds for discipline against the certificate,
license, permit, registration, or exemption.

(6) The pharmacy benefit manager has permitted, aided, or
abetted the commission of an illegal act.
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(7) The pharmacy benefit manager, its management company,
another affiliate of the pharmacy benefit manager, or acontrolling
person, officer, director, or other person occupying a principal
management or supervisory position in the pharmacy benefit
manager, management company, or affiliate, has been convicted
of or pleaded nolo contendere to a crime, or committed an act
involving dishonesty, fraud, or deceit, which crime or act is
substantially related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of a
person engaged in business in accordance with this chapter. The
director may revoke or deny alicense hereunder irrespective of a
subsequent order under Section 1203.4 of the Penal Code.

(8) The pharmacy benefit manager has been subject to a final
disciplinary action taken by this state, another state, an agency of
the federal government, or another country for an act or omission
that would constitute a violation of this chapter.

(9) The pharmacy benefit manager violated the Confidentiality
of Medical Information Act (Part 2.6 (commencing with Section
56) of Division 1 of the Civil Code).

(10) The pharmacy benefit manager violated Chapter 8.5
(commencing with Section 127671) of Part 2 of Division 107,
including the data submission requirements of that chapter.

() The assessment of administrative penalties against a
pharmacy benefit manager shall use the same factors described in
subdivision (d) of Section 1386 for health care service plans.

(d) A pharmacy benefit manager shall be subject, if applicable,
to all enforcement authority of the department set forth in Article
8 (commencing with Section 1390), and civil penaltiesfor violation
of the licensure requirement of Section 1385.009.

(e) Finesand administrative penalties collected pursuant to this
section shall be deposited into the Pharmacy Benefit Manager
Administrative Fines and Penalties Fund established pursuant to
Section 1385.0024. These fines and administrative penalties shall
not be used to reduce the assessmentsimposed on pharmacy benefit
managers pursuant to Section 1385.0016.

SEC. 27. Section 1385.0019 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0019. (a) A pharmacy benefit manager whose license
has been revoked, or suspended for more than one year, may
petition the director to reinstate the license as provided by Section
11522 of the Government Code. A petition shall not be considered
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if the petitioner is under criminal sentence for a violation of this
chapter, or an offense that would constitute grounds for discipline
or denial of licensure under this chapter, including any period of
probation or parole.

(b) The petition for restoration shall be in the form prescribed
by the director. The director may condition the granting of the
petition upon additional information and undertakings as the
director requires to determine if the person, if restored, would
engage in business in full compliance with this chapter and the
rules and regulations adopted by the director pursuant to this
chapter.

(c) Thedirector may prescribe afee not to exceed five hundred
dollars ($500) for the filing of a petition for restoration pursuant
to this section, which shall be the actual cost to the director of
processing the petition. In addition, the director may condition the
granting of apetition to apharmacy benefit manager upon payment
of the assessment due and unpaid pursuant to subdivision (b) of
Section 1385.0016 as of December 15 in the preceding 12 calendar
months and, if the pharmacy benefit manager’s suspension or
revocation was in effect for more than 12 months, upon the filing
of anew pharmacy benefit manager licensure application and the
payment of the fee prescribed by subdivision (a) of Section
1385.0016.

SEC. 28. Section 1385.0020 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0020. (@) Surrender of a pharmacy benefit manager
license shal become effective 30 days after receipt of an
application to surrender the license or within a shorter period of
time as the director may determine to be in the public interest and
not detrimental to the protection of subscribers, enrollees, or
persons regulated under this chapter, unless a revocation or
suspension proceeding is pending when the application isfiled or
a proceeding to revoke or suspend or to impose conditions upon
the surrender is instituted within 30 days after the application is
filed. If thisproceeding is pending or ingtituted, surrender becomes
effective at the time and upon the conditions as the director
determines by order.

(b) If the director finds that a pharmacy benefit manager is no
longer in existence, has ceased to do business, hasfailed toinitiate
business activity as a licensee within six months after licensure,
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or cannot be located after reasonable search, the director may, by
order, summarily revoke the license of the pharmacy benefit
manager.

(c) Thedirector may summarily suspend or revoke the license
of a pharmacy benefit manager upon failure to pay afee required
by this chapter within 15 days after notice by the director that the
fee is due and unpaid or failure to file an amendment or report
required under this article within 15 days after notice by the
director that the report is due.

SEC. 29. Section 1385.0021 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0021. (@) The director shall withhold from public
inspection, pursuant to the applicable state or federal law,
information received in connection with an application, including
applicationsfor interpretive opinions, submissions, or reportsfiled
by a pharmacy benefit manager, if, in the opinion of the director,
the public inspection of the information is not necessary for the
purposes of the law under which the information was filed, and
theinformation isreasonably shown to meet either of thefollowing:

(1) Theinformation is proprietary or of aconfidential business
nature, including trade secrets, the information has been
confidentially maintained by the business entity, and the release
of theinformation would be damaging or prejudicial to the business
concern.

(2) Theinformation is such that the private or public interest is
served by withholding the information.

(b) Requestsfor confidentiality of information shall be submitted
to and processed by the department consistent with regulations
adopted and amended pursuant to this chapter relating to the request
for confidentiality of information.

SEC. 30. Section 1385.0022 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0022. A pharmacy benefit manager has afiduciary duty
toits payer client that includes aduty to befair and truthful toward
the payer, to act in the payer’s best interests, and to perform its
duties with care, skill, prudence, and diligence. This section does
not limit a payer’s obligations under applicable law with respect
to the administration of health care coverage for plan participants.

SEC. 31. Section 1385.0023 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:
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1385.0023. (a) The department may conduct periodic routine
and nonroutine surveys of a pharmacy benefit manager. These
surveys shall be conducted in accordance with Section 1380, as
applicable.

(b) Thedepartment may conduct periodic routine and nonroutine
examinations of thefiscal and administrative affairs of apharmacy
benefit manager. These examinations shall be conducted in
accordance with Section 1382, as applicable.

(c) A complaint made by an enrollee that includes potential
violations by a pharmacy benefit manager of the terms of this
article shall be considered by the department to be a complaint
against the health care service plan.

SEC. 32. Section 1385.0024 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0024. (&) ThePharmacy Benefit Manager Administrative
Fines and Penalties Fund is hereby created in the State Treasury.

(b) On and after July 1, 2025, the fines and administrative
penalties collected pursuant to Section 1385.0018 shall be
deposited into the Pharmacy Benefit Manager Administrative Fines
and Penalties Fund.

(c) Fines and administrative penalties deposited into the
Pharmacy Benefit Manager Administrative Fines and Penalties
Fund may betransferred into the Health Care Payments Data Fund,
established pursuant to Section 127674, for use by the Department
of Health CareAccessand Information, upon appropriation by the
Legidlature, for the administration of the Health Care Payments
Data System.

(d) Fines and administrative penalties deposited into the
Pharmacy Benefit Manager Administrative Fines and Penalties
Fund may be transferred, subject to the annual budget process, to
the Health Care Services Plan Fines and Penalties Fund, established
pursuant to Section 15893 of the Welfare and Institutions Code.

(e) Fines and administrative penalties deposited into the
Pharmacy Benefit Manager Administrative Fines and Penalties
Fund shall not be used to reduce the assessments imposed on
pharmacy benefit managers pursuant to Section 1385.0016.

SEC. 33. Section 1385.0025 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.0025. The provisions of this article are severable. If any
provision of this article or its application is held invalid, that
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invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications that can
be given effect without the invalid provision or application.

SEC. 34. Section 1385.026 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

1385.026. The Legidature finds and declares that Sections 19
and 29 of this act, which add Sections 1385.0011 and 1385.0021,
respectively, to the Health and Safety Code, impose a limitation
on the public’sright of access to the meetings of public bodies or
the writings of public officials and agencies within the meaning
of Section 3 of Article | of the California Constitution. Pursuant
to that constitutional provision, the Legidature makesthefollowing
findings to demonstrate the interest protected by this limitation
and the need for protecting that interest:

To balance the public’s right to access records with the need to
protect proprietary information received from pharmacy benefit
managers, it isnecessary that theinformation be kept confidential.

SEC. 35. Section 1417.2 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

1417.2. (a) Notwithstanding Section 1428, moneys collected
as aresult of state and federal civil penalties imposed under this
chapter or federal law shall be deposited into the State Health
Facilities Citation Penalties Account, hereby established in the
State Treasury, into which moneys derived from civil penalties
for violations of statelaw shall be deposited, and the Federal Health
Facilities Citation Penalties Account, hereby established in the
State Treasury, into which moneys derived from civil penalties
for violations of federal law shall be deposited. Moneysfrom these
accounts shall be used upon appropriation by the Legidature, in
accordance with state and federal law for the protection of health
or property of residents of long-term hedth care facilities,
including, but not limited to, the following:

(1) Relocation expensesincurred by the department, in the event
of afacility closure.

(2) Maintenance of facility operation pending correction of
deficiencies or closure, such as temporary management or
receivership, in the event that the revenues of the facility are
insufficient.

(3) Reimbursing residents for personal funds lost. In the event
that the loss is a result of the actions of a long-term health care
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facility or its employees, the revenues of the facility shall first be
used.

(4) The costs associated with informational meetings required
under Section 1327.2.

(5) Support for the Long-Term Care Ombudsman Program
established pursuant to Chapter 11 (commencing with Section
9700) of Division 8.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code in an
amount appropriated from the State Health Facilities Citation
Penalties Account for this purpose in the annual Budget Act.

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (@), the balance in the State
Health Facilities Citation Penalties Account shall not, at any time,
exceed ten million dollars ($10,000,000).

(c) Moneysfromthe Federal Health Facilities Citation Penalties
Account may aso be used, notwithstanding Section 16370 of the
Government Code, upon appropriation by the Legislature, in
accordance with state and federal law for the improvement of
quality of careand quality of lifefor long-term health carefacilities
residents pursuant to Section 1417.3.

(d) The department shall post on its internet website, and shall
update on aquarterly basis, al of thefollowing regarding the funds
in the State Health Facilities Citation Penalties Account and the
Federal Health Facilities Citation Penalties Account:

(1) The specific sources of funds deposited into the account.

(2) The amount of funds in the account that have not been
allocated.

(3) A detailed description of how funds in the account have
been allocated and expended, including, but not limited to, the
names of persons or entities that received the funds, the amount
of saaries paid to temporary managers, and a description of
equipment purchased with the funds. However, the description
shall not include the names of residents.

SEC. 36. Section 1418.22 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

1418.22. (@) The Legidature finds and declares that it is the
public policy of thisstate to ensure the health and safety of highly
vulnerable persons residing in skilled nursing facilities during
power outages that may result from a public safety power shutoff,
an emergency, a natural disaster, or other cause.
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(b) (1) A skilled nursing facility shall have an aternative source
of power to protect resident health and safety for no fewer than 96
hours during any type of power outage.

(2) For purposes of this section, “alternative source of power”
means a source of electricity that isnot received through an electric
utility but is generated or stored onsite, which may include, but is
not limited to, emergency generators using fuel, large capacity
batteries, and renewable electrical generation facilities.

(c) For purposes of this section, “resident health and safety”
includes, but is not limited to, maintaining a safe temperature for
residents, maintaining availability of life-saving equipment, and
maintaining availability of oxygen-generating devices.

(d) A facility that uses a generator as its alternative source of
power shall maintain sufficient fuel onsite to maintain generator
operation for no less than 96 hours or make arrangements for fuel
delivery for an emergency event. If fuel isto be delivered during
an emergency event, the facility shall ensure that fuel will be
available with no delays.

(e) A facility that uses batteries or acombination of batteriesin
tandem with a renewable electrical generation facility as its
aternative source of power shall have sufficient storage or
generation capacity to maintain operation for no fewer than 96
hours. A facility shall also make arrangements for delivery of a
generator and fuel in the event power is not restored within 96
hours and the generation capacity of the renewable electrical
generation facility isunableto provide sufficient power to comply
with state requirements for long-term care facilities.

() (1) A facility shall comply with the requirements of this
section on or after January 1, 2026, commencing on the first day
of the Medi-Cal skilled nursing facility rate year for which the
State Department of Health Care Services publishes a written
notice on itsinternet website that the L egislature has appropriated
sufficient funds for the express purpose of providing an add-on to
the Medi-Cal skilled nursing facility per diem rate for the projected
Medi-Cal cost of complying with the requirements of this section,
to the extent required by any of the following:

(A) TheMedi-Cal Long-Term Care Reimbursement Act (Article
3.8 (commencing with Section 14126) of Chapter 7 of Part 3 of
Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code).

(B) The CaliforniaMedicaid State Plan.
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(C) Any other applicable state or federal law or regulation.

(2) Notwithstanding the rulemaking provisions of Chapter 3.5
(commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title
2 of the Government Code, the State Department of Health Care
Services may implement this subdivision by means of provider
bulletins, policy letters, or other similar instructions, without taking
regulatory action.

SEC. 37. Section 120956 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

120956. (d) TheAlIDSDrugAssistance Program Rebate Fund
is hereby created as a specia fund in the State Treasury.

(b) All rebates collected from drug manufacturers on drugs
purchased through the AIDS Drugs Assistance Program (ADAP)
implemented pursuant to this chapter and, notwithstanding Section
16305.7 of the Government Code, interest earned on these moneys
shall be deposited in the fund exclusively to cover costsrelated to
the purchase of drugs and services provided through ADAP and
the HIV prevention programs as described in Sections 120972,
120972.1, and 120972.2 and services related to HIV prevention
and care and treatment for individuals living with HIV provided
through the programs funded by the Transgender, Gender
Nonconforming, and Intersex (TGI) Wellness and Equity Fund as
described in Section 150900.

(c) Notwithstanding Section 13340 of the Government Code,
moneys in the fund are continuously appropriated without regard
to fiscal year to State Department of Public Health and available
for expenditure for those purposes specified under this section.

SEC. 38. Section 120960 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

120960. (a) Thedepartment shall establish uniform standards
of financial igibility for the drugs under the program established
under this chapter.

(b) Nothing in the financial eligibility standards shall prohibit
drugs to an otherwise eligible person whose modified adjusted
gross income does not exceed 500 percent of the federal poverty
level per year based on family size and household income.
However, the director may authorize drugs for persons with
incomes higher than 500 percent of the federal poverty level per
year based on family size and household income if the estimated
cost of those drugs in one year is expected to exceed 20 percent
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of the person’smodified adjusted grossincome. Beginning January
1, 2025, or as soon as technically feasible thereafter, the financial
eligibility standard in this section shall increase to 600 percent of
the federal poverty level per year based on family size and
household income.

(c) A county public health department administering this
program pursuant to an agreement with the director pursuant to
subdivision (b) of Section 120955 shall use no morethan 5 percent
of total payments that it collects pursuant to this section to cover
any administrative costs related to eligibility determinations,
reporting requirements, and the collection of payments.

(d) A county public health department administering this
program pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 120955 shall
provide al drugs added to the program pursuant to subdivision (a)
of Section 120955 within 60 days of the action of the director.

(e) For purposes of this section, the following terms shall have
the following meanings:

(1) “Family size” hasthe meaning given to that term in Section
36B(d)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and shall include
same or opposite sex married couples, registered domestic partners,
and any tax dependents, as defined by Section 152 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, of either spouse or registered domestic
partner.

(2) “Federa poverty level” refers to the poverty guidelines
updated periodically in the Federal Register by the United States
Department of Health and Human Services under the authority of
Section 9902(2) of Title 42 of the United States Code.

(3) “Household income” means the sum of the applicant’s or
recipient’s modified adjusted gross income, plus the modified
adjusted gross income of the applicant’s or recipient’s spouse or
registered domestic partner, and the modified adjusted gross
incomes of all other individuals for whom the applicant or
recipient, or the applicant’s or recipient’s spouse or registered
domestic partner, is allowed a federal income tax deduction for
the taxable year.

(4) “Internal Revenue Code of 1986" means Title 26 of the
United States Code, including al amendments enacted to that code.

(5) “Modified adjusted gross income” has the meaning given
to that term in Section 36B(d)(2)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986.
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SEC. 39. Section 127672 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

127672. (a) (1) The Department of Health Care Access and
Information shall convene a Health Care Payments Data Program
advisory committee, composed of health care stakeholders and
experts, including, but not limited to, all of the following:

(A) Health care service plans, including specialized health care
service plans.

(B) Insurers that have a certificate of authority from the
Insurance Commissioner to provide health insurance, as defined
in Section 106 of the Insurance Code.

(C) Suppliers, asdefined in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of
Section 1367.50.

(D) Providers, as defined in paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) of
Section 1367.50.

(E) Sef-insured employers.

(F) Multiemployer self-insured plans that are responsible for
paying for health care services provided to beneficiaries or the
trust administrator for a multiemployer self-insured plan.

(G) Businesses that purchase health care coverage for their
employees.

(H) Organized labor.

(I) Organizations representing consumers.

(J) Pharmacy benefit managers, asdefined in Section 127673.05.

(2) The advisory committee shall consist of no fewer than 10
and no more than 12 persons.

(3) In addition to the members specified by paragraph (2), the
director of the department, the director of the State Department of
Health Care Services, and the executive director of the California
Hedth Benefit Exchange, or their officialy designated
representatives, shall be nonvoting ex officio members of the
advisory committee.

(4) Each appointed member shall serve a term of two years,
except one-half of the initial appointments shall be for one year.
Each appointed member shall serve at the discretion of the director
and may be removed at any time.

(5) The chairperson of the advisory committee shall be an
appointed member and shall be elected by a majority of the
appointed members.
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(6) Theadvisory committee shall meet at |east quarterly or when
requested by the director.

(7) Theadvisory committee shall assist and advise the director
in formulating program policies regarding data collection,
management, use, and access, and development of public
information to meet the goas of the program. The advisory
committee shall, through its meetings, provide a forum for
stakeholder and public engagement. Upon request of the director,
the advisory committee may assist and advise on the department’s
other data programs.

(8) On or before July 1, 2024, the advisory committee shall
make recommendations to the department on how existing state
public health data functions may be integrated into the system.
The advisory committee shall also recommend options for state
public health data integration. These recommendations shall be
published on the department’s internet website.

(9) The advisory committee shall not have decisionmaking
authority related to the administration of the system and shall not
have afinancial interest, individually or through afamily member,
in the recommendations made to the department. The advisory
committee shall hold public meetings with stakeholders, solicit
input, and set its own meeting agendas. Meetings of the advisory
committee are subject to the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act
(Article 9 (commencing with Section 11120) of Chapter 1 of Part
1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code).

(10) The members of the advisory committee appointed from
outside government shall serve without compensation, but shall
receive a per diem for each day’s attendance at an advisory
committee meeting. All members shall be reimbursed for any
actual and necessary expenses incurred in connection with their
duties as members of the committee.

(b) The department may convene other committees or
workgroups as necessary to support effective operation of the
system. These committees may be standing committees or
time-limited workgroups, at the discretion of the director.

SEC. 40. Section 127672.9 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

127672.9. Until June 30, 2028, for purposes of implementing
this chapter, including, but not limited to, hiring staff and
consultants, facilitating and conducting meetings, conducting
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research and analysis, and developing the required reports, the
department may enter into exclusive or nonexclusive contracts on
a bid or negotiated basis. Contracts entered into or amended
pursuant to this section are exempt from Chapter 6 (commencing
with Section 14825) of Part 5.5 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the
Government Code and Part 2 (commencing with Section 10100)
of Division 2 of the Public Contract Code, and are exempt from
thereview or approval of any division of the Department of General
Services.

SEC. 41. Section 127673.05 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

127673.05. (a) For purposesof thissection, “pharmacy benefits
manager” or “PBM” means an entity that isrequired to belicensed
pursuant to Section 1385.008.

(b) Notwithstanding any other state law, for the purpose of
providing information for inclusion in the system, PBMs shall
provide to the department data regarding drug pricing, the fees
paid for pharmacy benefit management services, payments or
rebates to or from pharmacy benefits managers regarding drugs
or services, and other information as needed to provide
transparency on pricing and paymentsrelated to prescription drugs.
This may include al of the following:

(1) Drug codes, names, therapeutic category, and manufacturer.

(2) Wholesale acquisition costs.

(3) Average wholesale prices.

(4) Nationa average drug acquisition cost.

(5) Feespaid to pharmacy benefit managers by manufacturers,
health care service plans, hedth insurers, employers, and
pharmacies.

(6) Prescription counts.

(7) Member counts.

(8) Payment amounts collected and paid by pharmacy benefit
managers.

(9) Discounts and rebate amounts collected and paid by
pharmacy benefit managers.

(10) Information grouped by National Drug Code and Generic
Product Identifier.

(11) Information grouped by pharmacies owned by, or under
common control of, the pharmacy benefit manager and pharmacies
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not owned by, or under common control of, the pharmacy benefit
manager.

(12) Information grouped by business relationship, including
by exclusive relationships under a contract, agreement, or other
arrangement between a pharmacy benefit manager and a
pharmaceutical manufacturer to exclusively dispense or provide
adrug to ahealth care service plan’sor health insurer’s empl oyees,
enrollees, or insureds.

(13) Information needed to calculate any of the following:

(A) The number of participants or beneficiaries who filled a
prescription.

(B) Total out-of-pocket spending by participants or beneficiaries.

(C) Total net price by drug.

(D) Payer total net spending by drug.

(E) Payer average net spending per 30-day and 90-day supply.

(F) Percentage of prescriptionsdispensed by pharmacies owned
by, or under common control of, the pharmacy benefit manager.

(G) Comparisons of the amounts charged to patientsand payers
by pharmacies owned by, or under common control of, the
pharmacy benefit manager, with the amounts charged by
pharmacies not owned by, or under common control of, the
pharmacy benefit manager.

(H) Averagesaespriceof drugsdispensed at pharmacies owned
by, or under common control of, the pharmacy benefit manager.

(I) Average wholesale acquisition cost of drugs dispensed at
pharmacies owned by, or under common control of, the pharmacy
benefit manager.

(J) Average drug acquisition cost per dosage unit of drugs
dispensed at pharmacies owned by, or under common control of,
the pharmacy benefit manager.

(K) Averagedrug acquisition cost per 30-day and 90-day supply.

() Thedepartment shall promulgate regulationsfor the purpose
of carrying out this section, including regulations relating to the
content, fileformats, frequency, and timelinesfor data submission
by pharmacy benefit managers. In the development of regulations,
the department may consider national or regional standards and
standards from other databases.

(d) Until January 1, 2028, any necessary rules and regulations
for the purpose of implementing this section may be adopted as
emergency regulations in accordance with the Administrative
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Procedure Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of
Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code). The
adoption of emergency regulations pursuant to this section shall
be deemed to be an emergency and necessary for the immediate
preservation of the public peace, health and safety, or general
welfare.

(e) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
including subdivisions (e) and (h) of Section 11346.1 of the
Government Code, an emergency regulation adopted pursuant to
this section shall be repealed by operation of law unless the
adoption, amendment, or repeal of the regulation is promulgated
by the office pursuant to Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code
within two years of the initial adoption of the emergency
regulation.

() Initsinitial implementation of this section, the department
shall seek historical datafor three years before the effective date
of the regulations described in subdivision (d).

(g) Theprovisionsof thissection are severable. If any provision
of thissection or itsapplicationisheld invalid, that invalidity shall
not affect other provisions or applications that can be given effect
without the invalid provision or application.

SEC. 42. Section 127697 of the Health and Safety Code is
repealed.

SEC. 43. Section 127697 is added to the Health and Safety
Code, to read:

127697. In addition to partnerships authorized pursuant to
Sections 127692 and 127693, the California Health and Human
Services Agency may, subject to an appropriation by the
Legidlature, enter into partnershipsto increase competition, lower
prices, and address supply shortages under any of the following
circumstances:

(&) For over-the-counter naloxone products. Partnerships entered
into pursuant to this section may alow the development,
manufacturing, or distribution of over-the-counter naloxone
products by an entity that is authorized to do so under federal or
state law.
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(b) For generic or brand name drugsto address emerging health
concerns, including in reproductive health care or gender affirming
health care.

(c) For the development, production, procurement, or
distribution of vaccines, by an entity that is authorized to do so
under federal or state law, with the intent that these vaccines be
made widely availableto public and private purchasers, providers,
suppliers, and pharmacies.

(d) For the manufacture, purchase, or distribution of medical
supplies or medical devices.

SEC. 44. Section 127825 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

127825. (@) As a component of the Children and Youth
Behavioral Health Initiative, established pursuant to Chapter 2
(commencing with Section 5961) of Part 7 of Division 5 of the
Welfare and Institutions Code, the office may award competitive
grants to the entities and individuals it deems qualified to expand
the supply of behavioral health counselors, coaches, peer supports,
and other alied health care providers serving children and youth,
including individuals at schoolsites.

(b) For the purposes of this chapter, “certified wellness coach”
means a new category of behavioral health provider trained
specifically to help address the unmet mental health and substance
use needs of children and youth. Recognizing that unmet mental
health and substance use needs create learning barriers, certified
wellness coaches shall engage and support children and youth in
cultural, linguistic, and age-appropriate services with the ability
to refer and link to higher levels of care, as needed. As a member
of a care team, a behavioral heath professiona serving as a
certified wellness coach receives appropriate supervision and
coordination from staff who are licensed or who hold a pupil
personnel services credential pursuant to Section 44266 of the
Education Code, or school nurse services credential pursuant to
Section 44267.5 of the Education Code. Training and qualifications
include, but are not limited to, psychoeducation, system navigation,
crisisreferral, coping skills, and motivational interviewing.

(c) This chapter shall be implemented in a manner that is
consistent with Section 44270.2 of the Education Code and Section
80049.1 of Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations.
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SEC. 45. Section 150900 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

150900. (a) The Transgender, Gender Nonconforming, and
Intersex (TGI) Wellness and Equity Fund is established in the State
Treasury.

(b) The State Department of Public Health shall administer the
TGI Wellness and Equity Fund for purposes of funding grants to
create programs, or funding existing programs, focused on
coordinating trans-inclusive health carefor individualswho identify
as transgender, gender nonconforming, or intersex.

(c) Upon appropriation by the Legislature, moneys in the TGI
Wellness and Equity Fund may be used to fund grants for the
following purposes:

(1) The grants shall be available to TGI-serving organizations
for the purpose of increasing the capacity of health care
professionals to effectively provide TGI health care and institute
TGI-inclusive best practices. This includes the creation of
educational materialsor facilitation of capacity-building trainings.

(2) The grants shall be available to TGI-serving organizations
for the purpose of facilitating evidence-based therapeutic arts
programs.

(3) The grants shall be available to TGI-serving organizations
for purposes of assisting, identifying, and referring TGl people to
access supportive housing. This includes case management
opportunities, financial assistance, and assisting TGl people in
receiving and utilizing housing vouchers. If a TGl-serving
organization has already implemented a TGI-specific housing
program, funding may be utilized to maintain or expand existing
housing programs.

(4) Thegrantsshall beavailabletoahospital, heath careclinic,
or other medical provider that currently provides gender-affirming
health care services, such as hormone therapy or gender
reassignment surgery, to continue providing those services, or to
a hospital, health care clinic, or other medical provider that will
establish a program that offers gender-affirming health care
services and has an established relationship with a TGI-serving
organization that will lead in establishing the program.

(d) A hospital, health careclinic, or other medical provider that
applies for a grant must apply in partnership with a TGI-serving
organization and consult with the TGI-serving organization
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throughout the process of creating and implementing its
trans-inclusive health care program.

(e) This section does not limit or impact payer coverage
requirements of health care or other social services.

(f) For purposesof this section, thefollowing definitions apply:

(1) “Headlth care” meansal of the following:

(A) Medical, behavioral, and spiritual care, which includes, but
isnot limited to, guided meditation and nondenominational therapy.

(B) Evidence-based therapeutic arts programs.

(C) Services related to substance use disorder or substance
abuse.

(D) Supportive housing as a mechanism to support
TGl-identified individuals in accessing other social services.

(2) A“TGlI-serving organization” meanseither of thefollowing:

(A) A public or nonprofit organization with amission statement
that centers around serving transgender, gender nonconforming,
and intersex people, and where at |least 65 percent of the clients of
the organization are TGI.

(B) A nonprofit that serves as the fiscal agent or sponsor for an
organization described in subparagraph (A). A nonprofit that is
serving as a fiscal agent or sponsor shall pass al funding to the
organization, but may charge areasonable or industry standard fee
for administrative costs of not more than 16 percent.

(3) “Transgender” isbroad and inclusive of all gender identities
different from the gender that a person was assigned at birth.

(4) “Gender nonconforming” is an inclusive term used to
describe individuals who may experience a gender that is neither
exclusively male nor female or is in between or beyond both of
those genders, including, but not limited to, nonbinary, gender
fluid, agender or without gender, third gender, genderqueer, gender
variant, Two-Spirit, Hijra, Kathoey, Mak nyah, Muxe, Waria,
Maht, and Fa afafine.

(5) “Intersex” is an umbrella term referring to people whose
anatomy, hormones, or chromosomes fall outside the strict male
and female binary.

SEC. 46. Section 10119.6 of the Insurance Code is amended
to read:

10119.6. (a) (1) A large group disability insurance policy,
except a specialized disability insurance policy, that is issued,
amended, or renewed on or after January 1, 2026, shall provide
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coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of infertility and fertility
services, including amaximum of three completed oocyteretrievals
with unlimited embryo transfersin accordance with the guidelines
of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM),
using single embryo transfer when recommended and medically
appropriate.

(2) A small group disability insurance policy, except adisability
insurance policy described in paragraph (4), that is issued,
amended, or renewed on or after January 1, 2026, shall offer
coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of infertility and fertility
services. This paragraph shall not be construed to require a small
group disability insurance policy to provide coveragefor infertility
services.

(3) A disability insurer shall include notice of the coverage
specified in this section in the insurer’s evidence of coverage.

(4) This section shall not apply to accident-only, specified
disease, hospital indemnity, Medicare supplement, or specialized
disability insurance policies.

(b) For purposes of this section, “infertility” means acondition
or status characterized by any of the following:

(1) A licensed physician’sfindings, based on apatient’smedical,
sexual, and reproductive history, age, physical findings, diagnostic
testing, or any combination of those factors. This definition shall
not prevent testing and diagnosi s before the 12-month or 6-month
period to establish infertility in paragraph (3).

(2) A person’sinability to reproduce either as an individua or
with their partner without medical intervention.

(3) Thefailureto establish apregnancy or to carry a pregnancy
to live birth after regular, unprotected sexual intercourse. For
purposes of this section “regular, unprotected sexual intercourse’
means no more than 12 months of unprotected sexual intercourse
for a person under 35 years of age or no more than 6 months of
unprotected sexual intercourse for a person 35 years of age or
older. Pregnancy resulting in miscarriage does not restart the
12-month or 6-month time period to qualify as having infertility.

(c) The policy may not include any of the following:

(1) Any exclusion, limitation, or other restriction on coverage
of fertility medications that are different from those imposed on
other prescription medications.
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(2) Any exclusion or denial of coverage of any fertility services
based on a covered individual’s participation in fertility services
provided by or to athird party. For purposes of this section, “third
party” includes an oocyte, sperm, or embryo donor, gestational
carrier, or surrogate that enables an intended recipient to become
a parent.

(3) Any deductible, copayment, coinsurance, benefit maximum,
waiting period, or any other limitation on coverage for the
diagnosis and treatment of infertility, except as provided in
subdivision (a) that are different from those imposed upon benefits
for services not related to infertility.

(d) Thissectiondoesnot inany way deny or restrict any existing
right or benefit to coverage and treatment of infertility or fertility
services under an existing law, plan, or policy.

(e) Thissection appliesto every disability insurance policy that
isissued, amended, or renewed to residents of this state regardless
of the situs of the contract.

(f) Consistent with Section 10140, coverage for the treatment
of infertility and fertility services shall be provided without
discrimination on the basis of age, ancestry, color, disability,
domestic partner status, gender, gender expression, gender identity,
genetic information, marital status, national origin, race, religion,
sex, or sexua orientation. This subdivision shall not be construed
to interfere with the clinical judgment of aphysician and surgeon.

(g) This section shall not apply to a religious employer, as
defined in Section 10123.196.

(h) Thissection shall not apply to a health care benefit plan or
policy entered into with the Board of Administration of the Public
Employees’ Retirement System pursuant to the Public Employees
Medical and Hospital Care Act (Part 5 (commencing with Section
22750) of Division 5 of Title 2 of the Government Code) until July
1, 2027.

(i) (1) Until January 1, 2027, the commissioner may issue
guidance regarding compliance with this section, and that guidance
shall not be subject to the Administrative Procedure Act (Chapter
3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of
Title 2 of the Government Code).

(2) The department shall consult with the Department of
Managed Health Care and stakeholders in issuing the guidance
specified in paragraph (1).
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SEC. 47. Section 10125.2 is added to the Insurance Code, to
read:

10125.2. (a) A pharmacy benefit manager that contracts with
a health insurer shall comply with Article 6.1 (commencing with
Section 1385.001) of Chapter 2.2 of Division 2 of the Health and
Safety Code, including Sections 1385.004 and 1385.006 of the
Headlth and Safety Code.

(b) A complaint made by an insured that includes potential
violations by a pharmacy benefit manager of the terms of Article
6.1 (commencing with Section 1385.001) of Chapter 2.2 of
Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code shall be considered by
the department to be a complaint against the health insurer.

SEC. 48. Section 1026 of the Penal Code is amended to read:

1026. (@) If adefendant pleadsnot guilty by reason of insanity,
and alsojoinswith it another pleaor pleas, the defendant shall first
betried asif only the other plea or pleas had been entered, and in
that trial the defendant shall be conclusively presumed to have
been sane at the time the offenseis alleged to have been committed.
If the jury finds the defendant guilty, or if the defendant pleads
only not guilty by reason of insanity, the question whether the
defendant was sane or insane at the time the offense was committed
shall be promptly tried, either before the samejury or beforeanew
jury inthe discretion of the court. Inthat trial, thejury shall return
averdict either that the defendant was sane at the time the offense
was committed or was insane a the time the offense was
committed. If the verdict or finding is that the defendant was sane
at the time the offense was committed, the court shall sentencethe
defendant as provided by law. If the verdict or finding is that the
defendant was insane at the time the offense was committed, the
court, unlessit appearsto the court that the sanity of the defendant
has been recovered fully, shall direct that the defendant be
committed to the State Department of State Hospitals for the care
and treatment of personswith mental health disordersor any other
appropriate public or private treatment facility approved by the
community program director, or the court may order the defendant
placed on outpatient status pursuant to Title 15 (commencing with
Section 1600) of Part 2.

(b) Prior to making the order directing that the defendant be
committed to the State Department of State Hospitals or other
treatment facility or placed on outpatient status, the court shall
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order the community program director or a designee to evaluate
the defendant and to submit to the court within 15 judicial days of
the order a written recommendation as to whether the defendant
should be placed on outpatient status or committed to the State
Department of State Hospitalsor other treatment facility. A person
shall not be admitted to a state hospital or other treatment facility
or placed on outpatient status under this section without having
been evaluated by the community program director or a designee.
If, however, it appearsto the court that the sanity of the defendant
has been recovered fully, the defendant shall be remanded to the
custody of the sheriff until the issue of sanity has been finally
determined in the manner prescribed by law. A defendant
committed to a state hospital or other treatment facility or placed
on outpatient status pursuant to Title 15 (commencing with Section
1600) of Part 2 shall not be released from confinement, parole, or
outpatient status unless and until the court that committed the
person, after notice and hearing, finds and determines that the
person’s sanity has been restored, or meetsthe criteriafor release
pursuant to Section 4146 of the Welfare and Institutions Code.
This section does not prohibit the transfer of the patient from one
state hospital to any other state hospital by proper authority. This
section does not prohibit the transfer of the patient to a hospital in
another statein the manner provided in Section 4119 of the Welfare
and Institutions Code.

(c) If the defendant is committed or transferred to the State
Department of State Hospitals pursuant to this section, the court
may, upon receiving the written recommendation of the medical
director of the state hospital and the community program director,
or their designee, or, pursuant to Section 4360.5 of the Welfare
and Institutions Code, the recommendation of the independent
evaluation panel, that the defendant be transferred to a public or
private treatment facility approved by the community program
director or their designee, or, pursuant to Section 4360.5 of the
Welfare and Institutions Code, the independent evaluation panel,
order the defendant transferred to that facility. If the defendant is
committed or transferred to a public or private treatment facility
approved by the community program director, the court may, upon
receiving the written recommendation of the community program
director, order the defendant transferred to the State Department
of State Hospitals or to another public or private treatment facility
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approved by the community program director. If either the
defendant or the prosecuting attorney chooses to contest either
kind of order of transfer, a petition may be filed in the court
requesting a hearing, which shall be held if the court determines
that sufficient grounds exist. At that hearing, the prosecuting
attorney or the defendant may present evidence bearing on the
order of transfer. The court shall use the same procedures and
standards of proof as used in conducting probation revocation
hearings pursuant to Section 1203.2.

(d) Prior to making an order for transfer under this section, the
court shall notify the defendant, the attorney of record for the
defendant, the prosecuting attorney, and the community program
director or adesignee.

(e) If thecourt, after considering the placement recommendation
of the community program director or independent evaluation
panel required in subdivision (b), orders that the defendant be
committed to the State Department of State Hospitals or other
public or private treatment facility, the court shall provide copies
of thefollowing documents prior to the admission of the defendant
to the State Department of State Hospitals or other treatment
facility where the defendant is to be committed:

(1) The commitment order, including a specification of the
charges.

(2) A computation or statement setting forth the maximum term
of commitment in accordance with Section 1026.5.

(3) A computation or statement setting forth the amount of credit
for time served, if any, to be deducted from the maximum term of
commitment.

(4) State summary criminal history information.

(5) Any arrest reports prepared by the police department or other
law enforcement agency.

(6) Any court-ordered psychiatric examination or evaluation
reports.

(7) The community program director's placement
recommendation report.

(8 Any medical records.

(f) If the defendant is confined in a state hospital or other
treatment facility asan inpatient, the medical director of thefacility
shall, at 12-month intervals, submit areport in writing to the court
and the community program director of the county of commitment,
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or adesignee, setting forth the status and progress of the defendant.
The court shall transmit copies of these reports to the prosecutor
and defense counsd.

(g) For purposes of this section and Sections 1026.1 to 1026.6,
inclusive, “community program director” means the person,
agency, or entity designated by the State Department of State
Hospitals pursuant to Section 1605 of this code and Section 4360
of the Welfare and Institutions Code.

SEC. 49. Section 5961.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5961.2. (a) As a component of the initiative, the State
Department of Health Care Services, or its contracted vendor, may
award competitive grants to entities it deems qualified for the
following purposes:

(1) Tobuild partnerships, capacity, and infrastructure supporting
ongoing school-linked behavioral health servicesfor children and
youth 25 years of age and younger.

(2) Toexpand accessto licensed medical and behavioral health
professionals, counselors, peer support specialists, community
health workers, and certified wellness coaches serving children
and youth.

(3) Tobuild astatewide, community-based organization provider
network for behavioral health prevention and treatment services
for children and youth, including those attending institutions of
higher education.

(4) To enhance coordination and partnerships with respect to
behavioral health prevention and treatment services for children
and youth via appropriate data sharing systems.

(b) Subject to subdivision (c), entities eligible to receive grants
pursuant to this section may include counties, city mental health
authorities, tribal entities, local educationa agencies, institutions
of higher education, publicly funded childcare and preschools,
health care service plans, community-based organizations, and
behavioral health providers.

(c) Thedepartment shall determinetheeligibility criteria, grant
application process, and methodology for the distribution of funds
appropriated for the purposes described in this section to those
entitiesit deems qualified.

(d) Thedepartment shall ensurethat grant distribution includes,
but is not limited to, rural, urban, and suburban regions and
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geographic distribution among different age cohorts. Allowable
activities shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

(1) Addressing behavioral health disparities while providing
linguistically and culturally competent services for children and
youth who lack access to adequate behavioral health services or
otherwise are difficult to reach.

(2) Supporting administrative costs, including planning, project
management, training, and technical assistance.

(3) Linking plans, counties, and school districtswith local socia
services and community-based organizations.

(4) Implementing telehealth equipment and virtual systemsin
schools or near schools.

(5) Implementing data-sharing tools, information technology
interfaces, or other technology investments designed to connect
to behavioral health services.

(e) Of the funds appropriated for purposes of this section to
ingtitutions of higher education, at |east two-thirds shall be reserved
for California Community Colleges.

(f) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall
apply:

(1) “Comprehensiverisk contract” has the same meaning as set
forth in Section 438.2 of Title 42 of the Code of Federa
Regulations.

(2) “Hedth caresarviceplan” hasthe same meaning asdescribed
in subdivision (f) of Section 1345 of the Health and Safety Code.

(3) “Institution of higher education” means the California
Community Colleges, the California State University, or the
University of California.

(4) “Local educational agency” means a school district, county
office of education, charter school, the California Schools for the
Deaf, and the California School for the Blind.

(5) “Tribal entity” means a federally recognized Indian tribe,
tribal organization, or urban Indian organization.

SEC. 50. Section 14000 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
as amended by Section 1 of Chapter 291 of the Statutes of 2022,
isamended to read:

14000. The purpose of this chapter is to afford to qualifying
individuals health care and related remedial or preventive services,
including related social services that are necessary for those
receiving health care under this chapter.
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The intent of the Legislature is to provide, to the extent
practicable, through the provisions of this chapter, for health care
for California residents who lack sufficient income to meet the
costs of health care and whose other assets are so limited that their
application toward the costs of that care would jeopardize the
person or family’s future minimum self-maintenance and security.
It is intended that, whenever possible and feasible, all of the
following shall apply:

(8 The means employed shall alow, to the extent practicable,
eligible personsto secure health care in the same manner employed
by the public generally, and without discrimination or segregation
based purely on their economic disability. The means employed
shall include an emphasis on efforts to arrange and encourage
access to hedlth care through enrollment in organized, managed
care plans of the type available to the general public.

(b) The benefits available under this chapter shall not duplicate
those provided under other federal or state laws or under other
contractual or legal entitlements of the person or personsreceiving
them.

(c) Inthe administration of this chapter and in establishing the
meansto be used to provide accessto health careto personseligible
under this chapter, the department shall emphasize and take
advantage of both the efficient organization and ready accessibility
and availability of hedth care facilities and resources through
enrollment in managed health care plans and new and innovative
fee-for-service managed health care plan approachesto the delivery
of health care services.

(d) Thissection shall become operative January 1, 2026.

SEC. 51. Section 14000 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
as added by Section 2 of Chapter 291 of the Statutes of 2022, is
amended to read:

14000. The purpose of this chapter is to afford to qualifying
individuals health care and related remedial or preventive services,
including related social services that are necessary for those
receiving health care under this chapter.

The intent of the Legidature is to provide, to the extent
practicable, through the provisions of this chapter, for health care
for California residents who lack sufficient income to meet the
costs of health care. It is intended that, whenever possible and
feasible, al of the following shall apply:
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(8 The means employed shall alow, to the extent practicable,
eligible personsto secure health carein the same manner employed
by the public generally, and without discrimination or segregation
based purely on their economic disability. The means employed
shall include an emphasis on efforts to arrange and encourage
access to health care through enrollment in organized, managed
care plans of the type available to the general public.

(b) The benefits available under this chapter shall not duplicate
those provided under other federal or state laws or under other
contractual or legal entitlements of the person or personsreceiving
them.

(c) Inthe administration of this chapter and in establishing the
means to be used to provide accessto health careto personseligible
under this chapter, the department shall emphasize and take
advantage of both the efficient organization and ready accessibility
and availability of heath care facilities and resources through
enrollment in managed health care plans and new and innovative
fee-for-service managed health care plan approachesto the delivery
of health care services.

(d) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 52. Section 14005.11 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, as amended by Section 1 of Chapter 707 of the Statutes of
2023, is amended to read:

14005.11. (a) To the extent required by federa law for
qualified beneficiaries enrolled in the federal Medicare Program,
the department shal pay the premiums, deductibles, and
coinsurance for elderly and disabled persons entitled to benefits
under Title XV 111 of thefederal Socia Security Act, whoseincome
does not exceed the federal poverty level and whose resources do
not exceed the amount specified in subdivision (a) of Section
14005.62.

(b) The department shall pay, in addition to subdivision (a),
applicable additional premiums, deductibles, and coinsurance for
drug coverage extended to qualified beneficiaries enrolled in the
federal Medicare Program.

(c) The deductible payments required by subdivision (b) may
be covered by providing the same drug coverage as offered to
categorically needy recipients, as defined in Section 14050.1.
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(d) Asspecifiedinthissection, itistheintent of the Legislature
to assist in the payment of Medicare Part B premiumsfor qualified
low-income Medi-Cal beneficiaries who areineligible for federal
sharing or federal contribution for the payment of those premiums.

(e) For aMedi-Cal beneficiary who has a spend down of excess
income but who isineligible for the assistance provided pursuant
to subdivision (a), or who is ineligible for any other federally
funded assistance for the payment of the beneficiary’s Medicare
Part B premium, the department shall pay for the beneficiary’s
Medicare Part B premium in the month following each month that
the beneficiary’s spend down of excessincome has been met.

(f) When a county isinformed that an applicant or beneficiary
is eligible for benefits under the federal Medicare Program, the
county shall determine whether that individual is eligible under
the Qualified Medicare Beneficiary program, the Specified
Low-Income Medicare Beneficiary program, or the Qualifying
Individual program, and shall enroll the applicant or beneficiary
in the appropriate program.

(9) (1) Thedepartment shall enter intoaMedicarePart A buy-in
agreement for qualified Medicare beneficiaries with the federa
Centersfor Medicare and Medicaid Services by submitting astate
plan amendment with aproposed effective date in accordance with
paragraph (2).

(2) Subject to paragraph (3), the Medicare Part A buy-in
agreement described in this subdivision shall be effective on
January 1, 2025, or the date the department communicates to the
Department of Finance in writing that systems have been
programmed for implementation of this subdivision, whichever
dateis later.

(3) This subdivision shall be implemented only to the extent
that any necessary federal approvals are obtained and that federal
financial participation isavailable and isnot otherwisejeopardized.

(4) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regulatory action, may
implement, interpret, or make specific this subdivision by means
of all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or
similar instructions, until the time regulations are adopted.

(5) For purposes of this subdivision, “Medicare Part A buy-in
agreement” means an agreement authorized by Section 1395v of
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Title 42 of the United States Code under which the state shall pay
Medicare Part A premiums for qualified individuals who are
enrolled in both the Medicare Program and the M edi-Cal program.

(h) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 53. Section 14005.11 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, as amended by Section 2 of Chapter 707 of the Statutes of
2023, is amended to read:

14005.11. (a) To the extent required by federa law for
qualified beneficiaries enrolled in the Medicare Program, the
department shall pay the premiums, deductibles, and coinsurance
for elderly and disabled persons entitled to benefits under Title
XVIII of the federal Socia Security Act, whose income does not
exceed the federal poverty level.

(b) The department shall pay, in addition to subdivision (a),
applicable additional premiums, deductibles, and coinsurance for
drug coverage extended to qualified beneficiaries enrolled in the
Medicare Program.

(c) The deductible payments required by subdivision (b) may
be covered by providing the same drug coverage as offered to
categorically needy recipients, as defined in Section 14050.1.

(d) Asspecifiedinthissection, itistheintent of the Legislature
to assist in the payment of Medicare Part B premiumsfor qualified
low-income Medi-Cal beneficiaries who areineligible for federal
sharing or federal contribution for the payment of those premiums.

(e) ForaMedi-Cal beneficiary who has a spend down of excess
income but who isineligible for the assistance provided pursuant
to subdivision (a), or who is ingligible for any other federaly
funded assistance for the payment of the beneficiary’s Medicare
Part B premium, the department shall pay for the beneficiary’s
Medicare Part B premium in the month following each month that
the beneficiary’s spend down of excess income has been met.

(f) When a county isinformed that an applicant or beneficiary
is eligible for benefits under the Medicare Program, the county
shall determine whether that individual is eligible under the
Qualified Medicare Beneficiary program, the Specified
Low-Income Medicare Beneficiary program, or the Qualifying
Individual program, and shall enroll the applicant or beneficiary
in the appropriate program.

(9) (1) Thedepartment shall enter intoaMedicare Part A buy-in
agreement for qualified Medicare beneficiaries with the federa
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Centersfor Medicare and Medicaid Services by submitting a state
plan amendment with aproposed effective date in accordance with
paragraph (2).

(2) Subject to paragraph (3), the Medicare Part A buy-in
agreement described in this subdivision shall be effective on
January 1, 2025, or the date the department communicates to the
Department of Finance in writing that systems have been
programmed for implementation of this subdivision, whichever
dateislater.

(3) This subdivision shall be implemented only to the extent
that any necessary federal approvals are obtained and that federal
financial participation isavailable and isnot otherwise jeopardized.

(4) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regulatory action, may
implement, interpret, or make specific this subdivision by means
of al-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or
similar instructions, until the time regulations are adopted.

(5) For purposes of this subdivision, “Medicare Part A buy-in
agreement” means an agreement authorized by Section 1395v of
Title 42 of the United States Code under which the state shall pay
Medicare Part A premiums for qualified individuals who are
enrolled in both the M edicare Program and the Medi-Cal program.

(h) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 54. Section 14005.20 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, as amended by Section 75 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of
2023, is amended to read:

14005.20. (a) The department shall adopt the option made
available under Section 1902(a)(10)(A)(i1)(XII) of Title XIX of
the federal Socia Security Act (42 U.SC. Sec
1396a(a)(10)(A)(i1)(XII)) to pay alowable tuberculosis-related
services for persons infected with tuberculosis.

(b) (1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), the income and
resources of these persons may not exceed the maximum amount
for adisabled person as described in Section 1902(a)(10)(A)(i) of
Title X1X of the federa Socia Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396a(a)(10)(A)(i)).

(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.
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SEC. 55. Section 14005.20 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, as added by Section 76 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of
2023, is amended to read:

14005.20. (a) The department shall adopt the option made
available under Section 1902(a)(10)(A)(ii)(X1I) of Title XIX of
the federal Socia Security Act (42 U.SC. Sec
1396a(a)(10)(A)(i1)(XIl)) to pay alowable tuberculosis-related
services for persons infected with tuberculosis.

(b) (1) Exceptasprovidedin paragraph (2), theincome of these
persons may not exceed the maximum amount for adisabled person
as described in Section 1902(a)(10)(A)(i) of Title XIX of the
federal Socia Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396a(a)(10)(A)(i)).

(2) Effective January 1, 2014, theincome of individualseligible
under this section may not exceed the maximum amount for a
disabled person as described in Section 1902(a)(10)(A)(i) of Title
XIX of the federa Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396a(a)(10)(A)(i)), as determined, counted, and valued in
accordance with the requirements of Section 14005.64.

(c) Theamendments made by the act that added this subdivision
shall be implemented only if, and to the extent that, federal
financial participation is available and any necessary federal
approvals have been obtained.

(d) Thissection shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 56. Section 14005.40 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, as amended by Section 80 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of
2023, is amended to read:

14005.40. (a) To the extent federal financial participation is
available, the department shall exercise its option under Section
1902(a)(10)(A)(ii)(X) of thefederal Socia Security Act (42 U.S.C.
Sec. 1396a(a)(10)(A)(ii)(X)), to implement a program for aged
and disabled persons as described in Section 1902(m) of the federal
Socia Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396a(m)(1)).

(b) Totheextent federa financial participation is available, the
blind shall be included within the definition of disabled for the
purposes of the program established in this section.

(¢) An individua shall satisfy the financial eigibility
requirement of this program if al of the following conditions are
met:
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(1) Countableincome, asdetermined in accordance with Section
1902(m) of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396a(m)), does not exceed an income level equal to 100 percent
of the applicable federal poverty level.

(2) (A) Until the time that the department obtains federal
approval for the income disregard described in paragraph (3),
countable income shall include an additional two hundred thirty
dollars ($230) for an individual or, in the case of a couple, three
hundred ten dollars ($310).

(B) Upon receipt of federa approval for, and implementation
of, paragraph (3), this paragraph shall become inoperative. The
director shall execute adeclaration, which shall be retained by the
director, stating that federal approval for paragraph (3) has been
obtained and the date that paragraph (3) shall be implemented.
Thedirector shall post the declaration on the department’sinternet
website.

(3) (A) Pursuant to Section 1902(r)(2) of the federal Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396a(r)(2)), al countable income
over 100 percent of the federal poverty level, up to 138 percent of
thefederal poverty level, shall be disregarded, after taking all other
disregards, deductions, and exclusions into account for those
persons eligible pursuant to this section.

(B) The department shall seek federal approval to implement
this paragraph.

(4) (A) For the purposesof calculating countableincome under
this section, an income exemption shall be applied as necessary
to adjust the Supplemental Security Income/State Supplementary
Program for the Aged, Blind, and Disabled (SSI/SSP) payment
level as used in this section so that it is the same as the SSI/SSP
payment level that was in place on May 1, 2009.

(B) This additional income exemption shall cease to be
implemented when the SSI/SSP payment levels increase beyond
those in effect on May 1, 20009.

(C) The income level determined pursuant to paragraphs (1)
and (2) shall not be less than the SSI/SSP payment level the
individual receives or would receive as a disabled or blind
individual or, in the case of a couple, the SSI/SSP payment level
the couple receives or would receive as adisabled or blind couple.
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(5 Countable resources, as determined in accordance with
subdivision (a) of Section 14005.62, do not exceed the maximum
levels established in that section.

(d) Thefinancial igibility requirements provided in subdivision
(c) may be adjusted upwards to reflect the cost of living in
Cdlifornia, contingent upon appropriation in the annua Budget
Act.

() (1) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regul atory action, shall
implement, interpret, or make specific this section by means of
al-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or ssmilar
instructions until regulations are adopted.

(2) The department shall adopt regulations by January 1, 2030,
in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing
with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the
Government Code. The department shall provide a status report
to the Legislature on a semiannual basis, in compliance with
Section 9795 of the Government Code, until regulations are
adopted.

(f) For purposesof calculating income under this section during
any calendar year, increases in social security benefit payments
under Title Il of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
401 et seq.) arising from cost-of-living adjustments shall be
disregarded commencing in the month that these social security
benefit payments are increased by the cost-of-living adjustment
through the month before the month in which a change in the
federal poverty level requiresthe department to modify theincome
level described in subdivision (c).

(9) (1) For purposes of this section, the following definitions
apply:

(A) “SSI” means the federal Supplemental Security Income
program established under Title XV of thefederal Social Security
Act.

(B) “Incomelevel” meansthe applicableincomelevel specified
in subdivision (c).

(C) The board and care “persona care services’ or “PCS’
deduction refersto an income disregard that is applied to aresident
in alicensed community care facility in lieu of the board and care
deduction (equal to the amount by which the basic board and care
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rate exceeds the income level in subparagraph (B)) when the PCS
deduction is greater than the board and care deduction.

(2) (A) For purposesof this section, the SSI recipient retention
amount isthe amount by which the SSI maximum payment amount
to an individua residing in a licensed community care facility
exceeds the maximum amount that the state allows community
care facilities to charge aresident who is an SSI recipient.

(B) For the purposes of this section, the personal and incidental
needs deduction for anindividual residing in alicensed community
care facility is one of the following:

(i) If theboard and care deduction is applicableto theindividual,
the amount, not to exceed the amount by which the SSI recipient
retention amount exceeds twenty dollars ($20), nor to be lessthan
zero, by which the sum of the amount that the individual pays to
the individua’s licensed community care facility and the SS|
recipient retention amount exceed the sum of the individual’s
incomelevel, theindividual’s board and care deduction, and twenty
dollars ($20).

(i) If the PCS deduction specified in paragraph (1) of
subdivision (g) is applicable to the individual, an amount, not to
exceed the amount by which the SSI recipient retention amount
exceeds twenty dollars ($20), nor to be less than zero, by which
the sum of the amount that the individual pays to the individual’s
community care facility and the SSI recipient retention amount
exceed the sum of the individual’s income level, the individual’s
PCS deduction, and twenty dollars ($20).

(3) In determining the countable income under this section of
an individual residing in a licensed community care facility, the
individual shall have deducted from the individual’s income the
amount specified in subparagraph (B) of paragraph (2).

(h) No later than one month after the effective date of
subdivision (g), the department shall submit to the federal Medicaid
program administrator a state plan amendment seeking approval
of the income deduction specified in paragraph (3) of subdivision
(9), and of federal financial participation for the costs resulting
from that income deduction.

(i) The deduction prescribed by paragraph (3) of subdivision
(g) shall be applied no later than the first day of the fourth month
after the month in which the department receives approval for the
federal financial participation specified in subdivision (h). Until
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approval for federal financial participation isreceived, there shall
be no deduction under paragraph (3) of subdivision (g).

() Thissection shall be implemented only if, and to the extent
that, any necessary federal approvals have been obtained.

(k) Paragraph (3) of subdivision (c) shall be implemented after
the director determines, and communicates that determination in
writing to the Department of Finance, that systems have been
programmed for implementation of paragraph (3) of subdivision
(c), but no sooner than January 1, 2020.

(1) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 57. Section 14005.40 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, as added by Section 81 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of
2023, is amended to read:

14005.40. (&) To the extent federal financial participation is
available, the department shall exercise its option under Section
1902(a)(10)(A)(ii)(X) of thefederal Socia Security Act (42 U.S.C.
Sec. 1396a(a)(10)(A)(ii)(X)), to implement a program for aged
and disabled persons as described in Section 1902(m) of the federal
Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396a(m)(1)).

(b) Totheextent federa financia participation is available, the
blind shall be included within the definition of disabled for the
purposes of the program established in this section.

(c) An individual shall satisfy the financial eligibility
requirement of this program if al of the following conditions are
met:

(1) Countableincome, asdetermined in accordance with Section
1902(m) of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396a(m)), does not exceed an income level equal to 100 percent
of the applicable federal poverty level.

(2) (A) Until the time that the department obtains federal
approval for the income disregard described in paragraph (3),
countable income shall include an additional two hundred thirty
dollars ($230) for an individual or, in the case of a couple, three
hundred ten dollars ($310).

(B) Upon receipt of federa approval for, and implementation
of, paragraph (3), this paragraph shall become inoperative. The
director shall execute adeclaration, which shall be retained by the
director, stating that federal approval for paragraph (3) has been
obtained and the date that paragraph (3) shall be implemented.
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Thedirector shall post the declaration on the department’sinternet
website.

(3) (A) Pursuant to Section 1902(r)(2) of the federal Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396a(r)(2)), all countable income
over 100 percent of the federal poverty level, up to 138 percent of
thefedera poverty level, shall be disregarded, after taking all other
disregards, deductions, and exclusions into account for those
persons eligible pursuant to this section.

(B) The department shall seek federa approval to implement
this paragraph.

(4) (A) Forthepurposesof calculating countableincome under
this section, an income exemption shall be applied as necessary
to adjust the Supplemental Security Income/State Supplementary
Program for the Aged, Blind, and Disabled (SSI/SSP) payment
level as used in this section so that it is the same as the SSI/SSP
payment level that was in place on May 1, 20009.

(B) This additional income exemption shall cease to be
implemented when the SSI/SSP payment levels increase beyond
those in effect on May 1, 20009.

(C) The income level determined pursuant to paragraphs (1)
and (2) shall not be less than the SSI/SSP payment level the
individual receives or would receive as a disabled or blind
individual or, in the case of a couple, the SSI/SSP payment level
the couple receives or would receive as adisabled or blind couple.

(5) Countableresources, including property or other assets, shall
not be considered in determining eligibility.

(d) Thefinancial eigibility requirements provided in subdivision
(c) may be adjusted upwards to reflect the cost of living in
California, contingent upon appropriation in the annual Budget
Act.

(e (1) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regulatory action, shall
implement, interpret, or make specific this section by means of
all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or similar
instructions until regulations are adopted.

(2) The department shall adopt regulations by July 1, 2023, in
accordance with the requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing
with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the
Government Code. The department shall provide a status report
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to the Legisdature on a semiannual basis, in compliance with
Section 9795 of the Government Code, until regulations are
adopted.

(f) For purposes of calculating income under this section during
any calendar year, increases in social security benefit payments
under Title Il of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
401 et seq.) arising from cost-of-living adjustments shall be
disregarded commencing in the month that these social security
benefit payments are increased by the cost-of-living adjustment
through the month before the month in which a change in the
federal poverty level requiresthe department to modify theincome
level described in subdivision (c).

(9) (1) For purposes of this section, the following definitions
apply:

(A) “SSI” means the federal Supplemental Security Income
program established under Title XV of the federal Social Security
Act.

(B) “Incomelevel” meansthe applicableincomelevel specified
in subdivision (c).

(C) The board and care “persona care services’ or “PCS’
deduction refersto an income disregard that is applied to aresident
in alicensed community care facility in lieu of the board and care
deduction (equal to the amount by which the basic board and care
rate exceeds the income level in subparagraph (B)) when the PCS
deduction is greater than the board and care deduction.

(2) (A) For purposesof thissection, the SSI recipient retention
amount isthe amount by which the SSI maximum payment amount
to an individual residing in a licensed community care facility
exceeds the maximum amount that the state allows community
care facilities to charge aresident who is an SSI recipient.

(B) For the purposes of this section, the personal and incidental
needs deduction for anindividual residing in alicensed community
carefacility is one of the following:

() If theboard and care deduction isapplicableto theindividual,
the amount, not to exceed the amount by which the SSI recipient
retention amount exceeds twenty dollars ($20), nor to be lessthan
zero, by which the sum of the amount that the individual pays to
the individua’s licensed community care facility and the SS|
recipient retention amount exceed the sum of the individua’s

97



AB 116 —92—

incomelevel, theindividual’s board and care deduction, and twenty
dollars ($20).

(i) If the PCS deduction specified in paragraph (1) of
subdivision (g) is applicable to the individual, an amount, not to
exceed the amount by which the SSI recipient retention amount
exceeds twenty dollars ($20), nor to be less than zero, by which
the sum of the amount that the individual pays to the individua’s
community care facility and the SSI recipient retention amount
exceed the sum of the individua’s income level, the individua’s
PCS deduction, and twenty dollars ($20).

(3) In determining the countable income under this section of
an individual residing in a licensed community care facility, the
individual shall have deducted from the individual’s income the
amount specified in subparagraph (B) of paragraph (2).

(h) No later than one month after the effective date of
subdivision (g), the department shall submit to the federal Medicaid
program administrator a state plan amendment seeking approval
of the income deduction specified in paragraph (3) of subdivision
(9), and of federal financial participation for the costs resulting
from that income deduction.

(i) The deduction prescribed by paragraph (3) of subdivision
(g) shall be applied no later than the first day of the fourth month
after the month in which the department receives approval for the
federal financial participation specified in subdivision (h). Until
approval for federal financial participation isreceived, there shall
be no deduction under paragraph (3) of subdivision (g).

() Thissection shall be implemented only if, and to the extent
that, any necessary federal approvals have been obtained.

(k) Paragraph (3) of subdivision (c) shall be implemented after
the director determines, and communicates that determination in
writing to the Department of Finance, that systems have been
programmed for implementation of paragraph (3) of subdivision
(c), but no sooner than January 1, 2020.

(1) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, isrepealed.

SEC. 58. Section 14005.62 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14005.62. (a) (1) Notwithstanding any other law, for an
applicant or beneficiary whose éigibility is not determined using
the modified adjusted gross income (MAGI)-based financial
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methods, as specified in Section 1396a(e)(14) of Title 42 of the
United States Code, resources, including property or other assets,
shall not be used to determine eligibility under the Medi-Cal
program to the extent permitted by federal law. The department
shall seek federal authority to disregard all resources as authorized
by the flexibilities provided under Section 1396a(r)(2) of Title 42
of the United States Code or other available authorities.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement this section by means of county
letters, provider bulletins or notices, policy letters, or other similar
instructions, without taking regulatory action.

(2) Withintwo years of implementing the requirements set forth
in subdivision (b), the department shall do both of the following:

(A) Adopt, amend, or repeal regulationsin accordance with the
requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of
Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code and this
section.

(B) Update its notices and forms to delete any reference to
[imitations on resources or assets.

() Nosooner than August 1, 2025, the department shall convene
a stakeholder workgroup to provide feedback and assist the
department with activities related to the implementation of the
version this section to be operative on January 1, 2026, including
educational outreach in theform of flyers and factsheets and other
public education strategies developed by the department in
consultation with interested stakehol ders, including, but not limited
to, counties and consumer advocates.

(d) This section shal only be implemented to the extent
consistent with federal law, upon the department obtaining any
necessary federal approvals, and to the extent federal financial
participation under the Medi-Cal program is available and not
otherwise jeopardized.

(e) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 59. Section 14005.62 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

14005.62. (a) (1) Notwithstanding any other law, for an
applicant or beneficiary whose éigibility is not determined using
the modified adjusted gross income (MAGI)-based financial
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methods, as specified in Section 1396a(e)(14) of Title 42 of the
United States Code, the department shall seek federal approval to
implement a disregard of one hundred thirty thousand dollars
($130,000) in nonexempt property for a case with one member
and sixty five thousand dollars ($65,000) for each additional
household member, up to a maximum of 10 members.

(2) Thissubdivision shal beimplemented only after the director
determinesthat systems have been programmed for the disregards
specified in paragraph (1) and they communicate that determination
in writing to the Department of Finance.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement this section by means of county
letters, provider bulletins or notices, policy letters, or other similar
instructions, without taking regulatory action. Such instructions
shall include alist of al exempt property for use until such time
that regulations are adopted.

(2) Withintwo yearsof implementing the requirements set forth
in this subdivision, the department shall do both of the following:

(A) Adopt, amend, or repeal regulationsin accordance with the
requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of
Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code and this
section.

(B) Update its notices and forms to reflect the consideration of
assets and resources as described in subdivision (a).

(c) Upon operation of subdivision (a), the department shall make
available, on a quarterly basis data, the number of Medi-Cal
enrolleeswho lost eligibility dueto the asset limit. The department
shall consult with stakeholders to determine the appropriate data
elements and level of detail, including, but not limited to, the
reasons for termination.

(d) This section shal only be implemented to the extent
consistent with federal law, upon the department obtaining any
necessary federal approvals, and to the extent federal financial
participation under the Medi-Cal program is available and not
otherwise jeopardized.

(e) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 60. Section 14005.401 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, as amended by Section 82 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of
2023, is amended to read:
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14005.401. (@) The department shall seek a Medicaid state
plan amendment or waiver to implement an income disregard that
would allow an aged, blind, or disabled individual who becomes
ineligible for benefits under the Medi-Cal program pursuant to
Section 14005.40 because of the state’s payment of theindividua’s
Medicare Part B premiums to remain eligible for the Medi-Cal
program under Section 14005.40 if their income and resources
otherwise meet all eligibility requirements.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement, interpret, or make specific this
section by means of all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider
bulletins, or similar instructions until the time any necessary
regulations are adopted.

(2) The department shall adopt regulations by January 1, 2030,
in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing
with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the
Government Code.

(c) Thissection shall beimplemented only if, and to the extent
that, federal financial participation is available and necessary
federal approvals have been obtained.

(d) Thissection shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 61. Section 14005.401 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, as added by Section 83 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of
2023, is amended to read:

14005.401. (&) The department shall seek a Medicaid state
plan amendment or waiver to implement an income disregard that
would alow an aged, blind, or disabled individual who becomes
ineligible for benefits under the Medi-Cal program pursuant to
Section 14005.40 because of the state’s payment of theindividua’s
Medicare Part B premiums to remain eligible for the Medi-Cal
program under Section 14005.40 if their income otherwise meets
al eligibility requirements.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement, interpret, or make specific this
section by means of all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider
bulletins, or similar instructions until the time any necessary
regulations are adopted.
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(2) The department shall adopt regulations by July 1, 2021, in
accordance with the requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing
with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the
Government Code.

(3) Commencing six months after the effective date of this
section, and notwithstanding Section 10231.5 of the Government
Code, the department shall provide astatusreport to the Legidlature
on a semiannual basis, in compliance with Section 9795 of the
Government Code, until regulations have been adopted.

(c) Thissection shall beimplemented only if, and to the extent
that, federal financial participation is available and necessary
federal approvals have been obtained.

(d) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 62. Section 14006 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

14006. (a) This section applies to medicaly needy persons,
medically needy family persons, and state-only Medi-Cal persons.

(b) For the purposes of this section, the term “principal
residence” means the home, including a multiple-dwelling unit,
inwhich theindividual resides or formerly resided. The homewill
continue to be considered the principal residence if any of the
following is applicable:

(1) During any absence, the individual intends to return to the
home.

(2) The individual lives in a nursing facility or a medical
institution and intends to return home.

(3) The individua’s spouse or a dependent relative of the
individual continuesto reside in the home during the individual’s
absence.

(4) Theindividual does not have the right, authority, power, or
legal capacity to liquidate the property, but a bona fide effort is
being made to attain the right, authority, power, or legal capacity
to liquidate the property.

(5) The property cannot readily be converted to cash but abona
fide effort is being made to sell the property, in which case the
state shall, subject to notice and an opportunity for ahearing, have
alien against the property, to the extent permitted by federal 1aw,
for the cost of medical services.
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Thelien shall be recorded, and from the date of recording, shall
have the force, effect, and priority of ajudgment lien.

(6) Ifitisamultiple-dwelling unit, one unit of whichisoccupied
by the applicant or recipient, any unit not occupied by the applicant
or recipient is producing income for the individual or family
reasonably consistent with its value.

(7) Itisinhabited by any sibling or child of the recipient who
has continuously resided in the property since at least one year
prior to the date the owner entered anursing facility, or inamedical
institution.

For purposes of this subdivision, “bona fide effort” means that
the property shall belisted with alicensed real estate broker at the
value determined to be the fair market value by a qualified real
estate appraiser and the applicant or recipient provides evidence
that a continuous effort is being made to sell the property, offers
at fair market value are accepted, and all offers are reported.

(c) For purposes of determining eligibility under this part,
countable resources shall be determined in accordance with
subdivision (a) of Section 14005.62. Resources exempt under Title
XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et
seg.) shall not be considered in determining eligibility. A
community spouse may retain nonexempt resources to the
maximum extent permitted under Title X1X of the federal Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seq.). Medicaly needy
individuals and families may retain nonexempt resources to the
extent permitted under Title XIX of the federal Socia Security
Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seq.). In addition, the principal
residence as defined in subdivision (b) shall be exempt.

(d) Thedirector, to meet the requirements of the federal Social
Security Act and to ensure the highest percentage of federal
financial participation in the program provided by this chapter,
may decrease or increase the amounts set forth herein.

(e) (1) Iftheholdingsareintheform of real property, thevalue
shall be the assessed value, determined under the most recent
county property tax assessment, less the unpaid amount of any
encumbrance of record.

(2) If the rea property other than the home is not producing
income reasonably consistent with its value, the applicant or
recipient shall be allowed reasonable time to begin producing such
income from the property. If the property cannot produce
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reasonable income or be sold based on the market value, the
applicant or recipient shall be allowed to submit evidence from a
qualified real estate appraiser that indicates the value for which
the property can be adequately utilized or sold. If the applicant or
recipient provides evidence that the only method of adequately
utilizing the property is sale, and the property has not been sold at
market val ue during areasonabl e period of time, the property shall
be considered to be adequately utilized provided it is listed with
alicensed real estate broker at the value determined to be the fair
market value by aqualified real estate appraiser and the applicant
or recipient provides evidence that a bona fide and continuous
effort is being made to sell the property.

(3) If federa requirements permit a person to whom this
subdivision applies to own an automobile of greater value than is
permitted in determining eligibility for aid under Chapter 3
(commencing with Section 12000), the department shall adopt
regul ations authorizing that higher allowance.

(f) Any mortgage or note secured by a deed of trust shall be
deemed real property if its value does not exceed six thousand
dollars ($6,000) and it is obtained by the applicant or recipient, or
in combination with their spouse, through the sale of such real
property.

(g) If the holdings consist of money on deposit, the value shall
be the actual amount thereof. If the holdings arein any other form
of personal property or investment, except lifeinsurance, the value
shall be the conversion value as of the date of application or the
anniversary date of such application. If the holdingsarein theform
of lifeinsurance, the value shall be the cash value as of the policy
anniversary nearest the date of such application.

(h) Thevalue of property holdings shall be determined as of the
date of application and, if the person is found eligible, this
determination shall establish the amount of such holdings to be
considered during the ensuing 12 months except a new
determination to govern during the succeeding 12 months shall be
made on the first anniversary date of the application or such
aternate date as may be established following the acquisition of
additional holdings as provided in the following paragraph and on
each succeeding anniversary date thereafter.

(i) If any person shal by gift, inheritance, or other manner,
acquire additiona holdings during any such interval, other than

97



—99— AB 116

from their own earnings, they shal immediately report such
acquisition, and the anniversary date shall becomethe date of such
acquisition.

() If any provision of this section does not comply with federal
requirements, the provision shall become inoperative to the extent
that it is not in compliance with federal requirements pursuant to
Section 11003.

(k) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 63. Section 14006.01 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14006.01. (@) This section applies to any individual who is
residing in a continuing care retirement community, as defined in
paragraph (10) of subdivision (c) of Section 1771 of the Health
and Safety Code, pursuant to a continuing care contract, as defined
in paragraph (8) of subdivision (c) of Section 1771 of the Health
and Safety Code, or pursuant to alife care contract, as defined in
subdivision (I) of Section 1771 of the Health and Safety Code, that
collects an entrance fee from its residents upon admission.

(b) In determining an individua’s eligibility for Medi-Cal
benefits, theindividual's entrance fee shall be considered aresource
availableto theindividual if al of the following apply:

(1) Theindividua hasthe ability to use the entrance fee, or the
contract providesthat the entrance fee may be used, to pay for care
if other resources or income of the individual are insufficient to
pay for care.

(2) The individual is €eligible for a refund of any remaining
entrance fee when they die or terminate their contract with, and
leave, the continuing care retirement community.

(3) The entrance fee does not confer an ownership interest in
the continuing care retirement community.

() This section shal be implemented pursuant to the
requirements of Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42
U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seq.), and any regulations adopted pursuant
to that act, and only to the extent required by federal law, and only
to the extent that federal financial participation is available.

(d) To the extent that regulations are necessary to implement
this section, the department shall promul gate regulations using the
nonemergency regulatory process described in Article 5
(commencing with Section 11346) of Chapter 3.5 of Part 1 of
Division 3 of the Government Code.
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(e) Itistheintent of the Legislature that the provisions of this
section shall apply prospectively to any individual to whom the
act applies commencing from the date regul ations adopted pursuant
to this act are filed with the Secretary of State.

(f) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 64. Section 14006.1 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
isrepealed.

SEC. 65. Section 14006.15 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14006.15. (a) For thepurposesof thissection, “equity interest”
means the lesser of the following:

(1) The assessed value of the principal residence determined
under the most recent tax assessment, less any encumbrances of
record.

(2) The appraised value of the principal residence determined
by a qualified real estate appraiser who has been retained by the
applicant or beneficiary, less any encumbrances of record.

(b) Notwithstanding subdivisions (b) and (c) of Section 14006,
and except as provided in subdivision (c), an individual is not
eligible for medical assistance for home and facility care if their
equity interest in the principal residence exceeds seven hundred
fifty thousand dollars ($750,000). No later than December 31,
2011, and each year thereafter, this amount shall be increased
based on the percentage increase in the consumer price index for
all urban consumers (al items, United States city average), rounded
to the nearest one thousand dollars ($1,000).

(c) This section does not apply to an individual if any of the
following circumstances exist:

(1) The spouse of the individual or the individual’s child, who
is under 21 years of age, or who is blind or who is disabled, as
defined in paragraph (3) of subsection (a) of Section 1382c of Title
42 of the United States Code, islawfully residing intheindividual’s
home.

(2) Theindividual wasdetermined eligiblefor medical assistance
for home and facility care based on an application filed before
January 1, 2006.

(3) The department determines that ineligibility for medical
assistance for home and facility care would result in demonstrated
hardship on the individual. For purposes of this section,
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demonstrated hardship shall include, but need not be limited to,
any of the following circumstances:

(A) Theindividual was receiving home and facility care prior
to January 1, 2006.

(B) The individual has been determined to be eligible for
medical assistance for home and facility care based on an
application filed on or after January 1, 2006, and before the date
that regulations adopted pursuant to this section are certified with
the Secretary of State.

(C) The individual purchased and received benefits under a
long-term care insurance policy certified by the department’s
Cdlifornia Partnership for Long-Term Care Program, established
by Division 12 (commencing with Section 22000).

(D) The individual’s equity interest in the principal residence
exceeds the equity interest limit as provided in subdivision (b),
but would not exceed the equity interest limit under that subdivision
if it had been increased by using the quarterly House Price Index
(HPI) for California, published by the Office of Federal Housing
Enterprise Oversight (OFHEO).

(E) Theapplicant or beneficiary has been denied ahome equity
loan by at least three lending institutions, or is ineligible for any
one Federa Housing Administration (FHA) approved loan or
reverse mortgage.

(F) The applicant or beneficiary, with good cause, is unable to
provide verification of the equity value.

(G) The applicant or beneficiary meets the criteria set forth in
subdivision (b) of Section 14015.1.

(d) This section shall be implemented pursuant to the
requirements of Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42
U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seg.) and any regulations adopted pursuant to
that act, and only to the extent that federal financial participation
isavailable.

(e) To the extent that regulations are necessary to implement
this section, the department shall promul gate regulations using the
nonemergency regulatory process described in Article 5
(commencing with Section 11346) of Chapter 3.5 of Part 1 of
Division 3 of the Government Code.

(f) Itistheintent of the Legislature that the provisions of this
section shall apply prospectively to any individual to whom the
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act applies commencing from the date regul ations adopted pursuant
to this act are filed with the Secretary of State.

(g) Thissection shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 66. Section 14006.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

14006.2. (&) In determining the €digibility of a married
individual, pursuant to Section 14005.4 or 14005.7, who, in
accordance with Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42
U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seq.) and regulations adopted pursuant thereto,
is considered to be living separately from their spouse, the
individual shall be considered to have made atransfer of resources
for full and adequate consideration under Section 14006 or 14015
by reason of either of the following:

(1) Having entered into a written agreement with their spouse
dividing their nonexempt community property into equal shares
of separate property. Property so agreed to be separate property
shall be considered by the department to be the separate property
of the spouse who, pursuant to the agreement, is the owner of the
property. Only in cases in which separate property owned by one
spouse is actually made available to the other spouse, may the
department count the separate property in the eligibility
determination of the nonowner spouse.

(2) Having transferred to their spouse all of their interest in a
home, whether the transfer was made before or after theindividual
became aresident in a nursing facility in accordance with and to
the extent permitted by Title XIX of the federal Social Security
Act and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto.

(b) The department shall furnish to all Medi-Cal applicants a
clear and simple statement in writing advising them that (1) in the
case of an individual who is an inpatient in a nursing facility, if
the individual or the individual’s conservator transferred to the
individual’s spouse all of the interest in a home, the individual
shall not be considered ineligible for Medi-Cal by reason of the
transfer; and that (2) if the individual and the individual’s spouse
execute a written interspousal agreement that divides and
transmutes nonexempt community property into equal shares of
separate property, the separate property of the individual’s spouse
shall not be considered available to theindividual and need not be
spent by the spouse for the individual’s care in a nursing facility
or other medical institution. The statement provided for in this
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subdivision shall aso be furnished to each individual admitted to
anursing facility, along with, but separately from, the statement
required under Section 72527 of Title 22 of the California Code
of Regulations.

(¢) Inordertoqualify for Medi-Cal benefits pursuant to Section
14005.4 or 14005.7, amarried individual who residesin anursing
facility, and who isin a Medi-Cal budget unit separate from that
of their spouse, shall be required to expend their other resources
for their own benefit, so that the amount that remains does not
exceed the maximum levels established pursuant to subdivision
(a) of Section 14005.62. In the event that the married individual
expends their resources for expenses associated with or for
improvements to property, those expenditures shall be considered
to befor their own benefit only to the extent that the expenditures
are proportionate to the ownership interest the individual has in
the property. For purposes of this section, the term “their other
resources’ shall be limited to the following:

(1) All of their separate property that would not have been
exempt under applicable Medi-Cal laws and regulations at the time
when they entered anursing facility, or at the date of execution of
the agreement referred to in this section, whichever is earlier. For
purposes of this paragraph, the mere change of residencefrom one
facility to another shall not be deemed to be anew entry.

(2) One-half of all the community property, or the proceeds
from the sale or exchange of that property, that would not have
been exempt at the time described in paragraph (1).

(d) For purposes of subdivision (c), in the absence of an
agreement such as that referred to in subdivision (a), there shall
be a presumption, rebuttable by either spouse, that al property
owned by either spouse was community property.

(e) The statement furnished pursuant to subdivision (b) shall
advise al persons entering a long-term care facility, and all
Medi-Cal applicantsthat only their half of the community property
shall be taken into account in determining their eligibility for
Medi-Cal, whether or not they execute the written interspousal
agreement referred to in the statement.

(f) Thissection shall not apply to an institutionalized spouse.

(g) This section shal apply to the full extent to an
institutionalized spouseif Title X1X of thefederal Social Security
Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seq.) is amended to authorize the
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consideration of state community property law in determining
eligibility under this chapter, or the federal government authorizes
the state to apply community property laws in making that
determination.

(h) (1) Subdivision (f) shall become inoperative if the federal
government amends Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act
(42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seq.) to allow state community property
laws to be considered for Medi-Cal €eligibility purposes, or the
federa government authorizes the state to apply community
property laws in making that determination.

(2) The department shall report to the appropriate committees
of the L egidature upon the occurrence of the amendment of federal
law or receipt of federal authorization as specified in paragraph
(D).

(i) Thissection shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 67. Section 14006.3 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as amended by Section 92 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023,
isamended to read:

14006.3. (a) Thedepartment, at the time of application or the
assessment pursuant to Section 14006.6, and any nursing facility
enrolled as a provider in the Medi-Cal program, before admitting
any person, shall provide a clear and simple statement, in writing,
inaform and language specified by the department, to that person,
and that person’s spouse, legal representative, or agent, if any, that
explains the resource and income requirements of the Medi-Cal
program, including, but not limited to, certain exempt resources,
certain protections against spousal impoverishment, and certain
circumstances under which an interest in ahome may betransferred
without affecting Medi-Cal eligibility.

(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 68. Section 14006.3 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as added by Section 93 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023, is
amended to read:

14006.3. (a) The department, at the time of application or the
assessment pursuant to former Section 14006.6, and any nursing
facility enrolled as a provider in the Medi-Cal program, before
admitting any person, shall provide a clear and simple statement,
inwriting, in aform and language specified by the department, to
that person, and that person’s spouse, legal representative, or agent,
if any, that explains the income requirements of the Medi-Cal
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program, including, but not limited to, certain protections against
spousal impoverishment.

(b) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 69. Section 14006.4 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
as amended by Section 94 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023,
is amended to read:

14006.4. (a) The statement required by Sections 14006.2 and
14006.3 shall bein the following form:

“NOTICE REGARDING STANDARDS FOR MEDI-CAL
ELIGIBILITY

If you or your spouseisin or isentering anursing facility, read
this important message!

You or your spouse do not have to use all your resources, such
as savings, before Medi-Cal might help pay for all or some of the
costs of anursing facility.

You should be aware of the following to take advantage of these
provisions of the law:

UNMARRIED RESIDENT

An unmarried resident is financialy eligible for Medi-Cal
benefits if they have less than (insert amount of individual’s
resource allowance) in available resources. A home is an exempt
resource and is not considered against the resource limit, as long
asthe resident states on the Medi-Cal application that they intend
to return home. Clothes, household furnishings, irrevocable burial
plans, burial plots, and an automobile are examples of other exempt
resources.

If an unmarried resident is financially eligible for Medi-Cal
reimbursement, they are alowed to keep from their monthly
income a personal allowance of (insert amount of personal needs
allowance) plus the amount of health insurance premiums paid
monthly. The remainder of the monthly income is paid to the
nursing facility as a monthly deductible caled the “Medi-Cal
long-term care patient liability.”
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MARRIED RESIDENT

If one spouse lives in a nursing facility, and the other spouse
does not live in anursing facility, the Medi-Cal program will pay
some or all of the nursing facility costs as long as the couple
together does not have more than (insert amount of Community
Spouse Resource Allowance plusindividual’ sresource allowance)
in available assets. The couple’s home will not be counted against
this (insert amount of Community Spouse Resource Allowance
plus individual’s resource allowance), as long as one spouse or a
dependent relative, or both, livesin the home, or the spousein the
nursing facility states on the Medi-Cal application that they intend
to return to the couple’s hometo live.

If aspouseiseligible for Medi-Cal payment of nursing facility
costs, the spouse living at home is alowed to keep a monthly
income of at least their individual monthly income or (insert
amount of Minimum Monthly Maintenance Needs Allowance),
whichever is greater. Of the couple’'s remaining monthly income,
the spouse in the nursing facility is allowed to keep a personal
allowance of (insert amount of personal needs alowance) plusthe
amount of health insurance premiums paid monthly. Theremaining
money, if any, generally must be paid to the nursing facility asthe
Medi-Cal long-term care patient liability. The Medi-Cal program
will pay remaining nursing facility costs.

Under certain circumstances, an at-home spouse can obtain an
order from an administrative law judgethat will allow the at-home
spouseto retain additional resources or income. Such an order can
allow the coupleto retain more than (insert amount of Community
Spouse Resource Allowance plusindividual’s resource all owance)
in available resources, if the income that could be generated by
the retained resources would not cause the total monthly income
available to the at-home spouse to exceed (insert amount of
Monthly Maintenance Needs Allowance). Such an order also can
allow the at-home spouse to retain more than (insert amount of
Monthly Maintenance Needs Allowance) in monthly income, if
the extraincome is necessary “due to exceptional circumstances
resulting in significant financial duress”

An at-home spouse al so may obtain acourt order to increase the
amount of income and resources that they are allowed to retain,
or to transfer property from the spouse in the nursing facility to
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the at-home spouse. You should contact a knowledgeabl e attorney
for further information regarding court orders.

The paragraphs above do not apply if both spouses live in a
nursing facility and neither previously has been granted Medi-Cal
eigibility. In this situation, the spouses may be able to hasten
Medi-Cal eligibility by entering into an agreement that divides
their community property. The advice of aknowledgeabl e attorney
should be obtained prior to the signing of this type of agreement.

Note: For married couples, the resource limit ((insert amount of
Community Spouse ResourceAllowance plusindividual’sresource
allowance) in (insert current year)) and income limit ((insert
amount of Minimum Monthly Maintenance Needs Allowance) in
(insert current year)) generally increase a dlight amount on January
1 of every year.

TRANSFER OF HOME FOR BOTH A MARRIED AND AN
UNMARRIED RESIDENT

A transfer of a property interest in a resident’s home will not
cause ingligibility for Medi-Cal reimbursement if either of the
following conditionsis met:

() Atthetime of transfer, the recipient of the property interest
statesin writing that the resident would have been allowed to return
to the home at the time of the transfer, if the resident’s medical
condition allowed them to leave the nursing facility. This provision
shall only apply if the home has been considered an exempt
resource because of the resident’s intent to return home.

(b) Thehomeistransferred to one of the following individuals:

(1) Theresident’s spouse.

(2) Theresident’s minor or disabled child.

(3) A sibling of the resident who has an equity interest in the
home, and who resided in the resident’s homefor at |east one year
immediately before the resident began living in institutions.

(4) A child of the resident who resided in the resident’s home
at least two years before the resident began living in institutions,
and who provided care to the resident that permitted the resident
to remain at home longer.

Thisisonly abrief description of the Medi-Cal igibility rules,
for more detailed information, you should call your county welfare
department. You will probably want to consult with the local
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branch of the state long-term care ombudsman, an attorney, or a
legal services program for seniorsin your area.

| have read the above notice and have received a copy.
Dated: Signature: 3

(c) The statement required by subdivision (a) shall be printed
in at least 10-point type, shall be clearly separate from any other
document or writing, and shall be signed by the person to be
admitted and that person’s spouse, and legal representative, if any.

(d) Any nursing facility that willfully fails to comply with this
section shall be subject to a class “B” citation, as defined by
Section 1424 of the Health and Safety Code.

(e) The department may revise this statement as necessary to
maintain its consistency with state and federal law.

(f) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 70. Section 14006.4 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as added by Section 95 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023, is
amended to read:

14006.4. (a) The statement required by Section 14006.3 shall
be in the following form:

“NOTICE REGARDING STANDARDS FOR MEDI-CAL
ELIGIBILITY

If you or your spouseisin or isentering anursing facility, read
this important message!

You or your spouse do not have to use all your resources, such
as savings, before Medi-Cal might help pay for all or some of the
costs of anursing facility.

You should be aware of the following to take advantage of these
provisions of the law:

UNMARRIED RESIDENT

An unmarried resident is financially eligible for Medi-Cal
benefits if they meet income requirements. Resources, including
property and assets, are not considered in determining Medi-Cal
eligibility.

If an unmarried resident is financially eligible for Medi-Cal
reimbursement, they are alowed to keep from their monthly
income a personal allowance of (insert amount of personal needs
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allowance) plus the amount of health insurance premiums paid
monthly. The remainder of the monthly income is paid to the
nursing facility asamonthly deductible called the“Medi-Cal share
of cost”

MARRIED RESIDENT

If one spouse lives in a nursing facility, and the other spouse
does not live in anursing facility, the Medi-Cal program will pay
some or all of the nursing facility costs as long as the couple
together meetsincome requirements. Resources, including property
and assets, are not considered in determining Medi-Cal eligibility.

If aspouseiseligible for Medi-Cal payment of nursing facility
costs, the spouse living at home is alowed to keep a monthly
income of at least their individual monthly income or (insert
amount of Minimum Monthly Maintenance Needs Allowance),
whichever is greater. Of the couple’s remaining monthly income,
the spouse in the nursing facility is allowed to keep a personal
allowance of (insert amount of personal needs allowance) plusthe
amount of health insurance premiums paid monthly. Theremaining
money, if any, generally must be paid to the nursing facility asthe
Medi-Cal shareof cost. The Medi-Cal program will pay remaining
nursing facility costs.

Under certain circumstances, an at-home spouse can obtain an
order from an administrative law judge that will allow the at-home
spouse to retain additional income. That order may allow the
at-home spouse to retain more than (insert amount of Monthly
Maintenance Needs Allowance) in monthly income, if the extra
income is necessary “due to exceptional circumstances resulting
in significant financial duress.”

An at-home spouse al so may obtain acourt order to increase the
amount of income that they are alowed to retain. You should
contact aknowledgeabl e attorney for further information regarding
court orders.

Note: For married couples, the income limit ((insert amount of
Minimum Monthly Maintenance Needs Allowance) in (insert
current year)) generally increase a dight amount on January 1 of
every year.

Thisisonly abrief description of the Medi-Cal ligibility rules,
for more detailed information, you should call your county welfare
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department. You will probably want to consult with the local
branch of the state long-term care ombudsman, an attorney, or a
legal services program for seniorsin your area.

| have read the above notice and have received a copy.

Dated: Signature: 3

(b) The statement required by subdivision (a) shall be printed
in at least 10-point type, shall be clearly separate from any other
document or writing, and shall be signed by the person to be
admitted and that person’s spouse, and legal representative, if any.

() Any nursing facility that willfully fails to comply with this
section shall be subject to a class “B” citation, as defined by
Section 1424 of the Health and Safety Code.

(d) The department may revise this statement as necessary to
maintain its consistency with state and federal law.

(e) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 71. Section 14006.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
as amended by Section 96 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023,
is amended to read:

14006.5. (&) The department shall include training regarding
the treatment of separate and community income and resourcesin
determining eligibility for Medi-Cal benefits, as part of the ongoing
training offered to county welfare departments.

(b) Commencing January 1, 2026, the department shall aso
include training regarding the applicability of the lookback period
outlined in Section 14015, which only applies to people seeking
home- and facility-based care as described in subdivision (c) of
Section 1396p of Title 42 of the United States Code, as part of the
ongoing training offered to county welfare departments.

SEC. 72. Section 14006.6 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code
is amended to read:

14006.6. (@) Totheextentrequired by Title X1X of thefederal
Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seq.) and regulations
adopted pursuant thereto, upon the request of either an
ingtitutionalized spouse or a community spouse, and upon receipt
of relevant documentation of resources, the department shall
promptly assess and document the total value of the couple's
resources to the extent either the institutionalized spouse or the
community spouse has an ownership interest. Upon completion
of the assessment and documentation, the department shall provide
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acopy of such assessment and documentation to each spouse and
shall retain a copy of the assessment.

(b) If the assessment isnot part of an application for Medi-Cal,
the department may, as a condition of providing the assessment,
require payment of afee not to exceed the reasonabl e expenses of
providing and documenting the assessment.

(c) For purposes of completing the assessment, resources shall
be determined, defined, counted, and valued in accordance with
subdivision (c) of Section 14006, and subject to the maximum
resource levels specified in subdivision (a) of Section 14005.62.

(d) At thetime of providing the copy of the assessment to the
couple, the department shall include anotice indicating that either
spouse will have aright to afair hearing to the extent required by
federal law.

(e) (1) Thissection shall remain operative only until Title X1X
of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seq.) is
amended to authorize the consideration of state community
property law in determining eligibility under this chapter, or the
federal government authorizes the state to apply community
property laws in making that determination.

(2) The department shall report to the appropriate committees
of the L egidature upon the occurrence of the amendment of federal
law or the receipt of federal authorization to apply community
property law, as specified in paragraph (1).

(f) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 73. Section 14007.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
isamended to read:

14007.5. (@) Personswho are not citizens or nationals of the
United States shall be eligible for Medi-Cal, whether federally
funded or state-funded, only to the same extent as permitted under
federal law and regulations for receipt of federal financial
participation under Title XIX of the federal Socia Security Act,
except as otherwise provided in this section and elsewherein this
chapter.

(b) Inaccordance with Section 1903(v)(1) of the federal Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396b(v)(1)), a person who is not a
citizen or anational of the United States shall only be eligible for
thefull scope of Medi-Cal benefitsif the person hasan immigration
status described in Section 1641(b) of Title 8 of the United States
Code. For purposes of this section, persons who are not citizens
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or nationals of the United States and who are“ permanently residing
in the United States under color of law” shall be interpreted to
include al persons who are not citizens or nationals of the United
States residing in the United States with the knowledge and
permission of the United States Department of Homeland Security
and whose departure the United States Department of Homeland
Security does not contempl ate enforcing and with respect to whom
federal financial participation is not available under Title XIX of
the federal Social Security Act.

(c) A personwho hasanimmigration status described in Section
1641(b) of Title 8 of the United States Code, but who is subject
to the limitation described in Section 1613(a) of Title 8 of the
United States Code, or a person who is otherwise permanently
residing in the United States under color of law, shall be eligible
for the full scope, except as described in subdivision (1), of
Medi-Cal benefits.

(d) Any person who is not a citizen or national of the United
States who is otherwise eligible for Medi-Cal services, but who
does not meet the requirements under subdivision (b) or (c), shall
only be eligible for care and services that are necessary for the
treatment of an emergency medical condition and medical care
directly related to the emergency, as defined in federal |aw, except
as described in Sections 14007.65, 14007.7, and 14007.8. For
purposes of this section, the term “emergency medical condition”
means a medical condition manifesting itself by acute symptoms
of sufficient severity, including severe pain, such that the absence
of immediate medical attention could reasonably be expected to
result in any of the following:

(1) Placing the patient’s health in serious jeopardy.

(2) Seriousimpairment to bodily functions.

(3) Serious dysfunction to any bodily organ or part. It is the
intent of this section to entitle eligibleindividualsto inpatient and
outpatient services that are necessary for the treatment of the
emergency medical condition in the same manner as administered
by the department through regulations and provisions of federal
law.

(e) (1) NosoonerthanJduly 1, 2027, except for individualsunder
19 years of age, individuals over 59 years of age, and pregnant
women, all individuals described in subdivisions (c) and (d) shall
be required to pay a monthly premium as a condition of eligibility
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for the full scope of Medi-Cal benefits, if they are otherwise
eligible for benefits under this chapter.

(2) Monthly premiumsimposed under this subdivision shall be
thirty dollars ($30) per beneficiary.

(3) An individual required to pay premiums pursuant to this
subdivision, after no more than 90 days of nonpayment of the
monthly premium, is only €eligible for medically necessary
pregnancy-related services, and care and services necessary for
the treatment of an emergency medical condition and medical care
directly related to the emergency, as defined in federal law. All
outstanding premium balances shall be paid in full as a condition
of continued eligibility for the full scope of Medi-Cal benefits.

(f) Pursuant to Section 14001.2, each county department shall
require that each applicant for, or beneficiary of, Medi-Cdl,
including achild, shall providetheir social security number account
number, or numbers, if they have more than one social security
number.

(@) (1) Inordertobe€digiblefor benefits under subdivision (b)
or (c), an applicant or beneficiary shall present United States
Citizenship and Immigration Services registration documentation
or other proof of satisfactory immigration status from the United
States Citizenship and Immigration Services.

(2) Any person who meets al other program requirements but
who lacks documentation of United States Citizenship and
Immigration Services registration or other proof of satisfactory
immigration status shall be provided a reasonable opportunity to
submit the evidence. For purposes of this paragraph, “reasonable
opportunity” means 30 daysor thetimeit actually takesthe county
to process the Medi-Cal application, whichever islonger.

(3) During the reasonable opportunity period under paragraph
(2), the county department shall processthe applicant’s application
for medical assistance in a manner that conforms to its normal
processing procedures and timeframes.

(h) (1) The county department shall grant only the Medi-Cal
benefits set forth in subdivision (d) of this section or in Section
14007.65, 14007.7, or 14007.8 to any individua who, after 30
calendar days or the time it actually takes the county to process
the Medi-Cal application, whichever islonger, hasfailed to submit
documents constituting reasonable evidence indicating a
satisfactory immigration status for Medi-Cal purposes, or who is
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reported by the United States Citizenship and Immigration Services
to lack a satisfactory immigration status for Medi-Cal purposes.

(2) If a person who is not a citizen or national of the United
States has been receiving Medi-Cal benefits based on eligibility
established prior to the effective date of this section and that
individual, upon redetermination of eligibility for benefits, fails
to submit documents constituting reasonable evidence indicating
asatisfactory immigration statusfor Medi-Cal purposes, the county
department shall discontinue the Medi-Cal benefits, except for the
care and services set forth in subdivision (d) of this section or in
Section 14007.65, 14007.7, or 14007.8. The county department
shall provide adequate notice to the individual of any adverse
action and shall accord the individual an opportunity for a fair
hearing if the individual requests one.

(i) To the extent permitted by federa law and regulations, a
person who isnot acitizen or national of the United States applying
for services under subdivisions (b) and (c) shall be granted
eligibility for the scope of servicesto which they would otherwise
be entitled if, at the time the county department makes the
determination about their eligibility, the person meetseither of the
following requirements:

(1) The person has not had a reasonable opportunity to submit
documents constituting reasonabl e evidence indicating satisfactory
immigration status.

(2) The person has provided documents constituting reasonable
evidence indicating a satisfactory immigration status, but the
county department has not received timely verification of the
person’s immigration status from the United States Citizenship
and Immigration Services.

(3) The verification process shall protect the privacy of al
participants. A person’s immigration status shall be subject to
verification by the United States Citizenship and Immigration
Services, to the extent required for receipt of federal financial
participation in the Medi-Cal program.

() If a person does not declare status as a lawful permanent
resident or person permanently residing under color of law, or as
aperson legalized under Section 210, 210A, or 245A of the federal
Immigration and Nationality Act (Public Law 82-414), Medi-Cal
coverage under subdivision (d) of this section or in Section
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14007.65, 14007.7, or 14007.8 shall be provided to the individual
if they are otherwise ligible.

(k) If a person subject to this section is not fluent in English,
the county department shall provide an understandabl e explanation
of the requirements of this section in a language in which the
person is fluent.

(1) No sooner than July 1, 2026, al individuals described in
subdivisions (c) and (d) who are 19 years of age or older shall not
be eligible for dental services set forth in this chapter, except for
the treatment of an emergency medical condition and medical care
directly related to the emergency, as defined in federal law.

(m) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the State Department of Health Care Services may implement,
interpret, or make specific this section, in whole or in part, by
means of plan or county letter, information notices, plan or provider
bulletins, or other similar instructions, without taking any further
regulatory action.

(n) Subdivisions(e) and (1) shall beimplemented only after the
director determines, and communicates in writing to the
Department of Finance, that systems have been programmed for
implementation.

SEC. 74. Section 14007.65 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14007.65. (a) Personswho are not citizens or nationals of the
United States who were receiving long-term care services under
the authority of subdivision (f) of Section 1 of Chapter 1441 of
the Statutes of 1988 on the day prior to the effective date of this
section shall continue to receive those long-term care services.

(b) On or after the effective date of this section, any applicant
who is not lawfully present in the United States, who is otherwise
eligible for Medi-Ca services, but who does not meet the
requirements under subdivision (b) of Section 14007.5, would be
eligible to receive federally reimbursable long-term care services
pursuant to the Medicaid program provided for pursuant to Title
19 of thefederal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seq.),
shall be €eligible to receive long-term care services to the extent
that funding ismade availablefor this purposein the annual Budget
Act. In no event shall expenditures for this program exceed the
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amount necessary to serve 110 percent of the 19992000 estimated
eligible population without further authorization by the Legisature.

SEC. 75. Section 14007.8 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

14007.8. (a) (1) An individual who is 25 years of age or
younger, and who does not have satisfactory immigration status
or isunableto establish satisfactory immigration status as required
by Section 14011.2, shall bedligiblefor thefull scope of Medi-Cal
benefits, if they are otherwise eligible for benefits under this
chapter.

(2) (A) After the director determines, and communicates that
determination in writing to the Department of Finance, that systems
have been programmed for implementation of this subparagraph,
but no sooner than May 1, 2022, an individual who is 50 years of
age or older, and who does not have satisfactory immigration status
or isunableto establish satisfactory immigration status as required
by Section 14011.2, shall beligiblefor the full scope of Medi-Cal
benefits, if they are otherwise eligible for benefits under this
chapter.

(B) After the director determines, and communicates that
determination in writing to the Department of Finance, that systems
have been programmed for implementation of this subparagraph,
but no later than January 1, 2024, an individual who is 26 to 49
years of age, inclusive, and who does not have satisfactory
immigration status asrequired by Section 14011.2, shall beeligible
for the full scope of Medi-Cal benefits, if they are otherwise
eligible for benefits under this chapter.

(b) No sooner than January 1, 2026, an individual who is 19
years of age or older, who does not have satisfactory immigration
status as required by Section 14011.2, who is otherwise eligible
for Medi-Cal services pursuant to subdivision (d) of Section
14007.5, who applies for Medi-Cal on or after January 1, 2026,
shall only be eligible for medically necessary pregnancy-related
services, and care and services necessary for the treatment of an
emergency medical condition and medical care directly related to
the emergency, as defined in federal law.

(¢) (1) No sooner than January 1, 2026, if an individual
described in subdivision (&) who is 19 years of age or older loses
eligibility for full-scope Medi-Cal on or after January 1, 2026, the
individual shall only be €eligible for medically necessary
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pregnancy-related services, and care and services necessary for
the treatment of an emergency medical condition and medical care
directly related to the emergency, as defined in federal law.

(2) No sooner than January 1, 2026, notwithstanding paragraph
(1), if anindividual described in subdivision (a) who is 19 years
of age or older loses dligibility for full-scope Medi-Ca while
pregnant, the individual shall remain eligible for full-scope
Medi-Cal throughout the pregnancy and for 12 months after the
pregnancy ends.

(3) Notwithstanding subdivision (b), an individual who is 19
years of age or older, who does not have satisfactory immigration
status as required by Section 14011.2, who was enrolled in
full-scope Medi-Cal and was not pregnant, but loses coverage for
full-scope Medi-Cal, shall be eligible to reenroll in full-scope
Medi-Cal within three months from the date of disenrollment for
full-scope Medi-Cal, pregnancy-only Medi-Cal, or postpartum
Medi-Cal. Repayment of outstanding premium balances prior to
the initiation of the three-month cure period shall be a condition
of reenrollment under this subdivision for individuals disenrolled
from Medi-Cal due to nonpayment of premiums.

(d) The department shall provide monthly updates to the
appropriate policy and fiscal committees of the L egislature on the
status of the implementation of this section.

(e) To the extent permitted by state and federa law, an
individual eligiblefor full-scope Medi-Cal pursuant to subdivision
(a) shall be required to enroll in a Medi-Cal managed care health
plan. Enrollment in aMedi-Cal managed care health plan shall not
preclude a beneficiary from being enrolled in any other children’s
Medi-Cal specialty program that they would otherwise be eligible
for.

() (1) The department shall maximize federal financial
participation in implementing this section to the extent alowable.
For purposes of implementing this section, the department shall
clam federal financia participation to the extent that the
department determines it is available.

(2) To the extent that federal financial participation is
unavailable, the department shall implement this section using
state funds appropriated for this purpose.
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(g9) Thissection shall beimplemented only to the extent itisin
compliance with Section 1621(d) of Title 8 of the United States
Code.

(h) (1) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regulatory action, shall
implement, interpret, or make specific this section by means of
all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or similar
instructions until the time any necessary regulations are adopted.
Thereafter, the department shall adopt regulations in accordance
with the requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

(2) Notwithstanding Section 10231.5 of the Government Code,
the department shall provide a status report to the Legislature on
a semiannual basis, in compliance with Section 9795 of the
Government Code, until regulations have been adopted.

(i) Inimplementing this section, the department may contract,
as necessary, on abid or nonbid basis. This subdivision establishes
an accelerated processfor issuing contracts pursuant to this section.
Those contracts, and any other contracts entered into pursuant to
this subdivision, may be on a noncompetitive bid basis and shall
be exempt from both of the following:

(1) Part 2 (commencing with Section 10100) of Division 2 of
the Public Contract Code and any policies, procedures, or
regul ations authorized by that part.

(2) Review or approva of contracts by the Department of
General Services.

() (1) No sooner than July 1, 2026, except for individual s under
19 years of age, individuals over 59 years of age, and pregnant
women, all individuals described in subdivision (@) shall be
required to pay a monthly premium as a condition of eligibility
for Medi-Cal benefits, if they are otherwise eligible for benefits
under this chapter.

(2) Monthly premiumsimposed under this section shall bethirty
dollars ($30) per beneficiary.

(3 Anindividual described in paragraph (1), after no morethan
90 days of nonpayment of the monthly premium, will only be
eligible for medically necessary pregnancy-related services, and
care and services necessary for the treatment of an emergency
medical condition and medical care directly related to the
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emergency, as defined in federal law. All outstanding premium
balances shall be paid in full asacondition of continued eligibility
for full-scope Medi-Cal coverage.

(k) No sooner than July 1, 2026, and notwithstanding
subdivision (a) and paragraph (2) of subdivision (c), an individual
who is 19 years of age or older, who is €eligible for Medi-Cal
benefits pursuant to subdivision (a), shall not be eligiblefor dental
services set forth in this chapter, except for the treatment of an
emergency medical condition and medical care directly related to
the emergency, as defined in federal law.

(1) Subdivisions (b), (c), (j), and (k) shall be implemented only
after the director determines, and communicates in writing to the
Department of Finance, that systems have been programmed for
implementation.

SEC. 76. Section 14007.9 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as amended by Section 99 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023,
isrepeaed.

SEC. 77. Section 14007.9 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as added by Section 100 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023, is
repealed.

SEC. 78. Section 14007.9 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as amended by Section 101 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023,
is amended to read:

14007.9. (@) (1) Thedepartment shall adopt the option made
available under Section 1902(a)(10)(A)(ii)(XI1I1) of the federal
Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396a(a)(10)(A)(iD(XI1IT)). In
order to be eligible for benefits under this section, an individual
shall be required to meet al of the following requirements:

(A) The individual’s net countable income is less than 250
percent of the federal poverty level for one person or, if the
deeming of spousal income applies to the individual, the
individual’s net countable income is less than 250 percent of the
federal poverty level for two persons.

(B) Theindividual isdisabled under Titlell of thefederal Socia
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 401 et seq.), Title XV of the federal
Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1381 et seg.), or Section
1902(v) of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396a(Vv)). Anindividual shall be determined to be eligible under
this section without regard to their ability to engage in, or actual
engagement in, substantial gainful activity, as defined in Section
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223(d)(4) of the federa Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
423(d)(4)).

(C) The individual’s countable resources shall not exceed the
maximum level s established in subdivision (&) of Section 14005.62.
The determination of countable resources shall follow the
methodology used under Title XV of the federal Social Security
Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1381 et seq.), as applicable.

(2) To the extent federal financia participation is available, an
individual otherwise eligible under this section, but who is
temporarily unemployed, may elect to remain on Medi-Cal under
this section for up to 26 weeks, provided the individual continues
to pay premiums during the temporary period of unemployment,
for coverage periods in which premiums are imposed.

(b) (1) Countable income shall be determined under Section
1612 of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1382a),
except that theindividual’ sdisability income, including all federal
and state disability benefits and private disability insurance, shall
be exempted. Resources excluded under Section 1613 of thefederd
Socia Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1382b) shall be disregarded.

(2) Resourcesin theform of employer or individual retirement
arrangements authorized under the Internal Revenue Code shall
be exempted as authorized by Section 1902(r) of thefederal Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396a(r)).

(3 (A) For the purposesof calculating countableincome under
this section, an income exemption shall be applied as necessary
to adjust the income standard so that it is the same as the income
standard that was in place on May 1, 20009.

(B) This additional income exemption shall cease to be
implemented when the SSI/SSP program payment levelsincrease
beyond those in effect on May 1, 2009.

(C) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department shall implement this paragraph by means of an
all-county letter or similar instruction without taking regulatory
action.

(4) Retained earned income of an eligible individual who is
receiving health care benefits under this section shall be considered
an exempt resource when held in a separately identifiable account
and not commingled with other resources, as authorized by Section
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1902(r)(2) of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396a(r)(2)).

(5) Socia security disability income that converts to social
security retirement income upon the retirement of an individual,
including any increases in the amount of that income, shall be
exempt. The department shall submit a state plan amendment for
this specific exemption, and the exemption shall be implemented
only if, and to the extent that, the state plan amendment is
approved.

(c) All resources exempted pursuant to paragraph (2) of
subdivision (b) for an individual who is receiving health care
benefits under this section shall continue to be exempt under any
other Medi-Cal program that is subject to Section 1902(r)(2) of
thefederal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396a(r)(2)) under
which the beneficiary later becomes eligiblefor medical assistance
wherethat eligibility is based on age, blindness, or disability. The
department shall submit a state plan amendment for this specific
exemption, and the exemption shall be implemented only if, and
to the extent that, the state plan amendment is approved.

(d) After an individual is determined eligible for Medi-Cal
benefits under this section, the individual’s countable income, as
determined under Section 1612 of the federal Social Security Act
(42 U.S.C. Sec. 1382a), shall be used to determine the amount of
the individua’s required premium payment, as described in
subdivision (f), when applicable. Disability income and converted
retirement income made exempt under paragraphs (1) and (5),
respectively, of subdivision (b) for eigibility purposes shall be
considered countable income for purposes of determining the
amount of the required premium payment.

(e) Medi-Cal benefits provided under this chapter pursuant to
this section shall be available in the same amount, duration, and
scope as those benefits are available for persons who are eligible
for Medi-Cal benefits as categorically needy persons and as
specified in Section 14007.5.

() Individualseligiblefor Medi-Cal benefits under this section
shall be subject to the payment of premiums determined under this
subdivision, except as provided in subdivision (k). Each individual
shall pay a monthly premium that is equal to 5 percent of their
individual countable income, as described in subdivision (d), or if
the deeming of spousal income of an ineligible spouse applies, a
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monthly premium that is equal to 5 percent of the total countable
income of both spouses, except that the minimum premium
payment per eligible individual shall be twenty dollars ($20) per
month, and the maximum premium payment per eligibleindividual
shall be two hundred fifty dollars ($250) per month.

(9) Inorder toimplement the collection of premiumsunder this
section, the department may develop and execute a contract with
apublic or private entity to collect premiums, or may amend any
existing or future premium-collection contract that it has executed.
Notwithstanding any other law, any contract developed and
executed or amended pursuant to this subdivision is exempt from
the approval of the Director of General Services and from the
Public Contract Code.

(h) Notwithstanding the rulemaking provisions of Chapter 3.5
(commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title
2 of the Government Code, the department shall implement,
without taking any regulatory action, this section by means of an
al-county letter or similar instruction. Thereafter, the department
shall adopt regulations in accordance with the requirements of
Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division
3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

(i) Notwithstanding any other law, this section shal be
implemented only if, and to the extent that, the department
determinesthat federal financial participation isavailable pursuant
to Title X1X of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396 et seq.) and only to the extent that the department seeks and
obtains approval of all necessary Medicaid state plan amendments.

() If any provision of this section, or its application, is held
invalid by a fina judicia determination, it shall cease to be
implemented. A determination of invalidity shall not affect other
provisions or applications of this section that can be given effect
without the implementation of theinvalid provision or application.

(k) (1) Effective duly 1, 2022, to the extent allowable under
federal law, and notwithstanding the provisions of this section to
the contrary, the department may elect not to impose premiums
onindividualseligible under this section for an applicable coverage
period.

(2) If the department elects to not impose premiums for an
applicable coverage period pursuant to paragraph (1) or elects to
reinstate such premiums for a subsequent coverage period, the
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department shall specify that election in the published Medi-Cal
Local Assistance Estimate for the impacted state fiscal year or
years, subject to appropriation by the annual Budget Act.

(1) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 79. Section 14007.9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
as added by Section 102 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023, is
amended to read:

14007.9. (a) (1) Thedepartment shall adopt the option made
available under Section 1902(a)(10)(A)(ii))(XII1) of the federa
Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396a(a)(10)(A)(i))(X11)). In
order to be eligible for benefits under this section, an individual
shall be required to meet all of the following requirements:

(A) The individua’s net countable income is less than 250
percent of the federal poverty level for one person or, if the
deeming of spousal income applies to the individual, the
individual’s net countable income is less than 250 percent of the
federal poverty level for two persons.

(B) Theindividual isdisabled under Titlell of thefederal Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 401 et seq.), Title XV1 of the federa
Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1381 et seg.), or Section
1902(v) of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396a(v)). Anindividual shall be determined to be eligible under
this section without regard to their ability to engage in, or actual
engagement in, substantial gainful activity, as defined in Section
223(d)(4) of the federa Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
423(d)(4)).

(C) Resources that are not counted as income shall not be
included in determinations of eligibility.

(2) To the extent federal financial participation is available, an
individual otherwise eligible under this section, but who is
temporarily unemployed, may elect to remain on Medi-Cal under
this section for up to 26 weeks, provided the individual continues
to pay premiums during the temporary period of unemployment,
for coverage periods in which premiums are imposed.

(b) Countable income shall be determined under Section 1612
of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1382a), except
that the individual’s disability income, including all federal and
state disability benefits and private disability insurance, shall be
exempted.
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(1) For the purposesof calculating countable income under this
section, an income exemption shall be applied as necessary to
adjust the income standard so that it is the same as the income
standard that was in place on May 1, 2009.

(2) This additiona income exemption shal cease to be
implemented when the SSI/SSP program payment levelsincrease
beyond those in effect on May 1, 2009.

(3) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department shall implement this paragraph by means of an
all-county letter or similar instruction without taking regulatory
action.

(4) Socia security disability income that converts to social
security retirement income upon the retirement of an individual,
including any increases in the amount of that income, shall be
exempt. The department shall submit a state plan amendment for
this specific exemption, and the exemption shall be implemented
only if, and to the extent that, the state plan amendment is
approved.

(c) After an individual is determined eligible for Medi-Cal
benefits under this section, the individual’s countable income, as
determined under Section 1612 of the federal Social Security Act
(42 U.S.C. Sec. 1382a), shall be used to determine the amount of
the individua’s required premium payment, as described in
subdivision (f), when applicable. Disability income and converted
retirement income made exempt under paragraphs (1) and (3),
respectively, of subdivision (b) for eigibility purposes shall be
considered countable income for purposes of determining the
amount of the required premium payment.

(d) Medi-Cal benefits provided under this chapter pursuant to
this section shall be available in the same amount, duration, and
scope as those benefits are available for persons who are eligible
for Medi-Cal benefits as categorically needy persons and as
specified in Section 14007.5.

() (1) Individuals €eligible for Medi-Cal benefits under this
section shall be subject to the payment of premiums determined
under this subdivision, except as provided in subdivision (m). Each
individual shall pay a monthly premium that is equal to 5 percent
of their individual countable income, as described in subdivision
(c), or if the deeming of spousal income of an ineligible spouse

97



—125— AB 116

applies, amonthly premium that is equal to 5 percent of the total
countable income of both spouses, except that the minimum
premium payment per eligible individual shall be twenty dollars
($20) per month, and the maximum premium payment per eligible
individual shall be two hundred fifty dollars ($250) per month.
(2) The amendments made to this subdivision by Chapter 282
of the Statutes of 2009 shall be implemented no later than 90 days
after the operative date specified in paragraph (2) of subdivision

() Inorder toimplement the collection of premiums under this
section, the department may develop and execute a contract with
apublic or private entity to collect premiums, or may amend any
existing or future premium-collection contract that it has executed.
Notwithstanding any other law, any contract developed and
executed or amended pursuant to this subdivision is exempt from
the approval of the Director of General Services and from the
Public Contract Code.

(9) Notwithstanding the rulemaking provisions of Chapter 3.5
(commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title
2 of the Government Code, the department shall implement,
without taking any regulatory action, this section by means of an
all-county letter or similar instruction. Thereafter, the department
shall adopt regulations in accordance with the requirements of
Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division
3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

(h) Notwithstanding any other law, this section shall be
implemented only if, and to the extent that, the department
determinesthat federal financial participation isavailable pursuant
to Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396 et seq.) and only to the extent that the department seeks and
obtains approval of all necessary Medicaid state plan amendments.

(i) If any provision of this section, or its application, is held
invalid by a final judicia determination, it shall cease to be
implemented. A determination of invalidity shall not affect other
provisions or applications of this section that can be given effect
without the implementation of theinvalid provision or application.

() (1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), the amendments
made to this section by Chapter 282 of the Statutes of 2009 shall
not become operative until 30 days after the date that the increase
in the state's federal medical assistance percentage (FMAP)
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pursuant to the federal American Recovery and Reinvestment Act
of 2009 (Public Law 111-5) is no longer available under that act
or any extension of that act.

(2) Theamendments made to this section by Chapter 282 of the
Statutes of 2009 contained in subdivisions (c) and (e) shall not
become operative until 30 days after the date that the director
executes a declaration stating that the implementation of
subdivisions (c) and (e) will not jeopardize the state’s ability to
receive federa financial participation under the federal Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act (Public Law 111-148) or any
amendment or extension of that act, any increase in the FMAP
available on or after October 1, 2008, or any additional federal
funds that the director, in consultation with the Department of
Finance, determines would be advantageous to the state.

(3) If at any time the director determines that the statement in
the declaration executed pursuant to paragraph (2) may no longer
be accurate, the director shall give notice to the Joint Legidative
Budget Committee and to the Department of Finance. After giving
notice, the amendments made to this section by Chapter 282 of
the Statutes of 2009 contained in subdivisions (c) and (e) shall
become inoperative on the date that the director executes a
declaration stating that the department has determined, in
consultation with the Department of Finance, that it is necessary
to cease to implement subdivisions (c) and (€) in order to receive
federal financial participation, any increaseinthe FMAP available
on or after October 1, 2008, or any additional federal funds that
the director, in consultation with the Department of Finance, has
determined would be advantageous to the state, in which case,
subdivision (c) of this section, as stated by Section 32 of Chapter
5 of the Fourth Extraordinary Session of the Statutes of 2009, shall
be operative.

(4) The director shall post a declaration made pursuant to
paragraph (2) or (3) on the department’s internet website and the
director shall send the declaration to the Secretary of State, the
Secretary of the Senate, the Chief Clerk of the Assembly, and the
Legidlative Counsel.

(k) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement subdivision (j) by means of
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all-county letters or similar instruction, without taking regulatory
action.

() (1) Effective July 1, 2022, to the extent allowable under
federal law, and notwithstanding the provisions of this section to
the contrary, the department may elect not to impose premiums
onindividualseligible under this section for an applicable coverage
period.

(2) If the department elects to not impose premiums for an
applicable coverage period pursuant to paragraph (1) or elects to
reinstate such premiums for a subsequent coverage period, the
department shall specify that election in the published Medi-Cal
Local Assistance Estimate for the impacted state fiscal year or
years, subject to appropriation by the annual Budget Act.

(m) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 80. Section 14009.6 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as amended by Section 104 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023,
isamended to read:

14009.6. (a) Asaresult of providing medical assistance for
home and facility careto anindividual, the state shall, by operation
of law, become aremainder beneficiary, to the extent required by
Section 1917(e) of thefederal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396p(e)), of annuities purchased in whole or in part by the
individual or the individual’s spouse in which the individual or
the individual’s spouse is an annuitant, except as provided in
Section 14009.7, unless the individual or the individual’s spouse
notifies the department in writing that they prohibit the state from
acquiring a remainder interest in their annuity, in which case
subdivision (d) shall apply.

(b) Thissection shall only apply to the following annuities:

(1) Those purchased on or after February 8, 2006.

(2) Those purchased before February 8, 2006, and subjected to
atransaction that occurred on or after February 8, 2006.

(A) For the purposes of this paragraph, “transaction” includes,
but is not limited to, any action taken by the individual or the
individual’s spouse that changes the course of payments to be
made by the annuity or the treatment of the income or principal
of the annuity.

(B) For the purpose of this paragraph, “transaction” shall not
include any of the following:
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(i) Routine changes and automatic events that do not require
any action or decision on or after February 8, 2006.

(if) Changes that occur based on the terms of the annuity that
existed prior to February 8, 2006, and that do not require adecision,
election, or action to take effect.

(iif) Changes that are beyond the control of the individual or
the individual’s spouse.

(c) Any provisionin any annuity subject to this section that has
the effect of restricting theright of the state to become aremainder
beneficiary isvoid.

(d) If an individual or the individual’s spouse notifies the
department in writing that they prohibit the state from acquiring
aremainder interest in their annuity, the purchase of the annuity
shall be treated as the transfer of an asset for less than fair market
value that is subject to Section 14015.

() (1) When the state becomes aware of an annuity in which
it has acquired a remainder interest, the department shall notify
theissuer of the annuity of the state’s acquisition of its remainder
beneficiary interest.

(2) The issuer of the annuity shall, upon notification by the
department, immediately inform the department of the amount of
income and principal being withdrawn from the annuity as of the
date of the individual’s disclosure of the annuity.

(3) The issuer of the annuity shall, upon request by the
department or any agent of the department, immediately disclose
to the department the amount of income and principal being
withdrawn from the annuity.

(4) The issuer of the annuity shall immediately notify the
department if there is any change in either of the following:

(A) The amount of income or principal being withdrawn from
that annuity.

(B) The named beneficiaries of the annuity.

(f) Any moneys received by the state pursuant to this section
shall be deposited into the General Fund.

(g) This section shall be implemented pursuant to the
requirements of Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42
U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seg.) and any regul ations adopted pursuant to
that act, and only to the extent that federal financial participation
isavailable.
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(h) To the extent that regulations are necessary to implement
this section, the department shall promul gate regulations using the
nonemergency regulatory process described in Article 5
(commencing with Section 11346) of Chapter 3.5 of Part 1 of
Division 3 of the Government Code.

(i) Itistheintent of the Legidature that the provisions of this
section shall apply prospectively to any individual to whom the
act applies commencing from the date regul ations adopted pursuant
to this act are filed with the Secretary of State.

()) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 81. Section 14009.6 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
as added by Section 105 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023, is
amended to read:

14009.6. (a) Asaresult of providing medical assistance for
home and facility careto anindividual, the state shall, by operation
of law, become aremainder beneficiary, to the extent required by
Section 1917(e) of thefederal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396p(e)), of annuities purchased in whole or in part by the
individual or the individual’s spouse in which the individua or
the individual’s spouse is an annuitant, except as provided in
Section 14009.7, unless the individual or the individual’s spouse
notifies the department in writing that they prohibit the state from
acquiring aremainder interest in their annuity.

(b) Thissection shall only apply to the following annuities:

(1) Those purchased on or after February 8, 2006.

(2) Those purchased before February 8, 2006, and subjected to
atransaction that occurred on or after February 8, 2006.

(A) For the purposes of this paragraph, “transaction” includes,
but is not limited to, any action taken by the individual or the
individual’s spouse that changes the course of payments to be
made by the annuity or the treatment of the income or principal
of the annuity.

(B) For the purpose of this paragraph, “transaction” shall not
include any of the following:

(i) Routine changes and automatic events that do not require
any action or decision on or after February 8, 2006.

(i) Changes that occur based on the terms of the annuity that
existed prior to February 8, 2006, and that do not require adecision,
election, or action to take effect.
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(ii1) Changes that are beyond the control of the individual or
the individual’s spouse.

(c) Any provisioninany annuity subject to this section that has
the effect of restricting theright of the state to become aremainder
beneficiary isvoid.

(d) (1) When the state becomes aware of an annuity in which
it has acquired a remainder interest, the department shall notify
the issuer of the annuity of the state’s acquisition of its remainder
beneficiary interest.

(2) The issuer of the annuity shall, upon notification by the
department, immediately inform the department of the amount of
income and principal being withdrawn from the annuity as of the
date of the individual’s disclosure of the annuity.

(3) The issuer of the annuity shall, upon request by the
department or any agent of the department, immediately disclose
to the department the amount of income and principal being
withdrawn from the annuity.

(4) The issuer of the annuity shall immediately notify the
department if there is any change in either of the following:

(A) The amount of income or principal being withdrawn from
that annuity.

(B) The named beneficiaries of the annuity.

(e) Any moneys received by the state pursuant to this section
shall be deposited into the General Fund.

(f) This section shall be implemented pursuant to the
requirements of Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42
U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seg.) and any regul ations adopted pursuant to
that act, and only to the extent that federal financial participation
isavailable.

(g) To the extent that regulations are necessary to implement
this section, the department shall promul gate regulations using the
nonemergency regulatory process described in Article 5
(commencing with Section 11346) of Chapter 3.5 of Part 1 of
Division 3 of the Government Code.

(h) Itistheintent of the Legidature that the provisions of this
section shall apply prospectively to any individual to whom the
act applies commencing from the date regul ations adopted pursuant
to this act are filed with the Secretary of State.

(i) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.
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SEC. 82. Section 14009.7 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as amended by Section 106 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023,
isamended to read:

14009.7. (a) If an annuity is considered part or al of the
community spouse resource allowance allowed under subdivision
(c) of Section 14006, the state shall only become a remainder
beneficiary of that portion of the annuity that is not a part of that
community spouse resource allowance.

(b) The state shall not become a remainder beneficiary of an
annuity that is any of the following:

(1) Purchased by a community spouse with resources of the
community spouse during the continuous period in which the
individual is receiving medical assistance for home and facility
care and after the month in which the individua is determined
eligible for these benefits.

(2) Contained in a retirement plan qualified under Title 26 of
the United States Code, established by an employer or an
individual, including, but not limited to, an Individual Retirement
Annuity or Account (IRA), Roth IRA, or Keogh fund.

(3) Anannuity that isall of the following:

(A) Theannuity isirrevocable and nonassignable.

(B) The annuity isactuarially sound.

(C) Theannuity providesfor paymentsin equal amountsduring
the term of the annuity, with no deferral and no balloon payments
made from the annuity.

(¢) Theindividua or the community spouse, or both, shall bear
the burden of demonstrating that the requirements of this section
that limit the state’s right to become a remainder beneficiary, as
described in Section 14009.6, are met.

(d) This section shal be implemented pursuant to the
requirements of Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42
U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seg.) and any regul ations adopted pursuant to
that act, and only to the extent that federal financial participation
isavailable.

(e) To the extent that regulations are necessary to implement
this section, the department shall promulgate regulations using the
nonemergency regulatory process described in Article 5
(commencing with Section 11346) of Chapter 3.5 of Part 1 of
Division 3 of the Government Code.
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(f) Itistheintent of the Legidlature that the provisions of this
section shall apply prospectively to any individual to whom the
act applies commencing from the date regul ations adopted pursuant
to this act are filed with the Secretary of State.

(g) Thissection shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 83. Section 14009.7 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as added by Section 107 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023, is
amended to read:

14009.7. (8) Thestateshall not becomearemainder beneficiary
of an annuity that is any of the following:

(1) Purchased by a community spouse with resources of the
community spouse before or during the continuous period inwhich
theindividual isreceiving medical assistance for home and facility
care and after the month in which the individua is determined
eligible for these benefits.

(2) Contained in a retirement plan qualified under Title 26 of
the United States Code, established by an employer or an
individual, including, but not limited to, an Individual Retirement
Annuity or Account (IRA), Roth IRA, or Keogh fund.

(3) Anannuity that isall of the following:

(A) Theannuity isirrevocable and nonassignable.

(B) The annuity isactuarially sound.

(C) Theannuity providesfor paymentsin equal amountsduring
the term of the annuity, with no deferral and no balloon payments
made from the annuity.

(b) Theindividual or the community spouse, or both, shall bear
the burden of demonstrating that the requirements of this section
that limit the state’s right to become a remainder beneficiary, as
described in Section 14009.6, are met.

(c) This section shall be implemented pursuant to the
requirements of Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42
U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seg.) and any regul ations adopted pursuant to
that act, and only to the extent that federal financial participation
isavailable.

(d) To the extent that regulations are necessary to implement
this section, the department shall promulgate regulations using the
nonemergency regulatory process described in Article 5
(commencing with Section 11346) of Chapter 3.5 of Part 1 of
Division 3 of the Government Code.
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(e) Itistheintent of the Legislature that the provisions of this
section shall apply prospectively to any individual to whom the
act applies commencing from the date regul ations adopted pursuant
to this act are filed with the Secretary of State.

(f) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 84. Section 14011 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
as amended by Section 108 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023,
is amended to read:

14011. (a) An applicant who is not a recipient of aid under
Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 11200) or Chapter 3
(commencing with Section 12000) shall be required to file an
affirmation setting forth facts about their annual income and other
resources and qualifications for eigibility as may be required by
the department. Those statements shall be on forms prescribed by
the department.

(b) Totheextent permitted by federal law, eligibility for medical
assistance for applicants shall not be granted until the applicant or
designated representative provides independent documentation
verifying statements of the following:

(1) Grossincome by type and source.

(2) Income amounts withheld for taxes.

(3) Hedth care benefits available through employment,
retirement, military service, work related injuries or settlements
from prior injuries.

(4) Employee retirement contributions, and other employee
benefit contributions, deductible expenses for maintenance or
improvement of income-producing property and status and value
of property owned, other than property exempt under Section
14006. The director may prescribe thoseitems of exempt property
that the director deems should be verified asto status and value in
order to reasonably assure a correct designation of those items as
exempt.

(c) The verification requirements of subdivision (b) apply to
income, income deductions and property both of applicants for
medical assistance, excluding applicantsfor public assistance, and
to personswhoseincome, income deductions, expenses or property
holdings must be considered in determining the applicant’s
eligibility and spend down of excessincome.

97



AB 116 —134—

(d) A determination of éigibility and spend down of excess
income may be extended beyond otherwise prescribed timeframes
if, in the county department’s judgment, and subject to standards
of the director, the applicant or designated representative has good
causefor failureto provide the required verification and continues
to make a good faith effort to provide verification.

(e) To the extent permitted by federal law, in addition to the
other verification requirements of this section, acounty department
may require verification of any other applicant statements, or
conduct a full and complete investigation of the statements,
whenever a verification or investigation is warranted in the
judgment of the county department.

(f) If documentation is unavailable, as defined in regulations
promulgated by the department, the applicant’s signed statement
asto the value or amount shall be deemed to constitute verification.

(g) Thissection shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 85. Section 14011 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
as added by Section 109 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023, is
amended to read:

14011. (a) An applicant who is not a recipient of aid under
Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 11200) or Chapter 3
(commencing with Section 12000) shall be required to file an
affirmation setting forth facts about their annual income and
qualificationsfor eligibility asmay berequired by the department.
Those statements shall be on forms prescribed by the department.

(b) Totheextent permitted by federal law, eligibility for medical
assistance for applicants shall not be granted until the applicant or
designated representative provides independent documentation
verifying statements of all of the following:

(1) Grossincome by type and source.

(2) Income amounts withheld for taxes.

(3) Hedth care benefits available through employment,
retirement, military service, work-related injuries or settlements
from prior injuries.

(c) The verification requirements of subdivision (b) apply to
income and income deductions of applicantsfor medical assistance,
excluding applicants for public assistance, and to persons whose
income, income deductions, or expenses must be considered in
determining the applicant’s eligibility and spend down of excess
income.
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(d) A determination of éigibility and spend down of excess
income may be extended beyond otherwise prescribed timeframes
if, in the county department’s judgment, and subject to standards
of the director, the applicant or designated representative has good
causefor failureto provide the required verification and continues
to make a good faith effort to provide verification.

(e) To the extent permitted by federal law, in addition to the
other verification requirements of this section, acounty department
may require verification of any other applicant statements, or
conduct a full and complete investigation of the statements,
whenever a verification or investigation is warranted in the
judgment of the county department.

(f) If documentation is unavailable, as defined in regulations
promulgated by the department, the applicant’s signed statement
asto the value or amount shall be deemed to constitute verification.

(g) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, isrepealed.

SEC. 86. Section 14013.3 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as amended by Section 113 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023,
isamended to read:

14013.3. (a) When determining whether an individua is
eligible for Medi-Ca benefits, the department shall verify the
accuracy of the information identified in this section that is
provided as a part of the application or redetermination processin
conformity with this section.

(b) Before requesting additional verification from an applicant
or beneficiary for information they provide as part of the
application or redetermination process, the department shall obtain
information about an individua that is available electronically
from other state and federal agenciesand programsin determining
an individua’s eligibility for Medi-Cal benefits or for potential
eligibility for an insurance affordability program offered through
the California Health Benefit Exchange established pursuant to
Title 22 (commencing with Section 100500) of the Government
Code. Needed information shall be obtained from the following
sources, including any other source the department determinesis
useful:

(1) Information related to wages, net earnings from
self-employment, unearned income, and resourcesfrom any of the
following:
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(A) The State Wage Information Collection Agency.

(B) Thefedera Internal Revenue Service.

(C) Thefederal Social Security Administration.

(D) The Employment Devel opment Department.

(E) The state administered supplementary payment program
under Section 1382e of Title 42 of the United States Code.

(F) Any state program administered under a plan approved under
Titles |, X, X1V, or XVI of the federal Social Security Act.

(2) Information related to eligibility or enrollment from any of
the following:

(A) TheCalFresh program pursuant to Chapter 10 (commencing
with Section 18900) of Part 6.

(B) The CdWORKSs program.

(C) The state's children’s health insurance program under Title
XX of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. 1397aaet seq.).

(D) The Cdifornia Health Benefit Exchange established
pursuant to Title 22 (commencing with Section 100500) of the
Government Code.

(E) Theeectronic service established in accordance with Section
435.949 of Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

(©) (1) If the income information obtained by the department
pursuant to subdivision (b) is reasonably compatible with the
information provided by or on behalf of the individua, the
department shall accept the information provided by or on behalf
of the individual as being accurate.

(2) If theincome information obtained by the department is not
reasonably compatible with the information provided by or on
behalf of the individual, the department shall require that the
individual provide additional information that reasonably explains
the discrepancy.

(3) For the purposes of this subdivision, income information
obtained by the department is reasonably compatible with
information provided by or on behalf of anindividual if any of the
following conditions are met:

(A) Both state that the individual’s income is above the
applicableincome standard or other relevant income threshold for
eligibility.

(B) Both state that the individua’s income is at or below the
applicableincome standard or other relevant income threshold for
eligibility.
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(C) Theinformation provided by or on behalf of the individual
states that the individual’s income is above, and the information
obtained by the department states that the individual’s income is
at or below, the applicable income standard or other relevant
income threshold for eligibility.

(4) If subparagraph (C) of paragraph (3) applies, theindividual
shall be informed that the income information provided by them
was higher than the information that was electronically verified
and that they may request a reconciliation of the difference. This
paragraph shall be implemented no later than January 1, 2015.

(d) (1) The department shall accept the attestation of the
individual regarding whether they are pregnant unless the
department hasinformation that is not reasonably compatiblewith
the attestation.

(2) If the information obtained by the department is not
reasonably compatible with the information provided by or on
behalf of the individual under paragraph (1), the department shall
require that the individual provide additional information that
reasonably explains the discrepancy.

(e) If any information not described in subdivision (c) or (d)
that is needed for an eligibility determination or redetermination
and is obtained by the department is not reasonably compatible
with the information provided by or on behalf of the individual,
the department shall require that the individual provide additional
information that reasonably explains the discrepancy.

(f) The department shall develop, and update as it is modified,
a verification plan describing the verification policies and
procedures adopted by the department to verify eigibility
information. If the department determines that any state or federal
agencies or programs not previously identified in the verification
plan are useful in determining an individua’s eligibility for
Medi-Cal benefits or for potential eigibility, for an insurance
affordability program offered through the CaliforniaHealth Benefit
Exchange, the department shall update the verification plan to
identify those additional agencies or programs. The development
and modification of the verification plan shall be undertaken in
consultation with representatives from county human services
departments, legal aid advocates, and the Legidature. This
verification plan shall conform to al federa requirements and
shall be posted on the department’s internet website.
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(g9) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regul atory action, shall
implement, interpret, or make specific this section by means of
all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or similar
instructions until the time regulations are adopted. Thereafter, the
department shall adopt regulations in accordance with the
requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of
Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

(h) Thissection shall be implemented only if, and to the extent
that, federal financial participation is available and any necessary
federal approvals have been obtained.

(i) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 87. Section 14013.3 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as added by Section 114 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023, is
amended to read:

14013.3. (@) When determining whether an individual is
eligible for Medi-Cal benefits, the department shall verify the
accuracy of the information identified in this section that is
provided as a part of the application or redetermination processin
conformity with this section.

(b) Before requesting additional verification from an applicant
or beneficiary for information they provide as part of the
application or redetermination process, the department shall obtain
information about an individual that is available electronically
from other state and federal agenciesand programsin determining
an individua’s eligibility for Medi-Cal benefits or for potential
eligibility for an insurance affordability program offered through
the California Health Benefit Exchange established pursuant to
Title 22 (commencing with Section 100500) of the Government
Code. Needed information shall be obtained from the following
sources, including any other source the department determinesis
useful:

(1) Information related to wages, net earnings from
self-employment, and unearned income from any of the following:

(A) The State Wage Information Collection Agency.

(B) Thefederal Internal Revenue Service.

(C) Thefederal Social Security Administration.

(D) The Employment Devel opment Department.
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(E) The state administered supplementary payment program
under Section 1382e of Title 42 of the United States Code.

(F) Any state program administered under aplan approved under
Titles |, X, X1V, or XVI of the federal Social Security Act.

(2) Information related to eligibility or enrollment from any of
the following:

(A) TheCalFresh program pursuant to Chapter 10 (commencing
with Section 18900) of Part 6.

(B) The CaWORKSs program.

(C) Thestate'schildren’s health insurance program under Title
XX of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. 1397aaet seq.).

(D) The Cdifornia Health Benefit Exchange established
pursuant to Title 22 (commencing with Section 100500) of the
Government Code.

(E) Theedectronic service established in accordancewith Section
435.949 of Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

(©) (1) If the income information obtained by the department
pursuant to subdivision (b) is reasonably compatible with the
information provided by or on behalf of the individual, the
department shall accept the information provided by or on behalf
of the individual as being accurate.

(2) If theincomeinformation obtained by the department is not
reasonably compatible with the information provided by or on
behalf of the individual, the department shall require that the
individual provide additional information that reasonably explains
the discrepancy.

(3) For the purposes of this subdivision, income information
obtained by the department is reasonably compatible with
information provided by or on behalf of anindividual if any of the
following conditions are met:

(A) Both state that the individual’s income is above the
applicableincome standard or other relevant income threshold for
eligibility.

(B) Both state that the individual’s income is at or below the
applicableincome standard or other relevant income threshold for
eligibility.

(C) Theinformation provided by or on behalf of the individual
states that the individual’s income is above, and the information
obtained by the department states that the individual’s income is
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at or below, the applicable income standard or other relevant
income threshold for eligibility.

(4) If subparagraph (C) of paragraph (3) applies, the individual
shall be informed that the income information provided by them
was higher than the information that was electronically verified
and that they may request a reconciliation of the difference. This
paragraph shall be implemented no later than January 1, 2015.

(d) (1) The department shall accept the attestation of the
individual regarding whether they are pregnant unless the
department hasinformation that is not reasonably compatible with
the attestation.

(2) If the information obtained by the department is not
reasonably compatible with the information provided by or on
behalf of the individual under paragraph (1), the department shall
require that the individual provide additional information that
reasonably explains the discrepancy.

(e) If any information not described in subdivision (c) or (d)
that is needed for an eligibility determination or redetermination
and is obtained by the department is not reasonably compatible
with the information provided by or on behalf of the individual,
the department shall require that the individual provide additional
information that reasonably explains the discrepancy.

(f) The department shall develop, and update as it is modified,
a verification plan describing the verification policies and
procedures adopted by the department to verify eligibility
information. If the department determinesthat any state or federal
agencies or programs not previously identified in the verification
plan are useful in determining an individua’s €ligibility for
Medi-Cal benefits or for potential eigibility, for an insurance
affordability program offered through the CaliforniaHealth Benefit
Exchange, the department shall update the verification plan to
identify those additional agencies or programs. The devel opment
and modification of the verification plan shall be undertaken in
consultation with representatives from county human services
departments, legal aid advocates, and the Legidature. This
verification plan shal conform to all federa requirements and
shall be posted on the department’s internet website.

(g) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regul atory action, shall

97



— 141 — AB 116

implement, interpret, or make specific this section by means of
all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or similar
instructions until the time regulations are adopted. Thereafter, the
department shall adopt regulations in accordance with the
regquirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of
Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code. Beginning
six months after the effective date of this section, and
notwithstanding Section 10231.5 of the Government Code, the
department shall provide a status report to the Legislature on a
semiannual basis until regulations have been adopted.

(h) Thissection shall be implemented only if, and to the extent
that, federal financial participation is available and any necessary
federal approvals have been obtained.

(i) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 88. Section 14015 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

14015. (a) (1) Theproviding of health care under thischapter
shall not impose any limitation or restriction upon the person’s
right to sell, exchange or change the form of property holdingsnor
shall the care provided constitute any encumbrance on the holdings.
However, the transfer or gift of assets, including income and
resources, for less than fair market value shall, pursuant to the
requirements of Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42
U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seg.) and any regul ations adopted pursuant to
that act, result in a period of ineligibility for medical assistance
for home and facility care, which may include partial months of
ineligibility, applied in accordance with federal law.

(2) Any items, including notes, loans, life estates, or annuities
that are held and distributed in a manner that is not in conformity
with the requirements of Title X1X of the federal Socia Security
Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seg.) and regulations adopted pursuant
to that act, shall be treated as atransferred asset and may result in
aperiod of ineligibility as described in paragraph (1), as required
by Title XI1X of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396 et seq.) and any regulations adopted pursuant to that act.

(b) Pursuant to Section 1917 (c)(2)(C)(ii) of the federal Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396p(c)(2)(C)(ii)), a satisfactory
showing that assets transferred exclusively for a purpose other
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than to qualify for medical assistance shall not result iningligibility
for Medi-Cal and shall include, but not belimited to, thefollowing:

(1) Assetsthat would have been considered exempt for purposes
of establishing eligibility pursuant to federal or state laws at the
time of transfer.

(2) Property with a net market value that, when the property is
transferred, if included in the property reserve, would not result
inineligibility.

(3) Assetsfor which adequate consideration is received.

(4) Property upon which foreclosure or repossession was
imminent at the time of transfer, provided there is no evidence of
collusion.

(5) Assetstransferred in return for an enforceable contract for
life care that does not include complete medical care.

(6) Assetstransferred without adequate consideration, provided
that the applicant or beneficiary provides convincing evidence to
overcome the presumption that the transfer was for the purpose of
establishing eligibility or reducing the spend down of excess
income.

(©) Inadministering thissection, it shall be presumed that assets
transferred by the applicant or beneficiary prior to the look-back
period established by the department preceding the date of initial
application were not transferred to establish eligibility or reduce
the spend down of excess income. These assets shall not be
considered in determining eligibility.

(d) Any item of durable medical equipment that is purchased
for arecipient pursuant to this chapter exclusively with Medi-Cal
program funds shall be returned to the department when the
department determines that the item is no longer medically
necessary for the recipient. Items of durable medical equipment
shall include, but are not limited to, wheelchairs and special
hospital beds.

(e) This section shall be implemented pursuant to the
requirements of Title XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42
U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et seg.) and any regul ations adopted pursuant to
that act, and only to the extent that federal financial participation
isavailable.

(f) (1) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regul atory action, shall
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implement, interpret, or make specific this section by means of
all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or similar
instructions until regulations are adopted.

(2) Thedepartment shall adopt regulations by January 1, 2030,
in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing
with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the
Government Code. The department shall provide a status report
to the Legisature on a semiannua basis, in compliance with
Section 9795 of the Government Code, until regulations are
adopted.

(g) Itistheintent of the Legidature that the provisions of this
section shall apply prospectively to any individual to whom the
act applies commencing from the date regul ations adopted pursuant
to this section are filed with the Secretary of State. Transfers or
gifts of assets prior to the implementation of this section are
exempt, to the extent allowed under federal law and regulations.

(h) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 89. Section 14051 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
as amended by Section 120 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023,
isamended to read:

14051. (@) “Medically needy person” means any of the
following:

(1) Anaged, blind, or disabled person who meetsthe definition
of aged, blind, or disabled under the Supplementa Security Income
program and whose income and resources are insufficient to
provide for the costs of health care or coverage.

(2) A childinfoster carefor whom public agenciesare assuming
financial responsibility, in whole or in part, or a person receiving
aid under Chapter 2.1 (commencing with Section 16115) of Part
4.

(3) A childwhoiseligibleto receive Medi-Cal benefits pursuant
to interstate agreementsfor adoption assistance and related services
and benefits entered into under Chapter 2.6 (commencing with
Section 16170) of Part 4, to the extent federal financial
participation is available.

(b) “Medicaly needy family person” meansaparent or caretaker
relative of a child or a child under 21 years of age or a pregnant
woman of any age with a confirmed pregnancy, exclusive of those
persons specified in subdivision (&), whose income and resources
areinsufficient to provide for the costs of health care or coverage.
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(c) Thissection shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 90. Section 14051 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
as added by Section 121 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023, is
amended to read:

14051. (@) “Medically needy person” means any of the
following:

(1) Anaged, blind, or disabled person who meetsthe definition
of aged, blind, or disabled under the Supplemental Security Income
program and whose income isinsufficient to provide for the costs
of health care or coverage.

(2) A childinfoster carefor whom public agenciesare assuming
financial responsibility, in whole or in part, or a person receiving
aid under Chapter 2.1 (commencing with Section 16115) of Part
4.

(3) A childwhoiseligibleto receive Medi-Cal benefits pursuant
to interstate agreementsfor adoption assistance and related services
and benefits entered into under Chapter 2.6 (commencing with
Section 16170) of Part 4, to the extent federal financia
participation is available.

(b) “Medically needy family person” meansaparent or caretaker
relative of a child or a child under 21 years of age or a pregnant
woman of any age with a confirmed pregnancy, exclusive of those
persons specified in subdivision (a), whose income is insufficient
to provide for the costs of health care or coverage.

(c) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC.91. Section 14051.5 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code,
as amended by Section 122 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023,
is amended to read:

14051.5. (a) “Medically needy person” also meansany person
who receives in-home supportive services pursuant to Section
12305.5 and whoseincome and resources are insufficient to provide
for the costs of health care or coverage.

(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 92. Section 14051.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code,
as added by Section 123 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of 2023, is
amended to read:

14051.5. (a) “Medically needy person” also meansany person
who receives in-home supportive services pursuant to Section
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12305.5 and whose income is insufficient to provide for the costs
of health care or coverage.

(b) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 93. Section 14105.33 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14105.33. (&) The department may enter into contracts with
manufacturers of single-source and multiple-source drugs, on a
bid or nonbid basis, for drugsfrom each major therapeutic category,
and shall maintain alist of those drugs for which contracts have
been executed.

(b) (1) Contracts executed pursuant to this section shall be for
the manufacturer’s best price, as defined in Section 14105.31,
which shall be specified in the contract, and subject to agreed-upon
price escalators, as defined in that section. The contracts shall
provide for a state rebate, as defined in Section 14105.31, to be
remitted to the department quarterly. The department shall submit
an invoice to each manufacturer for the state rebate, including
supporting utilization data from the department’s prescription drug
paid claims tapes within 30 days of receipt of the federal Centers
for Medicare and Medicaid Services' file of manufacturer rebate
information. In lieu of paying the entire invoiced amount, a
manufacturer may contest the invoiced amount pursuant to
procedures established by the federal Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services Medicaid Drug Rebate Program Releases or
regulations by mailing a notice, that shall set forth its grounds for
contesting the invoiced amount, to the department within 38 days
of the department’s mailing of the state invoice and supporting
utilization data. For purposes of state accounting practices only,
the contested balance shall not be considered an accountsreceivable
amount until final resolution of the dispute pursuant to procedures
established by the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid
Services Medicaid Drug Rebate Program Releases or regulations
that resultsin afinding of an underpayment by the manufacturer.
Manufacturers may request, and the department shall timely
provide, at cost, Medi-Cal provider level drug utilization data, and
other Medi-Cal utilization data necessary to resolve a contested
department-invoi ced rebate amount.

(2) The department shall provide for an annual audit of
utilization data used to calculate the state rebate to verify the
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accuracy of that data. Thefindings of the audit shall be documented
in a written audit report to be made available to manufacturers
within 90 days of receipt of the report from the auditor. Any
manufacturer may receive a copy of the audit report upon written
reguest. Contracts between the department and manufacturers shall
provide for any equalization payment adjustments determined
necessary pursuant to an audit.

(3) (A) Utilization dataused to determine the state rebate shall
exclude data from both of the following:

(i) Health maintenance organizations, as defined in Section
300e(a) of Title 42 of the United States Code, including those
organizations that contract under Section 1396b(m) of Title 42 of
the United States Code.

(if) Capitated plans that include a prescription drug benefit in
the capitated rate, and that have negotiated contracts for rebates
or discounts with manufacturers.

(B) This paragraph shall become inoperative on July 1, 2014.

(4) Commencing July 1, 2014, utilization data used to determine
the state rebate shall include data from all programs, including,
but not limited to, fee-for-service Medi-Cal, and utilization data,
as limited in paragraph (5), from health plans contracting with the
department to provide services to beneficiaries pursuant to this
chapter, Chapter 8 (commencing with Section 14200), or Chapter
8.75 (commencing with Section 14591), that qualify for federal
drug rebates pursuant to Section 1927 of thefederal Socia Security
Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396r-8) or that otherwise qualify for federal
fundsunder Title X1X of thefederal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C.
Sec. 1396 et seq.) pursuant to the Medicaid state plan or waivers.

(5) Hedth plan utilization data shall be limited to those drugs
for which ahealth plan isauthorizing a prescription drug described
in subparagraph (A), and pursuant to the coverage policies
established in subparagraph (B):

(A) A prescription drug for which the department reimburses
the health plan through a separate capitated payment or other
supplemental payment. Payment shall not be withheld for decisions
determined pursuant to Section 1374.34 of the Health and Safety
Code.

(B) The department shall develop coverage policies, consistent
with the criteria set forth in paragraph (1) of subdivision (c) of
Section 14105.39 and in consultation with clinical experts,
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Medi-Cal managed care plans, and other stakeholders, for
prescription drugs described in subparagraph (A). These coverage
policies shall apply to the entire Medi-Cal program, including
fee-for-service and Medi-Cal managed care, through the Medi-Cal
List of Contract Drugsor through provider bulletins, al plan |etters,
or similar instructions. Coverage policies developed pursuant to
this section shall be revised on asemiannual basisor upon approval
by the Food and Drug Administration of a new drug subject to
subparagraph (A). For the purposes of this section, “coverage
policies’ include, but are not limited to, clinical guidelines and
treatment and utilization policies.

(6) For prescription drugs not subject to the requirements of
paragraph (5), utilization data used to determine the state rebate
shall include all data from health plans, except for heath
mai ntenance organizations, as defined in Section 300e(a) of Title
42 of the United States Code, including those organizations that
contract pursuant to Section 1396b(m) of Title 42 of the United
States Code.

(7) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regul atory action, shall
implement, interpret, or make specific paragraph (5) by means of
all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or similar
instructions, until the time regul ations are adopted. The department
shall adopt regulations by October 1, 2017, in accordance with the
requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of
Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.
Notwithstanding Section 10231.5 of the Government Code,
beginning six months after the effective date of this section, the
department shall provide a status report to the Legislature on a
semiannual basis, in compliance with Section 9795 of the
Government Code, until regulations have been adopted.

(¢) In order that Medi-Cal beneficiaries may have access to a
comprehensive range of therapeutic agents, the department shall
ensure that there is representation on the list of contract drugsin
all major therapeutic categories. Except as provided in subdivision
(a) of Section 14105.35, the department shall not be required to
contract with al manufacturers who negotiate for a contract in a
particular category. The department shall ensure that there is
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sufficient representation of single-source and multiple-source
drugs, as appropriate, in each major therapeutic category.

(d) The department shall select the therapeutic categoriesto be
included on the list of contract drugs, and the order in which it
seeks contracts for those categories. The department may establish
different contracting schedules for single-source and
multiple-source drugs within a given therapeutic category.

() (1) In order to fully implement subdivision (d), the
department shall, to the extent necessary, negotiate or renegotiate
contracts to ensure there are as many single-source drugs within
each therapeutic category or subcategory as the department
determines necessary to meet the health needs of the Medi-Cal
population. The department may determinein selected therapeutic
categories or subcategories that no single-source drugs are
necessary because there are currently sufficient multiple-source
drugs in the therapeutic category or subcategory on the list of
contract drugsto meet the health needs of the Medi-Cal population.
However, in no event shall abeneficiary be denied continued use
of a drug that is part of a prescribed therapy in effect as of
September 2, 1992, until the prescribed therapy is no longer
prescribed.

(2) In the development of decisions by the department on the
required number of single-source drugs in a therapeutic category
or subcategory, and the relative therapeutic merits of each drugin
atherapeutic category or subcategory, the department shall consult
with the Medi-Cal Contract Drug Advisory Committee. The
committee members shall communicate their comments and
recommendations to the department within 30 business days of a
request for consultation, and shall disclose any associations with
pharmaceutical manufacturers or any remuneration from
pharmaceutical manufacturers.

(f) In order to achieve maximum cost savings, the Legislature
declares that an expedited process for contracts under this section
is necessary. Therefore, contracts entered into on a nonbid basis
shall be exempt from Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 10290)
of Part 2 of Division 2 of the Public Contract Code.

(9) Inno event shall a beneficiary be denied continued use of
adrug that is part of aprescribed therapy in effect as of September
2, 1992, until the prescribed therapy is no longer prescribed.
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(h) Contracts executed pursuant to this section shal be
confidential and shall be exempt from disclosure under the
California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with
Section 7920.000) of Title 1 of the Government Code).

(i) The department shall provide individual notice to Medi-Cal
beneficiaries at least 60 calendar days prior to the effective date
of the deletion or suspension of any drug from the list of contract
drugs. The notice shall include a description of the beneficiary’s
right to afair hearing and shall encourage the beneficiary to consult
a physician to determine if an appropriate substitute medication
is available from Medi-Cal.

() Incarrying out the provisions of this section, the department
may contract either directly, or through the fiscal intermediary,
for pharmacy consultant staff necessary toinitially accomplish the
treatment authorization request reviews.

(k) (1) Manufacturers shall calculate and pay interest on late
or unpaid rebates. The interest shall not apply to any prior period
adjustments of unit rebate amounts or department utilization
adjustments.

(2) For state rebate payments, manufacturers shall calculate and
pay interest on late or unpaid rebates for quarters that begin on or
after the effective date of the act that added this subdivision.

(3) Following final resolution of any dispute pursuant to
procedures established by the federal Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services Medicaid Drug Rebate Program Releases or
regulations regarding the amount of a rebate, any underpayment
by a manufacturer shall be paid with interest calculated pursuant
to subdivisions (m) and (n), and any overpayment, together with
interest at the rate cal culated pursuant to subdivisions (m) and (n),
shall be credited by the department against future rebates due.

() Interest pursuant to subdivision (k) shall begin accruing 38
calendar days from the date of mailing of the invoice, including
supporting utilization data sent to the manufacturer. Interest shall
continue to accrue until the date of mailing of the manufacturer’s
payment.

(m) Except as specified in subdivision (n), interest rates and
calculations pursuant to subdivision (k) for Medicaid rebates and
state rebates shall be identical and shall be determined by the
federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Medicaid
Drug Rebate Program Releases or regulations.
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(n) If the date of mailing of a state rebate payment is 69 days
or more from the date of mailing of the invoice, including
supporting utilization data sent to the manufacturer, the interest
rate and calculations pursuant to subdivision (k) shall be as
specified in subdivision (m), however the interest rate shall be
increased by 10 percentage points. This subdivision shall apply to
payments for amounts invoiced for any quarters that begin on or
after the effective date of the act that added this subdivision.

(o) If the rebate payment is not received, the department shall
send overdue notices to the manufacturer at 38, 68, and 98 days
after the date of mailing of the invoice, and supporting utilization
data. If the department has not received arebate payment, including
interest, within 180 days of the date of mailing of the invoice,
including supporting utilization data, the manufacturer’s contract
with the department shall be deemed to be in default and the
contract may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the
contract. For al other manufacturers, if the department has not
received a rebate payment, including interest, within 180 days of
the date of mailing of theinvoice, including supporting utilization
data, all of the drug products of those manufacturers shall be made
available only through prior authorization effective 270 days after
the date of mailing of the invoice, including utilization data sent
to manufacturers.

(p) If the manufacturer provides payment or evidence of
payment to the department at least 40 days prior to the proposed
date the drug is to be made available only through prior
authorization pursuant to subdivision (o), the department shall
terminate its actions to place the manufacturers’ drug products on
prior authorization.

(@) The department shall direct the state’s fiscal intermediary
to remove prior authorization requirements imposed pursuant to
subdivision (0) and notify providerswithin 60 days after payment
by the manufacturer of the rebate, including interest. If a contract
was in place at the time the manufacturers’ drugs were placed on
prior authorization, removal of prior authorization requirements
shall be contingent upon good faith negotiations and a signed
contract with the department.

(r) Beginning January 1, 2026, abeneficiary may obtain covered
drugs placed on prior authorization pursuant to subdivision (0)
only if their pharmacy provider or prescriber initiates a prior
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authorization request that is subsequently approved by the
department.

(s) Beginning January 1, 2026, a beneficiary may continue to
receive drugs previously prescribed but subject to prior
authorization if their pharmacy provider or prescriber initiates a
prior authorization request that is subsequently approved by the
department.

(t) Drugs covered pursuant to Sections 14105.43 and 14133.2
shall not be subject to prior authorization pursuant to subdivision
(0), and any other drug may be exempted from prior authorization
by the department if the director determinesthat an essential need
existsfor that drug, and there are no other drugs currently available
without prior authorization that meet that need.

(u) It isthe intent of the Legidlature in enacting subdivisions
(k) to (t), inclusive, that the department and manufacturers shall
cooperate and make every effort to resolve rebate payment disputes
within 90 days of notification by the manufacturer to the
department of a dispute in the calculation of rebate payments.

SEC. 94. Section 14105.38 of the Welfare and Institutions
Codeisrepealed.

SEC. 95. Section 14105.38 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

14105.38. When the department determinesthat adrug should
be removed from the list of contract drugs, the department shall
provide individual notice to impacted beneficiaries, at least 60
calendar days prior to the drug being removed from the list of
contract drugs, that the drug is only obtainable through the prior
authorization process. The notice shall include adescription of the
beneficiary’s right to a fair hearing and shall encourage the
beneficiary to consult a physician to determine if an appropriate
substitute medication isavailable from Medi-Cal. The department
shall aso provide provider notice about the removal at least 60
calendar days prior to the drug being removed from the list of
contract drugs on the department’s internet website.

SEC. 96. Section 14105.436 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14105.436. (a) Effective July 1, 2002, al pharmaceutical
manufacturers shall provide to the department a state rebate, in
addition to rebates pursuant to other provisions of state or federal
law, for any drug products that have been added to the Medi-Cal
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list of contract drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or 14133.2 and
reimbursed through the Medi-Cal outpatient fee-for-service drug
program. The state rebate shall be negotiated as necessary between
the department and the pharmaceutical manufacturer. The
negotiations shall take into account offers such as rebates,
discounts, disease management programs, and other cost savings
offerings and shall be retroactive to July 1, 2002.

(b) Thedepartment may use existing administrative mechanisms
for any drug for which the department does not obtain a rebate
pursuant to subdivision (a). The department may only use those
mechanisms in the event that, by February 1, 2003, the
manufacturer refuses to provide the additional rebate. This
subdivision shall become inoperative on January 1, 2010.

(c) For purposes of this section, “Medi-Cal utilization data’
means the data used by the department to reimburse providers
under all programs that qualify for federal drug rebates pursuant
to Section 1927 of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396r-8) or that otherwise qualify for federal funds under Title
XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et
seg.) pursuant to the Medicaid state plan or waivers. Medi-Cal
utilization data excludes data from covered entities identified in
Section 256b(a)(4) of Title 42 of the United States Code in
accordance with Sections 256b(a)(5)(A) and 1396r-8(a)(5)(C) of
Title 42 of the United States Code, and those capitated plans that
include a prescription drug benefit in the capitated rate and that
have negotiated contracts for rebates or discounts with
manufacturers.

(d) Upon implementation of paragraphs (4) and (5) of
subdivision (b) of Section 14105.33 for drugs pursuant to this
section, subdivisions (a) and (c) shall become inoperative and
“utilization data’ shall be described pursuant to subdivision (b) of
Section 14105.33. The department shall post onitsinternet website
a notice that it has implemented paragraphs (4) and (5) of
subdivision (b) of Section 14105.33 for drugs pursuant to this
section.

(e) Effective July 1, 2009, all pharmaceutical manufacturers
shall provideto the department a state rebate, in addition to rebates
pursuant to other provisions of state or federal law, equal to an
amount not lessthan 10 percent of the average manufacturer price
based on Medi-Cal utilization datafor any drug productsthat have
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been added to the Medi-Cal list of contract drugs pursuant to
Section 14105.43 or 14133.2.

(f) Pharmaceutical manufacturers shall, by January 1, 2010,
enter into a supplemental rebate agreement for the rebate required
in subdivision (e) for drug products added to the Medi-Cal list of
contract drugs on or before December 31, 2009.

(g) EffectiveJanuary 1, 2010, all pharmaceutical manufacturers
who have not entered into a supplemental rebate agreement
pursuant to subdivisions (e) and (f) shall provide to the department
a state rebate, in addition to rebates pursuant to other provisions
of state or federal law, equal to an amount not less than 20 percent
of the average manufacturer price based on Medi-Cal utilization
data for any drug products that have been added to the Medi-Cal
list of contract drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or 14133.2
prior to January 1, 2010. If the pharmaceutical manufacturer does
not enter into a supplemental rebate agreement by March 1, 2010,
the manufacturer’s drug product shall be made available only
through an approved treatment authorization request pursuant to
subdivision (i).

(h) For adrug product added to the Medi-Cal list of contract
drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or 14133.2 on or after January
1, 2010, a pharmaceutical manufacturer shall provide to the
department a state rebate pursuant to subdivision (e). If the
pharmaceutical manufacturer does not enter into a supplemental
rebate agreement within 60 days after the addition of the drug to
the Medi-Cal list of contract drugs, the manufacturer shall provide
to the department a state rebate equal to not less than 20 percent
of the average manufacturer price based on Medi-Cal utilization
data for any drug products that have been added to the Medi-Cal
list of contract drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or 14133.2. If
the pharmaceutical manufacturer does not enter into a supplemental
rebate agreement within 120 days after the addition of the drug to
the Medi-Ca list of contract drugs, the pharmaceutical
manufacturer’s drug product shall be made available only through
an approved treatment authorization request pursuant to subdivision
(i). For supplemental rebate agreements executed more than 120
days after the addition of the drug product to the Medi-Cal list of
contract drugs, the state rebate shall equal an amount not less than
20 percent of the average manufacturer price based on Medi-Cal
utilization data for any drug products that have been added to the
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Medi-Cal list of contract drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or
14133.2.

(i) Notwithstanding any other law, drug products added to the
Medi-Cal list of contract drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or
14133.2 of manufacturerswho do not execute an agreement to pay
additional rebates pursuant to this section shall be available only
through an approved treatment authorization request.

() Changes made to the Medi-Cal list of contract drugs under
this section shall be exempt from the requirements of the
Administrative Procedure Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with
Section 11340), Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 11370), and
Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 11500) of Part 1 of Division
3 of Title 2 of the Government Code), and shall not be subject to
the review and approval of the Office of Administrative Law.

(k) Thissection shall remainin effect only until January 1, 2026,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 97. Section 14105.436 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

14105.436. (a) Effective July 1, 2002, al pharmaceutical
manufacturers shall provide to the department a state rebate, in
addition to rebates pursuant to other provisions of state or federal
law, for any drug products that have been added to the Medi-Cal
list of contract drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or 14133.2 and
reimbursed through the Medi-Cal outpatient fee-for-service drug
program. The state rebate shall be negotiated as necessary between
the department and the pharmaceutical manufacturer. The
negotiations shall take into account offers such as rebates,
discounts, disease management programs, and other cost savings
offerings and shall be retroactive to July 1, 2002.

(b) Thedepartment may use existing administrative mechanisms
for any drug for which the department does not obtain a rebate
pursuant to subdivision (a). The department may only use those
mechanisms in the event that, by February 1, 2003, the
manufacturer refuses to provide the additional rebate. This
subdivision shall become inoperative on January 1, 2010.

(c) For purposes of this section, “Medi-Cal utilization data’
means the data used by the department to reimburse providers
under all programs that qualify for federal drug rebates pursuant
to Section 1927 of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1396r-8) or that otherwise qualify for federal funds under Title
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XIX of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396 et
seg.) pursuant to the Medicaid state plan or waivers. Medi-Cal
utilization data excludes data from covered entities identified in
Section 256b(a)(4) of Title 42 of the United States Code in
accordance with Sections 256b(a)(5)(A) and 1396r-8(a)(5)(C) of
Title 42 of the United States Code, and those capitated plans that
include a prescription drug benefit in the capitated rate and that
have negotiated contracts for rebates or discounts with
manufacturers.

(d) Upon implementation of paragraphs (4) and (5) of
subdivision (b) of Section 14105.33 for drugs pursuant to this
section, subdivisions (a) and (c) shall become inoperative and
“utilization data’ shall be described pursuant to subdivision (b) of
Section 14105.33. The department shall post onitsinternet website
a notice that it has implemented paragraphs (4) and (5) of
subdivision (b) of Section 14105.33 for drugs pursuant to this
section.

(e) EffectiveJanuary 1, 2026, al pharmaceutical manufacturers
renewing or entering new state rebate agreements shall provide to
the department a state rebate, in addition to rebates pursuant to
other provisions of state or federal law, in the following amounts
based on Medi-Cal utilization datafor any drug productsthat have
been added to the Medi-Cal list of contract drugs pursuant to
Section 14105.43 or 14133.2:

(1) An amount not less than 20 percent of the average
manufacturer price if the federal rebate isless than 50 percent of
the average manufacturer price.

(2) An amount not less than 15 percent of the average
manufacturer priceif the federal rebate is 50 percent or greater of
the average manufacturer price.

(f) Pharmaceutical manufacturers shal, by January 1, 2010,
enter into asupplemental rebate agreement for the rebate required
in subdivision (e) for drug products added to the Medi-Cal list of
contract drugs on or before December 31, 2009.

(g) EffectiveJanuary 1, 2010, all pharmaceutical manufacturers
who have not entered into a supplemental rebate agreement
pursuant to subdivisions (e) and (f) shall provide to the department
a state rebate, in addition to rebates pursuant to other provisions
of state or federal law, equal to an amount not less than 20 percent
of the average manufacturer price based on Medi-Cal utilization
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data for any drug products that have been added to the Medi-Cal
list of contract drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or 14133.2
prior to January 1, 2010. If the pharmaceutical manufacturer does
not enter into a supplemental rebate agreement by March 1, 2010,
the manufacturer’s drug product shall be made available only
through an approved treatment authorization request pursuant to
subdivision (i).

(h) For adrug product added to the Medi-Cal list of contract
drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or 14133.2 on or after January
1, 2026, a pharmaceutical manufacturer shall provide to the
department a state rebate pursuant to subdivision (e). If the
pharmaceutical manufacturer does not enter into a supplemental
rebate agreement within 60 days after the addition of the drug to
the Medi-Cal list of contract drugs, the manufacturer shall provide
to the department a state rebate equal to not less than 25 percent
of the average manufacturer price based on Medi-Cal utilization
data for any drug products that have been added to the Medi-Cal
list of contract drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or 14133.2. If
the pharmaceutical manufacturer does not enter into a supplemental
rebate agreement within 120 days after the addition of the drug to
the Medi-Ca list of contract drugs, the pharmaceutical
manufacturer’s drug product shall be made available only through
an approved treatment authorization request pursuant to subdivision
(i). For supplemental rebate agreements executed more than 120
days after the addition of the drug product to the Medi-Cal list of
contract drugs, the state rebate shall equal an amount not lessthan
25 percent of the average manufacturer price based on Medi-Cal
utilization data for any drug products that have been added to the
Medi-Cal list of contract drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or
14133.2.

(1) Notwithstanding any other law, drug products added to the
Medi-Cal list of contract drugs pursuant to Section 14105.43 or
14133.2 of manufacturerswho do not execute an agreement to pay
additional rebates pursuant to this section shall be available only
through an approved treatment authorization request.

() Changes made to the Medi-Cal list of contract drugs under
this section shal be exempt from the requirements of the
Administrative Procedure Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with
Section 11340), Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 11370), and
Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 11500) of Part 1 of Division
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3 of Title 2 of the Government Code), and shall not be subject to
the review and approval of the Office of Administrative Law.

(k) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 98. Section 14107.115 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, immediately following Section 14107.11, to
read:

14107.115. (a) TheMedi-Cal Anti-Fraud Specia Deposit Fund
is hereby created in the State Treasury.

(b) All outstanding Medi-Cal paymentsintercepted by the State
Controller’s Office at the direction of the department, as a result
of apayment suspensionimposed on aMedi-Cal provider pursuant
to Section 14107.11, shall be deposited into the Medi-Cal
Anti-Fraud Special Deposit Fund.

(c) All moneysdeposited into the Medi-Cal Anti-Fraud Special
Deposit Fund shall be continuously appropriated and allocated in
accordance with subdivision (d), but shall remain in the fund until
the department lifts the suspension pursuant to subdivision (c) of
Section 14107.11.

(d) Uponthelifting of a suspension, the department may return
the intercepted Medi-Cal payments to the Medi-Cal provider or
may offset the payments against any liabilities or restitution owed
by the Medi-Cal provider to the department, including, but not
limited to, any liabilities described in paragraph (1) of subdivision
(@) of Section 14107.11.

SEC. 99. Section 14126.024 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14126.024. (@) For managed care rating periods that begin
between January 1, 2023, and December 31, 2025, inclusive, the
department, in consultation with representatives from the long-term
careindustry, organized labor, consumer advocates, and Medi-Cal
managed care plans, shall establish and implement the Workforce
and Quality Incentive Program under which a network provider
furnishing skilled nursing facility servicesto aMedi-Ca managed
care enrollee may earn performance-based directed paymentsfrom
the Medi-Cal managed care plan they contract with in accordance
with this section.

(b) Subject to appropriation by the Legislature in the annual
Budget Act, the department shall do all of the following:
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(1) Set the amount of performance-based directed paymentsto
target an aggregate amount of two hundred eighty million dollars
($280,000,000) for the 2023 calendar year.

(2) For the 2024 through 2025 calendar years, the department
shall set the amount of the performance-based directed payments
to target the previous calendar year’ starget plusthe annual increase
specified by clause (ii) of subparagraph (A) of paragraphs (18),
(29), and (20) of subdivision (c) of Section 14126.033.

(3) No sooner than December 31, 2023, the department shall
make a one-time increase to the performance-based directed
payment target amount by the amounts described in subdivision
(f) of Section 14126.032. This one-time increase shall not be
factored into the amount cal culated for a subsequent calendar year
pursuant to paragraph (2).

(c) The department, in consultation with stakeholders listed in
subdivision (@), shall establish the methodol ogy or methodologies,
parameters, and eligibility criteria for the directed payments
pursuant to this section. This shall include, but is not limited to,
the milestones and metricsthat network providersof skilled nursing
facility services must meet in order to receive a directed payment
from aMedi-Cal managed care plan pursuant to this section, with
a least two of these milestones and metrics tied to workforce
measures. Subject to subdivision (j), the department may implement
the directed payment described in this section using one or more
of the models authorized at Section 438.6(c)(1)(i)-(iii), inclusive,
of Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

(d) A freestanding pediatric subacute care facility, as defined
in Section 51215.8 of Title 22 of the California Code of
Regulations, shall be exempt from the directed payments described
in this section.

(e) Notwithstanding any other law, special program services
for the mentally disordered that are entitled to receive the
supplemental payment under Section 51511.1 of Title 22 of the
California Code of Regulations shall be exempt from the directed
payments described in this section.

(f) Directed payments made pursuant to this section shall bein
addition to any other payments made by the a Medi-Cal managed
care plan to applicable network providersof skilled nursing facility
services and shall not supplant amounts that would otherwise be
payable by aMedi-Cal managed care plan to a provider of skilled
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nursing facility services, including those payments made in
accordance with paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) of Section
14184.201.

(g) For managed care rating periods during which this section
is implemented, capitation rates paid by the department to a
Medi-Cal managed care plan shall be actuarially sound and shall
account for the directed payments described in this section.

(h) The department may require Medi-Cal managed care plans
and network providersof skilled nursing facility servicesto submit
information the department deems necessary to implement this
section, at the times and in the form and manner specified by the
department.

(i) Payments pursuant to this section shall be madein accordance
with the requirementsfor directed payment arrangements described
in Section 438.6(c) of Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations
and any associated federal guidance.

() Inimplementing this section, the department may contract,
as necessary, with California's Medicare Quality Improvement
Organization, or other entities deemed qualified by the department,
not associated with a skilled nursing facility, to assist with
development, collection, analysis, and reporting of the performance
data pursuant to this section. The department may enter into
exclusive or nonexclusive contracts, or amend existing contracts,
on a bid or negotiated basis for purposes of implementing this
subdivision. Contracts entered into or amended pursuant to this
subdivision shall be exempt from Chapter 6 (commencing with
Section 14825) of Part 5.5 of Divison 3 of Title 2 of the
Government Code, Part 2 (commencing with Section 10100) of
Division 2 of the Public Contract Code, and State Administrative
Manual, and the State Contracting Manual, and shall be exempt
from thereview or approval of any division of the State Department
of General Services.

(k) This section shall be implemented only to the extent that
any necessary federal approvals are obtained and federal financial
participation is available and is not otherwise jeopardized.

(1) For purposesof this section, the following definitions apply:

(1) “Medi-Ca managed care plan” hasthe same meaning as set
forth in subdivision (j) of Section 14184.101.

(2) “Network provider” has the same meaning as set forth in
Section 438.2 of Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations.
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(3) “Skilled nursing facility” has the same meaning as set forth
in subdivision (c) of Section 1250 of the Health and Safety Code,
excluding anursing facility that is a distinct part of afacility that
is licensed as a general acute care hospital as described in
subdivision (a) of Section 1250 of the Health and Safety Code.

(m) (1) This section shall become inoperative on January 1,
2026. The department may conduct all necessary closeout activities
applicable to any managed care rating period before January 1,
2026.

(2) Thissection shall be repealed on January 1, 2027, or on the
date that the director certifies to the Secretary of State that all
necessary closeout activities have been completed pursuant to
paragraph (1), whichever is later.

SEC. 100. Section 14126.033 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14126.033. (a) The Legidature finds and declares all of the
following:

(1) Costs within the Medi-Cal program continue to grow due
to therising cost of providing health care throughout the state and
also due to increases in enrollment, which are more pronounced
during difficult economic times.

(2) In order to minimize the need for drastically cutting
enrollment standards or benefits during times of economic crisis,
itiscrucia to find areas within the program where reimbursement
levels are higher than required under the standard provided in
Section 1902(a)(30)(A) of thefederal Socia Security Act and can
be reduced in accordance with federal law.

(3) The Medi-Cal program delivers its services and benefits to
Medi-Ca beneficiaries through a wide variety of health care
providers, under multiple delivery systems, including managed
care, other contract models, or fee-for-service arrangements.

(4) Thesetting of rateswithin the Medi-Cal program iscomplex
and is subject to close supervision by the United States Department
of Health and Human Services.

(5) As the single state agency for the Medicaid program in
Cdlifornia, the State Department of Heath Care Services has
unique expertise that can inform decisions that set or adjust
reimbursement methodologies and levels consistent with the
requirements of federal law.
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(b) Therefore, it is the intent of the Legidature for the
department to analyze and identify where reimbursement levels
can be reduced consistent with the standard provided in Section
1902(a)(30)(A) of the federal Social Security Act and federal and
state law and policies, including any exemptions contained in the
act that added this section, provided that the reductions in
reimbursement shall not exceed 10 percent on an aggregate basis
for al providers, services, and products.

(c) Subject to an appropriation by the Legislature in the annual
Budget Act, this article shall be funded as follows:

(1) Genera Fund moneys appropriated for purposes of this
article pursuant to Section 6 of the act adding this section shall be
used for increasing rates, except as provided in Section 14126.031,
for freestanding skilled nursing facilities, and shall be consistent
with the approved methodology required to be submitted to the
federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services pursuant to
Article 7.6 (commencing with Section 1324.20) of Chapter 2 of
Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code.

(2) (A) Notwithstanding Section 14126.023, for the 2005-06
rate year, the maximum annual increase in the weighted average
Medi-Cal raterequired for purposes of thisarticle shall not exceed
8 percent of the weighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate
for the 200405 rate year as adjusted for the change in the cost to
the facility to comply with the nursing facility quality assurance
fee for the 200506 rate year, as required under subdivision (b) of
Section 1324.21 of the Health and Safety Code, plus the total
projected Medi-Cal cost to thefacility of complying with new state
or federal mandates.

(B) Beginning with the 2006-07 rate year, the maximum annual
increase in the weighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate
required for purposes of this article shall not exceed 5 percent of
the weighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate for the prior
fiscal year, as adjusted for the projected cost of complying with
new state or federal mandates.

(C) Beginning with the 2007-08 rate year and continuing
through the 200809 rate year, the maximum annual increase in
the weighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate required for
purposes of thisarticle shall not exceed 5.5 percent of the weighted
average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate for the prior fiscal year, as
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adjusted for the projected cost of complying with new state or
federal mandates.

(D) For the 2009-10 rate year, the weighted average Medi-Cal
reimbursement rate required for purposes of this article shall not
be increased with respect to the weighted average Medi-Cal
reimbursement rate for the 2008-09 rate year, as adjusted for the
projected cost of complying with new state or federal mandates.

(3) (A) Forthe2010-11 rateyear, if theincreasein the federal
medical assistance percentage (FMAP) pursuant to the federal
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA)
(Public Law 111-5) is extended for the entire 201011 rate year,
the maximum annual increase in the weighted average Medi-Cal
reimbursement rate for the purposes of thisarticle shall not exceed
3.93 percent, or 3.14 percent, if theincreasein the FMAP pursuant
toARRA isnot extended for that period of time, plusthe projected
cost of complying with new state or federa mandates. If the
increaseinthe FMAP pursuant to ARRA isextended at adifferent
rate, or for adifferent time period, the rate adjustment for facilities
shall be adjusted accordingly.

(B) Theweighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate increase
specified in subparagraph (A) shall be adjusted by the department
for the following reasons:

(i) If the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
does not approve exemption changesto the facilities subject to the
quality assurance fee.

(i) If the federal Centersfor Medicare and Medicaid Services
does not approve any proposed modification to the methodology
for calculation of the quality assurance fee.

(iii) To ensure that the state does not incur any additional
General Fund expenses to pay for the 2010-11 weighted average
Medi-Cal reimbursement rate increase.

(C) If the maximum annual increase in the weighted average
Medi-Cal rate is reduced pursuant to subparagraph (B), the
department shall recal culate and publish the final maximum annual
increase in the weighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate.

(4) (A) Subject to the following provisions, for the 201112
rate year, theincreasein the Medi-Cal reimbursement rate for the
purpose of this article, for each skilled nursing facility as defined
in subdivision (c) of Section 1250 of the Health and Safety Code,
shall not exceed 2.4 percent of the rate on file that was applicable
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on May 31, 2011, plus the projected cost of complying with new
state or federal mandates. The percentage increase shall be applied
equally to each rate on file as of May 31, 2011.

(B) Theweighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rateincrease
specified in subparagraph (A) shall be adjusted by the department
for the following reasons:

(i) If the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
does not approve exemption changesto the facilities subject to the
quality assurance fee.

(i) If the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
does not approve any proposed modification to the methodology
for calculation of the quality assurance fee.

(ili) To ensure that the state does not incur any additional
General Fund expenses to pay for the 2011-12 weighted average
Medi-Cal reimbursement rate increase.

(C) The department may recal culate and publish the weighted
average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate increase for the 2011-12
rate year if the difference in the projected quality assurance fee
collectionsfrom the 2011-12 rate year, compared to the projected
quality assurance fee collections for the 201011 rate year, would
result in any additional General Fund expense to pay for the
201112 rate year weighted average reimbursement rate increase.

(5) To the extent that rates are projected to exceed the adjusted
limits calculated pursuant to subparagraphs (A) to (D), inclusive,
of paragraph (2) and, as applicable, paragraphs (3) and (4), the
department shall adjust each skilled nursing facility’s projected
rate for the applicable rate year by an equal percentage.

(6) (A) (i) Notwithstanding any other law, and except as
provided in subparagraph (B), payments resulting from the
application of paragraphs (3) and (4), the provisions of paragraph
(5), and all other applicable adjustments and limits as required by
this section, shall be reduced by 10 percent for dates of service on
and after June 1, 2011, through July 31, 2012. This one-time
reduction shall be evenly distributed across all facilitiesto ensure
long-term stability of nursing homes serving the Medi-Cal
popul ation.

(i) Notwithstanding any other law, the director may adjust the
percentage reductions specified in clause (i), aslong astheresulting
reductions, in the aggregate, total no more than 10 percent.
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(ii1) The adjustments authorized under this subparagraph shall
be implemented only if the director determines that the payments
resulting from the adjustments comply with paragraph (7).

(B) Paymentsto facilities owned or operated by the state shall
be exempt from the payment reduction required by this paragraph.

(7) (A) Notwithstanding this section, the payment reductions
and adjustments required by paragraph (6) shall be implemented
only if the director determines that the payments that result from
the application of paragraph (6) shall comply with applicable
federa Medicaid requirements and that federal financia
participation will be available.

(B) In determining whether federal financial participation is
available, the director shall determine whether the payments
comply with applicable federal Medicaid requirements, including
those set forth in Section 1396a(a)(30)(A) of Title 42 of the United
States Code.

(C) Totheextent that the director determines that the payments
do not comply with applicable federal Medicaid requirements or
that federal financial participation is unavailable with respect to
any payment that is reduced pursuant to this section, the director
retains the discretion to not implement the particular payment
reduction or adjustment and may adjust the payment as necessary
to comply with federal Medicaid requirements.

(8 For managed care hedth plans that contract with the
department pursuant to this chapter and Chapter 8 (commencing
with Section 14200), except for contracts with the Senior Care
Action Network and AIDS Healthcare Foundation, and to the
extent that these services are provided through any of those
contracts, payments shall be reduced by the actuarial equivalent
amount of the reduced provider reimbursements specified in
paragraph (6) pursuant to contract amendments or change orders
effective on July 1, 2011, or thereafter.

(9) (A) For the 2012-13 rate year, al of the following shall
apply:

(i) The department shall determine the amounts of reduced
paymentsfor each skilled nursing facility, as defined in subdivision
(c) of Section 1250 of the Health and Safety Code, resulting from
the 10-percent reduction imposed pursuant to clause (i) of
subparagraph (A) of paragraph (6) for the period beginning on
June 1, 2011, through July 31, 2012.
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(i) For claimsadjudicated through October 1, 2012, each skilled
nursing facility as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 1250 of
the Health and Safety Code that isreimbursed under the Medi-Cal
fee-for-service program, shall receivethetotal payments calculated
by the department in clause (i), not later than December 31, 2012.

(iif) For managed care plans that contract with the department
pursuant to this chapter or Chapter 8 (commencing with Section
14200), except contracts with Senior Care Action Network and
AlIDS Healthcare Foundation, and to the extent that skilled nursing
services are provided through any of those contracts, payments
shall be adjusted by the actuaria equivalent amount of the
reimbursements calculated in clause (i) pursuant to contract
amendments or change orders effective on July 1, 2012, or
thereafter.

(B) Notwithstanding subparagraph (A), beginning on August
1, 2012, through July 31, 2013, the department shall pay thefacility
specific Medi-Cal reimbursement rate that was on file and
applicableto the specific skilled nursing facility on August 1, 2011,
prior to and excluding any rate reduction implemented pursuant
to clause (i) of subparagraph (A) of paragraph (6) for the period
beginning on June 1, 2011, to July 31, 2012, inclusive, and adjusted
for the projected costs of complying with new state or federal
mandates. These rates are deemed to be sufficient to meet operating
expenses.

(C) Theweighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rateincrease
specified in subparagraph (B) shall be adjusted by the department
if the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services does
not approve any proposed modification to the methodology for
calculation of the skilled nursing quality assurance fee pursuant
to Article 7.6 (commencing with Section 1324.20) of Chapter 2
of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code.

(D) Notwithstanding any other law, beginning on January 1,
2013, Article 7.6 (commencing with Section 1324.20) of Chapter
2 of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code, which imposes a
skilled nursing facility quality assurancefee, shall be unenforceable
against any skilled nursing facility unless each skilled nursing
facility is paid the rate provided for in subparagraphs (A) and (B).
Any amount collected during the 2012-13 rate year by the
department pursuant to Article 7.6 (commencing with Section
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1324.20) of Chapter 2 of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code
shall be refunded to each facility not later than February 1, 2013.

(E) The provisions of this paragraph shall aso be included as
part of a state plan amendment implementing the 2011-12 and
2012-13 Medi-Cal reimbursement rates authorized under this
article.

(10) (A) Subject to the following provisions, for the 2013-14
and 201415 rate years, the annual increasein the weighted average
Medi-Cal reimbursement rate for the purpose of this article, for
each skilled nursing facility as defined in subdivision (c) of Section
1250 of the Health and Safety Code, shall be 3 percent for each
rate year, respectively, plus the projected cost of complying with
new state or federal mandates.

(B) (i) For the 2013-14 rate year, if thereisarate increasein
the weighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate, the department
shall set aside 1 percent of the increase in the weighted average
Medi-Ca reimbursement rate, from which the department shall
transfer the nonfederal portion into the Skilled Nursing Facility
Quality and Accountability Special Fund, to be used for the
supplemental rate pool.

(if) For the 2014-15 rate year, if there is arate increase in the
weighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate, the department
shall set aside at least one-third of the weighted average M edi-Cal
reimbursement rate increase, up to amaximum of 1 percent, from
which the department shall transfer the nonfederal portion of this
amount into the Skilled Nursing Facility Quality and Accountability
Specia Fund.

(C) Theweighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rateincrease
specified in subparagraph (A) shall be adjusted by the department
for the following reasons:

(i) If the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
does not approve exemption changesto the facilities subject to the
quality assurance fee.

(i) If the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
does not approve any proposed modification to the methodology
for calculation of the quality assurance fee.

(11) Thedirector shall seek any necessary federal approvalsfor
the implementation of this section. This section shal not be
implemented until federal approval is obtained. When federal
approval is obtained, the payments resulting from the application
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of paragraph (6) shall be implemented retroactively to June 1,
2011, or on any other date or dates as may be applicable.

(12) (A) (i) Beginningwiththe2015-16 rateyear, and through
the conclusion of therate period from August 1, 2020, to December
31, 2020, inclusive, the annual increase in the weighted average
Medi-Cal reimbursement rate, required for the purposes of this
article, shall be 3.62 percent, plusthe projected cost of complying
with new state or federal mandates.

(if) The reimbursement rates established for the rate period of
August 1, 2020, to December 31, 2020, inclusive, shall be no less
than the amounts that would have been established under the
reimbursement methodology pursuant to this section for the
201920 rate year, subject to subparagraph (B).

(B) Theweighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate increase
specified in subparagraph (A) may be adjusted by the department
as it deems necessary to obtain any applicable federal approval
and shall not exceed the applicable federal upper payment limit.

(C) (i) Only to the extent any necessary federal approvals are
obtained for this subparagraph, the department may condition a
facility’s receipt of the annual increase in the weighted average
Medi-Cal reimbursement rate pursuant to this paragraph for the
rate period of August 1, 2020, to December 31, 2020, inclusive,
upon that facility’s good faith efforts to comply with any
requirements related to the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency
described in All Facility Letters issued by the State Department
of Public Health. The department shall consult with the State
Department of Public Health in determining afacility’s compliance
for purposes of this subparagraph.

(if) For purposes of this subparagraph, “COVID-19 Public
Heath Emergency” means the federal Public Health Emergency
declaration made pursuant to Section 247d of Title 42 of the United
States Code on January 30, 2020, entitled “Determination that a
Public Health Emergency Exists Nationwide as the Result of the
2019 Novel Coronavirus,” and any renewal of that declaration.

(13) (A) For the 2021 calendar year, the annual aggregate
increase in the weighted average Medi-Ca reimbursement rate
that isrequired for the purposes of thisarticle shall be 3.5 percent
plus the projected cost of complying with new state or federal
mandates.
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(B) Theaggregate, weighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement
rate increase specified in subparagraph (A) may be adjusted by
the department as it deems necessary to obtain any applicable
federal approval, and shall not exceed the applicable federal upper
payment limit.

(C) (i) Only to the extent any necessary federal approvals are
obtained for this subparagraph, the department may condition a
facility’s receipt of the annual increase in the weighted average
Medi-Cal reimbursement rate pursuant to this paragraph for the
2021 calendar year upon that facility’s good faith effortsto comply
with any requirements related to the COVID-19 Public Health
Emergency described in All Facility Letters issued by the State
Department of Public Health. The department shall consult with
the State Department of Public Health in determining a facility’s
compliance for purposes of this subparagraph.

(if) For purposes of this subparagraph, “COVID-19 Public
Health Emergency” shal mean the federa Public Health
Emergency declaration made pursuant to Section 247d of Title 42
of the United States Code on January 30, 2020, entitled
“Determination that a Public Health Emergency Exists Nationwide
asthe Result of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus,” and any renewal of
that declaration.

(14) (A) For the 2022 calendar year, the annual aggregate
increase in the weighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement rate
that isrequired for the purposes of thisarticle shall be 2.4 percent
plus the projected cost of complying with new state or federal
mandates.

(B) The aggregate, weighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement
rate increase specified in subparagraph (A) may be adjusted by
the department as it deems necessary to obtain any applicable
federal approval, and shall not exceed the applicable federal upper
payment limit.

(C) (i) Only to the extent any necessary federal approvals are
obtained for this subparagraph, the department may condition a
facility’s receipt of the annual increase in the weighted average
Medi-Cal reimbursement rate pursuant to this paragraph for the
2022 calendar year upon that facility’s good faith effortsto comply
with any requirements related to the COVID-19 Public Health
Emergency described in All Facility Letters issued by the State
Department of Public Health. The department shall consult with
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the State Department of Public Health in determining a facility’s
compliance for purposes of this subparagraph.

(i) For purposes of this subparagraph, “COVID-19 Public
Health Emergency” shall mean the federa Public Health
Emergency declaration made pursuant to Section 247d of Title 42
of the United States Code on January 30, 2020, entitled
“Determination that a Public Health Emergency Exists Nationwide
asthe Result of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus,” and any renewal of
such declaration.

(15) (A) For the 2022 and 2023 calendar years, inclusive, the
reimbursement rate established for a skilled nursing facility
pursuant to this section shall continue to be increased by the
temporary Medicaid payments associated with the COVID-19
Public Health Emergency in effect for that facility on July 31,
2020, or an amount equivalent to those temporary increased
Medicaid payments should the COVID-19 Public Health
Emergency expire prior to December 31, 2023.

(B) For the 2023 calendar year, 85 percent of the amount of
temporary Medicaid payments associated with the COVID-19
Public Health Emergency, or amounts equivalent to those
temporary increased Medicaid payments should the COVID-19
Public Health Emergency expire prior to December 31, 2023,
received by a facility shall be spent on additional labor costs,
including, but not limited to, increased wages or benefits, shift
incentive payments, staff retention bonuses, pay differential for
workers employed by more than one facility, and overtime
payments to nonmanagerial workers. Such increased wages or
benefits, shift incentive payments, staff retention bonuses, pay
differential for workers employed by more than one facility,
overtime payments to nonmanagerial workers or other additional
labor costs shall qualify for this purposeif they were either of the
following:

(i) Implemented prior to January 1, 2023, and continued during
the 2023 calendar year.

(ii) Implemented on or after January 1, 2023.

(C) If the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency isrenewed past
December 31, 2023, thetemporary Medicaid paymentsfor skilled
nursing facilities associated with the COVID-19 Public Health
Emergency, as authorized in the Medi-Cal State Plan, shall cease
on December 31, 2023, subject to subdivision (h).
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(D) For purposes of this subparagraph, “COVID-19 Public
Health Emergency” shall mean the federa Public Health
Emergency declaration made pursuant to Section 247d of Title 42
of the United States Code on January 30, 2020, entitled
“Determination that a Public Health Emergency Exists Nationwide
asthe Result of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus,” and any renewal of
such declaration.

(16) (A) For the 2023 calendar year, the maximum annual
aggregate increase in the weighted average Medi-Ca
reimbursement rate required for the purposes of this article shall
be the following, plus the projected cost of complying with new
state or federal mandates:

(i) For the labor cost category as specified in paragraph (1) of
subdivision (a) of Section 14126.023, the annual aggregate increase
shall be 5 percent.

(if) For each of the indirect care nonlabor cost, administrative
cost, capital cost, and direct passthrough categories as specified
in paragraphs (2) to (5), inclusive, of subdivision (a) of Section
14126.023, the annual aggregate increase shall be 2 percent.

(B) The aggregate, weighted average Medi-Cal reimbursement
rate increases specified in subparagraph (A) may be adjusted by
the department as it deems necessary to obtain any applicable
federal approval, and shall not exceed the applicable federal upper
payment limit.

(17) (A) Beginning in the 2024 calendar year, the department
shall establish a workforce adjustment, as further described in
paragraphs (18), (19) and (20), for a skilled nursing facility that
meets workforce standards, as determined by the department in
consultation with representatives from the long-term care industry,
organized labor, and consumer advocates.

(B) The workforce standards may include, but need not be
limited to, criteria such as maintaining a collective bargaining
agreement or comparable, legally binding, written commitment
withitsdirect and indirect care staff, payment of aprevailing wage
for itsdirect and indirect care staff, payment of an average salary
above minimum wage, participation in astatewide, multiemployer
joint labor-management committee of skilled nursing facility
employers and workers, or other factors, as determined by the
department in consultation with the stakehol ders|listed above. The
criteriamay vary for facilities based on facility demographics or
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other factors such as facility size, location or other factor, as
determined by the department in consultation with the stakehol ders
listed above.

(18) (A) For the 2024 calendar year, the maximum annual
increase in the Medi-Cal reimbursement rate required for the
purposes of this article shall be the following, plus the projected
cost of complying with new state or federal mandates:

(i) For the labor cost category specified in paragraph (1) of
subdivision (a) of Section 14126.023, the annual increase shall be
determined as follows:

() If the department determines the facility meets the criteria
described in paragraph (17), the annual increase for the facility
shall not have a percentage growth limit applied to the facility’s
audited costs within the labor cost category trended to the 2024
calendar year.

(I If the facility does not meet the criteria described in
paragraph (17), an annual increase of up to 5 percent shall be
applied to the labor cost category rate included in the facility’s
2023 calendar year rate based on audited cost reports trended to
the calendar 2024 year.

(if) For the 2024 calendar year, for each of the indirect care
nonlabor cost, administrative cost, capital cost, and direct
passthrough categories as specified in paragraphs (2) through (5),
inclusive, of subdivision (a) of Section 14126.023, the annual
aggregate increase in the weighted average Medi-Cal
reimbursement rate for those categories shall be 1 percent.
Additionally, for the 2024 calendar year, an amount equivalent to
the annual aggregate increase of 1 percent calculated pursuant to
this clause, as determined by the department, shall be used to
supplement the funds available for payments made pursuant to
subdivision () of Section 14126.024.

(B) TheMedi-Ca reimbursement rate specified in subparagraph
(A) may be adjusted by the department as it deems necessary to
obtain any applicable federal approval, and shall not exceed the
applicable federal upper payment limit.

(19) (A) For the 2025 caendar year, the Medi-Ca
reimbursement rate required for the purposes of this article shall
be the following, plus the projected cost of complying with new
state or federal mandates:
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(i) Theratefor thelabor cost category as specified in paragraph
(2) of subdivision (&) of Section 14126.023 shall be determined
asfollows:

() If the department determines the facility meets the criteria
described in paragraph (17), the facility’s rate for the labor cost
category shall equal the facility’s audited costs for the labor cost
category that would have been used for calculating the facility’s
2024 calendar year rate had the facility met the criteria described
in paragraph (17) in the 2024 calendar year increased by up to 5
percent for the 2025 calendar year based on audited cost reports
trended to the 2025 calendar year.

(1) If the facility does not meet the criteria described in
paragraph (17), the facility’s rate for the labor cost category shall
equal the labor cost category rate included in the facility’s 2023
calendar year rate increased by up to 5 percent for each of the 2024
and 2025 calendar years based on audited cost reports trended to
the applicable calendar year.

(if) For the 2025 calendar year, for each of the indirect care
nonlabor cost, administrative cost, capital cost, and direct
passthrough categories as specified in paragraphs (2) through (5),
inclusive, of subdivision (a) of Section 14126.023, the facility’s
rate for those categories shall equal the reimbursement included
in the facility’s 2024 calendar year rate for those categories
increased by an aggregate of 1 percent in the weighted average
Medi-Cal reimbursement rate for those categories. Additionally,
for the 2025 calendar year, an amount equivalent to the annual
aggregate increase of 1 percent calculated pursuant to this clause,
as determined by the department, shall be used to supplement the
funds available for payments made pursuant to subdivision (a) of
Section 14126.024.

(B) TheMedi-Cal reimbursement rate specified in subparagraph
(A) may be adjusted by the department as it deems necessary to
obtain any applicable federal approval, and shall not exceed the
applicable federal upper payment limit.

(20) (A) For the 2026 cdendar year, the Medi-Ca
reimbursement rate required for the purposes of this article shall
be the following, plus the projected cost of complying with new
state or federal mandates:
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(i) Theratefor labor cost category as specified in paragraph (1)
of subdivision (a) of Section 14126.023 shall be determined as
follows:

() If the department determines the facility meets the criteria
described in paragraph (17), the facility’s rate for the labor cost
category shall equal the facility’s audited costs within the labor
cost category that would have been used for calculating the
facility’s 2024 calendar year rate had the facility met the criteria
in the 2024 calendar year increased by up to 5 percent for each of
the 2025 and 2026 calendar years based on audited cost reports
trended to the applicable calendar year.

(1) If the facility does not meet the criteria described in
paragraph (17), the facility’s rate for the labor cost category shall
equal the labor cost category rate included in the facility’s 2023
calendar year rate increased by up to 5 percent for each of the
2024, 2025, and 2026 calendar years based on audited cost reports
trended to the applicable calendar year.

(if) For the 2026 calendar year, for each of the indirect care
nonlabor cost, administrative cost, capital cost, and direct
passthrough categories as specified in paragraphs (2) through (5),
inclusive, of subdivision (a) of Section 14126.023, the facility’s
rate for those categories shall equal the reimbursement included
in the facility’s 2025 calendar year rate for those categories
increased by an aggregate of 1 percent in the weighted average
Medi-Cal reimbursement rate for those categories.

(B) TheMedi-Ca reimbursement rate specified in subparagraph
(A) may be adjusted by the department as it deems necessary to
obtain any applicable federal approval, and shall not exceed the
applicable federal upper payment limit.

(d) (1) Thedepartment may modify any methodology or other
provision specified in this article to the extent it deems necessary
to meet the requirements of federal law or regulations, to obtain
or maintain federal approval, or to ensure federal financial
participation isavailable or is not otherwise jeopardized, provided
the modification does not violate the spirit, purposes, and intent
of thisarticle.

(2) If the department determinesthat amodification isnecessary
pursuant to paragraph (1), the department shall consult with
affected providers and stakeholders to the extent practicable.
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(3) In the event of a modification made pursuant to this
subdivision, the department shall notify affected providers, the
Joint Legislative Budget Committee, and the relevant policy and
fiscal committees of the Legislature within 10 business days of
the modification.

(e) The rate methodology shall cease to be implemented after
December 31, 2026.

(f) (1) Itistheintent of the Legislaturethat theimplementation
of this article result in individual access to appropriate long-term
care services, quality resident care, decent wages and benefits for
nursing home workers, a stable workforce, provider compliance
with all applicable state and federal requirements, and
administrative efficiency.

(2) Not later than December 1, 2006, the California State
Auditor’s Office shall conduct an accountability evaluation of the
department’s progress toward implementing a facility-specific
reimbursement system, including a review of data to ensure that
the new system is appropriately reimbursing facilities within
specified cost categories and a review of the fiscal impact of the
new system on the General Fund.

(3) Not later than January 1, 2007, to the extent information is
available for the three years immediately preceding the
implementation of thisarticle, the department shall provide baseline
information in areport to the Legislature on all of the following:

(A) The number and percent of freestanding skilled nursing
facilities that complied with minimum staffing requirements.

(B) Thestaffing levelsbeforetheimplementation of thisarticle.

(C) The staffing retention rates before the implementation of
thisarticle.

(D) Thenumbersand percentage of freestanding skilled nursing
facilitieswith findings of immediate jeopardy, substandard quality
of care, or actual harm, as determined by the certification survey
of each freestanding skilled nursing facility conducted before the
implementation of this article.

(E) The number of freestanding skilled nursing facilities that
received state citations and the number and class of citationsissued
during calendar year 2004.

(F) The average wage and benefits for employees before the
implementation of this article.
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(4) Not later than January 1, 2009, the department shall provide
areport to the Legislature that does both of the following:

(A) Comparestheinformation required in paragraph (2) to that
sameinformation two years after theimplementation of thisarticle.

(B) Reportson the extent to which residentswho had expressed
a preference to return to the community, as provided in Section
1418.81 of the Health and Safety Code, were able to return to the
community.

(5) Thedepartment may contract for the reports required under
this subdivision.

(9) (1) Beginning with the 2021 calendar year, and continuing
each calendar year thereafter, a skilled nursing facility shall
demonstrate its compliance with the following Medi-Cal funded
requirements upon request by, and in the form and manner
specified by, the department:

(A) Direct care service hours per patient day requirements
pursuant to Section 1276.65 of the Health and Safety Code and as
enforced pursuant to Section 14126.022.

(B) Applicable minimum wage laws.

(C) Wage passthrough requirements pursuant to Section 14110.6
of this code and Section 1338 of the Health and Safety Code.

(2) If the department determines that a skilled nursing facility
has not demonstrated satisfactory compliance pursuant to
subparagraphs (B) and (C) of paragraph (1), in consultation with
State Department of Public Health or other applicable state
agenciesand departmentsif necessary, the department shall assess
a monthly penalty up to fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) for that
skilled nursing facility, except as provided in paragraph (3), until
the facility demonstrates its compliance to the department. The
penalty amounts assessed pursuant to this subdivision in any one
calendar year shall be limited to 4 percent of the total Medi-Cal
revenue received by the skilled nursing facility in the previous
calendar year. If the department determines a facility is out of
compliancefor multiple calendar years, additional penalty amounts
may be assessed for each respective calendar year.

(3) The department may waive a portion or al of the penalties
assessed pursuant to this subdivision with respect to a petitioning
skilled nursing facility in the event the department determines, in
its solediscretion, that the facility has demonstrated that imposing
thefull penalty hasahigh likelihood of creating an unduefinancia
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hardship for thefacility or creates asignificant financial difficulty
in providing services to Medi-Cal beneficiaries.

(h) Inimplementing this article, the department shall seek any
federa approvals it deems necessary. This article shal be
implemented only to the extent that any necessary federal approvals
are obtained and federal financial participationisavallableand is
not otherwise jeopardized.

SEC. 101. Section 14132 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

14132. The following is the schedule of benefits under this
chapter:

(@) Outpatient services are covered as follows:

Physician, hospital or clinic outpatient, surgical center,
respiratory care, optometric, chiropractic, psychology, podiatric,
occupational therapy, physical therapy, speech therapy, audiology,
acupuncture to the extent federal matching funds are provided for
acupuncture, and services of personsrendering treatment by prayer
or healing by spiritual means in the practice of any church or
religious denomination insofar as these can be encompassed by
federal participation under an approved plan, subject to utilization
controls.

(b) (1) Inpatient hospital services, including, but not limited
to, physician and podiatric services, physical therapy, and
occupational therapy, are covered subject to utilization controls.

(2) For a Medi-Ca fee-for-service beneficiary, emergency
services and care that are necessary for the treatment of an
emergency medical condition and medical care directly related to
the emergency medical condition. This paragraph does not change
the obligation of Medi-Ca managed care plans to provide
emergency services and care. For the purposes of this paragraph,
“emergency servicesand care’ and “emergency medical condition”
have the same meanings as those terms are defined in Section
1317.1 of the Health and Safety Code.

(c) Nursing facility services, subacute care services, and services
provided by any category of intermediate care facility for the
developmentally disabled, including podiatry, physician, nurse
practitioner services, and prescribed drugs, as described in
subdivision (d), are covered subject to utilization controls.
Respiratory care, physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech
therapy, and audiology services for patients in nursing facilities
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and any category of intermediate care facility for persons with
developmental disabilities are covered subject to utilization
controls.

(d) (1) Purchase of prescribed drugs is covered subject to the
Medi-Cal List of Contract Drugs and utilization controls.

(2) Purchase of drugs used to treat erectile dysfunction or any
off-label uses of those drugs are covered only to the extent that
federal financial participation is available.

(3) (A) To the extent required by federal law, the purchase of
outpatient prescribed drugs, for which the prescription is executed
by a prescriber in written, nonelectronic form on or after April 1,
2008, is covered only when executed on a tamper resistant
prescription form. The implementation of this paragraph shall
conform to the guidanceissued by thefederal Centersfor Medicare
and Medicaid Services, but shall not conflict with state statutes on
the characteristics of tamper resistant prescriptions for controlled
substances, including Section 11162.1 of the Health and Safety
Code. The department shall provide providers and beneficiaries
with as much flexibility in implementing these rules as allowed
by the federal government. The department shall notify and consult
with appropriate stakeholders in implementing, interpreting, or
making specific this paragraph.

(B) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may take the actions specified in subparagraph (A)
by means of a provider bulletin or notice, policy letter, or other
similar instructions without taking regulatory action.

(4) (A) (i) For the purposes of this paragraph, nonlegend has
the same meaning as defined in subdivision (a) of Section
14105.45.

(i) Nonlegend acetaminophen-containing products, including
children’s acetaminophen-containing products, selected by the
department are covered benefits.

(iii) Nonlegend cough and cold products selected by the
department are covered benefits.

(B) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may take the actions specified in subparagraph (A)
by means of a provider bulletin or notice, policy letter, or other
similar instruction without taking regulatory action.
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(e) Outpatient dialysisservicesand home hemodialysis services,
including physician services, medical supplies, drugs, and
equipment required for dialysis, are covered, subject to utilization
controls.

(f) Anesthesiologist services when provided as part of an
outpatient medical procedure, nurse anesthetist services when
rendered in an inpatient or outpatient setting under conditions set
forth by the director, outpatient laboratory services, and x-ray
services are covered, subject to utilization controls. This
subdivision does not require prior authorization for anesthesiologist
services provided as part of an outpatient medical procedure or
for portable x-ray servicesin anursing facility or any category of
intermediate care facility for the developmentally disabled.

(g) Blood and blood derivatives are covered.

(h) (1) Emergency and essential diagnostic and restorative
dental services, except for orthodontic, fixed bridgework, and
partial dentures that are not necessary for balance of a complete
artificial denture, are covered, subject to utilization controls. The
utilization controls shall allow emergency and essential diagnostic
and restorative dental services and prostheses that are necessary
to prevent asignificant disability or to replace previously furnished
prostheses that are lost or destroyed due to circumstances beyond
the beneficiary’s control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
director may by regulation provide for certain fixed artificial
dentures necessary for obtaining employment or for medical
conditions that preclude the use of removable dental prostheses,
and for orthodontic servicesin cleft palate deformities administered
by the department’s California Children’s Services program.

(2) For persons 21 years of age or older, the services specified
in paragraph (1) shall be provided subject to the following
conditions:

(A) Periodontal trestment is not a benefit.

(B) Endodontic therapy is not a benefit except for vital
pulpotomy.

(C) Laboratory processed crowns are not a benefit.

(D) Removable prosthetics shall be a benefit only for patients
as arequirement for employment.

(E) The director may, by regulation, provide for the provision
of fixed artificial denturesthat are necessary for medical conditions
that preclude the use of removable dental prostheses.
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(F) Notwithstanding the conditions specified in subparagraphs
(A) to (E), inclusive, the department may approve services for
personswith special medical disorders subject to utilization review.

(3) Paragraph (2) shall become inoperative on July 1, 1995.

(i) Medica transportation is covered, subject to utilization
controls.

()) Home health care services are covered, subject to utilization
controls.

(k) (1) Prosthetic and orthotic devices and eyeglasses are
covered, subject to utilization controls. Utilization controls shall
allow replacement of prosthetic and orthotic devices and eyeglasses
necessary because of loss or destruction due to circumstances
beyond the beneficiary’s control. Frame styles for eyeglasses
replaced pursuant to this subdivision shall not change more than
once every two years, unless the department so directs.

(2) Orthopedic and conventional shoes are covered when
provided by a prosthetic and orthotic supplier on the prescription
of aphysician and when at least one of the shoes will be attached
to aprosthesisor brace, subject to utilization controls. Modification
of stock conventional or orthopedic shoeswhen medically indicated
is covered, subject to utilization controls. If there is a clearly
established medical need that cannot be satisfied by the
modification of stock conventional or orthopedic shoes,
custom-made orthopedic shoes are covered, subject to utilization
controls.

(3) Therapeutic shoes and inserts are covered when provided
to abeneficiary with adiagnosis of diabetes, subject to utilization
controls, to the extent that federal financial participation is
available.

() Hearing aids are covered, subject to utilization controls.
Utilization controls shall allow replacement of hearing aids
necessary because of loss or destruction due to circumstances
beyond the beneficiary’s control.

(m) Durable medical equipment and medical supplies are
covered, subject to utilization controls. The utilization controls
shall alow the replacement of durable medical equipment and
medical supplies when necessary because of loss or destruction
due to circumstances beyond the beneficiary’s control. The
utilization controls shall alow authorization of durable medical
equipment needed to assist a disabled beneficiary in caring for a
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child for whom the disabled beneficiary is a parent, stepparent,
foster parent, or legal guardian, subject to the availability of federal
financial participation. The department shall adopt emergency
regulations to define and establish criteria for assistive durable
medical equipment in accordance with the rulemaking provisions
of the Administrative Procedure Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing
with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the
Government Code).

(n) Family planning services are covered, subject to utilization
controls. However, for Medi-Ca managed care plans, utilization
controls shall be subject to Section 1367.25 of the Health and
Safety Code.

(o) Inpatient intensive rehabilitation hospital services, including
respiratory rehabilitation services, in ageneral acute care hospital
are covered, subject to utilization controls, when either of the
following criteria are met:

(1) A patient with a permanent disability or severe impairment
requires an inpatient intensive rehabilitation hospital program as
described in Section 14064 to devel op function beyond the limited
amount that would occur in the normal course of recovery.

(2) A patient with achronic or progressive disease requires an
inpatient intensive rehabilitation hospital program as described in
Section 14064 to maintain the patient’s present functional level as
long as possible.

(p) (1) Adult day hedth care is covered in accordance with
Chapter 8.7 (commencing with Section 14520).

(2) Commencing 30 days after the effective date of the act that
added this paragraph, and notwithstanding the number of days
previously approved through a treatment authorization request,
adult day health care is covered for a maximum of three days per
week.

(3) As provided in accordance with paragraph (4), adult day
health care is covered for a maximum of five days per week.

(4) As of the date that the director makes the declaration
described in subdivision (g) of Section 14525.1, paragraph (2)
shall become inoperative and paragraph (3) shall become operative.

(a) (1) Application of fluoride, or other appropriate fluoride
trestment as defined by the department, and other prophylaxis
treatment for children 17 years of age and under are covered.

97



—181— AB 116

(2) All dental hygiene services provided by aregistered dental
hygienist, registered dental hygienist in extended functions, and
registered dental hygienist in aternative practice licensed pursuant
to Sections 1753, 1917, 1918, and 1922 of the Business and
Professions Code may be covered as long as they are within the
scope of Denti-Cal benefits and they are necessary services
provided by a registered dental hygienist, registered dental
hygienist in extended functions, or registered dental hygienist in
alternative practice.

() (1) Paramedic services performed by a city, county, or
special district, or pursuant to a contract with a city, county, or
special district, and pursuant to aprogram established under former
Article 3 (commencing with Section 1480) of Chapter 2.5 of
Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code by a paramedic certified
pursuant to that article, and consisting of defibrillation and those
services specified in subdivision (3) of former Section 1482 of the
article.

(2) A provider enrolled under this subdivision shall satisfy all
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements for becoming a
Medi-Cal provider.

(3) This subdivision shall be implemented only to the extent
funding is available under Section 14106.6.

(s) (1) In-home medical care services are covered when
medically appropriate and subject to utilization controls, for a
beneficiary who would otherwise require care for an extended
period of time in an acute care hospital at a cost higher than
in-home medical care services. Thedirector shal havethe authority
under this section to contract with organizations qualified to
provide in-home medical care services to those persons. These
services may be provided to a patient placed in a shared or
congregate living arrangement, if a home setting is not medically
appropriate or available to the beneficiary.

(2) Asusedinthissubdivision, “in-home medical care service’
includes utility bills directly attributable to continuous, 24-hour
operation of life-sustaining medical equipment, to the extent that
federal financial participation is available.

(3) Asused in this subdivision, in-home medical care services
include, but are not limited to:

(A) Level-of-care and cost-of-care evaluations.
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(B) Expenses, directly attributable to home care activities, for
materials.

(C) Physician feesfor home visits.

(D) Expenses directly attributable to home care activities for
shelter and modification to shelter.

(E) Expensesdirectly attributable to additional costs of special
diets, including tube feeding.

(F) Medically related personal services.

(G) Home nursing education.

(H) Emergency maintenance repair.

() Home health agency personnel benefitsthat permit coverage
of care during periods when regular personnel are on vacation or
using sick leave.

(J) All servicesneeded to maintain antiseptic conditions at stoma
or shunt sites on the body.

(K) Emergency and nonemergency medical transportation.

(L) Medical supplies.

(M) Medical equipment, including, but not limited to, scales,
gurneys, and equipment racks suitable for paralyzed patients.

(N) Utility usedirectly attributable to the requirements of home
care activities that are in addition to normal utility use.

(O) Specia drugs and medications.

(P) Home health agency supervision of visiting staff that is
medically necessary, but not included in the home health agency
rate.

(Q) Therapy services.

(R) Household appliances and household utensil costs directly
attributable to home care activities.

(S) Madification of medical equipment for home use.

(T) Training and orientation for use of life-support systems,
including, but not limited to, support of respiratory functions.

(U) Respiratory care practitioner services as defined in Sections
3702 and 3703 of the Business and Professions Code, subject to
prescription by a physician and surgeon.

(4) A beneficiary receiving in-home medical care services is
entitled to the full range of services within the Medi-Cal scope of
benefits as defined by this section, subject to medical necessity
and applicable utilization control. Services provided pursuant to
this subdivision, which are not otherwise included in the Medi-Cal
schedule of benefits, shall be available only to the extent that
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federa financia participation for these services is available in
accordance with ahome- and community-based services waiver.

(t) Home- and community-based services approved by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services are
covered to the extent that federal financial participationisavailable
for those services under the state plan or waivers granted in
accordance with Section 1315 or 1396n of Title 42 of the United
States Code. The director may seek waivers for any or all home-
and community-based services approvable under Section 1315 or
1396n of Title 42 of the United States Code. Coverage for those
services shall be limited by the terms, conditions, and duration of
the federal waivers.

(u) Comprehensive perinatal services, as provided through an
agreement with a health care provider designated in Section
14134.5 and meeting the standards devel oped by the department
pursuant to Section 14134.5, subject to utilization controls.

The department shall seek any federal waivers necessary to
implement the provisions of this subdivision. The provisions for
which appropriate federal waivers cannot be obtained shall not be
implemented. Provisions for which waivers are obtained or for
which waivers are not required shall be implemented
notwithstanding any inability to obtain federal waivers for the
other provisions. No provision of this subdivision shall be
implemented unless matching funds from Subchapter XIX
(commencing with Section 1396) of Chapter 7 of Title 42 of the
United States Code are available.

(v) Early and periodic screening, diagnosis, and trestment for
any individual under 21 years of age is covered, consistent with
the requirements of Subchapter X1X (commencing with Section
1396) of Chapter 7 of Title 42 of the United States Code.

(w) (1) Hospice services are covered, in accordance with
Medicare requirements, and are subject to utilization controls.
Coverage shall be available only to the extent that no additional
net program costs are incurred.

(2) This subdivision shall be implemented only to the extent
that federal financial participation is available and not otherwise
jeopardized, and any necessary federal approvals have been
obtained.

(3) Notwithstanding any other law, the department, without
taking any further regulatory action, may implement, interpret, or
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make specific this subdivision by means of all-county letters, plan
letters, plan or provider bulletins, or similar instructions.

(X) When a claim for treatment provided to a beneficiary
includes both services that are authorized and reimbursable under
this chapter and services that are not reimbursable under this
chapter, that portion of the claim for the treatment and services
authorized and reimbursable under this chapter shall be payable.

(y) Home- and community-based services approved by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services for a
beneficiary with a diagnosis of Acquired Immune Deficiency
Syndrome (AIDS) or AIDS-related complex, who requires
intermediate care or ahigher level of care.

Services provided pursuant to a waiver obtained from the
Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human
Services pursuant to this subdivision, and that are not otherwise
included in the Medi-Cal schedule of benefits, shall be available
only to the extent that federal financial participation for these
servicesis availablein accordance with the waiver, and subject to
the terms, conditions, and duration of the waiver. These services
shall be provided to a beneficiary in accordance with the client’'s
needs as identified in the plan of care, and subject to medical
necessity and applicable utilization control.

Thedirector may, under this section, contract with organizations
qualified to provide, directly or by subcontract, services provided
for in this subdivision to an eligible beneficiary. Contracts or
agreements entered into pursuant to this division shal not be
subject to the Public Contract Code.

(2) Respiratory care when provided in organized hedth care
systemsasdefined in Section 3701 of the Businessand Professions
Code, and asan in-home medical serviceasoutlinedin subdivision
(9.

(@@ (1) Thereishereby established inthe department aprogram
to provide comprehensive clinical family planning servicesto any
person who has a family income at or below 200 percent of the
federal poverty level, as revised annually, and who is éligible to
receive these services pursuant to the waiver identified in paragraph
(2). This program shall be known as the Family Planning, Access,
Care, and Treatment (Family PACT) Program.

(2) The department shall seek a waiver in accordance with
Section 1315 of Title 42 of the United States Code, or a state plan
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amendment adopted in  accordance  with  Section
1396a(a)(10)(A)(i1)(XXI) of Title 42 of the United States Code,
which was added to Section 1396a of Title 42 of the United States
Code by Section 2303(a)(2) of the federal Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act (PPACA) (Public Law 111-148), for a
program to provide comprehensive clinical family planning
services as described in paragraph (8). Under the waiver, the
program shall be operated only in accordance with the waiver and
the statutes and regulations in paragraph (4) and subject to the
terms, conditions, and duration of the waiver. Under the state plan
amendment, which shall replace the waiver and shall be known as
the Family PACT successor state plan amendment, the program
shall be operated only in accordance with this subdivision and the
statutes and regulations in paragraph (4). The state shall use the
standards and processes imposed by the state on January 1, 2007,
including the application of an eligibility discount factor to the
extent required by the federal Centersfor Medicare and Medicaid
Services, for purposes of determining digibility as permitted under
Section 1396a(a)(10)(A)(ii)(XX1) of Title 42 of the United States
Code. To the extent that federal financial participation isavailable,

the program shall continue to conduct education, outreach,
enrollment, service delivery, and evaluation services as specified
under the waiver. The services shall be provided under the program
only if the waiver and, when applicable, the successor state plan
amendment are approved by the federal Centersfor Medicare and
Medicaid Services and only to the extent that federal financial

participation is available for the services. This section does not
prohibit the department from seeking the Family PACT successor
state plan amendment during the operation of the waiver.

(3) Solely for the purposes of the waiver or Family PACT
successor state plan amendment and notwithstanding any other
law, the collection and use of anindividual’s social security number
shall be necessary only to the extent required by federal law.

(4) Sections 14105.3 to 14105.39, inclusive, 14107.11, 24005,
and 24013, and any regulations adopted under these statutes shall
apply to the program provided for under thissubdivision. No other
law under the Medi-Cal program or the State-Only Family Planning
Program shall apply to the program provided for under this
subdivision.
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(5) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement, without taking regulatory action,
the provisions of the waiver after itsapproval by thefederal Centers
for Medicare and Medicaid Services and the provisions of this
section by means of an all-county letter or similar instruction to
providers. Thereafter, the department shall adopt regulations to
implement this section and the approved waiver in accordance
with the requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.
Beginning six months after the effective date of the act adding this
subdivision, the department shall provide a status report to the
Legislature on a semiannual basis until regulations have been
adopted.

(6) If the Department of Finance determines that the program
operated under the authority of the waiver described in paragraph
(2) or the Family PACT successor state plan amendment is no
longer cost effective, this subdivision shall become inoperative on
thefirst day of the first month following the issuance of a 30-day
notification of that determination in writing by the Department of
Finance to the chairperson in each house that considers
appropriations, the chairpersons of the committees, and the
appropriate subcommittees in each house that considers the State
Budget, and the Chairperson of the Joint Legislative Budget
Committee.

(7) If this subdivision ceases to be operative, all persons who
have received or are eligible to receive comprehensive clinical
family planning services pursuant to the waiver described in
paragraph (2) shall receive family planning services under the
Medi-Cal program pursuant to subdivision (n) if they are otherwise
eligible for Medi-Cal with no spend down of excess income, or
shall receive comprehensive clinical family planning services under
the program established in Division 24 (commencing with Section
24000) either if they are eligible for Medi-Cal with a spend down
of excess income or if they are otherwise eligible under Section
24003.

(8) For purposes of this subdivision, “comprehensive clinical
family planning services’ means the process of establishing
objectives for the number and spacing of children, and selecting
the means by which those objectives may be achieved. These

97



— 187 — AB 116

means include a broad range of acceptable and effective methods
and services to limit or enhance fertility, including contraceptive
methods, federa Food and Drug Administration-approved
contraceptive drugs, devices, and supplies, natural family planning,
abstinence methods, and basic, limited fertility management.
Comprehensive clinical family planning services include, but are
not limited to, preconception counseling, maternal and fetal health
counseling, general reproductive health care, including diagnosis
and treatment of infections and conditions, including cancer, that
threaten reproductive capability, medical family planning treatment
and procedures, including supplies and followup, and
informational,  counseling, and educational  services.
Comprehensive clinical family planning services shall not include
abortion, pregnancy testing solely for the purposes of referral for
abortion or services ancillary to abortions, or pregnancy care that
is not incident to the diagnosis of pregnancy. Comprehensive
clinical family planning services shall be subject to utilization
control and include al of the following:

(A) Family planning related services and male and female
sterilization. Family planning services for men and women shall
include emergency services and servicesfor complicationsdirectly
related to the contraceptive method, federal Food and Drug
Administration-approved contraceptive drugs, devices, and
supplies, and followup, consultation, and referral services, as
indicated, which may require treatment authorization requests.

(B) All United States Department of Agriculture, federal Food
and Drug Administration-approved contraceptive drugs, devices,
and suppliesthat are in keeping with current standards of practice
and from which the individual may choose.

(C) Culturdly and linguistically appropriate health education
and counseling services, including informed consent, that include
all of the following:

(i) Psychosocial and medical aspects of contraception.

(i) Sexuality.

(iii) Fertility.

(iv) Pregnancy.

(v) Parenthood.

(vi) Infertility.

(vii) Reproductive hedlth care.

(viii) Preconception and nutrition counseling.
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(ix) Prevention and treatment of sexually transmitted infection.

(x) Use of contraceptive methods, federa Food and Drug
Administration-approved contraceptive drugs, devices, and
supplies.

(xi) Possible contraceptive consequences and followup.

(xii) Interpersonal  communication and negotiation of
relationships to assist individuals and couples in effective
contraceptive method use and planning families.

(D) A comprehensive health history, updated at the next periodic
visit (between 11 and 24 months after initial examination) that
includes a complete obstetrical history, gynecological history,
contraceptive history, personal medical history, health risk factors,
and family health history, including genetic or hereditary
conditions.

(E) A complete physical examination oninitial and subsequent
periodic visits.

(F) Services, drugs, devices, and supplies deemed by thefederal
Centersfor Medicare and Medicaid Servicesto be appropriate for
inclusion in the program.

(G) (i) Home test kits for sexualy transmitted diseases,
including any laboratory costs of processing the kit, that are
deemed medically necessary or appropriate and ordered directly
by an enrolled Medi-Cal or Family PACT clinician or furnished
through astanding order for patient use based on clinical guidelines
and individual patient health needs.

(if) For purposes of this subparagraph, “hometest kit” meansa
product used for a test recommended by the federal Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention guidelines or the United States
Preventive Services Task Force that has been CLIA-waived,
FDA-cleared or -approved, or developed by a laboratory in
accordance with established regulations and quality standards, to
allow individuals to self-collect specimens for STDs, including
HIV, remotely at alocation outside of aclinical setting.

(iii) Reimbursement under this subparagraph shall be contingent
upon the addition of codes specific to hometest kitsin the Current
Procedural Terminology or Heal thcare Common Procedure Coding
System to comply with Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act requirements. The home test kit shall be sent
by the enrolled Family PACT provider to a Medi-Cal-enrolled
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laboratory with fee based on Medicare Clinica Diagnostic
Laboratory Tests Payment System Final Rule.

(9) In order to maximize the availability of federal financial
participation under this subdivision, the director shall have the
discretion to implement the Family PACT successor state plan
amendment retroactively to July 1, 2010.

(ab) (1) Purchase of prescribed enteral nutrition products is
covered, subject to the Medi-Cal list of enteral nutrition products
and utilization controls.

(2) Purchase of enteral nutrition products is limited to those
products to be administered through afeeding tube, including, but
not limited to, a gastric, nasogastric, or jejunostomy tube. A
beneficiary under the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic,
and Treatment Program shall be exempt from this paragraph.

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (2), the department may deem
an enteral nutrition product, not administered through a feeding
tube, including, but not limited to, a gastric, nasogastric, or
jejunostomy tube, a benefit for patients with diagnoses, including,
but not limited to, malabsorption and inborn errors of metabolism,
if the product has been shown to be neither investigational nor
experimental when used as part of atherapeutic regimen to prevent
serious disability or death.

(4) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement the amendmentsto this subdivision
made by the act that added this paragraph by means of all-county
letters, provider bulletins, or similar instructions, without taking
regulatory action.

(5) The amendments made to this subdivision by the act that
added this paragraph shall be implemented June 1, 2011, or onthe
first day of the first calendar month following 60 days after the
date the department secures all necessary federal approvals to
implement this section, whichever islater.

(ac) Diabetic testing supplies are covered when provided by a
pharmacy, subject to utilization controls.

(ad) (1) Nonmedical transportation is covered, subject to
utilization controls and permissible time and distance standards,
for abeneficiary to obtain covered Medi-Cal services.

(2) (A) (i) Nonmedical transportation includes, at aminimum,
round trip transportation for a beneficiary to obtain covered
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Medi-Cal services by passenger car, taxicab, or any other form of
public or private conveyance, and mileage reimbursement when
conveyanceisin aprivate vehicle arranged by the beneficiary and
not through a transportation broker, bus passes, taxi vouchers, or
train tickets.

(i) Nonmedical transportation does not include the
transportation of a sick, injured, invalid, convalescent, infirm, or
otherwise incapacitated beneficiary by ambulance, litter van, or
wheelchair van licensed, operated, and equipped in accordance
with state and local statutes, ordinances, or regulations.

(B) Nonmedical transportation shall be provided for a
beneficiary who can attest in a manner to be specified by the
department that other currently available resources have been
reasonably exhausted. For a beneficiary enrolled in a managed
care plan, nonmedical transportation shall be provided by the
beneficiary’s managed care plan. For a Medi-Cal fee-for-service
beneficiary, the department shall provide nonmedical transportation
when those services are not available to the beneficiary under
Sections 14132.44 and 14132.47.

(3) Nonmedical transportation shall be provided in aform and
manner that is accessible, in terms of physical and geographic
accessibility, for the beneficiary and consistent with applicable
state and federal disability rights laws.

(4) Itistheintent of the Legidaturein enacting thissubdivision
to affirm the requirement under Section 431.53 of Title 42 of the
Code of Federa Regulations, in which the department isrequired
to provide necessary transportation, including nonmedical
transportation, for recipients to and from covered services. This
subdivision shall not be interpreted to add a new benefit to the
Medi-Cal program.

(5) The department shall seek any federal approvals that may
be required to implement this subdivision, including, but not
limited to, approval of revisions to the existing state plan that the
department determines are necessary to implement this subdivision.

(6) This subdivision shall be implemented only to the extent
that federal financial participation is available and not otherwise
jeopardized and any necessary federal approvals have been
obtained.

(7) Prior totheeffective date of any necessary federal approvals,
nonmedical transportation was not a Medi-Cal managed care
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benefit with the exception of when provided as an Early and
Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, and Treatment service.

(8) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regul atory action, shall
implement, interpret, or make specific this subdivision by means
of all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or
similar instructions until the time regulations are adopted. By July
1, 2018, the department shall adopt regulationsin accordance with
the requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340)
of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.
Commencing January 1, 2018, and notwithstanding Section
10231.5 of the Government Code, the department shall provide a
status report to the Legislature on a semiannua basis, in
compliance with Section 9795 of the Government Code, until
regul ations have been adopted.

(9) Thissubdivision shall not beimplemented until July 1, 2017.

(ae) (1) No sooner than January 1, 2022, Rapid Whole Genome
Sequencing, including individual sequencing, trio sequencing for
aparent or parents and their baby, and ultra-rapid sequencing, is
a covered benefit for any Medi-Cal beneficiary who is one year
of age or younger and is receiving inpatient hospital services in
an intensive care unit.

(2) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regul atory action, shall
implement, interpret, or make specific this subdivision by means
of all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or
similar instructions until the time regulations are adopted.

(3) This subdivision shall be implemented only to the extent
that any necessary federal approvals are obtained, and federal
financial participation is available and not otherwise jeopardized.

(af) (1) Home test kits for sexually transmitted diseases that
are deemed medically necessary or appropriate and ordered directly
by an enrolled Medi-Cal clinician or furnished through a standing
order for patient use based on clinical guidelines and individual
patient health needs.

(2) For purposes of this subdivision, “home test kit” means a
product used for a test recommended by the federal Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention guidelines or the United States
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Preventive Services Task Force that has been CLIA-waived,
FDA-cleared or -approved, or developed by a laboratory in
accordance with established regulations and quality standards, to
allow individuals to self-collect specimens for STDs, including
HIV, remotely at alocation outside of aclinical setting.

(3) Reimbursement under this subparagraph shall be contingent
upon the addition of codes specific to hometest kitsin the Current
Procedural Terminology or Healthcare Common Procedure Coding
System to comply with Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act requirements. The home test kit shall be sent
by the enrolled Medi-Ca provider to a Medi-Cal-enrolled
laboratory with fee based on Medicare Clinical Diagnostic
Laboratory Tests Payment System Final Rule.

(4) This subdivision shall be implemented only to the extent
that federal financial participation is available and not otherwise
jeopardized, and any necessary federal approvals have been
obtained.

(5 Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the State Department of Health Care Services may implement this
subdivision by means of all-county letters, plan letters, plan or
provider bulletins, or similar instructions, without taking any
further regulatory action.

(ag) (1) Violence prevention services are covered, subject to
medical necessity and utilization controls.

(2) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regulatory action, may
implement, interpret, or make specific this subdivision by means
of all-county letters, plan letters, plan or provider bulletins, or
similar instructions until the time regulations are adopted.

(3) This subdivision shall be implemented only to the extent
that any necessary federal approvals are obtained, and federal
financial participation is available and not otherwise jeopardized.

(4) The department shall post on its internet website the date
upon which violence prevention services may be provided and
billed pursuant to this subdivision.

(5) “Violence prevention services’ means evidence-based,
trauma-informed, and culturally responsive preventive services
provided to reduce the incidence of violent injury or reinjury,

97



—193— AB 116

trauma, and related harms and promote trauma recovery,
stabilization, and improved health outcomes.

SEC. 102. Section 14132.36 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14132.36. (@) Community healthworker servicesareacovered
Medi-Cal benefit.

(b) For purposes of thissection, the following definitions apply:

(1) “Community heath worker” means a liaison, link, or
intermediary between health and social servicesand the community
to facilitate access to services and to improve the access and
cultural competence of service delivery. A community health
worker is a frontline health worker either trusted by, or who has
aclose understanding of, the community served. Community health
workers include Promotores, Promotores de Salud, Community
Health Representatives, navigators, and other nonlicensed health
workers, including violence prevention professionals. A community
health worker’s lived experience shall align with and provide a
connection to the community being served.

(2) “Supervising provider” is an enrolled Medi-Cal provider
that isauthorized to supervise acommunity health worker pursuant
to thefederally approved Medicaid state plan amendment and that
ensures that a community health worker meets the qualifications
as required by the department. The supervising provider directly
or indirectly oversees community health workers and the services
that they deliver to Medi-Cal members.

(c) A Medi-Cal managed care plan shall engagein outreach and
education effortsto enrolleesin aform and manner as directed by
the department. At a minimum, the department shall require a
Medi-Ca managed care plan to provide the following information
to an enrollee:

(1) A description of the community health worker services
benefit, including eligibility and coverage criteria.

(2) A list of providersthat are authorized to refer an enrollee to
community health worker services, and an explanation of how to
request areferral.

(3 A list of contracted community health worker entities,
including community-based organizations, community clinics,
local health jurisdictions, licensed providers, clinics, or hospitals
available to provide community health worker services, updated
at least annually.
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(4) An email address, internet website, and telephone number
for an enrolleeto accessto request additional information regarding
community health worker services.

(d) Theoutreach and education efforts conducted by aMedi-Cal
managed care plan pursuant to subdivision (c) shall meet cultural
and linguistic appropriateness standards, as determined by the
department.

() TheMedi-Ca managed care plan shall notify providers about
the community health worker services benefit, as set forth by the
department.

() (1) No later than July 1, 2025, a Medi-Cal managed care
plan shall adopt policies and procedures to effectuate a billing
pathway for supervising providers, including contracted hospitals,
to claim for the provision of community health worker servicesto
enrollees during an emergency department visit and an outpatient
followup to an emergency department visit, that are consistent
with guidance devel oped by the department pursuant to paragraph
(2.

(2) No later than July 1, 2025, the department shall, consistent
with subdivision (g), develop guidance on policies and procedures
to effectuate abilling pathway for supervising providers, including
contracted hospitals, to claim for the provision of community health
worker services to Medi-Cal members under the fee-for-service
delivery system during an emergency department visit and as an
outpatient followup to an emergency department visit.

(g) The department shall, through existing and regular
stakeholder processes, inform stakehol ders about, and accept input
from stakeholders on, implementation of the community health
worker services benefit.

(h) This section shall be implemented only to the extent that
federa financial participation is available and not otherwise
jeopardized, and any necessary federal approvals have been
obtained.

(i) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement, interpret, or make specific this
section by means of policy letters, provider bulletins, or other
similar instructions, without taking any further regulatory action.

SEC. 103. Section 14132.100 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:
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14132.100. (a) The federaly qualified health center services
described in Section 1396d(a)(2)(C) of Title 42 of the United States
Code are covered benefits.

(b) The rura health clinic services described in Section
1396d(a)(2)(B) of Title 42 of the United States Code are covered
benefits.

(c) Federally qualified health center services and rura health
clinic services shall be reimbursed on a per-visit basis in
accordance with the definition of “visit” set forth in subdivision

(9).

(d) Effective October 1, 2004, and on each October 1 thereafter,
until no longer required by federal law, federally qualified health
center (FQHC) and rural health clinic (RHC) per-visit rates shall
be increased by the Medicare Economic Index applicable to
primary care services in the manner provided for in Section
1396a(bb)(3)(A) of Title 42 of the United States Code. Prior to
January 1, 2004, FQHC and RHC per-visit rates shall be adjusted
by the Medicare Economic Index in accordance with the
methodology set forth in the state plan in effect on October 1,
2001.

() (1) An FQHC or RHC may apply for an adjustment to its
per-visit rate based on a change in the scope of services provided
by the FQHC or RHC. Rate changes based on a change in the
scope of services provided by an FQHC or RHC shall be evaluated
in accordance with Medicare reasonable cost principles, as set
forth in Part 413 (commencing with Section 413.1) of Title 42 of
the Code of Federal Regulations, or its successor.

(2) Subject to the conditions set forth in subparagraphs (A) to
(D), inclusive, of paragraph (3), achangein scope of service means
any of the following:

(A) The addition of a new FQHC or RHC service that is not
incorporated in the baseline prospective payment system (PPS)
rate, or adeletion of an FQHC or RHC servicethat isincorporated
in the baseline PPS rate.

(B) A changein servicedueto amended regulatory requirements
or rules.

(C) A changein serviceresulting from relocating or remodeling
an FQHC or RHC.

(D) A changeintypesof servicesdueto achangein applicable
technology and medical practice utilized by the center or clinic.
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(E) Anincrease in service intensity attributable to changes in
the types of patients served, including, but not limited to,
populations with HIV or AIDS, or other chronic diseases, or
homeless, elderly, migrant, or other special populations.

(F) Any changesin any of the services described in subdivision
(@ or (b), or in the provider mix of an FQHC or RHC or one of
its sites.

(G) Changes in operating costs attributable to capital
expenditures associated with a modification of the scope of any
of the services described in subdivision (@) or (b), including new
or expanded service facilities, regulatory compliance, or changes
in technology or medical practices at the center or clinic.

(H) Indirect medical education adjustmentsand adirect graduate
medical education payment that reflects the costs of providing
teaching services to interns and residents.

() Any changesin the scope of aproject approved by the federal
Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA).

(3) A changein costsisnot, in and of itself, a scope-of-service
change, unless all of the following apply:

(A) Theincreaseor decreasein cost isattributableto anincrease
or decrease in the scope of servicesdefined in subdivisions (a) and
(b), as applicable.

(B) The cost is allowable under Medicare reasonable cost
principles set forth in Part 413 (commencing with Section 413.1)
of Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations, or its successor.

(C) Thechangeinthe scope of servicesisachangein thetype,
intensity, duration, or amount of services, or any combination
thereof.

(D) The net change in the FQHC's or RHC's rate equals or
exceeds 1.75 percent for the affected FQHC or RHC site. For
FQHCsand RHCsthat filed consolidated cost reportsfor multiple
sites to establish the initial prospective payment reimbursement
rate, the 1.75-percent threshold shall be applied to the average
per-visit rate of all sites for the purposes of calculating the cost
associated with a scope-of-service change. “Net change” means
the per-visit rate change attributabl e to the cumul ative effect of all
increases and decreases for a particular fiscal year.

(4) AnFQHC or RHC may submit requestsfor scope-of-service
changes once per fiscal year, only within 90 days following the
beginning of the FQHC's or RHC's fiscal year. Any approved
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increase or decrease in the provider’s rate shall be retroactive to
the beginning of the FQHC's or RHC's fiscal year in which the
request is submitted.

(5) An FQHC or RHC shall submit a scope-of-service rate
change request within 90 days of the beginning of any FQHC or
RHC fiscal year occurring after the effective date of this section,
if, during the FQHC's or RHC's prior fiscal year, the FQHC or
RHC experienced adecrease in the scope of services provided that
the FQHC or RHC either knew or should have known would have
resulted in asignificantly lower per-visit rate. If an FQHC or RHC
discontinues providing onsite pharmacy or dental services, it shall
submit a scope-of-service rate change request within 90 days of
the beginning of the following fiscal year. The rate change shall
be effective as provided for in paragraph (4). As used in this
paragraph, “significantly lower” means an average per-visit rate
decrease in excess of 2.5 percent.

(6) Notwithstanding paragraph (4), if the approved
scope-of-service change or changes were initially implemented
on or after thefirst day of an FQHC'sor RHC'sfiscal year ending
in calendar year 2001, but before the adoption and issuance of
written instructions for applying for a scope-of-service change,
the adjusted reimbursement rate for that scope-of-service change
shall be made retroactive to the date the scope-of-service change
was initialy implemented. Scope-of-service changes under this
paragraph shall be required to be submitted within the later of 150
days after the adoption and issuance of the written instructions by
the department, or 150 days after the end of the FQHC sor RHC’s
fiscal year ending in 2003.

(7) All references in this subdivision to “fiscal year” shall be
construed to be referencesto thefiscal year of theindividual FQHC
or RHC, as the case may be.

() (1) AnFQHC or RHC may request asupplemental payment
if extraordinary circumstances beyond the control of the FQHC
or RHC occur after December 31, 2001, and PPS payments are
insufficient dueto these extraordinary circumstances. Supplemental
payments arising from extraordinary circumstances under this
subdivision shall be solely and exclusively within the discretion
of the department and shall not be subject to subdivision (I). These
supplemental payments shall be determined separately from the
scope-of-service adjustments described in subdivision (e).
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Extraordinary circumstances include, but are not limited to, acts
of nature, changes in applicable requirements in the Health and
Safety Code, changes in applicable licensure requirements, and
changesin applicable rules or regulations. Mereinflation of costs
alone, absent extraordinary circumstances, shall not be grounds
for supplemental payment. If an FQHC's or RHC's PPS rate is
sufficient to cover itsoverall costs, including those associated with
the extraordinary circumstances, then a supplemental payment is
not warranted.

(2) The department shall accept requests for supplemental
payment at any time throughout the prospective payment rate year.

(3) Requests for supplemental payments shall be submitted in
writing to the department and shall set forth the reasons for the
request. Each request shal be accompanied by sufficient
documentation to enable the department to act upon the request.
Documentation shall include the data necessary to demonstrate
that the circumstances for which supplemental payment isrequested
meet the requirements set forth in this section. Documentation
shall include both of the following:

(A) A presentation of data to demonstrate reasons for the
FQHC's or RHC'srequest for a supplemental payment.

(B) Documentation showing the cost implications. The cost
impact shall be material and significant, two hundred thousand
dollars ($200,000) or 1 percent of afacility’stotal costs, whichever
isless.

(4) A request shall be submitted for each affected year.

(5) Amounts granted for supplemental payment requests shall
be paid as lump-sum amounts for those years and not as revised
PPS rates, and shall be repaid by the FQHC or RHC to the extent
that it is not expended for the specified purposes.

(6) Thedepartment shall notify the provider of the department’s
discretionary decision in writing.

(9) (1) An FQHC or RHC *“visit” means a face-to-face
encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and a physician,
physician assistant, nurse practitioner, certified nurse-midwife,
clinical psychologist, licensed clinical social worker, licensed
professional clinical counselor, or a visiting nurse. A visit shall
also include a face-to-face encounter between an FQHC or RHC
patient and a comprehensive perinatal practitioner, as defined in
Section 51179.7 of Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations,
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providing comprehensive perinatal services, a four-hour day of
attendance at an adult day health care center, and any other provider
identified in the state plan’s definition of an FQHC or RHC visit.

(2) (A) A visit shall aso include a face-to-face encounter
between an FQHC or RHC patient and adental hygienist, adental
hygienist in dternative practice, or amarriage and family therapist.

(B) Notwithstanding subdivision (e), if an FQHC or RHC that
currently includes the cost of the services of a dental hygienist in
alternative practice, or a marriage and family therapist for the
purposes of establishing its FQHC or RHC rate chooses to bill
these services as a separate visit, the FQHC or RHC shall apply
for an adjustment to its per-visit rate, and, after the rate adjustment
has been approved by the department, shall bill these services as
a separate visit. However, multiple encounters with dental
professionals or marriage and family therapists that take place on
the same day shall congtitute a single visit. The department shall
develop the appropriate forms to determine which FQHC's or
RHC's rates shall be adjusted and to facilitate the calculation of
the adjusted rates. An FQHC's or RHC's application for, or the
department’s approval of, a rate adjustment pursuant to this
subparagraph shall not constitute a change in scope of service
within the meaning of subdivision (e). An FQHC or RHC that
applies for an adjustment to its rate pursuant to this subparagraph
may continueto bill for all other FQHC or RHC visitsat itsexisting
per-visit rate, subject to reconciliation, until the rate adjustment
for visits between an FQHC or RHC patient and adental hygienist,
adental hygienist in aternative practice, or amarriage and family
therapist has been approved. Any approved increase or decrease
in the provider’s rate shall be made within six months after the
date of receipt of the department’s rate adjustment forms pursuant
to this subparagraph and shall be retroactive to the beginning of
the fiscal year in which the FQHC or RHC submits the request,
but in no case shall the effective date be earlier than January 1,
2008.

(C) An FQHC or RHC that does not provide dental hygienist
or dental hygienist in aternative practice services, and later elects
to add these services and hill these services as a separate visit,
shall process the addition of these services as a change in scope
of service pursuant to subdivision (e).
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(3) Notwithstanding any other provision of thissection, nolater
than July 1, 2018, a visit shall include a marriage and family
therapist.

(4) (A) (i) Subject to subparagraphs (C) and (D), a visit shall
also include an encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and
a physician, physician assistant, nurse practitioner, certified
nurse-midwife, clinical psychologist, licensed clinical social
worker, licensed professional clinical counselor, visiting nurse,
comprehensive perinatal services program practitioner, dental
hygienist, dental hygienist in alternative practice, or marriage and
family therapist using video synchronousinteraction, when services
delivered through that interaction meet the applicable standard of
care. A visit described in this clause shall be reimbursed at the
applicable FQHC's or RHC's per-visit PPS rate to the extent the
department determines that the FQHC or RHC has met all billing
requirements that would have applied if the applicable services
were delivered via a face-to-face encounter. An FQHC or RHC is
not precluded from establishing anew patient relationship through
video synchronous interaction. An FQHC patient who receives
telehealth services shall otherwise be eligible to receive in-person
services from that FQHC pursuant to HRSA requirements.

(if) Subject to subparagraphs (C) and (D), a visit shall aso
include an encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and a
physician, physician assistant, nurse practitioner, certified
nurse-midwife, clinical psychologist, licensed clinical social
worker, licensed professional clinical counselor, visiting nurse,
comprehensive perinatal services program practitioner, dental
hygienist, dental hygienist in alternative practice, or marriage and
family therapist using audio-only synchronous interaction, when
services delivered through that modality meet the applicable
standard of care. A visit described in this clause shall be reimbursed
at the applicable FQHC sor RHC' s per-visit PPSrate to the extent
the department determines that the FQHC or RHC has met all
billing requirements that would have applied if the applicable
services were delivered via a face-to-face encounter.

(iii) Subject to subparagraphs (C) and (D), a visit shall aso
include an encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and a
physician, physician assistant, nurse practitioner, certified
nurse-midwife, clinical psychologist, licensed clinical social
worker, licensed professional clinical counselor, visiting nurse,
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comprehensive perinatal services program practitioner, dental
hygienist, dental hygienist in alternative practice, or marriage and
family therapist using an asynchronous store and forward modality,
when services delivered through that modality meet the applicable
standard of care. A visit described in this clause shall be reimbursed
at the applicable FQHC sor RHC' s per-visit PPSrate to the extent
the department determines that the FQHC or RHC has met all
billing requirements that would have applied if the applicable
services were delivered via a face-to-face encounter.

(iv) () An FQHC or RHC may not establish a new patient
relationship using an audio-only synchronous interaction.

(I1) Notwithstanding subclause (1), the department may provide
for exceptions to the prohibition established by subclause (1),
including, but not limited to, the exceptions described in
sub-subclauses (ia) and (ib), which shall be developed in
consultation with affected stakeholders and published in
departmental guidance.

(ia) Notwithstanding the prohibition in subclause (1) and subject
to subparagraphs (C) and (D), an FQHC or RHC may establish a
new patient relationship using an audio-only synchronous
interaction when thevisitisrelated to sensitive services, as defined
in subdivision (n) of Section 56.05 of the Civil Code, and when
established in accordance with department-specific requirements
and consistent with federal and state laws, regulations, and
guidance.

(ib) Notwithstanding the prohibition in subclause (1) and subject
to subparagraphs (C) and (D), an FQHC or RHC may establish a
new patient relationship using an audio-only synchronous
interaction when the patient requests an audio-only modality or
attests they do not have access to video, and when established in
accordance with department-specific requirements and consistent
with federal and state laws, regulations, and guidance.

(v) AnFQHC or RHC isnot precluded from establishing anew
patient relationship through an asynchronous store and forward
modality, as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 2290.5 of the
Business and Professions Code, if the visit meets al of the
following conditions:

(1) Thepatient isphysically present at the FQHC or RHC, or at
an intermittent site of the FQHC or RHC, at the time the service
is performed.
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(I1) The individual who creates the patient records at the
originating siteisan employee or contractor of the FQHC or RHC,
or other person lawfully authorized by the FQHC or RHC to create
a patient record.

(1) The FQHC or RHC determines that the billing provider is
able to meet the applicable standard of care.

(V) An FQHC patient who receives telehealth services shall
otherwise bedligibleto receivein-person servicesfrom that FQHC
pursuant to HRSA requirements.

(B) (i) Pursuant to an effective date designated by the
department that is no sooner than January 1, 2024, an FQHC or
RHC furnishing applicable health care services via audio-only
synchronous interaction shall aso offer those same health care
servicesviavideo synchronousinteraction to preserve beneficiary
choice.

(if) The department may provide specific exceptions to the
requirement specified in clause (i), based on an FQHC'sor RHC'’s
access to requisite technologies, which shall be developed in
consultation with affected stakeholders and published in
departmental guidance.

(i) Effective onthe date designated by the department pursuant
to clause (i), an FQHC or RHC furnishing services through video
synchronous interaction or audio-only synchronous interaction
shall also do one of the following:

(I) Offer those services viain-person, face-to-face contact.

(1) Arrangefor areferral to, and afacilitation of, in-person care
that does not require a patient to independently contact a different
provider to arrange for that care.

(iv) Inadditionto any existing law requiring beneficiary consent
to telehealth, including, but not limited to, subdivision (b) of
Section 2290.5 of the Business and Professions Code, all of the
following shall be communicated by an FQHC or RHC to a
Medi-Cal beneficiary, in writing or verbaly, on at least one
occasion prior to, or concurrent with, initiating the delivery of one
or more health care services via telehedth to a Medi-Cal
beneficiary: an explanation that beneficiaries have the right to
access covered servicesthat may be delivered viatelehealth through
an in-person, face-to-face visit; an explanation that use of telehealth
is voluntary and that consent for the use of telehealth can be
withdrawn at any time by the Medi-Cal beneficiary without
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affecting their ability to access covered Medi-Cal servicesin the
future; an explanation of the availability of Medi-Cal coveragefor
nonmedical transportation services to in-person visits when other
available resources have been reasonably exhausted; and the
potential limitations or risks related to receiving services through
telehealth as compared to an in-person visit, to the extent any
limitations or risks are identified by the FQHC or RHC.

(1) The FQHC or RHC shall document in the patient record the
provision of this information and the patient’s verbal or written
acknowledgment that the information was received.

(I1) Thedepartment shall develop, in consultation with affected
stakeholders, model language for purposes of the communication
described in this subparagraph.

(C) The department shall seek any federal approvals it deems
necessary to implement this paragraph. This paragraph shall be
implemented only to the extent that any necessary federal approvals
are obtained and federal financial participation is available and
not otherwise jeopardized.

(D) Thisparagraph shall be operative on January 1, 2023, or on
the operative date or dates reflected in the applicable federal
approvals obtained by the department pursuant to subparagraph
(C), whichever is later. This paragraph shall not be construed to
limit coverage of, and reimbursement for, covered telehealth
services provided before the operative date of this paragraph.

(E) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement, interpret, and make specific this
paragraph by means of all-county letters, plan letters, provider
manuals, information notices, provider bulletins, and similar
instructions, without taking any further regulatory action.

(F) Telehealth modalities authorized pursuant to this paragraph
shall be subject to the bhilling, reimbursement, and utilization
management policies imposed by the department.

(G) Services delivered via telehealth modalities described in
this paragraph shall comply with the privacy and security
requirements contained in the federal Health Insurance Portability
and Accountability Act of 1996 found in Parts 160 and 164 of Title
45 of the Code of Federal Regulations, the Medicaid state plan,
and any other applicable state and federal statutes and regulations.
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(5) For purposesof thissection, “physician” shall beinterpreted
in amanner consistent with the federal Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services Medicare Rural Health Clinic and Federally
Qualified Health Center Manual (Publication 27), or its successor,
only to the extent that it defines the professional s whose services
are reimbursable on a per-visit basis and not as to the types of
services that these professionals may render during these visits
and shall include a physician and surgeon, osteopath, podiatrist,
dentist, optometrist, and chiropractor.

(h) If FQHC or RHC services are partially reimbursed by a
third-party payer, such as a managed care entity, as defined in
Section 1396u-2(a)(1)(B) of Title 42 of the United States Code,
the Medicare Program, or the Child Health and Disability
Prevention (CHDP) Program, the department shall reimburse an
FQHC or RHC for the difference between its per-visit PPS rate
and receiptsfrom other plans or programs on a contract-by-contract
basis and not in the aggregate, and may not include managed care
financia incentive payments that are required by federa law to
be excluded from the calculation.

(i) (1) Provided that the following entities are not operating as
intermittent clinics, as defined in subdivision (h) of Section 1206
of the Hedth and Safety Code, each entity shall have its
reimbursement rate established in accordance with one of the
methods outlined in paragraph (2) or (3), as selected by the FQHC
or RHC:

(A) Anentity that first qualifies as an FQHC or RHC in 2001
or |ater.

(B) A newly licensed facility at a new location added to an
existing FQHC or RHC.

(C) Anentity that isan existing FQHC or RHC that isrelocated
to anew site.

(2) (A) AnFQHC or RHC that adds anew licensed location to
itsexisting primary care license under paragraph (1) of subdivision
(b) of Section 1212 of the Health and Safety Code may elect to
have the reimbursement rate for the new location established in
accordance with paragraph (3), or notwithstanding subdivision
(e), an FQHC or RHC may choose to have one PPS rate for al
locations that appear on its primary care license determined by
submitting a change in scope of service request if both of the
following requirements are met:
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(i) The change in scope of service request includes the costs
and visits for those locations for the first full fiscal year
immediately following the date the new location is added to the
FQHC's or RHC's existing licensee.

(i) The FQHC or RHC submits the change in scope of service
request within 90 days after the FQHC’s or RHC'sfirst full fiscal
year.

(B) The FQHC'sor RHC's single PPS rate for those locations
shall be calculated based on the total costs and total visits of those
locations and shall be determined based on the following:

(i) Anaudit in accordance with Section 14170.

(if) Rate changes based on achange in scope of service request
shall be evaluated in accordance with Medicare reasonable cost
principles, as set forth in Part 413 (commencing with Section
413.1) of Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations, or its
SUCCESSOr'S.

(iii) Any approved increase or decrease in the provider’s rate
shall beretroactive to the beginning of the FQHC'sor RHC'sfiscal
year in which the request is submitted.

(C) Except as specified in subdivision (j), this paragraph does
not apply to alocation that was added to an existing primary care
clinic license by the State Department of Public Health, whether
by aregional district office or the centralized application unit, prior
to January 1, 2017.

(3) If an FQHC or RHC does not elect to have the PPS rate
determined by a change in scope of service request, the FQHC or
RHC shall have the reimbursement rate established for any of the
entities identified in paragraph (1) or (2) in accordance with one
of the following methods at the election of the FQHC or RHC:

(A) Theratemay be calculated on aper-visit basisin an amount
that isequal to the average of the per-visit rates of three comparable
FQHCsor RHCslocated in the same or adjacent areawith asimilar
caseload.

(B) In the absence of three comparable FQHCs or RHCs with
asimilar caseload, the rate may be calculated on a per-visit basis
in an amount that is equal to the average of the per-visit rates of
three comparable FQHCs or RHCs located in the same or an
adjacent service area, or in areasonably similar geographic area
with respect to relevant social, heath care, and economic
characterigtics.
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(C) At anew entity’s one-time election, the department shall
establish areimbursement rate, calculated on aper-visit basis, that
is equal to 100 percent of the projected allowable costs to the
FQHC or RHC of furnishing FQHC or RHC services during the
first 12 months of operation as an FQHC or RHC. After the first
12-month period, the projected per-visit rate shall be increased by
the Medicare Economic Index then in effect. The projected
allowable costsfor thefirst 12 months shall be cost settled and the
prospective payment reimbursement rate shall be adjusted based
on actual and allowable cost per visit.

(D) The department may adopt any further and additional
methods of setting reimbursement ratesfor newly qualified FQHCs
or RHCs as are consistent with Section 1396a(bb)(4) of Title 42
of the United States Code.

(4) Inorder for an FQHC or RHC to establish the comparability
of itscaseload for purposes of subparagraph (A) or (B) of paragraph
(1), the department shall require that the FQHC or RHC submit
its most recent annual utilization report as submitted to the Office
of Statewide Health Planning and Development, unlessthe FQHC
or RHC wasnot required to file an annual utilization report. FQHCs
or RHCs that have experienced changes in their services or
caseload subsequent to the filing of the annual utilization report
may submit to the department a completed report in the format
applicable to the prior calendar year. FQHCs or RHCs that have
not previously submitted an annual utilization report shall submit
to the department a completed report in the format applicable to
the prior calendar year. The FQHC or RHC shall not be required
to submit the annual utilization report for the comparable FQHCs
or RHCs to the department, but shall be required to identify the
comparable FQHCs or RHCs.

(5) Therate for any newly qualified entity set forth under this
subdivision shall be effective retroactively to the later of the date
that the entity was first qualified by the applicable federa agency
asan FQHC or RHC, the date anew facility at anew location was
added to an existing FQHC or RHC, or the date on which an
existing FQHC or RHC was relocated to a new site. The FQHC
or RHC shall be permitted to continue billing for Medi-Cal covered
benefits on a fee-for-service basis under its existing provider
number until it is informed of its FQHC or RHC enrollment
approval, and the department shall reconcil e the difference between
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thefee-for-service payments and the FQHC'sor RHC' s prospective
payment rate at that time.

() (1) Visitsoccurring at an intermittent clinic site, as defined
in subdivision (h) of Section 1206 of the Health and Safety Code,
of an existing FQHC or RHC, in a mobile unit as defined in
subdivision (b) of Section 1765.105 of the Health and Safety Code,
or at the election of the FQHC or RHC and subject to paragraph
(2), alocation added to an existing primary care clinic license by
the State Department of Public Health prior to January 1, 2017,
shall be billed by and reimbursed at the same rate as the FQHC or
RHC that either established the intermittent clinic site or mobile
unit, or that held the clinic license to which thelocation was added
prior to January 1, 2017.

(2) If anFQHC or RHC with at least one additional location on
its primary care clinic license that was added by the State
Department of Public Health prior to January 1, 2017, applies for
an adjustment to its per-visit rate based on a change in the scope
of services provided by the FQHC or RHC as described in
subdivision (e), al locations on the FQHC's or RHC's primary
carecliniclicense shall be subject to a scope-of-service adjustment
in accordance with either paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (i),
as selected by the FQHC or RHC.

(3) This subdivision does not preclude or otherwise limit the
right of the FQHC or RHC to request a scope-of-service adjustment
to therate.

(k) An FQHC or RHC may elect to have pharmacy or dental
servicesreimbursed on afee-for-service basis, utilizing the current
fee schedules established for those services. These costs shall be
adjusted out of the FQHC's or RHC's clinic base rate as
scope-of-service changes. An FQHC or RHC that reverses its
election under this subdivision shall revert to itsprior rate, subject
to an increase to account for al Medicare Economic Index
increases occurring during the intervening time period, and subject
to any increase or decrease associated with applicable
scope-of-service adjustments as provided in subdivision (e).

() Reimbursement for Drug Medi-Ca servicesshall be provided
pursuant to this subdivision.

(1) AnFQHC or RHC may €elect to have Drug Medi-Cal services
reimbursed directly from acounty or the department under contract
with the FQHC or RHC pursuant to paragraph (4).
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(2) (A) For an FQHC or RHC to receive reimbursement for
Drug Medi-Cal servicesdirectly from the county or the department
under contract with the FQHC or RHC pursuant to paragraph (4),
costs associated with providing Drug Medi-Cal services shall not
be included in the FQHC's or RHC's per-visit PPS rate. For
purposes of this subdivision, the costs associated with providing
Drug Medi-Cal services shall not be considered to be within the
FQHC's or RHC's clinic base PPS rate if in delivering Drug
Medi-Cal services the clinic uses different clinical staff at a
different location.

(B) If the FQHC or RHC does not use different clinical staff at
adifferent location to deliver Drug Medi-Cal services, the FQHC
or RHC shall submit documentation, in a manner determined by
the department, that the current per-visit PPSrate does not include
any costs related to rendering Drug Medi-Cal services, including
costs related to utilizing space in part of the FQHC's or RHC's
building, that are or were previously calculated as part of the
clinic’'s base PPS rate.

(3) If the costs associated with providing Drug Medi-Cal
services are within the FQHC's or RHC's clinic base PPSrate, as
determined by the department, the Drug Medi-Cal services costs
shall be adjusted out of the FQHC's or RHC's per-visit PPS rate
as a change in scope of service.

(A) An FQHC or RHC shall submit to the department a
scope-of-service change request to adjust the FQHC's or RHC's
clinic base PPSrate after thefirst full fiscal year of rendering Drug
Medi-Cal services outside of the PPS rate. Notwithstanding
subdivision (e), the scope-of-service change request shall include
afull fiscal year of activity that does not include Drug Medi-Cal
Services costs.

(B) AnFQHC or RHC may submit requestsfor scope-of-service
change under this subdivision only within 90 days following the
beginning of the FQHC's or RHC's fiscal year. Any
scope-of-service change request under this subdivision approved
by the department shall be retroactive to the first day that Drug
Medi-Cal services were rendered and reimbursement for Drug
Medi-Cal serviceswas received outside of the PPS rate, but in no
case shall the effective date be earlier than January 1, 2018.

(C) The FQHC or RHC may hill for Drug Medi-Cal services
outside of the PPS rate when the FQHC or RHC obtains approval
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as a Drug Medi-Cal provider and enters into a contract with a
county or the department to provide these services pursuant to
paragraph (4).

(D) Within 90 days of receipt of the request for a
scope-of-service change under this subdivision, the department
shall issue the FQHC or RHC an interim rate equal to 90 percent
of the FQHC's or RHC's projected allowable cost, as determined
by the department. An audit to determine the final rate shall be
performed in accordance with Section 14170.

(E) Ratechangesbased onarequest for scope-of-service change
under this subdivision shall be evaluated in accordance with
Medicare reasonable cost principles, as set forth in Part 413
(commencing with Section 413.1) of Title 42 of the Code of
Federal Regulations, or its successor.

(F) For purposes of recalculating the PPS rate, the FQHC or
RHC shall provide upon request to the department verifiable
documentation as to which employees spent time, and the actual
time spent, providing federally qualified health center services or
rural health center services and Drug Medi-Cal services.

(G) After the department approvesthe adjustment to the FQHC's
or RHC s clinic base PPS rate and the FQHC or RHC is approved
asaDrug Medi-Cal provider, an FQHC or RHC shall not hill the
PPS rate for any Drug Medi-Cal services provided pursuant to a
contract entered into with a county or the department pursuant to
paragraph (4).

(H) An FQHC or RHC that reverses its election under this
subdivision shall revert to its prior PPS rate, subject to an increase
to account for all Medicare Economic Index increases occurring
during the intervening time period, and subject to any increase or
decrease associated with the applicable scope-of-service
adjustments as provided for in subdivision (e).

(4) Reimbursement for Drug Medi-Cal services shall be
determined according to subparagraph (A) or (B), depending on
whether the services are provided in a county that participatesin
the Drug Medi-Cal organized delivery system (DMC-ODYS).

(A) Inacounty that participates in the DMC-ODS, the FQHC
or RHC shall receive reimbursement pursuant to amutually agreed
upon contract entered into between the county or county designee
and the FQHC or RHC. If the county or county designee refuses
to contract with the FQHC or RHC, the FQHC or RHC may follow
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the contract denial process set forth in the Special Terms and
Conditions.

(B) Inacounty that does not participate in the DMC-ODS, the
FQHC or RHC shall receive reimbursement pursuant to amutually
agreed upon contract entered into between the county and the
FQHC or RHC. If the county refuses to contract with the FQHC
or RHC, the FQHC or RHC may request to contract directly with
the department and shall be reimbursed for those services at the
Drug Medi-Cal fee-for-service rate.

(5) The department shall not reimburse an FQHC or RHC
pursuant to subdivision (h) for the difference between its per-visit
PPS rate and any payments for Drug Medi-Cal services made
pursuant to this subdivision.

(6) For purposes of this subdivision, the following definitions
apply:

(A) “Drug Medi-Cal organized delivery system” or
“DMC-ODS’ meansthe Drug Medi-Cal organized delivery system
authorized under the California Medi-Cal 2020 Demonstration,
Number 11-W-00193/9, as approved by the federal Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services and described in the Special
Terms and Conditions.

(B) “Specia Terms and Conditions’ has the same meaning as
set forth in subdivision (0) of Section 14184.10.

(m) Reimbursement for specialty mental health services shall
be provided pursuant to this subdivision.

(1) AnFQHC or RHC and one or more mental health plansthat
contract with the department pursuant to Section 14712 may
mutually elect to enter into a contract to have the FQHC or RHC
provide specialty mental health servicesto Medi-Cal beneficiaries
as part of the mental health plan’s network.

(2) (A) For an FQHC or RHC to receive reimbursement for
specialty mental health services pursuant to acontract entered into
with the mental health plan under paragraph (1), the costs
associated with providing specialty mental health services shall
not be included in the FQHC's or RHC's per-visit PPS rate. For
purposes of this subdivision, the costs associated with providing
specialty mental health services shall not be considered to be within
the FQHC sor RHC'sclinic base PPSrateif in delivering specialty
mental health services the clinic uses different clinical staff at a
different location.
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(B) If the FQHC or RHC does not use different clinical staff at
adifferent location to deliver specialty mental health services, the
FQHC or RHC shall submit documentation, in a manner
determined by the department, that the current per-visit PPS rate
does not include any costs related to rendering specialty mental
health services, including costsrelated to utilizing space in part of
the FQHC's or RHC's building, that are or were previously
calculated as part of the clinic’s base PPS rate.

(3) If the costs associated with providing specialty mental health
services are within the FQHC's or RHC’s clinic base PPS rate, as
determined by the department, the specialty mental health services
costs shall be adjusted out of the FQHC’s or RHC's per-visit PPS
rate as a change in scope of service.

(A) An FQHC or RHC shal submit to the department a
scope-of-service change request to adjust the FQHC's or RHC's
clinic base PPS rate after the first full fiscal year of rendering
specialty mental health services outside of the PPS rate.
Notwithstanding subdivision (€), the scope-of-service change
request shall include a full fiscal year of activity that does not
include specialty mental health costs.

(B) An FQHC or RHC may submit requests for a
scope-of-service change under this subdivision only within 90
daysfollowing the beginning of the FQHC’s or RHC' s fiscal year.
Any scope-of-service change request under this subdivision
approved by the department is retroactive to the first day that
specialty mental health serviceswere rendered and reimbursement
for specialty mental health services was received outside of the
PPS rate, but the effective date shall not be earlier than January 1,
2018.

(C) The FQHC or RHC may hill for specialty mental health
servicesoutside of the PPS rate when the FQHC or RHC contracts
with a mental health plan to provide these services pursuant to
paragraph (1).

(D) Within 90 days of receipt of the request for a
scope-of-service change under this subdivision, the department
shall issue the FQHC or RHC an interim rate equal to 90 percent
of the FQHC's or RHC's projected allowable cost, as determined
by the department. An audit to determine the final rate shall be
performed in accordance with Section 14170.
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(E) Ratechangesbased onarequest for scope-of-service change
under this subdivision shall be evaluated in accordance with
Medicare reasonable cost principles, as set forth in Part 413
(commencing with Section 413.1) of Title 42 of the Code of
Federal Regulations, or its successor.

(F) For the purpose of recalculating the PPS rate, the FQHC or
RHC shall provide upon request to the department verifiable
documentation as to which employees spent time, and the actual
time spent, providing federally qualified health center services or
rural health center services and specialty mental health services.

(G) After the department approvesthe adjustment to the FQHC's
or RHC'sclinic base PPSrate, an FQHC or RHC shall not bill the
PPSratefor any specialty mental health servicesthat are provided
pursuant to a contract entered into with a mental health plan
pursuant to paragraph (1).

(H) An FQHC or RHC that reverses its election under this
subdivision shall revert to its prior PPS rate, subject to an increase
to account for all Medicare Economic Index increases occurring
during the intervening time period, and subject to any increase or
decrease associated with the applicable scope-of-service
adjustments as provided for in subdivision (e).

(4) The department shall not reimburse an FQHC or RHC
pursuant to subdivision (h) for the difference between its per-visit
PPS rate and any payments made for specialty mental health
services under this subdivision.

(n) The department shall seek any necessary federal approvals
and issue appropriate guidance to allow an FQHC or RHC to hill,
under a supervising licensed behavioral health practitioner, for an
encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and a psychological
associate, associate professional clinical counselor, associate
clinical socia worker, or associate marriage and family therapist
when all of the following conditions are met:

(1) Thepsychological associate, associate professiona clinical
counselor, associate clinical social worker, or associate marriage
and family therapist is supervised by the designated licensed
behavioral health practitioner, as required by their applicable
clinical licensing board.

(2) The behavioral health visit is billed under the supervising
licensed practitioner of the FQHC or RHC, pursuant to paragraph

(2.
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(3 The FQHC or RHC is otherwise authorized to bill for
services provided by the supervising licensed behavioral health
practitioner as a separate visit.

(0) FQHCs and RHCs may appeal a grievance or complaint
concerning ratesetting, scope-of-service changes, and settlement
of cost report audits, in the manner prescribed by Section 14171.
The rights and remedies provided under this subdivision are
cumulative to the rights and remedies available under all other
provisions of law of this state.

(p) The department shall promptly seek all necessary federal
approvals in order to implement this section, including any
amendments to the state plan. To the extent that any element or
requirement of this section is not approved, the department shall
submit arequest to the federal Centersfor Medicare and Medicaid
Services for any waivers that would be necessary to implement
this section.

(q) The department shall implement this section only to the
extent that federal financial participation is available.

(r) Notwithstanding any other law, the director may, without
taking regulatory action pursuant to Chapter 3.5 (commencing
with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the
Government Code, implement, interpret, or make specific this
section by means of aprovider bulletin or similar instruction. The
department shall notify and consult with interested parties and
appropriate stakeholdersin implementing, interpreting, or making
specific the provisions of this section, including all of the
following:

(1) Notifying provider representativesin writing of the proposed
action or change. The notice shall occur, and the applicable draft
provider bulletin or similar instruction, shall be made available at
least 10 business days prior to the meeting described in paragraph
(2.

(2) Scheduling at least one meeting with interested parties and
appropriate stakehol dersto discuss the proposed action or change.

(3) Allowing for written input regarding the proposed action or
change, to which the department shall provide summary written
responses in conjunction with the issuance of the applicable final
written provider bulletin or similar instruction.

(4) Providing at least 60 days advance notice of the effective
date of the proposed action or change.
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(s) Thissection shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026, and,
as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 104. Section 14132.100 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

14132.100. (a) Thefederaly qualified health center services
described in Section 1396d(a)(2)(C) of Title42 of the United States
Code are covered benefits.

(b) The rura health clinic services described in Section
1396d(a)(2)(B) of Title 42 of the United States Code are covered
benefits.

(c) Federaly qualified health center services and rura health
clinic services that are eligible for federal financial participation
shall be reimbursed on a per-visit basis in accordance with the
definition of “visit” set forth in subdivision (g).

(d) Effective October 1, 2004, and on each October 1 thereafter,
until no longer required by federal law, federally qualified health
center (FQHC) and rural health clinic (RHC) per-visit rates shall
be increased by the Medicare Economic Index applicable to
primary care services in the manner provided for in Section
1396a(bb)(3)(A) of Title 42 of the United States Code. Prior to
January 1, 2004, FQHC and RHC per-visit rates shall be adjusted
by the Medicare Economic Index in accordance with the
methodology set forth in the state plan in effect on October 1,
2001.

() (1) An FQHC or RHC may apply for an adjustment to its
per-visit rate based on a change in the scope of services provided
by the FQHC or RHC. Rate changes based on a change in the
scope of servicesprovided by an FQHC or RHC shall be evaluated
in accordance with Medicare reasonable cost principles, as set
forth in Part 413 (commencing with Section 413.1) of Title 42 of
the Code of Federal Regulations, or its successor.

(2) Subject to the conditions set forth in subparagraphs (A) to
(D), inclusive, of paragraph (3), achangein scope of service means
any of the following:

(A) The addition of a new FQHC or RHC service that is not
incorporated in the baseline prospective payment system (PPS)
rate, or adeletion of an FQHC or RHC servicethat isincorporated
in the baseline PPS rate.

(B) A changein service dueto amended regulatory requirements
or rules.
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(C) A changein serviceresulting from relocating or remodeling
an FQHC or RHC.

(D) A changeintypesof servicesdueto achangein applicable
technology and medical practice utilized by the center or clinic.

(E) Anincrease in service intensity attributable to changes in
the types of patients served, including, but not limited to,
populations with HIV or AIDS, or other chronic diseases, or
homeless, elderly, migrant, or other specia populations.

(F) Any changesin any of the services described in subdivision
(@) or (b), or in the provider mix of an FQHC or RHC or one of
itssites.

(G) Changes in operating costs attributable to capital
expenditures associated with a modification of the scope of any
of the services described in subdivision (&) or (b), including new
or expanded service facilities, regulatory compliance, or changes
in technology or medical practices at the center or clinic.

(H) Indirect medical education adjustments and adirect graduate
medical education payment that reflects the costs of providing
teaching servicesto interns and residents.

(1) Any changesin the scope of aproject approved by thefederal
Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA).

(3) A changein costsisnot, inand of itself, a scope-of-service
change, unless all of the following apply:

(A) Theincreaseor decreasein cost isattributableto anincrease
or decreasein the scope of servicesdefined in subdivisions (a) and
(b), as applicable.

(B) The cost is alowable under Medicare reasonable cost
principles set forth in Part 413 (commencing with Section 413.1)
of Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations, or its successor.

(C) Thechangein the scope of servicesisachangein thetype,
intensity, duration, or amount of services, or any combination
thereof.

(D) The net change in the FQHC's or RHC's rate equals or
exceeds 1.75 percent for the affected FQHC or RHC site. For
FQHCsand RHCsthat filed consolidated cost reportsfor multiple
sites to establish the initial prospective payment reimbursement
rate, the 1.75-percent threshold shall be applied to the average
per-visit rate of all sites for the purposes of calculating the cost
associated with a scope-of-service change. “Net change” means
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the per-visit rate change attributabl e to the cumulative effect of all
increases and decreases for a particular fiscal year.

(4) AnFQHC or RHC may submit requestsfor scope-of-service
changes once per fiscal year, only within 90 days following the
beginning of the FQHC's or RHC's fiscal year. Any approved
increase or decrease in the provider’s rate shall be retroactive to
the beginning of the FQHC's or RHC's fiscal year in which the
request is submitted.

(5) An FQHC or RHC shall submit a scope-of-service rate
change request within 90 days of the beginning of any FQHC or
RHC fiscal year occurring after the effective date of this section,
if, during the FQHC's or RHC's prior fiscal year, the FQHC or
RHC experienced adecrease in the scope of services provided that
the FQHC or RHC either knew or should have known would have
resulted in asignificantly lower per-visit rate. If an FQHC or RHC
discontinues providing onsite pharmacy or dental services, it shall
submit a scope-of-service rate change request within 90 days of
the beginning of the following fiscal year. The rate change shall
be effective as provided for in paragraph (4). As used in this
paragraph, “significantly lower” means an average per-visit rate
decreasein excess of 2.5 percent.

(6) Notwithstanding paragraph (4), if the approved
scope-of-service change or changes were initially implemented
on or after thefirst day of an FQHC'sor RHC'sfiscal year ending
in calendar year 2001, but before the adoption and issuance of
written instructions for applying for a scope-of-service change,
the adjusted reimbursement rate for that scope-of-service change
shall be made retroactive to the date the scope-of-service change
was initially implemented. Scope-of-service changes under this
paragraph shall be required to be submitted within the later of 150
days after the adoption and issuance of the written instructions by
the department, or 150 days after the end of the FQHC'sor RHC's
fiscal year ending in 2003.

(7) All references in this subdivision to “fiscal year” shall be
construed to bereferencesto thefiscal year of theindividua FQHC
or RHC, as the case may be.

() (1) AnFQHC or RHC may request asupplemental payment
if extraordinary circumstances beyond the control of the FQHC
or RHC occur after December 31, 2001, and PPS payments are
insufficient dueto these extraordinary circumstances. Supplemental
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payments arising from extraordinary circumstances under this
subdivision shall be solely and exclusively within the discretion
of the department and shall not be subject to subdivision (I). These
supplemental payments shall be determined separately from the
scope-of-service adjustments described in subdivision (e).
Extraordinary circumstances include, but are not limited to, acts
of nature, changes in applicable requirements in the Health and
Safety Code, changes in applicable licensure requirements, and
changes in applicable rules or regulations. Mere inflation of costs
alone, absent extraordinary circumstances, shall not be grounds
for supplemental payment. If an FQHC's or RHC's PPS rate is
sufficient to cover itsoverall costs, including those associated with
the extraordinary circumstances, then a supplemental payment is
not warranted.

(2) The department shall accept requests for supplemental
payment at any time throughout the prospective payment rate year.

(3) Requests for supplemental payments shall be submitted in
writing to the department and shall set forth the reasons for the
request. Each request shall be accompanied by sufficient
documentation to enable the department to act upon the request.
Documentation shall include the data necessary to demonstrate
that the circumstances for which supplemental payment isrequested
meet the requirements set forth in this section. Documentation
shall include both of the following:

(A) A presentation of data to demonstrate reasons for the
FQHC's or RHC'srequest for a supplemental payment.

(B) Documentation showing the cost implications. The cost
impact shall be material and significant, two hundred thousand
dollars ($200,000) or 1 percent of afacility’stotal costs, whichever
isless.

(4) A request shall be submitted for each affected year.

(5) Amounts granted for supplemental payment requests shall
be paid as lump-sum amounts for those years and not as revised
PPS rates, and shall be repaid by the FQHC or RHC to the extent
that it is not expended for the specified purposes.

(6) Thedepartment shall notify the provider of the department’s
discretionary decision in writing.

(9) (1) An FQHC or RHC *“visit” means a face-to-face
encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and a physician,
physician assistant, nurse practitioner, certified nurse-midwife,
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clinical psychologist, licensed clinical social worker, licensed
professional clinical counselor, or avisiting nurse that is eligible
for federal financial participation. A visit shall also include a
face-to-face encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and a
comprehensive perinatal practitioner, asdefined in Section 51179.7
of Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations, providing
comprehensive perinatal services, a four-hour day of attendance
at an adult day health care center, and any other provider identified
in the state plan’s definition of an FQHC or RHC visit that is
eligible for federal financial participation.

(2) (A) A visit shall aso include a face-to-face encounter
between an FQHC or RHC patient and adental hygienist, adental
hygienist in alternative practice, or amarriage and family therapist
that is eligible for federal financial participation.

(B) Notwithstanding subdivision (e), if an FQHC or RHC that
currently includes the cost of the services of adental hygienist in
aternative practice, or a marriage and family therapist for the
purposes of establishing its FQHC or RHC rate chooses to hill
these services as a separate visit, the FQHC or RHC shall apply
for an adjustment to its per-visit rate, and, after the rate adjustment
has been approved by the department, shall bill these services as
a separate visit. However, multiple encounters with dental
professionals or marriage and family therapists that take place on
the same day shall constitute a single visit. The department shall
develop the appropriate forms to determine which FQHC's or
RHC's rates shall be adjusted and to facilitate the calculation of
the adjusted rates. An FQHC's or RHC's application for, or the
department’s approval of, a rate adjustment pursuant to this
subparagraph shall not constitute a change in scope of service
within the meaning of subdivision (e). An FQHC or RHC that
appliesfor an adjustment to its rate pursuant to this subparagraph
may continueto bill for al other FQHC or RHC visitsat itsexisting
per-visit rate, subject to reconciliation, until the rate adjustment
for visits between an FQHC or RHC patient and adental hygienist,
adental hygienist in aternative practice, or amarriage and family
therapist has been approved. Any approved increase or decrease
in the provider’s rate shall be made within six months after the
date of receipt of the department’ srate adjustment forms pursuant
to this subparagraph and shall be retroactive to the beginning of
the fiscal year in which the FQHC or RHC submits the request,
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but in no case shall the effective date be earlier than January 1,
2008.

(C) An FQHC or RHC that does not provide dental hygienist
or dental hygienist in alternative practice services, and later elects
to add these services and bill these services as a separate visit,
shall process the addition of these services as a change in scope
of service pursuant to subdivision (€).

(3) Notwithstanding any other provision of thissection, nolater
than July 1, 2018, a visit shall include a marriage and family
therapist that is eligible for federal financial participation.

(4) (A) (i) Subject to subparagraphs (C) and (D), a visit shall
aso include an encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and
a physician, physician assistant, nurse practitioner, certified
nurse-midwife, clinical psychologist, licensed clinical social
worker, licensed professional clinical counselor, visiting nurse,
comprehensive perinatal services program practitioner, dental
hygienist, dental hygienist in alternative practice, or marriage and
family therapi st using video synchronousinteraction, when services
delivered through that interaction meet the applicable standard of
care and are dligible for federal financial participation. A visit
described in this clause shall be reimbursed at the applicable
FQHC's or RHC's per-visit PPS rate to the extent the department
determinesthat the FQHC or RHC hasmet all billing requirements
that would have applied if the applicable services were delivered
via a face-to-face encounter. An FQHC or RHC is not precluded
from establishing a new patient relationship through video
synchronousinteraction. An FQHC patient who receivestelehealth
services shall otherwise be €eligible to receive in-person services
from that FQHC pursuant to HRSA requirements.

(if) Subject to subparagraphs (C) and (D), a visit shall adso
include an encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and a
physician, physician assistant, nurse practitioner, certified
nurse-midwife, clinical psychologist, licensed clinical social
worker, licensed professional clinical counselor, visiting nurse,
comprehensive perinatal services program practitioner, dental
hygienist, dental hygienist in aternative practice, or marriage and
family therapist using audio-only synchronous interaction, when
services delivered through that modality meet the applicable
standard of careand are eligiblefor federal financial participation.
A visit described in this clause shall be reimbursed at the applicable
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FQHC's or RHC's per-visit PPS rate to the extent the department
determinesthat the FQHC or RHC hasmet all billing requirements
that would have applied if the applicable services were delivered
viaaface-to-face encounter.

(iii) Subject to subparagraphs (C) and (D), a visit shall aso
include an encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and a
physician, physician assistant, nurse practitioner, certified
nurse-midwife, clinical psychologist, licensed clinical social
worker, licensed professional clinical counselor, visiting nurse,
comprehensive perinatal services program practitioner, dental
hygienist, dental hygienist in alternative practice, or marriage and
family therapist using an asynchronous store and forward modality,
when services delivered through that modality meet the applicable
standard of careand are eligiblefor federal financial participation.
A visit described in this clause shall be reimbursed at the applicable
FQHC's or RHC's per-visit PPS rate to the extent the department
determinesthat the FQHC or RHC has met all billing requirements
that would have applied if the applicable services were delivered
via aface-to-face encounter.

(iv) (1) An FQHC or RHC may not establish a new patient
relationship using an audio-only synchronous interaction.

(I1) Notwithstanding subclause (1), the department may provide
for exceptions to the prohibition established by subclause (1),
including, but not limited to, the exceptions described in
sub-subclauses (ia) and (ib), which shall be developed in
consultation with affected stakeholders and published in
departmental guidance.

(ia) Notwithstanding the prohibitionin subclause (1) and subject
to subparagraphs (C) and (D), an FQHC or RHC may establish a
new patient relationship using an audio-only synchronous
interaction when thevisitisrelated to sensitive services, as defined
in subdivision (n) of Section 56.05 of the Civil Code, and when
established in accordance with department-specific requirements
and consistent with federal and state laws, regulations, and
guidance.

(ib) Notwithstanding the prohibition in subclause (1) and subject
to subparagraphs (C) and (D), an FQHC or RHC may establish a
new patient relationship using an audio-only synchronous
interaction when the patient requests an audio-only modality or
attests they do not have access to video, and when established in
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accordance with department-specific requirements and consistent
with federal and state laws, regulations, and guidance.

(v) AnFQHC or RHC isnot precluded from establishing anew
patient relationship through an asynchronous store and forward
modality, as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 2290.5 of the
Business and Professions Code, if the visit meets al of the
following conditions:

(1) Thepatient isphysicaly present at the FQHC or RHC, or at
an intermittent site of the FQHC or RHC, at the time the service
is performed.

(I1) The individual who creates the patient records at the
originating siteis an employee or contractor of the FQHC or RHC,
or other person lawfully authorized by the FQHC or RHC to create
a patient record.

(1) The FQHC or RHC determines that the billing provider is
able to meet the applicable standard of care.

(V) An FQHC patient who receives telehealth services shall
otherwise be eligibleto receive in-person servicesfrom that FQHC
pursuant to HRSA requirements.

(B) (i) Pursuant to an effective date designated by the
department that is no sooner than January 1, 2024, an FQHC or
RHC furnishing applicable health care services via audio-only
synchronous interaction shall also offer those same health care
servicesviavideo synchronousinteraction to preserve beneficiary
choice.

(i) The department may provide specific exceptions to the
requirement specified in clause (i), based on an FQHC'sor RHC's
access to requisite technologies, which shall be developed in
consultation with affected stakeholders and published in
departmental guidance.

(i) Effective onthe date designated by the department pursuant
to clause (i), an FQHC or RHC furnishing services through video
synchronous interaction or audio-only synchronous interaction
shall also do one of the following:

(I) Offer those services viain-person, face-to-face contact.

(I1) Arrangefor areferral to, and afacilitation of, in-person care
that does not require a patient to independently contact a different
provider to arrange for that care.

(iv) Inaddition to any existing law requiring beneficiary consent
to telehealth, including, but not limited to, subdivision (b) of
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Section 2290.5 of the Business and Professions Code, all of the
following shall be communicated by an FQHC or RHC to a
Medi-Cal beneficiary, in writing or verbaly, on at least one
occasion prior to, or concurrent with, initiating the delivery of one
or more health care services via telehedth to a Medi-Cal
beneficiary: an explanation that beneficiaries have the right to
access covered servicesthat may be delivered viatelehealth through
an in-person, face-to-face visit; an explanation that use of telehealth
is voluntary and that consent for the use of telehealth can be
withdrawn at any time by the Medi-Cal beneficiary without
affecting their ability to access covered Medi-Cal servicesin the
future; an explanation of the availability of Medi-Cal coveragefor
nonmedical transportation services to in-person visits when other
available resources have been reasonably exhausted; and the
potential limitations or risks related to receiving services through
telehealth as compared to an in-person visit, to the extent any
limitations or risks are identified by the FQHC or RHC.

() The FQHC or RHC shall document in the patient record the
provision of this information and the patient’s verbal or written
acknowledgment that the information was received.

(I1) The department shall devel op, in consultation with affected
stakeholders, model language for purposes of the communication
described in this subparagraph.

(C) The department shall seek any federal approvals it deems
necessary to implement this paragraph. This paragraph shall be
implemented only to the extent that any necessary federal approvals
are obtained and federal financial participation is available and
not otherwise jeopardized.

(D) Thisparagraph shall be operative on January 1, 2023, or on
the operative date or dates reflected in the applicable federal
approvals obtained by the department pursuant to subparagraph
(C), whichever is later. This paragraph shall not be construed to
limit coverage of, and reimbursement for, covered telehealth
services provided before the operative date of this paragraph.

(E) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement, interpret, and make specific this
paragraph by means of all-county letters, plan letters, provider
manuals, information notices, provider bulletins, and similar
instructions, without taking any further regulatory action.
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(F) Telehealth modalities authorized pursuant to this paragraph
shall be subject to the hilling, reimbursement, and utilization
management policies imposed by the department.

(G) Services delivered via telehealth modalities described in
this paragraph shall comply with the privacy and security
requirements contained in the federal Health Insurance Portability
and Accountability Act of 1996 found in Parts 160 and 164 of Title
45 of the Code of Federal Regulations, the Medicaid state plan,
and any other applicable state and federal statutes and regulations.

(5) For purposesof thissection, “physician” shall beinterpreted
in amanner consistent with the federal Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services Medicare Rural Health Clinic and Federally
Qualified Health Center Manual (Publication 27), or its successor,
only to the extent that it defines the professionals whose services
are reimbursable on a per-visit basis and not as to the types of
services that these professionals may render during these visits
and shall include a physician and surgeon, osteopath, podiatrist,
dentist, optometrist, and chiropractor.

(h) If FQHC or RHC services are partially reimbursed by a
third-party payer, such as a managed care entity, as defined in
Section 1396u-2(a)(1)(B) of Title 42 of the United States Code,
the Medicare Program, or the Child Health and Disability
Prevention (CHDP) Program, the department shall reimburse an
FQHC or RHC for the difference between its per-visit PPS rate
and receiptsfrom other plans or programs on a contract-by-contract
basis and not in the aggregate, and may not include managed care
financial incentive payments that are required by federal law to
be excluded from the calculation.

(i) (1) Provided that the following entities are not operating as
intermittent clinics, as defined in subdivision (h) of Section 1206
of the Heath and Safety Code, each entity shall have its
reimbursement rate established in accordance with one of the
methods outlined in paragraph (2) or (3), as selected by the FQHC
or RHC:

(A) An entity that first qualifies as an FQHC or RHC in 2001
or later.

(B) A newly licensed facility at a new location added to an
existing FQHC or RHC.

(C) Anentity that isan existing FQHC or RHC that isrelocated
to anew site.
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(2) (A) AnFQHC or RHC that adds anew licensed location to
itsexisting primary care license under paragraph (1) of subdivision
(b) of Section 1212 of the Health and Safety Code may elect to
have the reimbursement rate for the new location established in
accordance with paragraph (3), or notwithstanding subdivision
(e), an FQHC or RHC may choose to have one PPS rate for al
locations that appear on its primary care license determined by
submitting a change in scope of service request if both of the
following requirements are met:

(i) The change in scope of service request includes the costs
and visits for those locations for the first full fiscal year
immediately following the date the new location is added to the
FQHC's or RHC's existing licensee.

(i) The FQHC or RHC submits the change in scope of service
reguest within 90 days after the FQHC's or RHC'sfirst full fiscal
year.

(B) The FQHC'sor RHC's single PPS rate for those locations
shall be calculated based on the total costs and total visits of those
locations and shall be determined based on the following:

(i) Anaudit in accordance with Section 14170.

(i1) Rate changes based on achange in scope of service request
shall be evaluated in accordance with Medicare reasonable cost
principles, as set forth in Part 413 (commencing with Section
413.1) of Title 42 of the Code of Federa Regulations, or its
SUCCESSOr'S.

(iif) Any approved increase or decrease in the provider’s rate
shall beretroactive to the beginning of the FQHC'sor RHC' sfiscal
year in which the request is submitted.

(C) Except as specified in subdivision (j), this paragraph does
not apply to alocation that was added to an existing primary care
clinic license by the State Department of Public Health, whether
by aregional district office or the centralized application unit, prior
to January 1, 2017.

(3) If an FQHC or RHC does not elect to have the PPS rate
determined by a change in scope of service request, the FQHC or
RHC shall have the reimbursement rate established for any of the
entities identified in paragraph (1) or (2) in accordance with one
of the following methods at the election of the FQHC or RHC:

(A) Theratemay becalculated on aper-visit basisin an amount
that isequal to the average of the per-visit rates of three comparable
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FQHCsor RHCslocated in the same or adjacent areawith asimilar
caseload.

(B) In the absence of three comparable FQHCs or RHCs with
asimilar caseload, the rate may be calculated on a per-visit basis
in an amount that is equal to the average of the per-visit rates of
three comparable FQHCs or RHCs located in the same or an
adjacent service area, or in areasonably similar geographic area
with respect to relevant social, heath care, and economic
characteristics.

(C) At anew entity’s one-time election, the department shall
establish areimbursement rate, calculated on aper-visit basis, that
is equal to 100 percent of the projected allowable costs to the
FQHC or RHC of furnishing FQHC or RHC services during the
first 12 months of operation as an FQHC or RHC. After the first
12-month period, the projected per-visit rate shall be increased by
the Medicare Economic Index then in effect. The projected
allowable costsfor thefirst 12 months shall be cost settled and the
prospective payment reimbursement rate shall be adjusted based
on actual and allowable cost per visit.

(D) The department may adopt any further and additional
methods of setting reimbursement ratesfor newly qualified FQHCs
or RHCs as are consistent with Section 1396a(bb)(4) of Title 42
of the United States Code.

(4) Inorder for an FQHC or RHC to establish the comparability
of itscaseload for purposes of subparagraph (A) or (B) of paragraph
(2), the department shall require that the FQHC or RHC submit
itsmost recent annual utilization report as submitted to the Office
of Statewide Health Planning and Devel opment, unlessthe FQHC
or RHC was not required to filean annual utilization report. FQHCs
or RHCs that have experienced changes in their services or
caseload subsequent to the filing of the annual utilization report
may submit to the department a completed report in the format
applicable to the prior calendar year. FQHCs or RHCs that have
not previously submitted an annual utilization report shall submit
to the department a completed report in the format applicable to
the prior calendar year. The FQHC or RHC shall not be required
to submit the annual utilization report for the comparable FQHCs
or RHCs to the department, but shall be required to identify the
comparable FQHCs or RHCs.
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(5) Therate for any newly qualified entity set forth under this
subdivision shall be effective retroactively to the later of the date
that the entity was first qualified by the applicable federa agency
asan FQHC or RHC, the date anew facility at anew location was
added to an existing FQHC or RHC, or the date on which an
existing FQHC or RHC was relocated to a new site. The FQHC
or RHC shall be permitted to continue billing for Medi-Cal covered
benefits on a fee-for-service basis under its existing provider
number until it is informed of its FQHC or RHC enrollment
approval, and the department shall reconcile the difference between
thefee-for-service payments and the FQHC'sor RHC' s prospective
payment rate at that time.

() (1) Visitsoccurring at an intermittent clinic site, as defined
in subdivision (h) of Section 1206 of the Health and Safety Code,
of an existing FQHC or RHC, in a mobile unit as defined in
subdivision (b) of Section 1765.105 of the Health and Safety Code,
or at the election of the FQHC or RHC and subject to paragraph
(2), alocation added to an existing primary care clinic license by
the State Department of Public Health prior to January 1, 2017,
shall be billed by and reimbursed at the same rate as the FQHC or
RHC that either established the intermittent clinic site or mobile
unit, or that held the clinic license to which the | ocation was added
prior to January 1, 2017.

(2) If an FQHC or RHC with at least one additional location on
its primary care clinic license that was added by the State
Department of Public Health prior to January 1, 2017, appliesfor
an adjustment to its per-visit rate based on a change in the scope
of services provided by the FQHC or RHC as described in
subdivision (e), al locations on the FQHC's or RHC'’s primary
carecliniclicense shall be subject to a scope-of-service adjustment
in accordance with either paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (i),
as selected by the FQHC or RHC.

(3) This subdivision does not preclude or otherwise limit the
right of the FQHC or RHC to request a scope-of-service adjustment
to the rate.

(k) An FQHC or RHC may elect to have pharmacy or dental
servicesreimbursed on afee-for-service basis, utilizing the current
fee schedules established for those services. These costs shall be
adjusted out of the FQHC's or RHC's clinic base rate as
scope-of-service changes. An FQHC or RHC that reverses its
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election under this subdivision shall revert to itsprior rate, subject
to an increase to account for al Medicare Economic Index
increases occurring during the intervening time period, and subject
to any increase or decrease associated with applicable
scope-of-service adjustments as provided in subdivision (e).

() Reimbursement for Drug Medi-Ca servicesshall be provided
pursuant to this subdivision.

(1) AnFQHC or RHC may €elect to have Drug Medi-Cal services
reimbursed directly from acounty or the department under contract
with the FQHC or RHC pursuant to paragraph (4).

(2) (A) For an FQHC or RHC to receive reimbursement for
Drug Medi-Cal servicesdirectly from the county or the department
under contract with the FQHC or RHC pursuant to paragraph (4),
costs associated with providing Drug Medi-Cal services shall not
be included in the FQHC's or RHC's per-visit PPS rate. For
purposes of this subdivision, the costs associated with providing
Drug Medi-Cal services shall not be considered to be within the
FQHC's or RHC's clinic base PPS rate if in delivering Drug
Medi-Cal services the clinic uses different clinical staff at a
different location.

(B) If the FQHC or RHC does not use different clinical staff at
adifferent location to deliver Drug Medi-Cal services, the FQHC
or RHC shall submit documentation, in a manner determined by
the department, that the current per-visit PPSrate does not include
any costs related to rendering Drug Medi-Cal services, including
costs related to utilizing space in part of the FQHC's or RHC's
building, that are or were previously calculated as part of the
clinic’'s base PPSrate.

(3) If the costs associated with providing Drug Medi-Cal
services are within the FQHC's or RHC’s clinic base PPS rate, as
determined by the department, the Drug Medi-Cal services costs
shall be adjusted out of the FQHC's or RHC's per-visit PPS rate
as achange in scope of service.

(A) An FQHC or RHC shall submit to the department a
scope-of-service change request to adjust the FQHC's or RHC's
clinic base PPSrate after thefirst full fiscal year of rendering Drug
Medi-Ca services outside of the PPS rate. Notwithstanding
subdivision (e), the scope-of-service change request shall include
afull fiscal year of activity that does not include Drug Medi-Cal
SEervices costs.
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(B) AnFQHC or RHC may submit requestsfor scope-of-service
change under this subdivision only within 90 days following the
beginning of the FQHC's or RHC's fiscal year. Any
scope-of-service change request under this subdivision approved
by the department shall be retroactive to the first day that Drug
Medi-Cal services were rendered and reimbursement for Drug
Medi-Cal serviceswas received outside of the PPS rate, but in no
case shall the effective date be earlier than January 1, 2018.

(C) The FQHC or RHC may hill for Drug Medi-Cal services
outside of the PPS rate when the FQHC or RHC obtains approval
as a Drug Medi-Cal provider and enters into a contract with a
county or the department to provide these services pursuant to
paragraph (4).

(D) Within 90 days of receipt of the request for a
scope-of-service change under this subdivision, the department
shall issue the FQHC or RHC an interim rate equal to 90 percent
of the FQHC's or RHC's projected allowable cost, as determined
by the department. An audit to determine the final rate shall be
performed in accordance with Section 14170.

(E) Ratechangesbased onarequest for scope-of-service change
under this subdivision shall be evaluated in accordance with
Medicare reasonable cost principles, as set forth in Part 413
(commencing with Section 413.1) of Title 42 of the Code of
Federal Regulations, or its successor.

(F) For purposes of recalculating the PPS rate, the FQHC or
RHC shall provide upon request to the department verifiable
documentation as to which employees spent time, and the actual
time spent, providing federally qualified health center services or
rural health center services and Drug Medi-Cal services.

(G) After the department approvesthe adjustment to the FQHC's
or RHC'sclinic base PPS rate and the FQHC or RHC is approved
asaDrug Medi-Cal provider, an FQHC or RHC shall not hill the
PPS rate for any Drug Medi-Cal services provided pursuant to a
contract entered into with a county or the department pursuant to
paragraph (4).

(H) An FQHC or RHC that reverses its election under this
subdivision shall revert to its prior PPS rate, subject to an increase
to account for all Medicare Economic Index increases occurring
during the intervening time period, and subject to any increase or
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decrease associated with the applicable scope-of-service
adjustments as provided for in subdivision (e).

(4) Reimbursement for Drug Medi-Cal services shall be
determined according to subparagraph (A) or (B), depending on
whether the services are provided in a county that participatesin
the Drug Medi-Cal organized delivery system (DMC-ODYS).

(A) Inacounty that participates in the DMC-ODS, the FQHC
or RHC shall receive reimbursement pursuant to amutually agreed
upon contract entered into between the county or county designee
and the FQHC or RHC. If the county or county designee refuses
to contract with the FQHC or RHC, the FQHC or RHC may follow
the contract denial process set forth in the Special Terms and
Conditions.

(B) Inacounty that does not participate in the DMC-ODS, the
FQHC or RHC shall receive reimbursement pursuant to amutually
agreed upon contract entered into between the county and the
FQHC or RHC. If the county refuses to contract with the FQHC
or RHC, the FQHC or RHC may request to contract directly with
the department and shall be reimbursed for those services at the
Drug Medi-Cal fee-for-service rate.

(5) The department shall not reimburse an FQHC or RHC
pursuant to subdivision (h) for the difference between its per-visit
PPS rate and any payments for Drug Medi-Cal services made
pursuant to this subdivision.

(6) For purposes of this subdivision, the following definitions
apply:

(A) “Drug Medi-Cal organized delivery system” or
“DMC-ODS’ meansthe Drug Medi-Cal organized delivery system
authorized under the California Medi-Cal 2020 Demonstration,
Number 11-W-00193/9, as approved by the federal Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services and described in the Special
Terms and Conditions.

(B) “Special Terms and Conditions’ has the same meaning as
set forth in subdivision (0) of Section 14184.10.

(m) Reimbursement for specialty mental health services shall
be provided pursuant to this subdivision.

(1) AnFQHC or RHC and one or more mental health plansthat
contract with the department pursuant to Section 14712 may
mutually elect to enter into a contract to have the FQHC or RHC
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provide specialty mental health servicesto Medi-Cal beneficiaries
as part of the mental health plan’s network.

(2) (A) For an FQHC or RHC to receive reimbursement for
specialty mental health services pursuant to acontract entered into
with the mental health plan under paragraph (1), the costs
associated with providing specialty mental health services shall
not be included in the FQHC's or RHC's per-visit PPS rate. For
purposes of this subdivision, the costs associated with providing
specialty mental health services shall not be considered to bewithin
the FQHC sor RHC'sclinic base PPSrateif in delivering specialty
mental health services the clinic uses different clinical staff at a
different location.

(B) If the FQHC or RHC does not use different clinical staff at
adifferent location to deliver specialty mental health services, the
FQHC or RHC shall submit documentation, in a manner
determined by the department, that the current per-visit PPS rate
does not include any costs related to rendering specialty mental
health services, including costsrelated to utilizing space in part of
the FQHC's or RHC's building, that are or were previously
calculated as part of the clinic’s base PPS rate.

(3) If the costs associated with providing specialty mental health
services are within the FQHC's or RHC’s clinic base PPS rate, as
determined by the department, the specialty mental health services
costs shall be adjusted out of the FQHC’s or RHC's per-visit PPS
rate as a change in scope of service.

(A) An FQHC or RHC shal submit to the department a
scope-of-service change request to adjust the FQHC's or RHC's
clinic base PPS rate after the first full fiscal year of rendering
specialty mental health services outside of the PPS rate.
Notwithstanding subdivision (€), the scope-of-service change
request shall include a full fiscal year of activity that does not
include specialty mental health costs.

(B) An FQHC or RHC may submit requests for a
scope-of-service change under this subdivision only within 90
daysfollowing the beginning of the FQHC's or RHC' s fiscal year.
Any scope-of-service change request under this subdivision
approved by the department is retroactive to the first day that
specialty mental health serviceswere rendered and reimbursement
for specialty mental health services was received outside of the
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PPS rate, but the effective date shall not be earlier than January 1,
2018.

(C) The FQHC or RHC may bill for speciaty mental health
servicesoutside of the PPS rate when the FQHC or RHC contracts
with a mental health plan to provide these services pursuant to
paragraph (1).

(D) Within 90 days of receipt of the request for a
scope-of-service change under this subdivision, the department
shall issue the FQHC or RHC an interim rate equal to 90 percent
of the FQHC's or RHC's projected allowable cost, as determined
by the department. An audit to determine the final rate shall be
performed in accordance with Section 14170.

(E) Ratechangesbased onarequest for scope-of-service change
under this subdivision shall be evaluated in accordance with
Medicare reasonable cost principles, as set forth in Part 413
(commencing with Section 413.1) of Title 42 of the Code of
Federal Regulations, or its successor.

(F) For the purpose of recalculating the PPS rate, the FQHC or
RHC shall provide upon request to the department verifiable
documentation as to which employees spent time, and the actual
time spent, providing federally qualified health center services or
rural health center services and specialty mental health services.

(G) After the department approvesthe adjustment to the FQHC's
or RHC'sclinic base PPSrate, an FQHC or RHC shall not bill the
PPSratefor any specialty mental health servicesthat are provided
pursuant to a contract entered into with a mental health plan
pursuant to paragraph (1).

(H) An FQHC or RHC that reverses its election under this
subdivision shall revert to its prior PPS rate, subject to an increase
to account for all Medicare Economic Index increases occurring
during the intervening time period, and subject to any increase or
decrease associated with the applicable scope-of-service
adjustments as provided for in subdivision (e).

(4) The department shall not reimburse an FQHC or RHC
pursuant to subdivision (h) for the difference between its per-visit
PPS rate and any payments made for specialty mental health
services under this subdivision.

(n) The department shall seek any necessary federal approvals
and issue appropriate guidance to allow an FQHC or RHC to hill,
under a supervising licensed behavioral health practitioner, for an
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encounter between an FQHC or RHC patient and a psychological
associate, associate professional clinical counselor, associate
clinical socia worker, or associate marriage and family therapist
when all of the following conditions are met:

(1) The psychological associate, associate professional clinical
counselor, associate clinical social worker, or associate marriage
and family therapist is supervised by the designated licensed
behavioral health practitioner, as required by their applicable
clinical licensing board.

(2) The behavioral health visit is billed under the supervising
licensed practitioner of the FQHC or RHC, pursuant to paragraph
(D).

(3 The FQHC or RHC is otherwise authorized to bill for
services provided by the supervising licensed behavioral health
practitioner as a separate visit.

(0) FQHCs and RHCs may appeal a grievance or complaint
concerning ratesetting, scope-of-service changes, and settlement
of cost report audits, in the manner prescribed by Section 14171.
The rights and remedies provided under this subdivision are
cumulative to the rights and remedies available under all other
provisions of law of this state.

(p) The department shall promptly seek all necessary federal
approvals in order to implement this section, including any
amendments to the state plan. To the extent that any element or
requirement of this section is not approved, the department shall
submit arequest to the federal Centersfor Medicare and Medicaid
Services for any waivers that would be necessary to implement
this section.

(q) The department shall implement this section only to the
extent that federal financial participation is available.

(r) Notwithstanding any other law, the director may, without
taking regulatory action pursuant to Chapter 3.5 (commencing
with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the
Government Code, implement, interpret, or make specific this
section by means of aprovider bulletin or similar instruction. The
department shall notify and consult with interested parties and
appropriate stakeholdersin implementing, interpreting, or making
specific the provisions of this section, including all of the
following:
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(1) Notifying provider representativesin writing of the proposed
action or change. The notice shall occur, and the applicable draft
provider bulletin or similar instruction, shall be made available at
least 10 business days prior to the meeting described in paragraph
(2).
(2) Scheduling at least one meeting with interested parties and
appropriate stakehol ders to discuss the proposed action or change.

(3) Allowing for written input regarding the proposed action or
change, to which the department shall provide summary written
responses in conjunction with the issuance of the applicable final
written provider bulletin or similar instruction.

(4) Providing at least 60 days advance notice of the effective
date of the proposed action or change.

(s) Thissection shall become operative on July 1, 2026.

SEC. 105. Section 14132.171 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14132.171. (@) (1) Anannual cognitive health assessment for
Medi-Cal beneficiaries who are 65 years of age or older is a
covered benefit if they are otherwise ineligible for a similar
assessment as part of an annual wellness visit under the Medicare
Program. Subject to paragraph (3), the department shall provide
reimbursement to a Medi-Cal provider who renders this service.

(2) The payment for the cognitive health assessment devel oped
pursuant to paragraph (1) shall only be available upon appropriation
by the Legislature for these purposes.

(3) (A) A Medi-Cal provider shall only be eligible to receive
the payment for the benefit specified in paragraph (1) if the
provider conducts the cognitive health assessment using validated
tools, as recommended by the department.

(B) (i) The department shall determine the cognitive health
assessment validated tools, as described in subparagraph (A), in
consultation with the State Department of Public Health's
Alzheimer’s Disease Program (Article 4 (commencing with Section
125275) of Chapter 2 of Part 5 of Division 106 of the Health and
Safety Code), that program’s 10 California Alzheimer’s Disease
Centers, representatives of primary care physician specialties,
including, but not limited to, family medicine, and the Alzheimer’s
Disease and Related Disorders Advisory Committee of the
California Health and Human Services Agency (Chapter 3.1
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(commencing with Section 1568.15) of Division 2 of the Health
and Safety Code).

(if) With respect to the validated tools, the department shall
select multiple tools. To improve overall accessibility of these
tools and minimize access barriers, at least one of those tools shall
not carry any restrictions on copyright or trademark.

(b) An annual cognitive health assessment shall identify signs
of Alzheimer’s disease or dementia, consistent with the standards
for detecting cognitive impairment under the federal Centers for
Medicare and M edicaid Services and the recommendations by the
American Academy of Neurology.

(c) By January 1, 2024, the department shall do both of the
following:

(1) Consolidate and analyze the data on the administration of
the cognitive health assessment in the M edi-Cal managed care and
fee-for-service delivery systems.

(2) Post information on the utilization of, and payment for, this
benefit on itsinternet website.

(d) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement this section, in whole or in part,
by means of all-plan letters, provider bulletins, or similar
instructions, without taking any further regulatory action.

(e) This section shall be implemented only to the extent any
necessary federal approvals are obtained and federal financial
participation is available.

SEC. 106. Section 14132.994 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

14132.994. A Medi-Ca managed care plan, as defined in
subdivision (j) of Section 14184.101, shall cover COVID-19
screening, testing, immunizations, and therapeutics in accordance
with applicable statutes, regulations, al plan letters, the Medi-Cal
provider manual, Medi-Cal managed care plan contracts with the
department pursuant to this chapter or Chapter 8 (commencing
with Section 14200), and other guidance.

SEC. 107. Section 14133.85 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14133.85. (a) (1) Except as otherwise provided in this
subdivision, prior authorization shall not be required for hospice
Services.
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(2) Paragraph (1) shall not apply to any admission that violates
federal law.

(b) Prior authorization shall be required for inpatient hospice
Services.

(c) Thissection shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026, and,
as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 108. Section 14148.5 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, as amended by Section 152 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of
2023, is amended to read:

14148.5. (@) State-funded perinatal services shall be provided
under the Medi-Cal program to pregnant persons and state-funded
medical servicesto infants up to one year of age in families with
incomes above 185 percent, but not more than 208 percent, of the
federal poverty level, in the same manner that these services are
being provided to the Medi-Cal population, including eligibility
requirements and integration of eligibility determinations and
payment of claims. When determining eligibility under this section,
an applicant’s or beneficiary’s income and resources shall be
determined, counted, and valued in accordance with the
methodology set forth in Section 14005.64.

(b) Services provided under this section shall not be subject to
any spend down of excess income requirements.

(©) (1) Thedepartment, inimplementing the Medi-Cal program
and public health programs, may provide for outreach activities
in order to enhance participation and access to perinatal services.
Funding received pursuant to the federal provisions shall be used
to expand perinatal outreach activities. These outreach activities
shall beimplemented if funding is provided for this purpose by an
appropriation in the annual Budget Act or other statute.

(2) Those outreach activities authorized by paragraph (1) shall
be targeted toward both Medi-Cal and non-Medi-Cal eligible high
risk or uninsured pregnant persons and infants. Outreach activities
may include, but not be limited to, al of the following:

(A) Education of the targeted persons on the availability and
importance of early prenatal care and referral to Medi-Ca and
other programs.

(B) Information provided through toll-free telephone numbers.

(C) Recruitment and retention of perinatal providers.
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(d) Notwithstanding any other law, contracts required to
implement this section shall be exempt from the approval of the
Director of General Services and from the Public Contract Code.

(e) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026.

SEC. 109. Section 14148.5 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, as added by Section 153 of Chapter 42 of the Statutes of
2023, is amended to read:

14148.5. (a) State-funded perinatal servicesshall be provided
under the Medi-Cal program to pregnant persons and state-funded
medical services to infants up to one year of age in families with
incomes above 185 percent, but not more than 208 percent, of the
federal poverty level, in the same manner that these services are
being provided to the Medi-Cal population, including eligibility
requirements and integration of eligibility determinations and
payment of claims. When determining eligibility under this section,
an applicant’s or beneficiary’s income shall be determined,
counted, and valued in accordance with the methodol ogy set forth
in Section 14005.64.

(b) Services provided under this section shall not be subject to
any spend down of excess income requirements.

(©) (1) Thedepartment, inimplementing the Medi-Cal program
and public health programs, may provide for outreach activities
in order to enhance participation and access to perinatal services.
Funding received pursuant to the federal provisions shall be used
to expand perinatal outreach activities. These outreach activities
shall beimplemented if funding is provided for this purpose by an
appropriation in the annual Budget Act or other statute.

(2) Those outreach activities authorized by paragraph (1) shall
betargeted toward both Medi-Cal and non-Medi-Cal eigible high
risk or uninsured pregnant persons and infants. Outreach activities
may include, but not be limited to, al of the following:

(A) Education of the targeted persons on the availability and
importance of early prenatal care and referral to Medi-Ca and
other programs.

(B) Information provided through toll-free telephone numbers.

(C) Recruitment and retention of perinatal providers.

(d) Notwithstanding any other law, contracts required to
implement this section shall be exempt from the approval of the
Director of General Services and from the Public Contract Code.
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(e) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2026,
and, as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 110. Section 14165.57 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14165.57. (a) ThelGT alocation formulashall use datafrom
each nondesignated public hospital’s latest Hospital Annual
Financia Disclosure Report on file with OSHPD as of March 1
of each prior fiscal year and shall be asfollows:

(1) The Nondesignated Public Hospital IGT Pool shall be
allocated into two alocations. the Contract Hospitals allocation
and the Non-Contract Hospitals allocation. This alocation shall
be made to each group, respectively, based upon the ratio of
Medi-Cal fee-for-service acute patient days listed in the latest
OSHPD Annual Financial Disclosure Report for Contract Hospitals
and Non-Contract Hospitals to the total Medi-Cal fee-for-service
acute patient days provided by all Contract Hospitals and
Non-Contract Hospitals. Medi-Cal fee-for-service acute patient
daysfor converted hospitals and new hospitalswill not beincluded
in this allocation.

(2) The department shall determine if a nondesignated public
hospital provides services in either afederally recognized Health
Professional ShortageAreaor to afederally recognized Medically
Underserved Area or Population. The department shall aso
determine if the nondesignated public hospital is federaly
recognized as either a Critical Access Hospital or a Sole
Community Provider. If any of these conditions apply, the hospital
shall score one point. Otherwise, the hospital shall score zero
points.

(3) Thedepartment shall calculate for each nondesignated public
hospital the charity care charges as a percentage of the hospital’s
total gross revenue. If the charity care charges are greater than or
equal to 3 percent of the total gross revenue, the hospital shall
score three points. If the charity care charges are less than 3
percent, but more than or equal to 1 percent, of the total gross
revenue, the hospital shall score two points. If the charity care
charges are less than 1 percent, but greater than O percent, of the
total gross revenue, the hospital shall score one point. If charity
care charges are less than or equal to O percent, of the total gross
revenue, the hospital shall score zero points.
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(4) Thedepartment shall calculatefor each nondesignated public
hospital the bad debt charges as a percentage of the hospital’s other
payer's gross revenue, as disclosed in the Hospital Annual
Financial Disclosure Report. If the bad debt charges are greater
than or equal to 40 percent of the other gross revenue, the hospital
shall score two points. If the bad debt charges are less than 40
percent, but greater than O percent, of the other gross revenue, the
hospital shall score one point. If the bad debt charges are lessthan
or equal to O percent, of the other gross revenue, the hospital shall
score zero points.

(5) Thedepartment shall calculate for each nondesignated public
hospital the Medi-Cal charges as a percentage of the hospital’s
total gross revenue. If the Medi-Cal charges are greater than or
equal to 25 percent of the total gross revenue, the hospital shall
scorethree points. If the Medi-Cal chargesarelessthan 25 percent,
but more than or equal to 12 percent, of the total gross revenue,
the hospital shall score two points. If the Medi-Cal charges are
less than 12 percent, but greater than O percent, of the total gross
revenue, the hospital shall score one point. If the Medi-Cal charges
are less than or equa to O percent of total gross revenue, the
hospital shall score zero points.

(6) The sum of each nondesignated public hospital’s points
accumulated pursuant to paragraphs (2) to (5), inclusive, shall
constitute the hospital’s IGT Formula Score. The IGT Formula
Score for anew hospital or a converted hospital shall be equal to
zero.

(7) The Contract Hospital alocation shall be allocated among
Contract Hospitals and the Non-Contract Hospital allocation shall
be dlocated among Non-Contract Hospitals to determine
preliminary allocations in accordance with the following:

(A) Each Contract Hospital that has an IGT Formula Score of
between seven and nine, inclusive, shall be allocated three times
the amount of the Contract Hospital allocation that is allocated to
each Contract Hospital that has a score of one to three, inclusive.

(B) Each Contract Hospital that has an IGT Formula Score of
between four and six, inclusive, shall be allocated two times the
amount of the Contract Hospital allocation that isallocated to each
Contract Hospital that has an IGT Formula Score of one to three,
inclusive.
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(C) EachNon-Contract Hospital that hasan IGT Formula Score
of between seven and nine, inclusive, shall be alocated threetimes
the amount of the Non-Contract Hospital allocation that isallocated
to each Non-Contract Hospital that has an IGT Formula Score of
one to three, inclusive.

(D) Each Non-Contract Hospital that hasan IGT Formula Score
of between four and six, inclusive, shall be allocated two times
the amount of the Non-Contract Hospital allocation that isallocated
to each Non-Contract Hospital that has an IGT Formula Score of
one to three, inclusive.

(E) No amount shall be alocated to a nondesignated public
hospital with an IGT Formula Score of zero points.

(8) The sum of the preliminary allocation determined under
paragraph (7) for all hospitals within each IGT Formula Group
shall bereallocated among the hospitals within each IGT Formula
Group based on theratio of each hospital’s staffed acute bedslisted
in the latest OSHPD Annual Financial Disclosure Report, to the
total staffed acute beds of all hospitalsinthe IGT Formula Group.

(b) By no later than September 1 of the 201112 fiscal year or
as soon thereafter as federal approvals are obtained, and by no
later than September 1 of each fiscal year thereafter, the department
shall provide each nondesignated public hospital with an estimated
IGT alocation notice that includes the cal cul ations and data sources
used to calculate the estimated IGT allocation, asdescribed in this
section.

(c) Eachnondesignated public hospital shall have 30 daysfrom
receipt of theestimated IGT all ocation notice from the department
to review the department’s hospital-specific estimated 1GT
allocation and to notify the department of any data or calculation
errors. If the hospital does not respond within 30 days, the
information will be deemed accurate. No later than November 30
of each fiscal year, the department shall incorporate all appropriate
corrections or data updates for all of the nondesignated public
hospitals and then recalculate the IGT allocations using the IGT
alocation formula to obtain a final IGT alocation for each
nondesignated public hospital.

(d) Beginning with the 2011-12 fiscal year, on or before
December 1 or as soon thereafter asfederal approvalsare obtained,
and by no later than December 1 of each fiscal year thereafter, the
department shall send each nondesignated public hospital anotice
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of digibility indicating the final IGT alocation for the
nondesignated public hospital. The nondesignated public hospital
shall have 20 business days after receipt of the notice to either
accept or decline the offer. If a nondesignated public hospital
acceptsthe offer, the nondesignated public hospital may enter into
an IGT agreement with the department. If the department receives
no response, the offer will be considered declined.

(e) Beforethelater of December 31 of the 201112 fiscal year,
the date upon which all federal approvals are obtained, and by no
later than January 15 of each state fiscal year thereafter, the
department shall document all nondesignated public hospital IGT
alocation offers that are either accepted or declined. After the
department has recorded al IGT allocations as being either
accepted or declined, any remaining unsubscribed IGT allocations
will be alocated to all the other participating nondesignated public
hospitals on a pro rata basis based on the final IGT alocations
cal culated pursuant to subdivision (b) during January of each fiscal
year. The department shall inform each nondesignated public
hospital participating in the program of the revised final 1GT
allocation assigned to that hospital by January 30. At that time,
the department shall give each nondesignated public hospital
participant five days to accept or decline participation in the
program.

(f) The state may accept al public funds in the amount of the
final 1GT allocation from a transferring entity pursuant to this
section, provided that any funds from a transferring entity must
be permitted by law to be used for these purposes. Thetransferring
entity shall certify to the department that the funds it proposes to
transfer satisfy the requirements of this subdivision, and are in
compliance with al federal rules and regulations.

(g) The state shall deposit the funds received from the
transferring entities pursuant to this article into the Medi-Cal
Inpatient Payment Adjustment Fund established in accordance
with Section 14163.

(h) Nondesignated public hospitals participating in the program
shall inform the public entity funding the IGT to transfer the
appropriate IGT allocation, by February 5 of each fiscal year, to
the state according to the time schedule specified in the written
agreement specified in subdivision (d). By March 31 of each fiscal
year, the department shall make the supplemental payment to the
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nondesignated public hospital including the associated federal
financial participation. The deadlines set forth in this subdivision
shall be implemented beginning with the 2011-12 fiscal year or
as soon thereafter as federal approvals are obtained.

(i) Thedepartment shall establish written policiesand procedures
for transferring entity intergovernmental transfers and payments
made to nondesignated public hospitals pursuant to this section.
The department shall effectively communicate these policies and
proceduresto nondesignated public hospitals and the public entities
that will be funding the IGTsin order to facilitate asmooth process
using local public entity moneys for purposes of drawing down
federal financial participation for supplemental payments to
nondesignated public hospitals.

() (1) A nondesignated public hospital participating in the
program, as a condition of receiving supplemental payment
pursuant to this section, shall reimburse the department for the
costs of administering this section.

(2) For each fiscal year up to and including the 202526 fiscal
year, the state shall retain 9 percent of each IGT amount to
reimburse the department, or transfer to the General Fund, for the
administrative costs of operating the Nondesignated Public Hospital
Intergovernmental Transfer Program and for the benefit of
Medi-Cal children’s health care programs.

(3 (A) Beginning with the 202627 fiscal year and every fiscal
year thereafter, the state shall retain a percentage of each IGT
amount associated with interim supplemental payments such that
the total amount retained is equal to the projected administrative
cost to the department associated with implementing this section.
The department shall project the administrative cost associated
with implementing this section each fiscal year in order to
determine the percentage of each IGT associated with interim
supplemental payments to be retained. That calculation shall
account for any excess funds remaining from a prior fiscal year.

(B) Itistheintent of the Legislature in enacting the changesto
this section made by the act that added this paragraph to provide
the supplement payment described in this section without any
expenditure from the General Fund, beginning with the 202627
fiscal year and every fiscal year thereafter.
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(k) Participation in the intergovernmental transfers under this
article is voluntary on the part of the transferring entities for the
purpose of all applicable federal laws.

() (1) The department shall report annually to the Legislature
on the Nondesignated Public Hospital Intergovernmental Transfer
Program. Thisreport shall include, but not be limited to, the amount
of funds available within the UPL, the total amount of IGT
allocation funds transferred by public entities, the total amount of
federal financial participation received by nondesignated public
hospitals, and information on the effectiveness of the IGT
allocation formula to distribute available federal matching funds
among participating nondesignated public hospitals.

(2) The requirement for submitting a report to the Legislature
on the Nondesignated Public Hospital Intergovernmental Transfer
Program imposed under paragraph (1) is inoperative four years
after the date the first report is due.

(3) A report to be submitted pursuant to paragraph (1) shall be
submitted in compliance with Section 9795 of the Government
Code.

(m) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department shall implement this article by means of policy
letters or similar instructions, without taking further regulatory
action.

SEC. 111. Section 14166.17 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14166.17. (a) TheCaliforniaMedical Assistance Commission
shall negotiate payment amounts in accordance with the selective
provider contracting program established pursuant to Article 2.6
(commencing with Section 14081) from the Nondesignated Public
Hospital Supplemental Fund established pursuant to subdivision
(b) for distribution to nondesignated public hospitals that satisfy
the criteria of subdivision (0). Pursuant to Section 14165, on and
after July 1, 2012, the Director of Health Care Services shall
exercisethe discretion granted to the CaliforniaMedical Assistance
Commission.

(b) (1) TheNondesignated Public Hospital Supplemental Fund
is hereby established in the State Treasury. For purposes of this
section, “fund” means the Nondesignated Public Hospital
Supplemental Fund.
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(2) Effective December 31, 2028, the Nondesignated Public
Hospital Supplemental Fund in the State Treasury, created pursuant
to this section, is hereby abolished. All moneys remaining in the
fund or moneys designated to be deposited to the fund shall be
transferred to the General Fund.

(c) Notwithstanding Section 13340 of the Government Code,
the fund shall be continuously appropriated to the department for
the purposes specified in this section.

(d) Except as otherwise limited by this section, the fund shall
consist of all of the following:

(1) One million nine hundred thousand dollars ($1,900,000),
which shall be transferred annually from General Fund amounts
appropriated in the annual Budget Act for the fund.

(2) Any additional moneys appropriated to the fund.

(3) All stabilization funding transferred to the fund.

(4) All private moneysdonated by private individualsor entities
to the department for deposit in the fund as permitted under
applicable federal Medicaid laws.

(5 Any interest that accrues on amountsin the fund.

(e) The department may accept or not accept moneys offered
to the department for deposit in the fund. If the department accepts
money's pursuant to this section, the department shall obtain federal
financial participation to the full extent permitted by law. With
respect to fundstransferred or donated from private individuals or
entities, the department shall accept only those funds that are
certified by the transferring or donating entity as qualifying for
federal financial participation under the terms of the Medicaid
Voluntary Contribution and Provider-Specific Tax Amendments
of 1991 (Public Law 102-234) or Section 433.51 of Title 42 of the
Code of Federal Regulations, as applicable. The department may
return any funds transferred or donated in error.

(f) Moneys in the funds shall be used as the source for the
nonfederal share of payments to hospitals under this section.

(g) Any funds remaining in the fund at the end of afiscal year
shall be carried forward for use in the following fiscal year.

(h) Moneys shall be allocated from the fund by the department
and shall be applied to obtain federal financial participation in
accordance with customary Medi-Cal accounting procedures for
purposes of payments under this section. Distributions from the
fund shall be supplemental to any other Medi-Cal reimbursement
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received by the hospitals, including amountsthat hospitalsreceive
under the selective provider contracts negotiated under Article 2.6
(commencing with Section 14081), and shall not affect provider
rates paid under the selective provider contracting program.

(i) Eachnondesignated public hospital that was anondesignated
public hospital during the 2002—-03 fiscal year, received payments
for the 2002-03 fiscal year from any of the prior supplemental
funds, and, during the project year satisfies the criteria in
subdivision (0) to be eligible to negotiate for distributions under
any of those sections shall receive no lessfrom the Nondesignated
Public Hospital Supplemental Fund for the project year than 100
percent of the amount the hospital received from the prior
supplemental funds for the 2002-03 fiscal year, minus the total
amount of intergovernmental transfers made by or on behalf of
the hospital pursuant to subdivision (0) for the same fiscal year.
Each hospital described in this subdivision shall be €eligible for
additional payments from the fund pursuant to subdivision (j).

() (1) For each fiscal year up to and including the 2024-25
fiscal year, all amounts that are in the fund for a project year in
excess of the amount necessary to make the payments under
subdivision (i) shall be available for negotiation by the California
Medical Assistance Commission, along with corresponding federal
financial participation, for supplemental paymentsto nondesignated
public hospitals that for the project year satisfy the criteria under
subdivision (0) to be eligible to negotiate for distributions under
any of those sections, and paid for services rendered during the
project year pursuant to the selective provider contracting program
under Article 2.6 (commencing with Section 14081).

(2) For the 2025-26 fiscal year, all amountsthat arein the fund
for a project year in excess of the amount necessary to make the
payments under subdivision (i) shall be available for supplemental
payments to nondesignated public hospitals, as follows:

(A) Additional supplemental payments shall be made to
nondesignated public hospitals that meet the criteria for
supplemental payments pursuant to paragraph (1) such that the
payments under this subparagraph together with the payments
under subdivision (i) to those hospitals are equal to the amounts
transferred to the fund pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision
(d) plus the applicable amount of federal financial participation
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that isavailable for the nonfederal share of payments described in
paragraph (1) of subdivision (d).

(B) All remaining amountsin thefund, including any funds that
have been carried forward pursuant to subdivision (g), shall be
used for supplemental paymentsto nondesignated public hospitals
pursuant to a methodology developed by the department that is
based on all Medi-Cal inpatient days, as described in Section
1396r-4(b)(2) of Title 42 of the United States Code, in the
numerator of the Medi-Cal inpatient utilization rate for each
hospital, as determined in the most recent final calculation of the
Medi-Cal inpatient utilization rate pursuant to paragraph (4) of
subdivision (f) of Section 14105.98 as of July 1, 2025.

(k) The amount of any stabilization funding transferred to the
fund with respect to a project year may in the discretion of the
California Medical Assistance Commission, until its dissolution
on June 30, 2012, to be paid for services furnished in the same
project year regardless of when the stabilization funds become
available, provided the payment is consistent with other applicable
federal or statelegal requirements and does not result in ahospital
exceeding any applicable reimbursement limitations. On and after
July 1, 2012, the Director of Health Care Services shall exercise
the discretion granted to the California Medical Assistance
Commission by this subdivision.

() The department shall pay amounts due to a nondesignated
hospital from the fund for a project year, with the exception of
stabilization funding, in up to four installment payments, unless
otherwise provided in the hospital’s contract negotiated with the
California Medica Assistance Commission, except that hospitals
that are not described in subdivision (i) shall not receive the first
installment payment. The first payment shall be made as soon as
practicable after theissuance of the tentative disproportionate share
hospital list for the project year, and in no event later than January
1 of the project year. The second and subsequent payments shall
be made after the issuance of the final disproportionate hospital
list for the project year, and shall be made only to hospitals that
are on the final disproportionate share hospital list for the project
year. The second payment shall be made by February 1 of the
project year or as soon as practicable after theissuance of thefinal
disproportionate share hospital list for the project year. The third
payment, if scheduled, shall be made by April 1 of the project year.
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Thefourth payment, if scheduled, shall be made by June 30 of the
project year. This subdivision does not apply to hospitals that are
scheduled to receive payments from the fund because they meet
the criteriaunder paragraph (2) of subdivision (0) but do not meet
the criteria under paragraph (1), (3), or (4) of subdivision (0).

(m) Thedepartment shall pay stabilization funding transferred
to the fund in amounts negotiated by the California Medical
Assistance Commission and paid in accordance with the applicable
contract or contract amendment.

(n) A nondesignated public hospital that receives payment
pursuant to this section for aparticular project year shall not submit
a notice for the termination of its participation in the selective
provider contracting program established pursuant to Article 2.6
(commencing with Section 14081) until the later of the following
dates:

(1) On or after December 31 of the next project year.

(2) The date specified in the hospital’s contract, if applicable.

(o) In order for a hospital to receive distributions pursuant to
Article 2.6 (commencing with Section 14081), the hospital shall
satisfy the eligibility criteria in paragraph (1), (2), (3), or (4) of
this subdivision.

(1) The hospital meets all of the following criteria:

(A) The hospital is contracting under Article 2.6 (commencing
with Section 14081).

(B) The hospital meets the criteria contained in the Medicaid
State Plan for disproportionate share hospital status.

(C) The hospital isone of the following:

(i) A licensed provider of basic emergency services as described
in Section 70411 of Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations.

(ii) A licensed provider of comprehensive emergency medical
services as defined in Section 70451 of Title 22 of the California
Code of Regulations.

(iii) A children’s hospital, as defined in Section 14087.21, that
satisfies clause (i) or (ii), or that jointly provides basic or
comprehensive emergency services in conjunction with another
licensed hospital.

(iv) A hospital owned and operated by a public agency that
operates two or more hospitals that qualify under subparagraph
(A) or (B) with respect to the particular state fiscal year.
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(v) A hospital designated by the National Cancer Institute as a
comprehensive or clinical cancer research center that primarily
treatsacutely ill cancer patients and that isexempt from the federal
Medicare prospective payment system pursuant to Section
1886(d)(1)(B)(v) of the federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C.
Sec. 1395ww(d)(1)(B)(Vv)).

(D) (1) The hospital is able to demonstrate a purpose for
additional funding under the sel ective provider contracting program
including proposalsrelating to emergency servicesand other health
care services, including infrequent yet high-cost services, such as
anti-AB human antitoxin treatment for infant botulism (human
botulinum immune globulin (HBIG), commonly referred to as
“Baby-BIG”), that are made available, or will be made available,
to Medi-Cal beneficiaries.

(2) The hospital is contracting under Article 2.6 (commencing
with Section 14081) and meets the definition of a university
teaching hospital or major, nonuniversity, teaching hospital as set
forth on page 51 and aslisted on page 57 of the department’sreport
dated May 1991, entitled “Hospital Peer Grouping.” Payments
from the fund shall be used solely for the purposes identified in
the contract between the hospital and the state.

(3) The hospital is contracting under Article 2.6 (commencing
with Section 14081) and meets the definition of any of the
following:

(A) A largeteaching emphasis hospital, as set forth on page 51
and listed on page 57 of the department’s report dated May 1991,
entitled “Hospital Peer Grouping,” and also meets the definition
of eligible hospital as defined in paragraph (3) of subdivision (a)
of Section 14105.98.

(B) A children’s hospital pursuant to Section 10727, and aso
meets the definition of eligible hospital as defined in paragraph
(3) of subdivision (a) of Section 14105.98.

(C) Notwithstanding the requirement in subparagraph (A) of
paragraph (3) that a hospital must be listed on page 57 of the
department’s report dated May 1991, entitled “Hospital Peer
Grouping,” any hospital whose license pursuant to Chapter 2
(commencing with Section 1250) of Division 2 of the Health and
Safety Code was consolidated during the 1999 calendar year with
alarge teaching emphasis hospital that is listed on page 57 of the
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above-described report shall be eligible. All other requirements of
paragraph (3) shall continue to apply.

(4) The hospital meets all of the following criteria

(A) The hospital is contracting under Article 2.6 (commencing
with Section 14081).

(B) The hospital satisfies the Medicaid State Plan criteria for
disproportionate share hospital status.

(C) The hospital is a small and rural hospital as defined in
Section 124840 of the Health and Safety Code.

(D) The hospital is a licensed provider of standby emergency
services as described in Section 70649 of Title 22 of the California
Code of Regulations.

(E) Thehospital isableto demonstrate apurpose for additional
funding under the selective provider contracting program with
proposals relating to health care services that are made available,
or will be made available, to Medi-Cal beneficiaries.

(F) The hospital is determined by the California Medical
Assistance Commission to be ahospital that provides an important
community service that otherwise would not be provided in the
community.

(p) This section shall become inoperative on June 30, 2026,
and, as of July 1, 2030, is repealed. The department may conduct
any necessary and remaining duties related to this section even
after the section becomes inoperative.

SEC. 112. Section 14184.200 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14184.200. (a) Notwithstanding any other law, the department
may standardize those populations that are subject to mandatory
enrollment in a Medi-Cal managed care plan across all aid code
groups and Medi-Cal managed care models statewide, subject to
a Medi-Ca managed care plan readiness, continuity of care
transition plan, and disenrollment process developed in consultation
with stakeholders, in accordance with the CaAIM Terms and
Conditions and as described in this section.

(1) (A) The department shall ensure the Medi-Cal managed
care plan’s readiness for network adequacy includes a geographic
access review of rural ZIP Codes to ensure time or distance
standards are met, or alternative access standard requests are
approved, as applicable, and the plan’s ability to meet existing
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federal and state mandatory provider type regquirements, where
available.

(B) The department shall not require a population to enroll in
managed care if Medi-Cal managed care plans fail to meet the
Medi-Ca managed care plan readiness requirements detailed in
this paragraph for that population.

(2) The Medi-Ca managed care plan shall comply with the
continuity of care requirementsin Section 1373.96 of the Health
and Safety Code and shall be consistent with and no more
restrictive than existing or future policy and guidance issued by
the department, including All Plan Letter 22-032, any superseding
al plan letter, and related guidance.

(3) The disenrollment process for an enrollee in any county
shall be consistent with and no more restrictive than existing federal
and state statutes and regulations, including Section 53889 and
subdivision (c) of Section 53891 of Title 22 of the CaliforniaCode
of Regulations. The beneficiary may request amedical exemption
from mandatory enrollment in a Medi-Cal managed care plan in
accordance with Section 53887 of Title 22 of the California Code
of Regulations and may disenroll or be exempted from mandatory
enrollment under the limited circumstances set forth in subdivision
(c) of Section 53891 of Title 22 of the California Code of
Regulations. That disenrollment or exemption from mandatory
enrollment in a Medi-Cal managed care plan shall be consistent
with subsection (c) of Section 438.56 of Title 42 of the Code of
Federal Regulations and applicable state law.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other law, if the department
standardizes those populations subject to mandatory enrollment
in a Medi-Cal managed care plan pursuant to subdivision (a),
commencing January 1, 2022, and subject to subdivision (f) of
Section 14184.102, a non-dual-eligible beneficiary, except a
beneficiary identified in paragraph (2), shall berequired to enroll,
or shall continue to be required to enroll, in aMedi-Ca managed
care planfor purposes of their receipt of covered Medi-Cal benefits.

(2) Notwithstanding any other law, if the department
standardizes those populations subject to mandatory enrollment
in a Medi-Cal managed care plan pursuant to subdivision (a),
commencing January 1, 2022, subject to subdivision (f) of Section
14184.102, the following dual and non-dual beneficiary groups,
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asidentified by the department, shall be exempt from mandatory
enrollment in aMedi-Cal managed care plan:

(A) A beneficiary dligible for only restricted-scope Medi-Cal
benefits, as described in subdivision (d) of Section 14007.5 and
Sections 14005.65 and 14007.7.

(B) A beneficiary made eligible on the basis of a share of cost,
including, but not limited to, a non-dual-eligible beneficiary
residing in acounty that isauthorized to operate acounty organized
health system (COHS), as described in Article 2.8 (commencing
with Section 14087.5), except for a non-dual-eligible beneficiary
that iseligible onthe basis of their need for long-term care services
with a share of cost, asidentified by the department.

(C) A beneficiary made €eligible on the basis of a federaly
approved Medi-Cal Presumptive Eligibility program, as determined
by the department, but only during the relevant period of
presumptive igibility.

(D) An €dligible beneficiary who is an inmate of a public
institution, or who is released pursuant to Section 26605.6 or
26605.7 of the Government Code.

(E) A beneficiary with satisfactory immigration status, including
a noncitizen that is lawfully present, who is eligible for only
pregnancy-related Medi-Cal coverage and who received services
through the Medi-Cal fee-for-service delivery system prior to
January 1, 2022, asidentified by the department, but only through
the end of the postpartum period.

(F) A beneficiary without satisfactory immigration status or
who is unable to establish satisfactory immigration status as
required by Section 14011.2, who is e€ligible for only
pregnancy-related Medi-Cal coverage, excluding a beneficiary
enrolled in the Medi-Cal Access Program described in Chapter 2
(commencing Section 15810) of Part 3.3.

(G) A non-dual-eligiblebeneficiary whoisan Indian, as defined
in subdivision (a) of Section 438.14 of Title 42 of the Code of
Federal Regulations, and who electsto forego voluntary enrollment
in aMedi-Ca managed care plan.

(H) A non-dual-eligible beneficiary eligible on the basis of their
receipt of servicesthrough a state foster care program, or eligible
pursuant to Section 14005.28, who elects to forego voluntary
enrollment in aMedi-Ca managed care plan, except for anon-dual
beneficiary described in this subparagraph who residesin acounty
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that is authorized to operate COHS, as described in Article 2.8
(commencing with Section 14087.5), or, effective January 1, 2025,
in a county operating a Single Plan model of managed care
established under Article 2.7 (commencing with Section 14087.3)
and Article 2.8 (commencing with Section 14087.5). For the
purpose of thissubdivision, thefollowing requirements shall apply
to non-dual-eligible beneficiaries eligible on the basis of their
receipt of services through a state foster care program, or eligible
pursuant to Section 14005.28, who are transitioning to mandatory
enrollment in aMedi-Cal managed care plan in acounty operating
a Single Plan model of managed care:

(i) Medi-Cal managed care plans shall comply with the access
requirements in Section 14197 and in accordance with All Plan
Letter 23-001, any superseding all plan letter, and any related
guidance.

(if) The department shall use the Intercounty Transfer process
as outlined in All County Welfare Directors Letter 18-02E to
provide for immediate access to care and treatment servicesin the
month of enrollment when a beneficiary moves from one county
to another.

(ili) The department shall issue guidance with input from
stakeholders, including county child welfare departments.

() A non-dual-€eligible beneficiary enrolled with an entity with
a contract with the department pursuant to the Program of
All-Inclusive Carefor the Elderly (PACE), as described in Chapter
8.75 (commencing with Section 14591).

(J Any other non-dual-€eligible beneficiary, asidentified by the
department, for whom federal law prohibits mandatory enrollment
in aMedi-Ca managed care plan.

(K) A beneficiary residing in one of the Veterans Homes of
California, as described in Chapter 1 (commencing with Section
1010) of Division 5 of the Military and Veterans Code.

(©) (1) Notwithstanding any other law, if the department
standardizes those populations subject to mandatory enrollment
in a Medi-Cal managed care plan pursuant to subdivision (a),
commencing January 1, 2023, and subject to subdivision (f) of
Section 14184.102, adual eligible beneficiary, except as provided
in paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) or paragraph (2) of this
subdivision, shall be required to enroll, or shall continue to be
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required to enrall, in a Medi-Cal managed care plan for purposes
of their receipt of covered Medi-Cal benefits.

(2) Thefollowingdual eligible beneficiary groups, asidentified
by the department, shall be exempt from mandatory enrollment in
Medi-Ca managed care as described in paragraph (1):

(A) A dudl €ligible beneficiary made eligible on the basis of a
share of cost, including, but not limited to, a dual eligible
beneficiary residing in acounty that isauthorized to operate COHS,
as described in Article 2.8 (commencing with Section 14087.5),
except for adual eligible beneficiary who is eligible on the basis
of their need for long-term care services with a share of cost, as
determined by the department.

(B) A dual eligible beneficiary enrolled with an entity with a
contract with the department pursuant to PACE as described in
Chapter 8.75 (commencing with Section 14591).

(C) A dual dligible beneficiary enrolled with an entity with a
Senior CareAction Network (SCAN) contract with the department.

(D) A dudl €ligible beneficiary who is an Indian, as defined in
subsection (a) of Section 438.14 of Title 42 of the Code of Federal
Regulations, and who elects to forego voluntary enrollment in a
Medi-Cal managed care plan.

(E) A dua €ligible beneficiary with HIV/AIDS who elects to
forego voluntary enrollment in aMedi-Cal managed care plan.

(F) A dua €ligible beneficiary eligible on the basis of their
receipt of servicesthrough a state foster care program, or eligible
pursuant to Section 14005.28, who elects to forego voluntary
enrollment in a Medi-Cal managed care plan, except for a dua
beneficiary described in this subparagraph who residesin acounty
that is authorized to operate COHS, as described in Article 2.8
(commencing with Section 14087.5), or, effective January 1, 2025,
in a county operating a Single Plan model of managed care
established under Article 2.7 (commencing with Section 14087.3)
and Article 2.8 (commencing with Section 14087.5). For the
purpose of thissubdivision, the following requirements shall apply
to non-dual-eligible beneficiaries eligible on the basis of their
receipt of servicesthrough a state foster care program, or eligible
pursuant to Section 14005.28, who are transitioning to mandatory
enrollment in aMedi-Cal managed care plan in acounty operating
a Single Plan model of managed care:
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(1) Medi-Cal managed care plans shall comply with the access
requirements in Section 14197 and in accordance with All Plan
Letter 23-001, any superseding all plan letter, and any related
guidance.

(if) The department shall use the Intercounty Transfer process
as outlined in All County Welfare Directors Letter 18-02E to
provide for immediate accessto care and treatment servicesin the
month of enrollment when a beneficiary moves from one county
to another.

(iii) The department shall issue guidance with input from
stakeholders, including county child welfare departments.

(G) A dua dligible beneficiary residing in one of the Veterans
Homes of California, asdescribed in Chapter 1 (commencing with
Section 1010) of Division 5 of the Military and Veterans Code.

(H) Any other dua €ligible beneficiary, as identified by the
department, for whom federal law prohibits mandatory enrollment
in aMedi-Ca managed care plan.

(d) (1) This section shall not prohibit a Medi-Cal beneficiary
from receiving covered benefits on atemporary basis through the
Medi-Cal fee-for-service delivery system pending enrollment into
anindividual Medi-Cal managed care planin accordancewith this
section and the CalAIM Terms and Conditions.

(2) Thissectionshall not prohibit certain Medi-Cal beneficiaries
eligible for full-scope benefits under the Medi-Cal State plan, as
identified by the department, from voluntarily enrolling in a
Medi-Cal managed care plan, in accordance with the CalAIM
Terms and Conditions.

() (1) No later than January 1, 2023, in al non-County
Organized Health System counties, in areas where a PACE plan
is available, the PACE plan shall be presented as an enrollment
option, included in enrollment materials, and made available to an
applicable beneficiary whenever enrollment choices and options
are presented. Outreach and enrollment materials shall enable a
Medi-Cal beneficiary to understand what PACE provides, that, if
eligible, they may be assessed for PACE €ligibility and enroll in
PACE, and how they can receive additional information and request
to be assessed for PACE dligibility. A person meeting the age
qualifications for PACE and who chooses PACE shall not be
assigned to aMedi-Ca managed care plan for the lesser of 60 days
or until they are assessed for eligibility for PACE and determined
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not to be eligible for PACE. A person enrolled in a PACE plan
shall receive all Medicare and Medi-Cal services from the PACE
plan pursuant to the three-way agreement between the PACE plan,
the department, and thefederal Centersfor Medicare and Medicaid
Services.

(2) In areas of the state where a presentation on Medi-Cal
managed care plan enrollment options is unavailable, the
department, or its contracted vendor, shall provide informational,
outreach, and enrollment materials about the PACE program.

(f) For purposesof this section, thefollowing definitions apply:

(1) “Dual eligible beneficiary” meansan individual 21 years of
age or older who is enrolled for benefits under Medicare Part A
(42 U.S.C. Sec. 1395c et seq.) or Medicare Part B (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1395j et seq.), or both, and iseligible for medical assistance under
the Medi-Cal State Plan. For purposes of thisarticle, “dual eligible
beneficiary” shal include both a “full-benefit dual €ligible
beneficiary” and a “partial-benefit dual eligible beneficiary,” as
those terms are defined in this subdivision.

(2) “Full-benefit dua eligible beneficiary” meansan individual
21 yearsor older who isenrolled for benefits under Medicare Part
A (42U.S.C. Sec. 1395c et seq.), Medicare Part B (42 U.S.C. Sec.
1395j et seq.), and Medicare Part D (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1395w-101),
and is eligible for medical assistance under the Medi-Cal State
Plan.

(3) “Non-dual-€eligible beneficiary” meansanindividual eligible
for medical assistance under the Medi-Cal State plan, asdetermined
by the department, that is not eligible for benefits under Medicare
Part A (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1395c et seq.) or Medicare Part B (42
U.S.C. Sec. 1395j et seq.).

(4) “Partial-benefit dual eligible beneficiary” means an
individual 21 years of age or older who is enrolled for benefits
under Medicare Part A (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1395c et seg.), but not
Medicare Part B (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1395j et seq.), or whoisenrolled
for Medicare Part B (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1395 et seq.), but not
Medicare Part A (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1395c et seq.), and iseligible for
medical assistance under the Medi-Cal State Plan.

SEC. 113. Section 14197.7 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14197.7. (a) (1) Notwithstanding any other law, if the director
finds that an entity that contracts with the department for the
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delivery of health care services (contractor), including aMedi-Cal
managed care plan or a prepaid health plan, fails to comply with
contract requirements, state or federal law or regulations, or the
state plan or approved waivers, or for other good cause, the director
may terminate the contract or impose sanctions as set forth in this
section.

(2) Good cause includes, but is not limited to, a finding of
deficiency that results in improper denial or delay in the delivery
of health care services, potential endangerment to patient care,
disruption in the contractor’s provider network, failure to approve
continuity of care, that claims accrued or to accrue have not or
will not be recompensed, or adelay in required contractor reporting
to the department.

(b) The director may identify findings of noncompliance or
good cause through any means, including, but not limited to,
findings in audits, investigations, contract compliance reviews,
quality improvement system monitoring, routine monitoring,
facility site surveys, encounter and provider data submissions,
grievances and appeals, network adequacy reviews, assessments
of timely access requirements, reviews of utilization data, health
plan rating systems, fair hearing decisions, complaints from
beneficiaries and other stakehol ders, whistleblowers, and contractor
self-disclosures.

(c) (1) Except when the director determines there is an
immediate threat to the health of Medi-Cal beneficiariesreceiving
health care services from the contractor, at the request of the
contractor, the department shall hold apublic hearing to commence
30 days after notice of intent to terminate the contract has been
received by the contractor.

(2) Thedepartment shall present evidence at the hearing showing
good cause for the termination.

(3) The department shall assign an administrative law judge
who shall provide awritten recommendation to the department on
the termination of the contract within 30 days after conclusion of
the hearing.

(4) (A) Reasonable notice of the hearing shall be given to the
contractor, Medi-Cal beneficiaries receiving services through the
contractor, and other interested parties, including any other person
and organization the director may deem necessary.
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(B) The notice shall state the effective date of, and the reason
for, the termination.

(d) Inlieu of contract termination, the director shall have the
power and authority to require or impose a plan of correction and
issue one or more of the following sanctions against a contractor
for findings of noncompliance or good cause, including, but not
limited to, those specified in subdivision (a):

(1) Temporarily or permanently suspend enrollment and
marketing activities.

(2) Require the contractor to suspend or terminate contractor
personnel or subcontractors.

(3) Issue one or more of the temporary suspension orders set
forth in subdivision (j).

(4) Impose temporary management consistent with the
reguirements specified in Section 438.706 of Title 42 of the Code
of Federal Regulations.

(5) Suspend default enrollment of enrollees who do not select
acontractor for the delivery of health care services.

(6) Impose civil monetary sanctions consistent with the dollar
amounts and violations specified in Section 438.704 of Title 42
of the Code of Federal Regulations, asfollows:

(A) A limit of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) for each
determination of the following:

(i) The contractor failsto provide medically necessary services
that the contractor is required to provide, under law or under its
contract with the department, to an enrollee covered under the
contract.

(if) The contractor misrepresents or falsifies information to an
enrollee, potential enrollee, or health care provider.

(iii) The contractor distributesdirectly, or indirectly through an
agent or independent contractor, marketing materialsthat have not
been approved by the state or that contain false or materially
misleading information.

(B) A limit of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) for each
determination of the following:

(i) The contractor conducts an act of discrimination against an
enrollee on the basis of their health status or need for health care
services. This includes termination of enrollment or refusal to
reenroll a beneficiary, except as permitted under the Medicaid
program, or a practice that would reasonably be expected to
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discourage enrollment by beneficiaries whose medical condition
or history indicates probable need for substantial future medical
services.

(if) The contractor misrepresents or falsifiesinformation that it
furnishesto thefedera Centersfor Medicareand Medicaid Services
or to the department.

(C) A limit of fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) for each
beneficiary the director determines was not enrolled because of a
discriminatory practice under clause (i) of subparagraph (B). This
sanction is subject to the overall limit of one hundred thousand
dollars ($100,000) under subparagraph (B).

(e) Notwithstanding the monetary sanctions imposed for the
violations set forth in paragraph (6) of subdivision (d), the director
may impose monetary sanctions in accordance with this section
based on any of the following:

(1) Thecontractor violatesafederal or state statute or regulation.

(2) The contractor violates a provision of its contract with the
department.

(3) The contractor violates a provision of the state plan or
approved waivers.

(4) The contractor fails to meet quality metrics or benchmarks
established by the department. Any changesto the minimum quality
metrics or benchmarks made by the department that are effective
on or after January 1, 2020, shall be established in advance of the
applicable reporting or performance measurement period, unless
required by the federal government.

(5) The contractor fails to demonstrate that it has an adequate
network to meet anticipated utilization in its service area.

(6) The contractor fails to comply with network adequacy
standards, including, but not limited to, time and distance, timely
access, and provider-to-beneficiary ratio requirements pursuant to
standards and formulae that are set forth in federal or state law,
regulation, state plan, or contract and that are posted in advance
to the department’s internet website.

(7) The contractor fails to comply with the requirements of a
corrective action plan.

(8 The contractor fails to submit timely and accurate network
provider data.

(9) The director identifies deficiencies in the contractor’'s
delivery of health care services.
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(10) The director identifies deficiencies in the contractor’'s
operations, including the timely payment of claims.

(11) Thecontractor failsto comply with reporting requirements,
including, but not limited to, those set forth in Section 53862 of
Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations.

(12) The contractor fails to timely and accurately process
grievances or appeals.

(f) (1) Monetary sanctionsimposed pursuant to subdivision (€)
may be separately and independently assessed and may also be
assessed for each day the contractor fails to correct an identified
deficiency. For a deficiency that impacts beneficiaries, each
beneficiary impacted constitutes a separate violation. Monetary
sanctions shall be assessed in the following amounts:

(A) Up to twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) for a first
violation.

(B) Uptofifty thousand dollars ($50,000) for asecond violation.

(C) Up to one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) for each
subsequent violation.

(2) For monetary sanctions imposed on a contractor that is
funded from one or more of the realigned accounts described in
paragraphs (2) to (4), inclusive, of subdivision (n), the department
shall calculate a percentage of the funds attributable to the
contractor to be offset per month pursuant to paragraphs (2) to (4),
inclusive, of subdivision (n) until the amount offset equals the
amount of the penalty imposed pursuant to paragraph (1).

(g) When assessing sanctions pursuant to this section, the
director shall determine the appropriate amount of the penalty for
each violation based upon one or more of the following
nonexclusive factors:

(1) The nature, scope, and gravity of the violation, including
the potential harm or impact on beneficiaries.

(2) Thegood or bad faith of the contractor.

(3) The contractor’s history of violations.

(4) Thewillfulness of the violation.

(5) The nature and extent to which the contractor cooperated
with the department’s investigation.

(6) The nature and extent to which the contractor aggravated or
mitigated any injury or damage caused by the violation.

(7) The nature and extent to which the contractor has taken
corrective action to ensure the violation will not recur.

97



—259— AB 116

(8 Thefinancia status of the contractor, including whether the
sanction will affect the ability of the contractor to come into
compliance.

(9) Thefinancia cost of the health care service that was denied,
delayed, or modified.

(10) Whether the violation is an isolated incident.

(11) The amount of the penalty necessary to deter similar
violations in the future.

(12) Other mitigating factors presented by the contractor.

(h) (1) Except in exigent circumstances in which there is an
immediate risk to the health of beneficiaries, as determined by the
department, the director shall give reasonable written noticeto the
contractor of theintention to impose any of the sanctions authorized
by this section and otherswho may be directly interested, including
any other persons and organizations the director may deem
necessary.

(2) The notice shall include the effective date for, the duration
of, and the reason for each sanction proposed by the director.

(3) A contractor may request the department to meet and confer
with the contractor to discuss information and evidence that may
impact the director’sfinal decision to impose sanctions authorized
by this section.

(4) The director shall grant a request to meet and confer prior
to issuance of afinal sanction if the contractor submitsthe request
in writing to the department no later than two business days after
the contractor’s receipt of the director’'s notice of intention to
impose sanctions.

(i) Notwithstanding subdivision (d), the director shall terminate
a contract with a contractor that the United States Secretary of
Health and Human Services has determined does not meet the
requirements for participation in the Medicaid program contained
in Subchapter XIX (commencing with Section 1396) of Chapter
7 of Title 42 of the United States Code.

() (1) Thedepartment may make one or more of thefollowing
temporary suspension orders as an immediate sanction:

(A) Temporarily suspend enrollment activities.

(B) Temporarily suspend marketing activities.

(C) Require the contractor to temporarily suspend specified
personnel of the contractor.
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(D) Requirethe contractor to temporarily suspend participation
by a specified subcontractor.

(2) Thetemporary suspension ordersshall be effective no earlier
than 20 days after the notice specified in subdivision (k).

(k) (1) Prior to issuing a temporary suspension order, or
temporarily withholding funds pursuant to subdivision (0), the
department shall provide the contractor with a written notice.

(2) The notice shall state the department’s intent to impose a
temporary suspension or temporary withhold and specify the nature
and effective date of the temporary suspension or temporary
withhold.

(3) The contractor shall have 30 calendar days from the date of
receipt of the notice to file awritten appeal with the department.

(4) Upon receipt of awritten appeal filed by the contractor, the
department shall, within 15 days, set the matter for hearing, which
shall be held as soon as possible but not later than 30 days after
receipt of the notice of hearing by the contractor.

(5) Thehearing may be continued at the request of the contractor
if acontinuanceis necessary to permit presentation of an adequate
defense.

(6) Thetemporary suspension order shall remain in effect until
the hearing is completed and the department has made a final
determination on the merits. However, the temporary suspension
order shall be deemed vacated if the director fails to make a final
determination on the merits within 60 days of the close of the
record for the matter.

(7) The department shall stay imposition of a temporary
withhold, pursuant to subdivision (0), until the hearing is completed
and the department has made a final determination on the merits
within 60 days of the close of the record for the matter.

(1) (1) A contractor may request a hearing in connection with
sanctions applied pursuant to subdivision (d) or (€) within 15
working days after the notice of the effective date of the sanctions
has been given by sending aletter so stating to the address specified
in the notice.

(2) The department shall stay collection of monetary sanctions
upon receipt of the request for a hearing.

(3) Callection of the sanction shall remain stayed until the
effective date of the final decision of the department.

97



— 261 — AB 116

(m) Except as otherwise provided in this section, all hearings
to review the imposition of sanctions, including temporary
suspension orders, the withholding or offsetting of funds pursuant
to subdivision (n), or the temporary withholding of funds pursuant
to subdivision (0) shall be held pursuant to the procedures set forth
in Section 100171 of the Health and Safety Code.

(n) (1) If the director imposes monetary sanctions pursuant to
this section on a contractor, except for a contractor described in
paragraphs (2) to (5), inclusive, the amount of the sanction may
be collected by withholding the amount from capitation or other
associated payments owed to the contractor.

(2) If the director imposes monetary sanctions on a contractor
that is funded from the Mental Health Subaccount, the Mental
Health Equity Subaccount, theVehicle License Collection Account
of the Local Revenue Fund, or the Mental Health Account, the
director may offset the monetary sanctions from the respective
account. The offset is subject to paragraph (2) of subdivision (q).

(3) If the director imposes monetary sanctions on a contractor
that isfunded from the Behavioral Health Subaccount of the Local
Revenue Fund 2011, the director may offset the monetary sanctions
from that account from the distribution attributabl e to the applicable
contractor. The offset is subject to paragraph (2) of subdivision

(4) If the director imposes monetary sanctions on a contractor
that isfunded from another mental health or substance use disorder
realignment fund from which the Controller is authorized to make
distributionsto the contractor, the director may offset the monetary
sanctions from these funds if the funds described in paragraphs
(2) and (3) are insufficient for the purposes described in this
subdivision, as appropriate. The offset is subject to paragraph (2)
of subdivision (q).

(5) (A) If the director imposes monetary sanctions pursuant to
subdivision (e) of Section 5963.04, the director may offset the
monetary sanctions from the Behaviora Health Services Fund
from the distribution attributable to the applicable contractor.

(B) With respect to an individual contractor, the department
shall not collect viaoffset more than 25 percent of the total amount
of thefundsdistributed from the Behavioral Health Services Fund
that are attributable to the contractor in a given month.
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(C) If the department is not able to collect the full amount of
monetary sanctionsimposed on a contractor in agiven month, the
department shall continue to offset the amounts attributable to the
contractor in subsequent months until the full amount of monetary
sanctions has been collected. The offset is subject to paragraph (3)
of subdivision (q).

(0) (1) (A) Whenever the department determinesthat amental
health plan or an entity that contracts with the department to
provide Drug Medi-Cal services has violated state or federal law,
areguirement of this chapter, Chapter 8 (commencing with Section
14200), Chapter 8.8 (commencing with Section 14600), or Chapter
8.9 (commencing with Section 14700), or any regulations, the state
plan, aterm or condition of an approved waiver, or aprovision of
its contract with the department, the department may temporarily
withhold payments of federal financial participation and payments
from the accounts listed in paragraphs (2) to (4), inclusive, of
subdivision (n).

(B) Thedepartment shall temporarily withhold amountsit deems
necessary to ensure the mental heath plan or the entity that
contracts with the department to provide Drug Medi-Cal services
promptly corrects the violation.

(C) Thedepartment shall rel easethe temporarily withheld funds
when it determines the mental health plan or the entity that
contracts with the department to provide Drug Medi-Cal services
has come into compliance.

(2) (A) A menta health plan or an entity that contracts with
the department to provide Drug Medi-Cal services may appeal the
imposition of a temporary withhold pursuant to this subdivision
in accordance with the procedures described in subdivisions (k)
and (m).

(B) Imposition of a temporary withhold shall be stayed until
the effective date of the final decision of the department.

(p) Thissection shall be read in conjunction with, and apply in
addition to, any other applicable law that authorizesthe department
to impose sanctions or otherwise take remedial action upon
contractors.

(@) (1) (A) Notwithstanding any other law, nonfederal moneys
collected by the department pursuant to this section, except for
moneys collected from a contractor funded from one or more of
the realigned accounts described in paragraphs (2) to (4), inclusive,
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of subdivision (n), shall be deposited into the General Fund for
use and, upon appropriation by the Legislature, to address
workforce issuesin the Medi-Cal program and improve access to
care in the Medi-Cal program.

(B) Beginning July 1, 2024, and continuing until June 30, 2027,
unless otherwise specified in law, nonfederal moneys collected by
the department pursuant to this section, except for moneys collected
from a contractor funded from one or more of the realigned
accounts described in paragraphs (2) to (4), inclusive, of
subdivision (n), shall be deposited into the General Fund for use
and, upon appropriation by the Legidature, for the nonfederal
share of Medi-Cal costs for health care services furnished to
children, adults, seniors, and personswith disabilities, and persons
dually eligible for the Medi-Cal program and the Medicare
Program.

(2) (A) Monetary sanctionsimposed via offset on a contractor
that isfunded from one or more of the realigned accounts described
in paragraphs (2) to (4), inclusive, of subdivision (n) shall be
redeposited into the account from which the monetary sanctions
were offset pursuant to paragraphs (2) to (4), inclusive, of
subdivision (n).

(B) The department shall notify the Department of Finance of
the percentage reduction for the affected county.

(C) The Department of Finance shall subsequently notify the
Controller, and the Controller shall redistribute the monetary
sanction amount to nonsanctioned counties based on each county’s
prorated share of the monthly base allocations from the realigned
account.

(D) With respect to an individual contractor, the department
shall not collect via offset more than 25 percent of the total amount
of the funds distributed from the applicable account or accounts
that are attributable to the contractor in a given month.

(E) If the department is not able to collect the full amount of
monetary sanctions imposed on a contractor funded from one or
more of the realigned accounts described in paragraphs (2) to (4),
inclusive, of subdivision (n) in agiven month, the department shall
continue to offset the amounts attributable to the contractor in
subsequent months until the full amount of monetary sanctions
has been collected.
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(3) Monetary sanctions imposed via offset on a contractor
pursuant to subdivision (€) of Section 5963.04 shall be redeposited
into the account from which the monetary sanctions were offset
pursuant to paragraph (5) of subdivision (n).

(r) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement, interpret, or make specific this
section, in whole or in part, by means of plan or county letters,
information notices, plan or provider bulletins, or other similar
instructions without taking any further regulatory action.

(s) This section shall be implemented only to the extent that
necessary federal approvals have been obtained and that federa
financial participation is available.

(t) For purposes of this section, “contractor” means an
individual, organization, or entity that enters into a contract with
the department to provide services to enrolled Medi-Cal
beneficiaries or other individuals receiving behavioral health
services, as applicable, pursuant to any of the following:

(1) Article 2.7 (commencing with Section 14087.3), including
dental managed care programs developed pursuant to Section
14087.46.

(2) Article 2.8 (commencing with Section 14087.5).

(3) Article 2.81 (commencing with Section 14087.96).

(4) Article 2.82 (commencing with Section 14087.98).

(5) Article 2.9 (commencing with Section 14088).

(6) Article2.91 (commencing with Section 14089).

(7) Chapter 8 (commencing with Section 14200), including
dental managed care plans.

(8) Chapter 8.9 (commencing with Section 14700).

(9 A county Drug Medi-Ca organized delivery system
authorized under the California Medi-Cal 2020 Demonstration
pursuant to Article 5.5 (commencing with Section 14184) or a
successor demonstration or waiver, as applicable.

(10) Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 5650) of Part 2 of
Division 5, solely for purposes of imposition of corrective action
plans, monetary sanctions, or temporary withholds pursuant to
subdivision (e) of Section 5963.04.

(11) Section 12534 of the Government Code.
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(12) The Home- and Community-Based Alternatives (HCBA)
Waiver pursuant to state law and Section 1915(c) of the federal
Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396n(c)).

(13) TheProgram of All-Inclusive Carefor the Elderly (PACE)
pursuant to Chapter 8.75 (commencing with Section 14591).

(u) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 114. Section 14199.128 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code is amended to read:

14199.128. Definitions

For purposes of this chapter, as used in both the singular and
plural form, the following definitions shall apply:

(&) “Abortion” hasthe same meaning as set forth in subdivision
(a) of Section 123464 of the Health and Safety Code.

(b) “Acute psychiatric hospital” has the same meaning as set
forth in subdivision (b) of Section 1250 of the Health and Safety
Code.

(c) “Advanced practice clinicians and allied health care
professionals’ shall be defined by the department, subject to the
stakeholder input requirements of Section 14199.121, to include
appropriate health profession careers.

(d) “Article 7.1” meansArticle 7.1 (commencing with Section
14199.80) of Chapter 7, as added by Chapter 13 of the Statutes of
2023.

(e) “Basedatasource” meansthe most recent available quarterly
financial statement filings or annual enrollment data submitted by
health plans to the Department of Managed Health Care for that
updated base year, retrieved by the department, and supplemented
by, as necessary, Medi-Cal enrollment data for the updated base
year as maintained by the department, and as modified by the
department to account for known or anticipated contracting changes
that will affect Medi-Cal enrollment.

(f) “Baseyear” meansa l12-month period running from January
1 through December 31 of a calendar year selected by the
department. The department may elect to update the base year to
the extent it deems necessary to meet the requirements of federal
statute or regulations, to obtain or maintain federal approval, or to
ensurefederal financial participationisavailableor isnot otherwise
jeopardized.
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(g) “Bona fide labor-management cooperation committee” or
“bona fide LMCC” means a joint labor-management committee
that is established pursuant to the federal Labor Management
Cooperation Act of 1978 (29 U.S.C. Sec. 175a) and meets the
following criteria:

(1) The bonafide LMCC is not involved in the governance of
a hedth care entity but exists to promote worker training,
workforce expansion, and support for workers during training.

(2) The bonafide LMCC has the following composition:

(A) Fifty percent of the committee consists of representatives
of organized labor unionsthat represent health workersin the state.

(B) Fifty percent of the committee consists of representatives
of health care employers that primarily serve Medi-Cal patients
located in the state.

(h) “CalHedthCaresProgram” meansthe Medi-Cal Physicians
and Dentists Loan Repayment Program Act established pursuant
to Section 14114.

(i) “Cdifornia Affordable Drug Manufacturing Act of 2020”
means the program established pursuant to Chapter 10
(commencing with Section 127690) of Part 2 of Division 107 of
the Health and Safety Code.

() “Clinic’ means any of the following:

(1) Federaly qualified health centers (FQHC), including FQHC
look-alike clinics designated by the federal Health Resources and
ServicesAdministration as meeting FQHC program requirements
as set forth in Sections 1395x(aa)(4)(B) and 1396d(1)(2)(B) of
Title 42 of the United States Code.

(2) Rura health clinics (RHC) meeting the definition set forth
in Section 1396d(1)(1) of Title 42 of the United States Code.

(3) Clinicslicensed pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 1204
of the Health and Safety Code.

(4) Tribal clinicsexempt from licensure pursuant to subdivision
(c) of Section 1206 of the Health and Safety Code.

(5) Intermittent clinics exempt from licensure pursuant to
subdivision (h) of Section 1206 of the Health and Safety Code.

(6) Clinics exempt from licensure pursuant to subdivision (b)
of Section 1206 of the Health and Safety Code. If clinics exempt
from licensure pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 1206 of the
Health and Safety Code choose to participate in adirected payment
program described in Section 14199.120.5, the directed payment
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program will use the “classes of provider” functionality at a
minimum to create atier for those clinics and allow for payments
to those clinics to be based on an amount allocated to their class's
pool.

(7) Indian health clinics that provide services in California
pursuant to the Indian Health Program, as set forth in Chapter 4
(commencing with Section 124575) of Part 4 of Division 106 of
the Health and Safety Code.

(k) “Committee” or “stakeholder advisory committee” means
the Protect Access to Health Care Act Stakeholder Advisory
Committee established pursuant to Section 14199.129.

() “Community-based organization” means a nonprofit
organization of demonstrated effectiveness that is representative
of a community or significant segments of a community and
promotes accessto, or provides physical or mental health or related
servicesto, individuals in the community.

(m) “Community health worker” shall have the same meaning
asdefined in paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 14132.36.

(n) “Community provider” means a holder of a certificate
described in Section 2050 of the Business and Professions Code
who serves Medi-Cal patients.

(o) “Comprehensive clinical family planning services’ means
the services set forth in subdivision (aa) of Section 14132.

(p) “Countableenrollee” meansanindividual enrolledinaheath
plan during a month of the base year according to the base data
source. “Countable enrollee” does not include an individual
enrolled in a Medicare plan, a plan-to-plan enrollee, or an
individual enrolled in a heath plan pursuant to the Federal
Employees Health Benefits Act of 1959 (Public Law 86-382) to
the extent the imposition of the tax under Article 6 (commencing
with Section 14199.123) of thischapter or Article 7.1 (commencing
with Section 14199.80) of Chapter 7 is preempted pursuant to
Section 8909(f) of Title 5 of the United States Code.

(q) “County mental health plan” meansan entity or local agency
that contracts with the department to provide covered speciaty
mental health services pursuant to Section 14184.400 and Chapter
8.9 (commencing with Section 14700).

() “Department” means the State Department of Health Care
Services.
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(s) “Designated public hospital system” means a designated
public hospital as defined in paragraph (1) of subdivision (f) of
Section 14184.10 and its affiliated governmental providers and
contracted governmental and nongovernmental entities that
constitute a hospital and health care system. A single designated
public hospital system may include multiple designated public
hospitals under common government ownership.

(t) (1) “Directed payment” means a payment arrangement
whereby the department directs certain expenditures made by a
Medi-Ca managed care plan that is approved by thefederal Centers
for Medicare and Medicaid Services as described in Section 438(c)
of Title42 of the Code of Federal Regulations, established pursuant
to Section 438(c) of Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations,
or otherwise required by the Medi-Cal managed care plan contract,
and documented in a rate certification approved by the federal
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services as applicable.

(2) Referencesin thissubdivision to Section 438(c) of Title 42
of the Code of Federal Regulations shall include any subsequent
amendments thereto.

(u) “Director” means the director of the State Department of
Health Care Services.

(v) “Emergency air ambulance transport” means emergency
medical transportation by air, as described in paragraph (1) of
subdivision (c) of Section 51323 of Title 22 of the CaliforniaCode
of Regulations, by air ambulance, as defined in Section 100280
of Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations.

(w) “Family PACT” meansthe Family Planning, Access, Care,
and Treatment Program established pursuant to subdivision (aa)
of Section 14132.

(x) “Family planning services and family planning-related
servicesin the Medi-Cal program” means the services covered by
the Medi-Cal program pursuant to subdivision (n) of Section 14132.

(y) “Family planning servicesin the State-Only Family Planning
Program” means the services covered by that program pursuant
to Division 24 (commencing with Section 24000).

(2) “Fund” means the Protect Access to Health Care Fund
established in the State Treasury pursuant to Section 14199.103.

(aa) “Genera acute care hospital” has the same meaning asin
subdivision (a) of Section 1250 of the Health and Safety Code.
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(ab) “Ground emergency medical transports’ means emergency
medical transports, as defined in Section 14129, that originate from
a 911 call center or equivalent public safety answering point.

(ac) “Hedlth care service plan” or “health plan” means a health
care service plan, other than a plan that provides only specialized
or discount services, that islicensed by the Department of Managed
Health Care under the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act
of 1975 (Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of Division
2 of the Health and Safety Code) or aMedi-Cal managed care plan
contracted with the department to provide full-scope Medi-Cal
Sservices.

(ad) “Medi-Cal patient” means a Medi-Ca beneficiary as
defined in Section 14252.

(ae) “Medi-Cal enrollee” means an individua enrolled in a
health plan, as defined in subdivision (ac), who is a Medi-Cal
patient for whom the department directly pays the health plan a
capitated payment.

(af) “Medi-Cal managed care plan” means any individua,
organization, or entity that entersinto acomprehensiverisk contract
with the department to provide covered full-scope health care
services to enrolled Medi-Cal patients pursuant to this chapter or
Chapter 8 (commencing with Section 14200).

(ag) “Medi-Ca per enrollee tax amount” means the amount of
tax assessed per countable Medi-Cal enrollee within a Medi-Cal
taxing tier.

(ah) “Medi-Ca taxing tier” means a range of cumulative
enrollment of countable Medi-Cal enrolleesfor the base year.

(a) “Net reimbursement” or “net reimbursement levelS’ means
thetotal paymentsto Medi-Cal providersfor the applicable services
and procedures received as of January 1, 2024, less any amounts
financed by Medi-Cal providers as the nonfederal share of those
payments viaprovider taxes or fees, certified public expenditures,
or intergovernmental transfers.

(@) “Network provider” has the same meaning as set forth in
Section 438.2 of Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

(ak) “Other enrollee” means an individual enrolled in a health
plan who is not a Medi-Cal enrollee.

(@) “Other per enrollee tax amount” means the amount of tax
assessed per countable other enrollee within an other taxing tier.

97



AB 116 —270—

(am) “Other taxingtier” meansarange of cumulative enrollment
of countable other enrollees for the base year.

(an) “Plan-to-plan enrollee” means an individual who receives
their health care services through a health plan pursuant to a
subcontract from another health plan.

(a0) “Primary care’ hasthe samemeaning asin Section 51170.5
of Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations.

(ap) “Private ground emergency medical transport provider”
means a provider of ground emergency medical transports that
does not meet the definition of paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of
Section 14105.945.

(aq) “Quadlified family planning provider” means a Medi-Cal
provider that meets al of the following conditions:

(1) Isacommunity clinic licensed pursuant to subdivision (a)
of Section 1204 of the Health and Safety Code.

(2) Is enrolled in the Family PACT program, as described in
subdivision (aa) of Section 14132.

(3) Provides both abortion and contraception services.

(ar) “Specialist” meansaphysician or surgeon or other licensee
pursuant to the Medical Practice Act (Chapter 5 (commencing
with Section 2000) of Division 2 of the Business and Professions
Code) or the Osteopathic Act (Chapter 8 (commencing with Section
3600) of Division 2 of the Business and Professions Code) who
delivers to Medi-Cal patients health care services, treatment, or
procedures at least some of which do not qualify as primary care.

(as) " Specidty care” means health care services provided by a
specialist.

(at) “State-Only Family Planning Program” meansthe program
established pursuant to Division 24 (commencing with Section
24000).

(au) “Tax period” means a period of not more than 12 months
for which thetax imposed pursuant to Article 6 (commencing with
Section 14199.123) is assessed.

SEC. 115. Chapter 16.5 (commencing with Section 18998) of
Part 6 of Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code is
repealed.

SEC. 116. Section 83 of Chapter 40 of the Statutes of 2024 is
amended to read:

SEC. 83. (a) Totheextentthat these activitiesarean allowable
use of the AIDS Drug Assistance Program Rebate Fund, this

97



—271— AB 116

section authorizes the State Department of Public Health to spend
up to twenty-three million dollars ($23,000,000) from the AIDS
Drug Assistance Program Rebate Fund to implement the following
programs, consistent with Sections 120955, 120956, 120960,
120972, 120972.1, and 120972.2 of the Health and Safety Code:

(1) Beginning January 1, 2025, or as soon astechnically feasible
thereafter, increase AIDS Drug Assistance Program (ADAP) and
PrEP-Assistance Program financial eigibility standards from a
modified adjusted gross income that does not exceed 500 percent
of the federal poverty level per year based on family size and
household income to 600 percent of the federal poverty level per
year based on family size and household income.

(2) Beginning January 1, 2025, or as soon astechnically feasible
thereafter, increase the cap on premium payments from one
thousand nine hundred thirty-eight dollars ($1,938) per month to
two thousand nine hundred ninety-six dollars ($2,996) per month
for the Office of AIDS Heath Insurance Premium Payment
program, the Employer-Based HIPP program, and the Medicare
Premium Payment Program.

(3) Beginning January 1, 2025, or as soon as is technically
feasible thereafter, modify the ADAP formulary to an open
formulary.

(4) Allocatefivemillion dollars ($5,000,000) annually for three
years, beginning July 1, 2025, to the Transgender, Gender
Nonconforming, and Intersex Wellness and Equity Fund to fund
services related to HIV prevention and care and treatment for
eligible individuals living with HIV and AIDS.

(5) Allocateten million dollars ($10,000,000) annually for three
years, beginning July 1, 2024, to fund the Harm Reduction Supply
Clearinghouse to fund HIV prevention supplies to California
syringe access programs.

(6) Allocate two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000) in the
2024-25 fiscal year, available until June 30, 2027, for the Office
of AIDSto create, develop, or contract out for a needs assessment
and analysis to identify needs for client navigation and retention
servicesfor clientsenrolled in a Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program
through the Office of AIDS.

(7) Allocate two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000) in the
2024-25 fiscal year, available until June 30, 2027, for the Office
of AIDSto create, develop, or contract out for a needs assessment
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and analysis aimed at understanding the potential needs for the
Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP) Navigation Services Program.

(8) Allocate five million dollars ($5,000,000) in the 2024-25
fiscal year, available until June 30, 2028, to distribute funding to
a community-based organization to make internal and external
condoms available, aimed at preventing the transmission of HIV
and sexually transmitted infections.

(b) The State Department of Public Health shall submit to the
Legidlature, as part of the 2025-26 Governor’s Budget, a plan for
modernization and expansion of ADAP and related programs with
a focus on addressing the epidemic of HIV/AIDS in California,
including, but not limited to, the programs described in paragraphs
(1), (2), and (3) of subdivision (a). The plan shall be developed in
consultation with stakeholders and the Legislature and should
consider whether the proposed activity is an eligible use of the
AIDS Drug Assistance Program Rebate Fund, availability of
funding, and whether it advances access to services.

SEC. 117. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant
to Section 6 of Article X111l B of the California Constitution for
certain costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school
district because, in that regard, this act creates a new crime or
infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changesthe penalty
for acrime or infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of
the Government Code, or changes the definition of acrime within
the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California
Constitution.

However, if the Commission on State M andates determines that
thisact contains other costs mandated by the state, reimbursement
tolocal agencies and school districtsfor those costs shall be made
pursuant to Part 7 (commencing with Section 17500) of Division
4 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

SEC. 118. (@) The State Department of Public Health may
spend up to seventy-five million dollars ($75,000,000) from the
AIDS Drug Assistance Program Rebate Fund to support current
or eligible services and programs, consistent with Sections 120955,
120956, 120960, 120972, 120972.1, and 120972.2 of the Health
and Safety Code and with the following:

(1) Beginning July 1, 2025, up to sixty-five million dollars
($65,000,000) is available to supplement or fund services,
programs, or initiatives funded by the AIDS Drug Assistance
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Program Rebate Fund for which federal funding has been reduced
or eliminated as aresult of federal policy actionsto cancel, delay,
or reduce funding for HIV and AIDS prevention and treatment
programs.

(A) Upon natification to the department of federal action, or
the nonreceipt of Notices of Award, that result in reductions to or
elimination of federa funding for those services, programs, or
initiatives, the department shall notify the Department of Finance.
The Department of Finance shall authorize funding allocations
that are equivalent to the amount, to the extent these amounts are
within the amount of funds appropriated for this purpose, and
correspond to services that would have otherwise been funded by
the reduced or eliminated federal funds as soon as practicable, but
no later than 30 days following natification from the department.

(B) (i) If thefedera funding that was reduced or eliminated is
restored by the federal government, funding made available under
this paragraph shall be repaid to the AIDS Drug Assistance
Program Rebate Fund within 180 days. A repayment process shall
be established by the department, in consultation with the
Department of Finance.

(i) A local public heath agency or community-based
organization that has received funding made available under this
paragraph shall not be required to repay the funding until it has
received the restored federal funding.

(2) Beginning July 1, 2025, nine million dollars ($9,000,000)
isavailableto fund state and local disease intervention specialists.

(3) Beginning July 1, 2025, one million dollars ($1,000,000) is
available for the department to purchase rapid Hepatitis C Virus
(HCV) testing equipment for distribution to local health
departments and community-based organizations. The department
shall establish a process for local heath departments and
community-based organizationsto receive HCV testing equipment
based on need in the specific geographic area.

(b) The department may enter into exclusive or nonexclusive
contracts, or amend existing contracts, on abid or negotiated basis.
Contracts and grants entered into or amended pursuant to this
section shall be exempt from Chapter 6 (commencing with Section
14825) of Part 5.5 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government
Code, Section 19130 of the Government Code, Part 2 (commencing
with Section 10100) of Division 2 of the Public Contract Code,
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the State Administrative Manual, and the State Contracting Manual,
and shall be exempt from the review or approval of any division
of the Department of General Services.

(c) The department may, in consultation with the Department
of Finance, use an adternativelocal fiscal agent that isnot identified
in this section, if necessary, to achieve the intended legidlative
purpose.

SEC. 119. Thisactisabill providing for appropriationsrelated
to the Budget Bill within the meaning of subdivision (e) of Section
12 of Article1V of the California Constitution, has been identified
as related to the budget in the Budget Bill, and shall take effect
immediately.
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